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EXPLANATORY NOTE
Capitalized terms used throughout this document are defined in “Glossary” below. References to “we,” “us,” “our” and
the “Company” are to Kinder Morgan Canada Limited and its majority-owned and/or controlled subsidiaries. We state our financial
statements in Canadian dollars. References in this document to “dollars,” “$” or “CAD$” are to the currency of Canada, and
references to “U.S.$” or “U.S. dollar” are to the currency of the U.S.
GLOSSARY
Company Abbreviations
Class A Units
=
Class B Units
=
Cochin
=
=
General Partner
IPO
=
Jet Fuel
=
KMCI
=
KML
=
Kinder Morgan or KMI =
Limited Partnership
=
LP Units
=
Preferred LP Units
=
Preferred Shares
=
Puget Sound
=
Restricted Voting Shares =
Series 1 Preferred Shares =
Series 3 Preferred Shares =

the Class A limited partnership units of the Limited Partnership
the Class B limited partnership units of the Limited Partnership
Canadian portion of the U.S. and Canadian Cochin pipeline system
Kinder Morgan Canada GP Inc.
Initial Public Offering of KML’s Restricted Voting Shares in May 2017
Jet Fuel pipeline system
Kinder Morgan Canada Inc.
Kinder Morgan Canada Limited and its majority-owned and/or controlled subsidiaries
Kinder Morgan, Inc.
Kinder Morgan Canada Limited Partnership
collectively, the Class A Units and the Class B Units
the preferred limited partnership units in the Limited Partnership
collectively all outstanding preferred shares in the capital of KML (if and when issued)
Puget Sound pipeline system
the restricted voting shares in the capital of KML
the 12,000,000 cumulative redeemable minimum rate reset Preferred Shares, Series 1 in the
capital of KML
the 10,000,000 cumulative redeemable minimum rate reset Preferred Shares, Series 3 in the
capital of KML
the special voting shares in the capital of KML
Trans Mountain Expansion Project
Trans Mountain pipeline system

Special Voting Shares
TMEP
TMPL

=
=
=

Trans Mountain Asset
Group

assets sold, collectively, TMPL, along with its associated Puget Sound, the TMEP, and
= the
KMCI, the Canadian employer of the staff that operates the business

Trans Mountain

= Trans Mountain Pipeline ULC

Common Industry and Other Terms
/d
= per day
Adjusted EBITDA
= adjusted earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization
DCF
= distributable cash flow
D&A
= depreciation and amortization
EBDA
= earnings before depreciation and amortization expenses
FASB
= Financial Accounting Standards Board
GAAP or U.S. GAAP
= United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
MBbl
= thousand barrels
MMBbl
= million barrels
MMtonnes
= million metric tonnes.
U.S.
= United States of America
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Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This report includes forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are identified as any statement that
does not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They use words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “projection,”
“forecast,” “strategy,” “position,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expect,” “may,” or the negative of those terms or other variations of
them or comparable terminology. In particular, expressed or implied statements concerning future actions, conditions or events,
future operating results or the ability to generate sales, income or cash flow or to pay dividends are forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Future actions,
conditions or events and future results of operations may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements.
Many of the factors that will determine these results are beyond our ability to control or predict.
Our business, financial condition and results of operations, including our ability to pay cash dividends, are substantially
dependent on our financial condition and results of operations. As a result, factors or events that impact our business are likely
to have a commensurate impact on us, the market price and value of the Restricted Voting Shares, Preferred Shares, and our ability
to pay dividends.
Forward-looking statements in this report include statements, express or implied, concerning, without limitation: the use
of net proceeds from the sale of the TMPL and TMEP, including the Return of Capital and associated Stated Capital Reduction,
and the Share Consolidation (each defined herein), including (in each case) the timing thereof; the Base Line Terminal and Vancouver
Wharves expansion projects, including completion or potential termination of such projects, anticipated costs, scheduling and inservice dates, future benefits and utilization, anticipated project returns and the impacts of such projects; remaining performance
obligations for contracted revenue; litigation and contingencies, including anticipated liability, resolution and outcome of such
actions and proceedings.
See Part II, Item 1A and Item 1 “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2. Trans Mountain Transaction”
and Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Recent Developments—Outlook” included in this report, and “Information
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 (2017 Form 10-K) for a more detailed description of factors that may affect the forward-looking
statements. You should keep these risk factors in mind when considering forward-looking statements. These risk factors could
cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. Because of these risks and
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement. Any financial outlook or other forwardlooking statements included in this report are included for the purpose of providing information relating to management’s current
expectations and plans for the future, are based on a number of significant assumptions and may not be appropriate, and should
not be used, for any purpose other than those for which such forward-looking statements are disclosed herein.
Important Additional Information Regarding the Reduction in Stated Capital and Share Consolidation Will Be Filed with
the SEC and on SEDAR
This report is neither a solicitation of a proxy nor an offer to purchase nor a solicitation of an offer to sell any securities.
This report is also not a substitute for any proxy statement or other filings that may be made with the Securities Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) with respect to the proposed Reduction in Stated Capital and the Share Consolidation described under
Item 1 “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 2. Trans Mountain Transaction” and Item 2. “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis—Recent Developments—Outlook.” Approval of these proposed transactions will be submitted to the Company’s
shareholders for their consideration, and the Company will file a definitive proxy statement to be used to solicit shareholder
approval of the transaction with the SEC and on SEDAR. Detailed information about these transactions will be contained in the
definitive proxy statement and other documents to be filed with the SEC and on SEDAR and mailed to shareholders prior to the
meeting.
Investors and security holders will be able to obtain free copies of the definitive proxy statement and other documents
filed with the SEC by the Company through the web site maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov or on the Company’s website at
https://ir.kindermorgancanadalimited.com/, and under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
The Company and its directors and executive officers may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies in
respect of the Reduction in Stated Capital and the Share Consolidation. Information regarding the Company’s directors and
executive officers is contained in the 2017 Form 10-K and KML’s information circular and proxy statement for its 2018 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, which are filed with the SEC. A more complete description will be available in the proxy statement to
be used to solicit shareholder approval of the proposed transactions.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2017
2018
(Note 2)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2017
2018
(Note 2)

Revenues
Services
Product sales and other
Total Revenues

94.3
—
94.3

85.4
0.5
85.9

278.6
—
278.6

263.4
0.5
263.9

Operating Costs, Expenses and Other
Operations and maintenance
Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
Taxes, other than income taxes
Other (income) expense, net
Total Operating Costs, Expenses and Other

39.2
21.1
7.1
1.4
(0.9)
67.9

39.0
19.3
7.6
1.7
0.8
68.4

116.8
61.1
26.6
4.0
(9.3)
199.2

124.8
53.7
22.2
5.3
3.0
209.0

Operating Income

26.4

17.5

79.4

54.9

Other Income (Expense)
Interest income (expense), net
Foreign exchange loss
Other, net
Total Other Income (Expense)

6.1
(0.6)
(0.4)
5.1

2.0
(2.0)
—
—

6.1
(0.4)
(0.4)
5.3

(4.6)
(5.3)
0.7
(9.2)

Income from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes

31.5

17.5

84.7

45.7

Income Tax Expense

(9.3)

(7.7)

(25.0)

(17.7)

Income from Continuing Operations

22.2

9.8

59.7

28.0

Discontinued Operations (Note 2)
Income from operations of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax
Gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax

19.2
1,308.0
1,327.2

32.6
—
32.6

39.8
1,308.0
1,347.8

86.3
—
86.3

Net Income

1,349.4

42.4

1,407.5

114.3

Preferred share dividends

(7.2)

(2.0)

(21.6)

(2.0)

(940.7)

(28.7)

(971.8)

(96.4)

401.5

11.7

414.1

15.9

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Restricted Voting Share from Continuing
Operations

0.05

0.02

0.11

0.06

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Restricted Voting Share from Discontinued
Operations

3.78

0.09

3.85

0.16

Basic and Diluted Weighted Average Restricted Voting Shares Outstanding

104.3

103.0

103.9

72.1

0.1625

0.1625

0.4875

0.2196

Net Income Attributable to Kinder Morgan Interest
Net Income Available to Restricted Voting Stockholders
Restricted Voting Shares

Dividends Per Restricted Voting Share Declared for the Period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
1,349.4
42.4

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Benefit plans (Note 10)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (Note 6)

36.4
(10.5)

Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income

25.9
1,375.3

(0.1)
(1.3)
(1.4)
41.0

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
1,407.5
114.3

37.5
(8.2)
29.3
1,436.8

(0.7)
(1.8)
(2.5)
111.8

Comprehensive income attributable to Kinder Morgan interest

(958.9)

(27.8)

(992.3)

(94.9)

Comprehensive income attributable to Kinder Morgan Canada
Limited

416.4

13.2

444.5

16.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017
(Note 2)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Current assets held for sale (Note 2)
Other current assets
Total current assets

4,350.1
41.2
7.7
—
7.8
4,406.8

110.7
23.3
7.3
192.7
6.6
340.6

Property, plant and equipment, net
Long-term assets held for sale (Note 2)
Deferred charges and other assets
Total Assets

985.3
—
9.2
5,401.3

988.4
3,050.4
73.3
4,452.7

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Credit facility (Note 3)
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Current liabilities held for sale (Note 2)
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

—
75.2
304.7
—
32.1
412.0

—
54.5
8.7
207.3
27.8
298.3

Long-term liabilities and deferred credits
Deferred income taxes
Deferred revenues
Long-term liabilities held for sale (Note 2)
Other deferred credits
Total long-term liabilities and deferred credits
Total Liabilities

1.3
66.7
—
2.4
70.4
482.4

299.3
53.5
163.2
0.8
516.8
815.1

537.2

537.2

1,724.9
(405.7)
—
1,856.4

1,707.5
(770.0)
(8.8)
1,465.9

3,062.5
4,918.9
5,401.3

2,171.7
3,637.6
4,452.7

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3 and 12)
Equity
Preferred share capital, 12,000,000 shares of Series 1 and 10,000,000 shares of Series
3, issued and outstanding (Note 4)
Restricted Voting Share capital, 104,588,581 and 103,366,905 Restricted Voting Shares,
respectively, issued and outstanding (Note 4)
Retained deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Kinder Morgan Canada Limited equity
Kinder Morgan interest, 244,061,460 and 242,882,897 Special Voting Shares,
respectively, issued and outstanding (Note 3)
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017
Operating Activities
Net income
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Capitalized equity financing costs
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs
Gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group (Note 2)
Other non-cash items
Change in operating assets and liabilities (Note 11)
Cash provided by operating activities (Note 2)
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Contributions to trusts
Sales of property, plant and equipment, net of removal costs
Proceeds from the sale of Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of cash disposed (Note 2)
Other, net
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (Note 2)
Financing Activities
Issuances of debt
Repayments of debt
Proceeds received from IPO, net
Issuance of preferred shares, net
Repayments of debt with affiliates
Cash dividends - restricted shares
Dividends - preferred shares
Distributions - Kinder Morgan interest
Debt and preferred shares issuance costs
Other, net
Cash provided by financing activities
Change in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Deposits held by the Trans Mountain Asset Group
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted deposits

1,407.5

114.3

107.9
(341.0)
(34.8)
(0.2)
60.5
(1,235.1)
8.8
331.5
305.1

107.6
38.5
(19.6)
5.7
—
—
9.4
(97.1)
158.8

(507.5)
(9.6)
16.0
3,921.2
0.6
3,420.7

(409.1)
(10.3)
(0.2)
—
—
(419.6)

792.6
(232.7)
—
—
—
(36.8)
(20.5)
(102.3)
(9.5)
(6.0)
384.8

287.3
(122.3)
1,671.0
293.5
(1,606.3)
(4.3)
—
(10.4)
(74.7)
—
433.8

128.3

(18.9)

0.5

(1.3)

Net increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Deposits
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Deposits, beginning of period
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Deposits, end of period

4,239.4
111.2
4,350.6

152.8
110.3
263.1

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period
Restricted Deposits, beginning of period
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Deposits, beginning of period

110.7
0.5
111.2

109.8
0.5
110.3

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period
Restricted Deposits, end of period
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Deposits, end of period

4,350.1
0.5
4,350.6

261.9
1.2
263.1

Net increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Deposits

4,239.4

152.8

—
9.3

60.6
1.4

1.5

42.0
(2.2)

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid including to affiliates during the period for interest (net of capitalized interest)
Cash paid during the period for income taxes
Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities
Increase in property, plant and equipment from both accruals and contractor retainage
Increase (decrease) in property, plant and equipment due to foreign currency translation adjustments

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(Unaudited
Issued shares (in millions)

Balance at June 30, 2018

Canadian dollars (in millions)

Preferred
shares

Restricted
Voting
Shares

Kinder
Morgan
Interest Special
Voting
Shares

Preferred
share
capital

Restricted
Voting
Share
capital

22.0

104.0

244.1

537.2

1,720.3

Net income

Retained
deficit
(790.2)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss
(7.7)

408.7

Preferred share dividend
Restricted voting share
dividends

0.6

Stock-based compensation

(17.0)

(17.0)

22.0

104.6

244.1

537.2

Preferred
shares

Restricted
Voting
Shares

—

102.9

3.1

1.5

1.5

1,724.9

(405.7)

7.7

18.2

25.9

—

3,062.5

4,918.9

Canadian dollars (in millions)

Kinder
Morgan
Interest Special
Voting
Shares

Preferred
share
capital

Restricted
Voting
Share
capital

—

1,699.1

242.1

Reallocation of equity on
common control transaction

Retained
deficit
(773.7)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss
(8.0)

0.2

Equity issuance
fees

(7.0)
12.0

2,153.7
(0.2)

300.0

(5.9)

28.7

0.2

1.6

(13.8)

3.5

5.1
0.9

0.5

Other comprehensive loss

(0.5)
12.0

103.0

242.3

293.5
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1,701.4

42.4

(13.8)

0.9

Deferred tax liability
adjustments

—

(5.9)

Special voting share
distributions
0.1

3,071.1

300.0

Restricted voting share
dividends

Stock-based compensation

Total

(7.2)
13.7

Balance at September 30, 2017

Kinder
Morgan
interest

(0.2)

Net income

Dividend/Distribution
reinvestment plan

(40.3)

3.1

Issued shares (in millions)

Issuance of preferred shares

1,349.4
(7.2)

Other comprehensive income

Balance at June 30, 2017

3,603.5

940.7

(40.3)

Dividend/Distribution
reinvestment plan

Total

2,143.9

(7.2)

Special voting share
distributions

Balance at September 30, 2018

Kinder
Morgan
interest

(765.7)

(8.5)

1.1

1.6

(0.9)

(1.4)

2,172.1

3,392.8

KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY (continued)
(Unaudited)
Issued shares (in millions)

Canadian dollars (in millions)

Preferred
shares

Restricted
Voting
Shares

Kinder
Morgan
Interest Special
Voting
Shares

Preferred
share
capital

Restricted
Voting
Share
capital

22.0

103.4

242.9

537.2

1,707.5

Balance at December 31, 2017

Retained
deficit

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss

(770.0)

(8.8)

Kinder
Morgan
interest

Total

2,171.7

3,637.6

971.8

1,407.5

Net income

435.7

Preferred share dividend

(20.5)

(20.5)

(50.9)

(50.9)

Restricted voting share
dividends
Special voting share
distributions
Dividend/Distribution
reinvestment plan

1.2

1.2

19.8

33.9

4.1

Other

4.1

(0.8)

Other comprehensive income
Balance at September 30, 2018

22.0

104.6

244.1

537.2

1,724.9

Issued shares (in millions)

Preferred
Voting
Shares

Restricted
Voting
Shares

—

—

—

Distribution
Issuance of restricted
voting shares

Equity
attributable
to Kinder
Morgan
pre-IPO

Preferred
Share
Capital

Restricted
Voting
Share
capital

1,475.0

—

—

—

8.8

20.5

29.3

—

3,062.5

4,918.9

Retained
deficit
(13.1)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss
(25.9)

—

(261.7)

(1,340.2)

Equity issuance fees

(7.0)
12.0

1,750.0

13.1

25.9

(777.7)

(7.5)

1,301.2

—

785.2

—
(76.9)

(69.9)

300.0

300.0
17.9

Restricted voting share
dividends

96.4

0.1

0.2

1.6

Stock-based compensation

(13.8)

(13.8)

3.5

5.1

0.9

Deferred tax liability
adjustment

0.5

0.9

18.8

Other comprehensive loss

(1.0)
12.0

103.0

242.3

—

293.5

1,701.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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114.3
(5.9)

(5.9)

Special voting share
distributions
Dividend/Distribution
reinvestment plan

1,436.0

(261.7)
1,750.0

242.1

Total

126.9

Reallocation of equity on
common control
transaction

Balance at September 30,
2017

Kinder
Morgan
interest

126.9

102.9

Issuance of special voting
shares and reallocation
of Kinder Morgan preIPO carrying basis

(405.7)

0.8

Canadian dollars (in millions)

Kinder
Morgan
Interest Special
Voting
Shares

Activity attributable to
Kinder Morgan prior to
IPO:
Equity interests issued

Issuance of preferred
shares
Net income

(122.1)

14.1

Stock-based compensation

Balance at December 31,
2016

(122.1)

(765.7)

(8.5)

1.1

20.4

(1.5)

(2.5)

2,172.1

3,392.8

KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. General
The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on April 7, 2017. On May 30, 2017, we
completed an IPO of our Restricted Voting Shares and used the net proceeds of $1,671.0 million to acquire an approximate 30%
indirect interest in the Limited Partnership from certain affiliates of Kinder Morgan, who retained an approximate 70% ownership
of the limited partnership units in the Limited Partnership.
Basis of Presentation
General
In January 2018, we completed the registration of our Restricted Voting Shares pursuant to Section 12(g) of the United
States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13(a) of
the Exchange Act.
We have prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with the accounting
principles contained in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, the single source of U.S. GAAP and referred to in this report
as the Codification. U.S. GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles that the SEC has identified as having substantial
authoritative support, as supplemented by Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act, as amended from time to time. Under such
rules and regulations, all significant intercompany items have been eliminated in consolidation.
In our opinion, all adjustments, which are of a normal and recurring nature, considered necessary for a fair statement of
our financial position and operating results for the interim periods have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year; accordingly, you should read these consolidated
financial statements in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in our 2017 Form 10-K.
Unless otherwise noted, amounts are stated in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of our continuing
operations.
Presentation of Kinder Morgan Interest
As of and for the reporting periods after May 30, 2017, Kinder Morgan’s economic interest in the Limited Partnership
is reflected within “Kinder Morgan interest” in our consolidated balance sheets and earnings attributable to Kinder Morgan’s
economic ownership interest in the Limited Partnership is presented in “Net Income Attributable to Kinder Morgan Interest” in
our consolidated statements of income.
Prior to the IPO, Kinder Morgan controlled all of our equity which is presented as “Equity attributable to Kinder Morgan
pre-IPO” in our statement of equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. For the periods after the IPO, “Kinder Morgan
interest” is separately presented in our consolidated statement of equity for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, and includes its share of our net income and other comprehensive loss, along with its Class B Units distributions and
distribution reinvestment plan activities.
Accounting Policy Changes
Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements
On January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Updates (ASU) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers,” and a series of related accounting standard updates designed to create improved revenue recognition and disclosure
comparability in financial statements. For more information, see Note 7.
On January 1, 2018, we retroactively adopted ASU 2016-18, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash.”
This ASU requires the statements of cash flows to present the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and
amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally described as restricted
cash and restricted cash equivalents are now included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning of period
and end of period amounts presented on the statements of cash flows. The retrospective application of this new accounting guidance
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resulted in a decrease of $0.7 million in “Cash used in investing activities,” an increase of $0.5 million in “Cash, Cash Equivalents,
and Restricted Deposits, beginning of the period,” and an increase of $1.2 million in “Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted
Deposits, end of period” in our accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows from what was previously presented in our
Quarterly Report for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2017.
On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU No. 2017-07, “Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715).” This ASU requires
an employer to disaggregate the service cost component from the other components of net benefit cost, allows only the service
cost component of net benefit cost to be eligible for capitalization, and establishes how to present the service cost component and
the other components of net benefit cost in the income statement. Topic 715 required us to retrospectively reclassify other
components of net benefit costs (excluding the service cost component) from “General and administrative” to “Other, net” in our
accompanying consolidated statement of income. We prospectively applied Topic 715 related to net benefit costs eligible for
capitalization. These costs are included within our Discontinued Operations, and therefore are not reflected within the income
statement line items presented and are net within the “Income from Operations of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax.”
2. Trans Mountain Transaction
On August 31, 2018, we closed on the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, which were indirectly acquired by the
Government of Canada, through Trans Mountain Corporation (a subsidiary of the Canada Development Investment Corporation)
for cash consideration of approximately $4.43 billion, which is the contractual purchase price of $4.5 billion net of a preliminary
working capital adjustment (the “Transaction”). The contractual purchase price is subject to a customary final true up of the
estimated working capital calculation as provided in the purchase agreement. The August 31, 2018 Trans Mountain Asset Group
balance sheet included $502.4 million of cash and cash equivalents, along with $559.8 million of debt.
On September 4, 2018, we announced that our board of directors approved a plan to distribute the net proceeds from the
Transaction, after capital gains taxes, customary purchase price adjustments and repayment of debt outstanding under our
Temporary Credit Facility (see Note 3), as a return of capital to shareholders. The return of capital to holders of our Restricted
Voting Shares (the “Return of Capital”) is expected to be approximately $1.2 billion or approximately $11.40 per Restricted Voting
Share. To facilitate the Return of Capital and provide flexibility for dividends going forward, we also announced that we will seek
voting shareholders’ two-thirds majority approval to reduce the stated capital of our Restricted Voting Shares by $1.45 billion (the
“Stated Capital Reduction”). Our board of directors also approved a proposal to effect a consolidation or "reverse stock split" of
our Restricted Voting Shares and Special Voting Shares on a one-for-three basis (three shares consolidating to one share) (the
“Share Consolidation”). These proposals will be voted on at a special meeting of our shareholders currently scheduled to be held
on November 29, 2018 and Kinder Morgan has stated that it intends to vote in favor of these proposals with its approximate 70%
voting interest in us. Subject to the Stated Capital Reduction and Share Consolidation being approved by shareholders, and the
board's subsequent confirmation thereof, the anticipated payment date for the Return of Capital is expected to be January 3, 2019,
with the Share Consolidation to occur a few days thereafter.
We have recorded a Gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax of $1,308.0 million as presented in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018. The gain included a
tax benefit of approximately $69.5 million comprised of the release of deferred income taxes of approximately $388.5 million,
which were partially offset by an adjustment to accrued taxes of approximately $319.0 million on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet as of September 30, 2018.
The underlying assets in the Trans Mountain Asset Group were primarily within our Pipelines business segment and the
operating results for the Trans Mountain Asset Group are included in Income from operations of the Trans Mountain Asset Group,
net of tax in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017. Major income and expense line items associated with the Trans Mountain Asset Group that have been presented within the
caption Discontinued Operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income were as follows:
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(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Revenues
Depreciation and amortization
Operating expenses
Interest and other income (expense) (b)
Income from operations of the Trans Mountain Asset Group before
income taxes
Gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group before income taxes
Income from Discontinued Operations before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018(a)

2018(a)

2017

2017

56.4
(11.8)
(27.5)
11.3

81.1
(17.9)
(30.0)
6.4

214.3
(46.8)
(89.8)
(22.9)

236.3
(53.9)
(84.8)
13.4

28.4

39.6

54.8

111.0

1,235.1
1,263.5
63.7
1,327.2

—
39.6
(7.0)
32.6

1,235.1
1,289.9
57.9
1,347.8

—
111.0
(24.7)
86.3

The Trans Mountain Asset Group’s carrying value of assets and liabilities have been presented as held for sale in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 and include:
December 31, 2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Other current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Non-current regulatory assets
Other non-current assets
Total assets of the Trans Mountain Asset Group

128.1
46.0
18.6
2,719.6
248.0
29.1
53.7
3,243.1

Credit Facility
Accounts payable
Current regulatory liabilities
Other current liabilities
Pension and postretirement benefits
Non-current regulatory liabilities

—
98.0
103.0
6.3
75.4
43.3

Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities of the Trans Mountain Asset Group

44.5
370.5

Our net cash flows from operating and investing activities from the Trans Mountain Asset Group included in the
accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows were as follows:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
(Net cash provided by (used in) in millions of Canadian dollars)
Operating activities
Investing activities

2018(a)
182.3
(507.3)

2017
71.7
(305.6)

______
(a) Amounts are for the periods ending on August 31, 2018, the closing of the Transaction.
(b) Nine months ended September 30, 2018 includes approximately $60.5 million pre-tax write off of deferred financing costs, see Note 3.
Amounts also include interest expenses from our credit facilities and KMI Loans that were allocated to discontinued operations for borrowings
that were directly related to the Trans Mountain Asset Group.
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Subsequent to the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, we continue to have two business segments: (i) the Pipelines
segment, which includes Cochin, a 12-inch diameter multi-product pipeline which spans approximately 1,000 kilometers in
Saskatchewan and Alberta and Jet Fuel serving the Vancouver International Airport and (ii) the Terminals segment, which includes
the ownership or operation of liquid product merchant storage and rail terminals in the Edmonton, Alberta market as well as a
predominantly dry cargo import/export facility in Vancouver, the Province of British Columbia (“B.C.”)
Also, see Note 3 “Debt” for information on our 4-year, $500 million unsecured revolving credit facility.
3. Debt
Credit Facilities
In conjunction with the announcement of the Transaction described in Note 2, on May 30, 2018, approximately $100.0
million of borrowings outstanding under our June 16, 2017 revolving credit facility (the “2017 Credit Facility”) were repaid, the
underlying credit facilities were terminated, and approximately $60.5 million of deferred costs associated with the 2017 Credit
Facility that were being amortized as interest expense over its term were written off.
On May 30, 2018 and concurrently with the termination of our 2017 Credit Facility, we established a $500.0 million
revolving credit facility (the “Temporary Credit Facility”), for general corporate purposes, including working capital during the
period from June 1, 2018 through the closing of the Transaction. The approximate $100.0 million of borrowings outstanding under
the terminated 2017 Credit Facility were repaid pursuant to an initial drawdown under the Temporary Credit Facility.
On June 14, 2018, our former subsidiary, Trans Mountain, as the borrower, entered into a non-revolving, unsecured
construction credit agreement (the “Trans Mountain Non-recourse Credit Agreement”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to
approximately$1 billion to facilitate the resumption of the TMEP planning and construction work until the close of the Transaction.
The $559.8 million of outstanding borrowings under the Trans Mountain Non-recourse Credit Agreement were included in the
Trans Mountain Asset Group’s assets and liabilities included in the Transaction (see Note 2).
Upon the closing of the Transaction on August 31, 2018, the Temporary Credit Facility was replaced with a new 4-year,
$500.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility for working capital purposes (“2018 Credit Facility”) under a credit agreement
with the Royal Bank of Canada (the “Credit Agreement”). In addition, the $132.6 million of outstanding borrowings under the
Temporary Credit Facility were paid off prior to its termination with a portion of the proceeds from the Transaction.
Depending on the type of loan requested, interest on loans outstanding will be calculated based on: (i) a Canadian prime
rate of interest; (ii) a U.S. base rate; (iii) LIBOR; or (iv) bankers’ acceptance fees, plus (i) in the case of Canadian prime rate or
U.S. base rate loans, an applicable margin of up to 1.25%; or (ii) in the case of LIBOR or banker’s acceptance loans, an applicable
margin ranging from 1.00% to 2.25%, which such margin in any case is determined by our debt credit rating. Standby fees for the
unused portion of the 2018 Credit Facility will be calculated at a rate ranging from 0.20% to 0.45% based upon our debt credit
rating.
The Credit Agreement contains various financial and other covenants that apply to us and our subsidiaries and that are
common in such agreements, including a maximum ratio of consolidated total funded debt to consolidated earnings before interest,
income taxes, DD&A, and non-cash adjustments as defined in the Credit Agreement, of 5.00:1.00 and restrictions on our ability
to incur debt, grant liens, make dispositions, engage in transactions with affiliates, make restricted payments, make investments,
enter into sale leaseback transactions, amend our organizational documents and engage in corporate reorganization transactions.
In addition, the Credit Agreement contains customary events of default, including non-payment; non-compliance with
covenants (in some cases, subject to grace periods); payment default under, or acceleration events affecting, certain other
indebtedness; bankruptcy or insolvency events involving us or guarantors; and changes of control. If an event of default under the
Credit Agreement exists and is continuing, the lenders could terminate their commitments and accelerate the maturity of our
outstanding obligations under the Credit Agreement.
As of September 30, 2018, we had no outstanding borrowings under our 2018 Credit Facility, and had $446.0 million
available under the 2018 Credit Facility, after reducing the $500.0 million capacity for the $54.0 million in letters of credit. Of the
total $54.0 million of letters of credit issued, approximately $50.5 million are issued on behalf of Trans Mountain for which it has
issued a backstop letter of credit to us. As of September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with all required covenants. As of
December 31, 2017, we had no borrowings outstanding under our 2017 Credit Facility. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018, we incurred standby fees of $0.8 million and $7.6 million, respectively. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017, we incurred standby fees of $4.0 million and $4.6 million, respectively.
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4. Equity
As of September 30, 2018, we had (i) 104.6 million and 244.1 million of Restricted Voting Shares and Special Voting
Shares outstanding, respectively, with no par value, for an aggregate of 348.7 million voting shares outstanding, (ii) 12.0 million
and 10.0 million of Series 1 Preferred Shares and Series 3 Preferred Shares outstanding, respectively, and (iii) 0.2 million of
restricted stock awards outstanding.
Preferred Share Dividends
The following table provides information regarding dividends declared and paid, or to be paid, as applicable, on our
Preferred Shares during the nine months ended September 30, 2018:
Total Series 1
quarterly
dividend per
share for the
period

Period

Total Series 3
quarterly
dividend per
share for the
period

Total
amount of
dividends
paid in cash

Date of
declaration

Date of record

Date of
dividend

January 17,
2018

January 31,
2018

February 15,
2018
May 15, 2018
August 15,
2018
November 15,
2018

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
November 15, 2017 to
February 14, 2018 (a)
February 15, 2018 to
May 14, 2018
May 15, 2018 to
August 14, 2018
August 15, 2018 to
November 14, 2018

0.328125

0.22082

0.328125

0.325

April 18, 2018

April 30, 2018

0.328125

0.325

0.328125

0.325

July 18, 2018
October 10,
2018

July 31, 2018
October 31,
2018

6.1
7.2
7.2

________

(a) Series 3 per share amount reflects that the shares were outstanding for 62 days during the period ended February 14, 2018.

Restricted Voting Share Dividends
The following table provides information regarding dividends declared and paid, or to be paid, as applicable, on our
Restricted Voting Shares during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

For the three
month period
ended

Dividend
rate per
share

Date of
declaration

Date of record

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
December 31,
January 17,
January 31,
0.1625
2017
2018
2018

Total amount
of dividends
paid in cash(a)

Total amount
of dividends
paid in form
of additional
shares

February 15,
2018

11.8

5.1

Date of
dividend

March 31, 2018

0.1625

April 18, 2018

April 30, 2018

May 15, 2018

11.1

5.9

June 30, 2018
September 30,
2018

0.1625

July 18, 2018
October 17,
2018

July 31, 2018
October 31,
2018

August 15, 2018
November 15,
2018

13.9

3.1

0.1625

________

(a) Amount includes notional dividends on outstanding restricted stock awards of $0.4 million.
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Kinder Morgan Interest Distributions
The following table provides information regarding distributions declared and paid, or to be paid, as applicable, to Kinder
Morgan during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

Dividend
For the three month
rate per
period ended
share
Date of declaration
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Date of distribution

Total amount
of distribution
Total amount paid in form of
of distribution
additional
paid in cash
shares (a)
(In millions of Canadian dollars)

December 31, 2017

0.1625

January 17, 2018

February 15, 2018

31.0

9.9

March 31, 2018

0.1625

April 18, 2018

May 15, 2018

31.0

9.9

June 30, 2018

0.1625

July 18, 2018

August 15, 2018

40.3

—

September 30, 2018

0.1625

October 17, 2018

November 15, 2018

________

(a) Due to our reduced need for capital after our May 29, 2018 announcement of the Transaction, Kinder Morgan elected to suspend its
participation in the Limited Partnership's distribution reinvestment plan.

Proposed Return of Capital, Stated Capital Reduction and Share Consolidation
As discussed in Note 2, subject to the Stated Capital Reduction and Share Consolidation being approved by a two-thirds
majority of voting shareholders, and the board's subsequent confirmation thereof, the anticipated payment date for the Return of
Capital is expected to be January 3, 2019, with the Share Consolidation to occur a few days thereafter. KMI has stated that it
intends to vote in favor of these proposals with its approximate 70% voting interest in us.
Earnings per Restricted Voting Share
We calculate earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations using the two-class method. Earnings were
allocated to Restricted Voting Shares and participating securities based on the amount of dividends paid in the current period plus
an allocation of the undistributed earnings or excess distributions over earnings to the extent that each security participates in
earnings or excess distributions over earnings. Our unvested restricted stock awards, which may be settled in Restricted Voting
Shares issued to employees and non-employee directors and include dividend equivalent payments, do not participate in excess
distributions over earnings.
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The following table sets forth the allocation of income from continuing operations and net income available to
shareholders of Restricted Voting Shares and participating securities:

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Income from Continuing Operations Available to Restricted Voting
Stockholders
Participating securities:
Less: Income from Continuing Operations allocated to restricted stock
awards(a)
Income from Continuing Operations Allocated to Restricted Voting
Stockholders
Basic Weighted Average Restricted Voting Shares Outstanding
Basic Earnings from Continuing Operations Per Restricted Voting Share

4.9

1.9

11.3

3.9

(0.2)

—

(0.4)

—

4.7

1.9

10.9

3.9

104.3
0.05

103.0
0.02

103.9
0.11

72.1
0.06

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Income from Discontinued Operations Available to Restricted Voting
Stockholders
Participating securities:
Less: Income from Discontinued Operations allocated to restricted
stock awards(a)
Income from Discontinued Operations Allocated to Restricted Voting
Stockholders
Basic Weighted Average Restricted Voting Shares Outstanding
Basic Earnings from Discontinued Operations Per Restricted Voting Share

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

396.7
(2.3)

9.3

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
402.9

11.5

(0.1)

(2.9)

(0.1)

394.4

9.2

400

11.4

104.3
3.78

103.0
0.09

103.9
3.85

72.1
0.16

_______
(a) As of September 30, 2018, there were approximately 0.2 million unvested restricted stock awards.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, the weighted average maximum number of potential Restricted
Voting Share equivalents of 0.2 million unvested restricted stock awards are antidilutive and, accordingly, are excluded from the
determination of diluted earnings per Restricted Voting Share.
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5. Transactions with Related Parties
Affiliate Activities
The following table summarizes our related party income statement activity. Revenues, operating costs and capitalized
costs are under normal trade terms.
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30,
September 30,
2018
2017
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Income Statement location
Revenues-Services(a)
Operations and maintenance and general and administrative expenses
Operations and maintenance and general and administrative expenses
included in discontinued operations
Interest expense(b)
Other
Capitalized costs from affiliates in property, plant and equipment
Capitalized costs from affiliates included in assets sold in the Transaction

15.4
0.4

14.6
0.2

46.1
3.7

44.2
0.9

0.4
—

1.0
—

1.8
—

1.5
19.6

—
1.7

1.2
—

0.1
1.9

5.2
—

_________
(a) Amounts represent sales to a customer who is a related party through joint ownership of a joint venture.
(b) 2017 amounts primarily represent interest on long-term debt with affiliates (“KMI Loans”) that was repaid with proceeds from our IPO.

Accounts receivable and payable
Accounts receivable-affiliate and accounts payable-affiliate are non-interest bearing and are settled on demand and, since
our IPO, primarily settled monthly. The following table summarizes our affiliate balances:
September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

13.6
—

9.0
0.7

(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Accounts receivable(a)
Accounts payable(b)
________
(a) Included in “Accounts receivable” on our accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
(b) Included in “Accounts payable” on our accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

6. Risk Management and Financial Instruments
Credit risk
We are exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a customer or other counterparty will fail to perform an obligation
or settle a liability, resulting in a financial loss to our business, which is primarily concentrated in the crude oil and refined products
transportation industry and is dependent upon the ability of our customers to pay for these services. A majority of our customers
operate in the oil and gas exploration and development, or energy marketing or transportation industries. We may be exposed to
long-term downturns in energy commodity prices, including the price for crude oil, or other credit events impacting these industries.
We limit our exposure to credit risk by requiring shippers who fail to maintain specified credit ratings or a suitable financial
position to provide acceptable security, generally in the form of guarantees from credit worthy parties or letters of credit from well
rated financial institutions. Our cash and cash equivalents are held with major financial institutions, minimizing the risk of nonperformance by counter parties.
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Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk attributed to floating rate debt, which is used to finance capital expansion projects,
and general corporate operations. The changes in interest rates may impact future cash flows and the fair value of our financial
instruments.
Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation
Foreign currency transaction gains or losses result from a change in exchange rates between the functional currency of
an entity and the currency in which a transaction is denominated. Unrealized and realized gains and losses generated from these
transactions are recorded in foreign exchange loss in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and include:
•

As a result of the Transaction, we released foreign currency translation gains previously held within Accumulated other
comprehensive income to the Gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income of $10.1 million for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.

•

Prior to repayment of the KMI Loans utilizing proceeds from our IPO, we were exposed to foreign currency risk related
to the U.S. dollar denominated KMI Loans. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, our continuing
operations had unrealized foreign exchange gain of $0.5 million and $0.2 million, respectively, and our discontinued
operations had unrealized foreign exchange gain of $0.1 million and a foreign exchange loss of $2.6 million, respectively,
related to the KMI Loans.

•

Our continuing operations unrealized foreign exchange gains and (losses) for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2018 were $(0.6) million and $0.4 million, respectively, and the three and nine months ended September 30,
2017 were $(2.8) million and $(5.7) million, respectively, due to changes in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar
and the U.S. dollar on U.S. dollar denominated balances. Our discontinued operations unrealized foreign exchange gains
and (losses) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 were $0.1 million and $(0.2) million, respectively,
and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 were $1.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively,These currency
exchange rate fluctuations affect the expected Canadian dollar cash flows on unsettled U.S. dollar denominated
transactions, primarily related to cash bank accounts that are denominated in U.S. dollars and affiliate receivables or
payables that are denominated in U.S. dollars. Prior to the closing of the Transaction, we translated the assets and liabilities
of Puget Sound that has the U.S. dollar as its functional currency to Canadian dollars at period-end exchange rates.

•

Puget Sound operates in the state of Washington, and earns its revenues and incurs most of its expenses in U.S. dollars
and Cochin earns its revenues in U.S. dollars. Therefore, fluctuations in the U.S. dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate
can affect the earnings contributed by Cochin and prior to the closing of the Transaction, Puget Sound, to our overall
results. Our continuing operations had realized foreign exchange gains and (losses) of $(0.8) million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018, and $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively. Our discontinued operations had realized foreign exchange gains and (losses) of $(0.6) million and $(0.2)
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively, and $0.3 million and $0.1 million for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, respectively.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that we will not be able to meet our financial obligations, including commitments, as they become
due. We manage our liquidity risk by ensuring access to sufficient funds to meet our obligations. We forecast cash requirements
to ensure funding is available to settle financial liabilities when they become due. Our primary sources of liquidity and capital
resources are funds generated from operations and our 2018 Credit Facility, see Note 3.
7. Revenue Recognition
Adoption of Topic 606
Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” and the series of
related accounting standard updates that followed (collectively referred to as “Topic 606”). We utilized the modified retrospective
method to adopt Topic 606, which required us to apply the new revenue standard to (i) all new revenue contracts entered into after
January 1, 2018, and (ii) revenue contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018. In accordance with this approach, our
consolidated revenues for periods prior to January 1, 2018 were not revised. The cumulative effect of the adoption of Topic 606
as of January 1, 2018 and the impact to the financial statement line items for the current year was not material.
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Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Beginning in 2018, we account for revenue from contracts with customers in accordance with Topic 606. The unit of
account in Topic 606 is a performance obligation, which is a promise in a contract to transfer to a customer either a distinct good
or service (or bundle of goods or services) or a series of distinct goods or services provided over a period of time. Topic 606
requires that a contract’s transaction price, which is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, is to be allocated to each performance obligation in the contract based
on relative standalone selling prices and recognized as revenue when (point in time) or as (over time) control of the goods or
services transfers to the customer and the performance obligation is satisfied.
Our customer service contracts primarily include transportation service and terminaling service contracts, as described
below. Generally, for the majority of these contracts: (i) our promise is to transfer (or stand ready to transfer) a series of distinct
integrated services over a period of time, which is a single performance obligation; (ii) the transaction price includes fixed and/
or variable consideration, which amount is determinable at contract inception and/or at each month end based on our right to
invoice at month end for the value of services provided to the customer that month; and (iii) the transaction price is recognized
as revenue over the service period specified in the contract (which can be a day, including each day in a series of promised daily
services, a month, a year, or other time increment, including a deficiency makeup period) as the services are rendered using a
time-based (passage of time) or units-based (units of service transferred) output method for measuring the transfer of control of
the services and satisfaction of our performance obligation over the service period, based on the nature of the promised service
(e.g., firm or non-firm) and the terms and conditions of the contract (e.g., contracts with or without makeup rights).
Firm Services
Firm services (also called uninterruptible services) are services that are promised to be available to the customer at all
times during the period(s) covered by the contract, with limited exceptions. Our firm service contracts are typically structured
with take-or-pay or minimum volume provisions, which specify minimum service quantities a customer will pay for even if it
chooses not to receive or use them in the specified service period (referred to as “deficiency quantities”). We typically recognize
the portion of the transaction price associated with such provisions, including any deficiency quantities, as revenue depending on
whether the contract prohibits the customer from making up deficiency quantities in subsequent periods, or the contract permits
this practice, as follows:
•

Contracts without Makeup Rights: If contractually the customer cannot make up deficiency quantities in future periods,
our performance obligation is satisfied, and revenue associated with any deficiency quantities is generally recognized
as each service period expires. Because a service period may exceed a reporting period, we determine at inception of
the contract and at the beginning of each subsequent reporting period if we expect the customer to take the minimum
volume associated with the service period. If we expect the customer to make up all deficiencies in the specified service
period (i.e., we expect the customer to take the minimum service quantities), the minimum volume provision is deemed
not substantive and we will recognize the transaction price as revenue in the specified service period as the promised
units of services are transferred to the customer. Alternatively, if we expect that there will be any deficiency quantities
that the customer cannot or will not make up in the specified service period (referred to as “breakage”), we will recognize
the estimated breakage amount (subject to the constraint on variable consideration) as revenue ratably over such service
period in proportion to the revenue that we will recognize for actual units of service transferred to the customer in the
service period. For certain take-or-pay contracts where we make the service, or a part of the service, continuously
available over the service period, we typically recognize the take-or-pay amount as revenue ratably over such period
based on the passage of time.

•

Contracts with Makeup Rights: If contractually the customer can acquire the promised service in a future period and
make up the deficiency quantities in such future period (the “deficiency makeup period”), we have a performance
obligation to deliver those services at the customer’s request (subject to contractual and/or capacity constraints) in the
deficiency makeup period. At inception of the contract, and at the beginning of each subsequent reporting period, we
estimate if we expect that there will be deficiency quantities that the customer will or will not make up. If we expect
the customer will make up all deficiencies it is contractually entitled to, any non-refundable consideration received
relating to temporary deficiencies that will be made up in the deficiency makeup period will be deferred as a contract
liability, and we will recognize that amount as revenue in the deficiency makeup period when either of the following
occurs: (i) the customer makes up the volumes; or (ii) the likelihood that the customer will exercise its right for deficiency
volumes then becomes remote (e.g., there is insufficient capacity to make up the volumes, the deficiency makeup period
expires). Alternatively, if we expect at inception of the contract, or at the beginning of any subsequent reporting period,
that there will be any deficiency quantities that the customer cannot or will not make up (i.e., breakage), we will recognize
the estimated breakage amount (subject to the constraint on variable consideration) as revenue ratably over the specified
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service periods in proportion to the revenue that we will recognize for actual units of service transferred to the customer
in those service periods.
Non-Firm Services
Non-firm services (also called interruptible services) are the opposite of firm services in that such services are provided
to a customer on an “as available” basis. Generally, we do not have an obligation to perform these services until we accept a
customer’s periodic request for service. For the majority of our non-firm service contracts, the customer will pay only for the
actual quantities of services it chooses to receive or use, and we typically recognize the transaction price as revenue as those units
of service are transferred to the customer in the specified service period (typically a daily or monthly period).
Nature of Revenue by Segment
Pipelines Segment
We transport light hydrocarbon liquids (primarily to be used as diluent to facilitate bitumen transportation) on a firm or
non-firm contractual basis, and jet fuel on a non-firm contractual basis. The regulated tariff for Cochin is designed to provide
revenues sufficient to recover the costs of providing transportation to shippers, including a return on invested capital. The majority
of Cochin’s transportation service is provided on a firm basis under its current contracts.
We typically promise to transport on a stand-ready basis the shipper’s minimum volume commitment amount. The
shipper is obligated to pay for its volume commitment amount, regardless of whether or not it flows quantities in Cochin’s pipeline.
The shipper pays a transaction price typically based on a per-unit rate for quantities transported, including amounts attributable
to deficiency quantities.
Our non-firm, interruptible transportation services are provided on Cochin’s pipeline when and to the extent we determine
capacity is available in this pipeline system. The shippers typically pay a per-unit rate for actual quantities of product transported.
Terminals Segment
We provide various types of liquid tank and bulk terminal services. These services are generally comprised of
inbound, storage and outbound handling of customer products.
Our liquid tank storage and handling service contracts generally include a promised tank storage capacity provision and
prepaid volume throughput of the stored product. In these contracts, we have a stand-ready obligation to perform this contracted
service each day over the life of the contract. The customer pays a transaction price typically in the form of a fixed monthly charge
and is obligated to pay whether or not it uses the storage capacity and throughput service (i.e., a take-or-pay payment obligation).
These contracts generally include a per-unit rate for any quantities we handle at the request of the customer in excess of the prepaid
volume throughput amount and also typically include per-unit rates for additional, ancillary services that may be periodically
requested by the customer.
Our bulk storage and handling contracts generally include inbound handling of our customers’ dry bulk material product
into our storage facility and outbound handling of these products from our storage facility. These services are provided on both
a firm and non-firm basis. In our firm bulk storage and handling contracts, we are committed to handle and store on a standready basis the minimum throughput quantity of bulk materials contracted by the customer. The customer is obligated to pay for
its minimum volume commitment amount, regardless of whether or not it uses the storage and handling service. The customer
pays a transaction price typically based on a per-unit rate for quantities handled, including amounts attributable to deficiency
quantities. For non-firm storage and handling services, the customer pays a transaction price typically based on a per-unit rate
for quantities handled on an as requested, non-guaranteed basis.

19

Disaggregation of Revenues
The following table presents our revenues disaggregated by revenue source and type of revenue for each revenue
source:
Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
Pipelines
Terminals
Total
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Revenue from contracts with customers
Services
Firm services(a)
Fee-based services
Total services revenues
Other revenues(b)
Total revenues

13.1
0.9
14.0
1.2
15.2

59.1
16.7
75.8
3.3
79.1

72.2
17.6
89.8
4.5
94.3

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Pipelines
Terminals
Total
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Revenue from contracts with customers
Services
Firm services(a)
Fee-based services
Total services revenues
Other revenues(b)
Total revenues

38.9
1.3
40.2
4.6
44.8

177.1
47.3
224.4
9.4
233.8

216.0
48.6
264.6
14.0
278.6

______
(a) Includes non-cancellable firm service customer contracts with take-or-pay or minimum volume commitment elements, including those
contracts where both the price and quantity amount are fixed. In these arrangements, the customer is obligated to pay for the rendered
service whether or not the customer chooses to utilize the service. Excludes service contracts with indexed-based pricing, which along with
revenues from other contracts are reported as Fee-based services.
(b) Amounts recognized as revenue under guidance prescribed in Topics of the Accounting Standards Codification other than in Topic 606 and
primarily include regulatory-based adjustments and leases.

Contract Balances
Contract assets and contract liabilities are the result of timing differences between revenue recognition, billings and cash
collections. We recognize contract assets in those instances where billing occurs subsequent to revenue recognition and our right
to invoice the customer is conditioned on something other than the passage of time. Our contract liabilities are substantially related
to (i) capital improvements paid for in advance by certain customers generally in our non-regulated businesses, which we
subsequently recognize as revenue on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the related customer contracts, and (ii)
consideration received from customers for temporary deficiency quantities under minimum volume contracts that we expect will
be made up in a future period, which we subsequently recognize as revenue when the customer makes up the volumes or the
likelihood that the customer will exercise its right for deficiency volumes becomes remote (e.g., there is insufficient capacity to
make up the volumes, the deficiency makeup period expires).
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The following table presents the activity in our contract assets and liabilities for the nine months ended September 30,
2018:
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Contract Assets (a)
Balance at December 31, 2017
Additions
Transfer to Accounts receivable
Balance at September 30, 2018

9.5
14.3
(21.7)
2.1

Contract Liabilities (b)
Balance at December 31, 2017
Additions
Transfer to Revenues
Balance at September 30, 2018

68.3
115.3
(102.8)
80.8

______
(a) Includes current balances reported within “Other current assets” in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017.
(b) Includes current balances of $14.1 million and $14.9 million reported within “Other current liabilities” in our accompanying consolidated
balance sheets at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, and includes non-current balances of $66.7 million and $53.4
million reported within “Deferred revenues” in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively.

Revenue Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations
The following table presents our estimated revenue allocated to remaining performance obligations for contracted revenue
that has not yet been recognized, representing our “contractually committed” revenue as of September 30, 2018 that we will invoice
or transfer from contract liabilities and recognize in future periods (in millions of Canadian dollars):
Year

Estimated Revenue

Three months ended December 31, 2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter
Total

82.6
308.5
230.0
177.3
168.3
654.8
1,621.5

Our contractually committed revenue for purposes of the tabular presentation above is generally limited to service customer
contracts which have fixed pricing and fixed volume terms and conditions, generally including contracts with take-or-pay or
minimum volume commitment payment obligations. Our contractually committed revenue amounts generally exclude, based on
the following practical expedients that we elected to apply, remaining performance obligations for: (i) contracts with index-based
pricing or variable volume attributes in which such variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance
obligation or to a wholly unsatisfied promise to transfer a distinct service that forms part of a series of distinct services; (ii) contracts
with an original expected duration of one year or less; and (iii) contracts for which we recognize revenue at the amount for which
we have the right to invoice for services performed.
8. Reportable Segments
Our reportable business segments are based on the way management organizes the enterprise. Each of our reportable
business segments represent a component of the enterprise that engages in a separate business activity and for which discrete
financial information is available.
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Our reportable business segments are:
•

Pipelines - the ownership and operation of Cochin, a 12-inch diameter multi-product pipeline which spans
approximately 1,000 kilometers in Saskatchewan and Alberta and Jet Fuel serving Vancouver International Airport,
and

•

Terminals - the ownership and operation of liquid product merchant storage and rail terminals in the Edmonton,
Alberta market as well as a predominantly dry cargo import/export facility in North Vancouver, B.C. Certain
Edmonton South Terminal tanks that are owned by TMPL were included in the Trans Mountain Asset Group and
continue to be leased to Terminals segment.

We evaluate the performance of our reportable business segments by evaluating our Segment earnings before depreciation
and amortization expenses (“Segment EBDA”). We believe that Segment EBDA is a useful measure of our operating performance
because it measures segment operating results before D&A and certain expenses that are generally not controllable by the operating
managers of our respective business segments, such as general and administrative expense, interest expense, income tax expense
and prior to May 2017, the foreign exchange losses (or gains) on the KMI Loans. Our general and administrative expenses include
such items as employee benefits, insurance, rentals, certain litigation and shared corporate services including accounting,
information technology, human resources and legal services.
We consider each period’s earnings before all non-cash D&A expenses to be an important measure of business segment
performance for our reporting segments. We account for intersegment sales at market prices, while we account for asset transfers
at either market value or, in some instances, book value. Intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
Segment revenues, Segment EBDA and Segment Assets exclude discontinued operations for all periods presented, see
Note 2. Financial information by segment for continuing operations is as follows:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Revenues
Pipelines
Terminals
Total consolidated revenues

15.2
79.1
94.3

14.7
71.2
85.9

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Segment EBDA(a)(b)
Pipelines
Terminals
Total Segment EBDA
D&A
Foreign exchange gain on KMI Loans(c)
General and administrative
Interest income (expense), net
Income tax expense
Income from Continuing Operations
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
Net Income

9.0
44.6
53.6
(21.1)
—
(7.1)
6.1
(9.3)
22.2
1,327.2
1,349.4
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2.4
39.5
41.9
(19.3)
0.5
(7.6)
2.0
(7.7)
9.8
32.6
42.4

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

44.8
233.8
278.6

45.5
218.4
263.9

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

25.5
140.8
166.3
(61.1)
—
(26.6)
6.1
(25.0)
59.7
1,347.8
1,407.5

9.4
116.6
126.0
(53.7)
0.2
(22.2)
(4.6)
(17.7)
28.0
86.3
114.3

September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

4,434.2
967.1
—
5,401.3

346.6
863.0
3,243.1
4,452.7

(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Assets
Pipelines
Terminals
Assets held for sale
Total consolidated assets
_______

(a) Includes revenues less operations and maintenance expense, and taxes, other than income taxes and other, net.
(b) Segment EBDA for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 includes $0.6 million, $2.5 million, $0.4 million, and
$5.5 million, respectively, of foreign exchange losses due to changes in exchange rates between our Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar on
U.S. dollar denominated balances.
(c) The KMI Loans, which represented U.S. dollar denominated long-term notes payable to Kinder Morgan, were settled with proceeds from
our IPO.

9. Income Taxes
Income tax expense applicable to continuing operations included in our accompanying consolidated statements of
income is as follows:
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30,
September 30,
2018
2017
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Income tax expense applicable to continuing operations
Effective tax rate

9.3
29.5%

7.7
44.0%

25.0
29.5%

17.7
38.7%

The effective tax rates for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and the nine months ended September 30, 2018
were higher than the statutory federal and provincial rate due to the tax impact of capitalized overhead expenditures that are not
deductible for tax.
The effective tax rates for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and the nine months ended September 30, 2017
were higher than the statutory federal and provincial rate due to the tax impact of capitalized overhead expenditures that are not
deductible for tax and the impact of a provincial tax rate change on the deferred income tax liabilities.
Income tax expense in respect of our discontinued operations, includes income tax expense on the Trans Mountain Asset
Group earnings for the periods presented until August 31, 2018, and the gain on the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group. Our
effective tax rate on income from discontinued operations was (5.0)% and (4.5)% for the three and nine month periods ended
September 30, 2018, respectively. The effective tax rate on our income from discontinued operations is lower than the statutory
federal and provincial rate due to the taxable gain being eligible for a 50.0% capital gains deduction along with the release of the
non-cash deferred tax liabilities attributable to the Trans Mountain Asset Group.
As a result of our IPO and subsequent revaluation (or rebalancing) of our investment in the Limited Partnership, our tax
basis exceeds our accounting basis in our investment in the Limited Partnership by approximately $489.0 million. This excess tax
basis results in a deferred tax asset of approximately $66.0 million. A full valuation allowance was taken against this deferred tax
asset as we determined it was more likely than not to not be realized.
10. Benefit Plans
Our benefit plans that were provided to our employees prior to the closing of the Transaction were included in the assets
and liabilities sold, and we no longer have any obligations for those benefit plans. For our approximately 150 remaining employees,
new other postretirement benefit (“OPEB”) plans became effective after the closing of the Transaction that provide value similar
to the prior benefit plans. Our pension benefits provided prior to the close of the Transaction were under a defined benefit pension
formula and are now provided under a defined contribution pension plan and our new OPEB plan benefits are relatively consistent
with our prior OPEB plan. As a result of the Transaction, we released $36.3million of benefit plan losses previously recorded in
Accumulated other comprehensive income to the Gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.
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Components of net benefit cost related to our pension plans and OPEB plans are as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Pension
OPEB
2018
2017
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Amortization of prior service costs
Amortization of net actuarial losses
Total net benefit cost

1.8
1.4
(1.5)
—
0.6
2.3

2.2
1.9
(1.9)
—
1.0
3.2

0.1
0.1
—
—
0.1
0.3

0.2
0.2
—
—
—
0.4

Nine Months Ended September 30,
Pension
OPEB
2018
2017
2018
2017
7.1
5.5
(6.1)
0.1
2.3
8.9

6.4
5.8
(5.8)
0.1
3.1
9.6

0.5
0.4
—
—
0.1
1.0

0.5
0.5
—
—
0.1
1.1

The amounts above primarily represent net benefit costs associated with the transferred benefit plans These net benefit
costs are included in both continuing operations, discontinued operations, and were capitalized in the Trans Mountain Asset Group
assets sold along with our remaining assets.
11. Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities
The following amounts include changes for the Trans Mountain Asset Group’s operating assets and liabilities, see
Note 2.
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018
2017
Cash inflow (outflow)
10.0
12.1
(7.1)
(10.4)
(0.4)
(0.2)
1.3
11.5
(4.4)
(15.8)
(32.7)
(17.5)
(61.5)
—
306.9
0.4
(1.3)
(2.4)
(13.3)
59.2
(97.1)
331.5

(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Inventories
Other current assets
Deferred charges and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued interest
Accrued taxes and other current liabilities
Pension and postretirement benefits
Regulatory liabilities and other deferred credits

12. Litigation and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings
We and our subsidiaries are parties to various legal, regulatory and other matters arising from the day-to-day operations
of our businesses or certain predecessor operations that may result in claims against the Company. Although no assurance can be
given, we believe, based on our experiences to date and taking into account established reserves and insurance, that the ultimate
resolution of such items will not have a material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations, cash
flows, or dividends to our shareholders. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the matters to which we are a party and intend
to vigorously defend the Company. When we determine a loss is probable of occurring and is reasonably estimable, we accrue an
undiscounted liability for such contingencies based on our best estimate using information available at that time. If the estimated
loss is a range of potential outcomes and there is no better estimate within the range, we accrue the amount at the low end of the
range. We disclose contingencies where an adverse outcome may be material, or in the judgment of management, we conclude
the matter should otherwise be disclosed. We had no accruals for any outstanding legal proceedings as of September 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017.
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Base Line Terminal Project Litigation
On March 2, 2018, Arnett & Burgess Oilfield Construction Limited (“A&B”) filed a statement of claim and certificate
of lis pendens, in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, against Alberta Envirofuels Inc. (“AEF”) and Base Line Terminal East
Limited Partnership, by its general partner, KM Canada Rail Holdings GP Limited (“BLTELP”). A&B was a contractor on the
Base Line Terminal Project (the “BTT Project”) and has claimed it is owed $21.2 million, inclusive of goods and services tax,
asserting that BLTELP failed to pay A&B for work performed on the BTT Project under a construction services agreement.
On March 26, 2018, A&B filed a separate statement of claim, in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, against BLTELP
solely, asserting that BLTELP failed to pay for work performed under a separate construction services agreement also related to
the BTT Project. With respect to the second claim, A&B has claimed it is owed approximately $1.0 million, inclusive of goods
and services tax. We dispute both claims and intend to defend against them vigorously.
On June 5, 2018, Barrier Coating Inc. (“Barrier”) filed a statement of claim and certificate of lis pendens in the Court of
Queen’s Bench of Alberta against Enbridge Pipelines Inc., AEF, Strathcona County, BLTELP, KM Canada Rail Holdings GP
Limited, Keyera Energy Ltd., Trans Mountain Pipeline ULC and Fabricom Inc. (“Fabricom”). Barrier is a subcontractor on the
BTT Project and has a construction agreement with Fabricom (the “Fabricom Agreement”). In its claim, Barrier asserts that
Fabricom has breached its obligations under the Fabricom Agreement and, as such, Fabricom owes damages to Barrier. The
remaining defendants, including BLTELP, KM Canada Rail Holdings GP Limited and Trans Mountain Pipeline ULC, have been
named in the claim as parties with registered interests on lands affected by the work performed by Barrier under the Fabricom
Agreement. Barrier asserts that these parties were, collectively, unjustly enriched in the amount of $2.5 million. We dispute this
claim and intend to defend against it vigorously.
On September 6, 2018, Fabricom Inc. (“Fabricom”) filed a statement of claim and certificate of lis pendens in the Court
of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, against KM Canada Terminals ULC, BLTELP, Trans Mountain Pipeline ULC, AEF, Doran Stewart
Oilfield Services (1990) Ltd., Alberta Envirofuels Inc., Enbridge Pipelines Inc., and Strathcona County. Fabricom was a contractor
on the BTT Project, and claims that it is owed $29.9 million by BLTELP for work performed on the BTT Project under a construction
services agreement. Fabricom subsequently sent a notice of arbitration incorporating its claim. Pursuant to a provision in the
construction services agreement, the dispute will be resolved by arbitration and the Court of Queen’s Bench matter will be stayed.
We dispute this claim and intend to defend against it vigorously.
Contingencies
We and our subsidiaries are subject to various legal and regulatory actions and proceedings which arise in the normal
course of business. While the final outcome of such actions and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that
the resolution of such actions and proceedings will not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.
We and our subsidiaries are also subject to environmental cleanup and enforcement actions from time to time. Although
we believe our operations are in substantial compliance with applicable environmental law and regulations, risks of additional
costs and liabilities are inherent in pipeline and terminal operations, and there can be no assurance that we will not incur significant
costs and liabilities. Moreover, it is possible that other developments, such as increasingly stringent environmental laws, regulations
and enforcement policies under the terms of authority of those laws, and claims for damages to property or persons resulting from
our operations, could result in substantial costs and liabilities to us.
Although it is not possible to predict the ultimate outcomes, we believe that the resolution of the environmental matters
to which we and our subsidiaries are a party will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations or cash flows. As of September 30, 2018 , we had $0.1 million accrued for our outstanding environmental matters and
no accrual as of December 31, 2017.
13. Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Topic 842
On February 25, 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).” This ASU establishes a comprehensive
new lease accounting model, which requires substantially all leases, with the exception for leases with a term of one year or less,
to be recorded on the balance sheet as a lease liability measured as the present value of the future lease payments with a corresponding
right-of-use asset. The ASU also requires disclosures designed to give financial statement users information on the amount, timing,
and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.
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On January 25, 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-01, “Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic
842.” This ASU permits an entity to elect a transition practical expedient to not apply the provisions of ASU No. 2016-02 to land
easements that existed or expired before the effective date of ASU No. 2016-02 and that were not previously accounted for as
leases under the previous lease guidance in ASC Topic 840 “Leases.”
On July 30, 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements.” This ASU permits
an entity to elect an additional transition method to the existing modified retrospective transition requirements. Under the new
transition method, an entity could adopt the provisions of ASU No. 2016-02 by recognizing a cumulative-effect adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption without adjustment to the financial statements for periods prior to
adoption. Consequently, an entity’s reporting for the comparative periods presented in the financial statements in which it adopts
the new leases standard will continue to be in accordance with the previous lease guidance in ASC Topic 840. ASU No. 2018-11
also allows a practical expedient that permits lessors to not separate non-lease components from the associated lease component
if certain conditions are present.
We are in the process of finalizing our review of our lease agreements in light of Topic 842 guidance, implementing a
financial lease accounting system, evaluating internal control changes to support management in the accounting for and disclosure
of leasing activities, and assessing available transition practical expedients. While we are still in the process of completing our
implementation evaluation of ASU No. 2016-02, we currently believe the most significant changes to our financial statements
relate to the recognition of a lease liability and offsetting right-of-use asset in our consolidated balance sheet for operating leases.
ASU No. 2016-02 will be effective for us as of January 1, 2019.
ASU No. 2016-13

On June 16, 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement
of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.” This ASU modifies the impairment model to utilize an expected loss methodology in
place of the currently used incurred loss methodology, which will result in the more timely recognition of losses. ASU No. 2016-13
will be effective for us as of January 1, 2020, and earlier adoption is permitted. We are currently reviewing the effect of this ASU
to our financial statements.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our accompanying interim consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report, and in conjunction with (i) our consolidated financial statements
and related notes and (ii) our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations included in
our 2017 Form 10-K.
On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” and a series of related
accounting standard updates (collectively referred to as “Topic 606”) designed to create improved revenue recognition and
disclosure comparability in financial statements. For more information, see Note 7 “Revenue Recognition” to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
Recent Developments
Outlook
For the fourth quarter, representing the first full quarter without the Trans Mountain Asset Group earnings, but with nearly
a full quarter of Base Line Terminal earnings, KML anticipates that the remaining assets in the Pipelines and Terminals segments
will generate Adjusted EBITDA of $50 million to $55 million. KML expects the one-for-three reverse stock split to be effective
prior to the declaration of the dividend for the fourth quarter of 2018 and expects to pay a dividend of $0.1625 per split-adjusted
restricted voting share. KML does not anticipate the proposed return of capital or reverse split to have any impact on the outstanding
preferred shares of KML or dividends payable thereon.
As disclosed in “Item 2 —Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Outlook” in our Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018, other forecasts and forward looking guidance relating
to increased Adjusted EBITDA following completion of the TMEP as provided in our IPO prospectus dated May 25, 2017 and
as further discussed in Item 7 under the heading “—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations—Outlook” in our 2017 Form 10-K are no longer relevant to us due to the closing of the Transaction, and as such
we have withdrawn such prior forecasts and forward-looking information.
Trans Mountain Transaction
On August 31, 2018, we closed on the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, which were indirectly acquired by the
Government of Canada through Trans Mountain Corporation (a subsidiary of the Canada Development Investment Corporation)
for cash consideration of approximately $4.43 billion, which is the contractual purchase price of $4.5 billion net of a preliminary
working capital adjustment. The contractual purchase price is subject to a customary final true up of the estimated working capital
calculation as provided in the purchase agreement. The underlying assets in the Trans Mountain Asset Group were primarily
within our Pipelines business segment and the operating results for the Trans Mountain Asset Group are within Discontinued
Operations presented as Income from operations of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax in the the accompanying consolidated
statements of income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017.
We have recorded a Gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group, net of tax of $1,308.0 million as presented in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018. The gain included
a tax benefit of approximately $69.5 million comprised of the release of a Deferred income taxes of approximately $388.5
million, which was partially offset by an adjustment to Accrued taxes of approximately $319.0 million on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2018.
On September 4, 2018, we announced that our board of directors approved a plan to distribute the net proceeds from the
Transaction, after capital gains taxes, customary purchase price adjustments and repayment of debt outstanding under our
Temporary Credit Facility, as a return of capital to shareholders. The return of capital to holders of our Restricted Voting Shares
(the “Return of Capital”) is expected to be approximately $1.2 billion or approximately $11.40 per Restricted Voting Share. To
facilitate the Return of Capital and provide flexibility for dividends going forward, we also announced that we will seek voting
shareholders’ two-thirds majority approval to reduce the stated capital of our Restricted Voting Shares by $1.45 billion (the “Stated
Capital Reduction”). Our board of directors also approved a proposal to effect a consolidation or "reverse stock split" of our
Restricted Voting Shares and Special Voting Shares on a one-for-three basis (three shares consolidating to one share) (the “Share
Consolidation”). These proposals will be voted on at a special meeting of our shareholders currently scheduled to be held on
November 29, 2018 and Kinder Morgan has stated it intends to vote in favor of these proposals with its approximate 70% voting
interest in us. Subject to the Stated Capital Reduction and Share Consolidation being approved by shareholders, and the board's
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subsequent confirmation thereof, the anticipated payment date for the Return of Capital is expected to be January 3, 2019, with
the Share Consolidation to occur a few days thereafter.
2017 Initial Public Offering
Subsequent to our IPO, Kinder Morgan retained control of us and the Limited Partnership. As a result we accounted for
our acquisition of an approximate 30% economic interest in the Limited Partnership as a transfer of net assets among entities under
common control. Therefore, our consolidated financial statements presented herein were derived from the consolidated financial
statements and accounting records of Kinder Morgan. The assets and liabilities in these consolidated financial statements have
been reflected at historical carrying value of the immediate parents within the Kinder Morgan organization structure including
goodwill and purchase price assigned amounts, as applicable. Prior to May 30, 2017, our historical financial statements were
presented as combined consolidated financial statements derived from information included within the consolidated financial
statements and accounting records of Kinder Morgan. All significant intercompany balances between the companies included in
our accompanying consolidated financial statements have been eliminated.
In addition, as of and for the reporting periods after our IPO, Kinder Morgan’s economic interest in the Limited Partnership
is reflected within “Kinder Morgan interest” in our consolidated statements of equity and consolidated balance sheets and earnings
attributable to Kinder Morgan’s economic ownership interest in the Limited Partnership are presented in “Net Income Attributable
to Kinder Morgan Interest” in our consolidated statements of income.
Terminals Matters
Construction of all major facilities at the Base Line Terminal in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada is materially complete,
with the final tanks placed in service in the third and early fourth quarters of this year, slightly ahead of schedule. The 12-tank,
4.8 million barrel facility is fully contracted with long-term, firm take-or-pay agreements with creditworthy customers. The
50-50 joint venture crude oil merchant storage terminal developed by KML and Keyera Corp. is expected to be completed
under budget, with our investment expected to be approximately $373 million.
Permitting efforts continue on the distillate storage expansion project at our Vancouver Wharves terminal in North
Vancouver, British Columbia. The $43 million capital project includes the construction of two new distillate tanks with
combined storage capacity of 200,000 barrels and enhancements to the railcar unloading capabilities. The project is supported
by a 20-year initial term, take-or-pay contract with an affiliate of a large, international integrated energy company and is
expected to be placed in service in the first quarter of 2021.
As previously disclosed in our 2017 Form 10-K, a material contractual arrangement at the Edmonton Rail Terminal
expires in April 2020 and includes a right of renewal on favorable terms for our customer related to rail terminal and associated
pipeline connection service fees. We expect this will result in lower revenues of approximately $43.0 million and $11.0 million
on an annual basis for rail terminal fees and associated pipeline connection fees, respectively. We expect this revenue reduction
will be partially offset by expansion projects as well as favorable renewal rates on expiring contracts at our other terminal
facilities.
Results of Operations
Overview
We evaluate the performance of our reportable business segments by evaluating Segment EBDA. We believe that Segment
EBDA is a useful measure of our operating performance because it measures segment operating results before depreciation and
amortization and certain expenses that are generally not controllable by our business segment operating managers, such as certain
general and administrative expense, interest expense, net, and income tax expense, and prior to their pay off in the second quarter
of 2017, the foreign exchange losses (or gains) on the long-term debt with affiliates (“KMI Loans”). Our general and administrative
expenses include such items as employee benefits, insurance, rentals, certain litigation, and shared corporate services including
accounting, information technology, human resources, and legal services.
The earnings prior to the closing of the Transaction on August 31, 2018 from the Trans Mountain Asset Group are presented
as earnings from discontinued operations for all periods presented.
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Consolidated Earnings Results
Three Months Ended September 30,
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Segment EBDA(a)
Pipelines
Terminals(b)
Total Segment EBDA(a)(b)
D&A
Foreign exchange gain on the KMI Loans(c)
General and administrative(d)
Interest, net(e)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax(f)
Net income
Preferred share dividends
Net income attributable to Kinder Morgan interest
Net income available to Restricted Voting Stockholders

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Segment EBDA(a)
Pipelines
Terminals(b)
Total Segment EBDA(a)(b)
D&A
Foreign exchange gain on the KMI Loans(c)
General and administrative(d)
Interest income (expense), net(e)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income from continuing operations,
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax(f)
Net income
Preferred share dividends
Net income attributable to Kinder Morgan interest
Net income available to Restricted Voting Stockholders

2018

2017

9.0
44.6
53.6
(21.1)
—
(7.1)
6.1
31.5
(9.3)
22.2
1,327.2
1,349.4
(7.2)
(940.7)
401.5

2.4
39.5
41.9
(19.3)
0.5
(7.6)
2.0
17.5
(7.7)
9.8
32.6
42.4
(2.0)
(28.7)
11.7

2018

2017

25.5
140.8
166.3
(61.1)
—
(26.6)
6.1
84.7
(25.0)
59.7
1,347.8
1,407.5
(21.6)
(971.8)
414.1

9.4
116.6
126.0
(53.7)
0.2
(22.2)
(4.6)
45.7
(17.7)
28.0
86.3
114.3
(2.0)
(96.4)
15.9

Earnings
increase/(decrease)

6.6
5.1
11.7
(1.8)
(0.5)
0.5
4.1
14.0
(1.6)
12.4
1,294.6
1,307.0
(5.2)
(912.0)
389.8

275 %
13 %
28 %
9%
(100)%
(7)%
205 %
80 %
21 %
127 %
3,971 %
3,083 %
n/a
n/a
n/a

Earnings
increase/(decrease)

16.1
24.2
40.3
(7.4)
(0.2)
(4.4)
10.7
39.0
(7.3)
31.7
1,261.5
1,293.2
(19.6)
(875.4)
398.2

171 %
21 %
32 %
14 %
(100)%
20 %
(233)%
85 %
41 %
113 %
1,462 %
1,131 %
n/a
n/a
n/a

_________
(a) Represents Segment EBDA from continuing operations. Includes revenues and other (income) expense less operating expenses and other,
net. Operating expenses primarily include operations and maintenance expenses, and taxes, other than income taxes. Segment EBDA for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 include $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively and the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2017 include $2.5 million and $5.5 million, respectively, of foreign exchange losses due to changes in exchange rates
between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar on U.S. dollar denominated balances.
(b) Segment EBDA for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 includes increases to earnings of $0.5 million and $9.5 million,
respectively, for a certain item described in footnote (a) to the “—Terminal Segment” table below.
(c) The KMI Loans, which represented U.S. dollar denominated long-term notes payable with Kinder Morgan, were settled with proceeds from
our IPO. The foreign exchange gain on the KMI Loans represents a certain item.
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(d) General and administrative expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 includes (decreases) increases to expense of
($1.6) million and $1.4 million respectively, and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 includes increases to expense of $0.1
million and $2.6 million, respectively, for certain items described in footnote (a) to the —General and Administrative table below.
(e) Interest income (expenses), net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 includes a decrease to interest income of $1.0
million in both periods for a certain item described in footnote (a) to the “—Interest (income) expense, Net” table below.
(f) Consists of certain items summarized in footnote (b) to the “—Discontinued Operations” table below.
Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 vs Three Months Ended September 30, 2017

The certain items described in footnotes (b) through (e) to the table above accounted for a $0.7 million increase in income
from continuing operations before income taxes for the third quarter of 2018 as compared to the same prior year period. After
giving effect to these certain items, the $13.3 million increase from the prior year quarter in income from continuing operations
before income taxes is primarily attributable to increased earnings from both of our segments and higher interest income due to
deposits of the proceeds from the Transaction in interest bearing cash equivalent accounts.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 vs Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
The certain items described in footnotes (b) through (e) to the table above accounted for a $9.5 million increase in income
from continuing operations before income taxes for the first nine months of 2018 as compared to the same prior year period. After
giving effect to these certain items, the $29.5 million increase from the prior year period in income from continuing operations
before income taxes is primarily attributable to increased earnings from both of our segments and higher interest income due to
deposits of the proceeds from the Transaction in interest bearing cash equivalent accounts.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
For reporting periods included in the following DCF and Adjusted EBITDA tables, our discontinued operations (which
are comprised of our Trans Mountain Asset Group) are presented as a separate reconciling item labeled as “DCF from discontinued
operations” and “Adjusted EBITDA from discontinued operations,” respectively. DCF from discontinued operations and Adjusted
EBITDA from discontinued operations are also reconciled to their comparable GAAP measure, income from discontinued
operations, in footnote (d) to the accompanying tables.
In addition to using financial measures prescribed by GAAP, references are made in this report to DCF, both in the
aggregate and per share, Adjusted EBITDA and Segment EBDA before certain items, which are measures that do not have any
standardized meaning as prescribed by GAAP. DCF, Adjusted EBITDA and Segment EBDA before certain items should not be
considered an alternative to GAAP net income or any other GAAP measures and such non-GAAP measures have important
limitations as an analytical tool. The computation of DCF, Adjusted EBITDA and Segment EBDA before certain items may differ
from similarly titled measures used by others. Accordingly, use of such terms may not be comparable to similarly defined measures
presented by other entities. Investors should not consider these non-GAAP performance measures in isolation or as a substitute
for an analysis of results as reported under GAAP. The limitations of these non-GAAP performance measures are compensated
for by reviewing the comparable GAAP measures, understanding the differences between the measures, and taking this information
into account in our analysis and our decision making processes. Any use of DCF, Adjusted EBITDA or Segment EBDA before
certain items in this management’s discussion and analysis is expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.
DCF is income from continuing operations, and income from discontinued operations, before D&A adjusted for: (i)
income tax expense and cash income taxes (paid) refunded; (ii) sustaining capital expenditures (also referred to as ‘‘maintenance’’
capital expenditures); and (iii) certain items that are items required by GAAP to be reflected in net income, but typically either (a)
do not have a cash impact, or (b) by their nature are separately identifiable from the normal business operations and in our view
are likely to occur only sporadically (for example gains or losses on asset sales, legal settlements and casualty losses).
DCF is an important performance measure used by us and by external users of our financial statements to evaluate our
performance and in measuring and estimating our ability to generate cash earnings after servicing our debt and preferred share
dividends, paying cash taxes and expending sustaining capital, that could be used for discretionary purposes such as distributions
or expansion capital expenditures (also referred to as ‘‘discretionary’’ capital expenditures). We use this performance measure
and believe it provides users of our financial statements a useful performance measure reflective of our ability to generate cash
earnings to supplement the comparable GAAP measure. DCF should not be used as an alternative to net cash provided by operating
activities computed under GAAP. We believe the GAAP measure most directly comparable to DCF is Income from continuing
operations. A reconciliation of Income from continuing operations to DCF is provided in the table below. DCF per Restricted
Voting Share is DCF divided by average outstanding Restricted Voting Shares, including restricted stock awards that participate
in dividends.
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Reconciliation of Income from continuing operations to DCF
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Income from continuing operations
Reconciling items - add/(subtract):
Certain items before book tax(a)
Book tax certain items(b)
D&A
Total book taxes before certain items
Cash taxes
Preferred share dividends
Sustaining capital expenditures
DCF from discontinued operations (d)
DCF
DCF to Kinder Morgan interest
U.S. cash taxes attributable to Restricted Voting Stockholders
DCF to Restricted Voting Stockholders
Weighted average Restricted Voting Shares outstanding for dividends (in
millions)(c)
DCF per Restricted Voting Share
Declared dividend per Restricted Voting Share

22.2

9.8

59.7

28.0

(1.1)
0.5
21.1
8.8
(0.1)
(7.2)
(5.2)
41.6
80.6
(56.5)
—
24.1

(0.4)
0.1
19.3
7.6
0.3
(2.0)
(6.1)
48.6
77.2
(54.2)
(0.8)
22.2

(7.1)
2.1
61.1
22.9
(8.4)
(21.6)
(10.1)
150.8
249.4
(174.9)
(0.9)
73.6

2.4
(0.7)
53.7
18.4
—
(2.0)
(13.1)
153.3
240.0
(208.5)
(0.8)
30.7

0.704
0.4875

0.297
0.2196

0.230
0.1625

0.214
0.1625

Adjusted EBITDA is used by us and by external users of our financial statements, in conjunction with net debt, to evaluate
certain leverage metrics. Adjusted EBITDA is earnings from continuing and discontinued operations before interest expense,
taxes, depreciation and amortization adjusted for certain items, as applicable. We believe the GAAP measure most directly
comparable to Adjusted EBITDA is income from continuing operations. A reconciliation of income from continuing operations
to Adjusted EBITDA is provided in the table below. We do not allocate Adjusted EBITDA amongst equity interest holders as we
view total Adjusted EBITDA as a measure against our overall leverage.
Reconciliation of Income from continuing operations to Adjusted EBITDA
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Income from continuing operations
Reconciling items - add/(subtract):
Total certain items (a)(b)
D&A
Total book taxes before certain items
Interest, net before certain items
Adjusted EBITDA from discontinued operations (d)
Adjusted EBITDA

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

22.2

9.8

59.7

28.0

(0.6)
21.1
8.8
(7.1)
44.8
89.2

(0.3)
19.3
7.6
(2.0)
60.7
95.1

(5.0)
61.1
22.9
(7.1)
163.4
295.0

1.7
53.7
18.4
4.6
173.8
280.2

_________
(a) Consists of certain items summarized in footnotes (b) through (e) to the “—Results of Operations—Consolidated Earnings Results”
table included above, and described in more detail below in the footnotes to tables included in our management’s discussion and
analysis of segment results, “—Segment EBDA,” “—General and Administrative,” “—Interest (income) expense, net,
(b) Represents income tax provision on certain items.
(c) Includes stock awards of restricted voting shares that participate in dividends. Also, the 2017 weighted average Restricted Voting Shares
outstanding for dividends calculation is based on the actual days in which the shares were outstanding for the period from May 30, 2017
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to June 30, 2017. Therefore, the amounts differ from the GAAP weighted average Restricted Voting Shares outstanding from the date of
our formation.
(d) DCF from discontinued operations and Adjusted EBITDA from discontinued operations reconciliations are as follows:
DCF from discontinued operations:
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018

2017

2018

2017

1,327.2

32.6

1,347.8

86.3

(1,227.8)
(76.8)
11.8
13.1
(5.9)
41.6

(0.1)
—
17.9
7.0
(8.8)
48.6

(1,167.3)
(92.9)
46.8
35.0
(18.6)
150.8

2.6
(0.7)
53.9
25.4
(14.2)
153.3

(In millions of Canadian dollars)

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Discontinued operations reconciling items - add/(subtract):
Certain items before book tax (1)
Book tax certain items (1)
D&A
Total book taxes before certain items
Sustaining capital expenditures
DCF from discontinued operations
Adjusted EBITDA from discontinued operations:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018

2017

2018

2017

1,327.2

32.6

1,347.8

86.3

(1,304.6)
11.8
13.1
(2.7)
44.8

(0.1)
17.9
7.0
3.3
60.7

(1,260.2)
46.8
35.0
(6.0)
163.4

1.9
53.9
25.4
6.3
173.8

(In millions of Canadian dollars)

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Discontinued operations reconciling items - add/(subtract):
Total certain items (1)
D&A
Total book taxes before certain items
Interest, net before certain items
Adjusted EBITDA from discontinued operations

_________
(1) Described in more detail below in the footnotes to tables included in our management’s discussion and analysis of segment results
“ —Discontinued Operations” below.

Segment EBDA Before Certain Items
Segment EBDA before certain items is used by management in its analysis of segment performance and management of
our business. General and administrative expenses are generally not under the control of our segment operating managers, and
therefore, are not included when we measure business segment operating performance. We believe Segment EBDA before certain
items is a significant performance metric because it provides us and external users of our financial statements additional insight
into the ability of our segments to generate segment cash earnings on an ongoing basis. We believe it is useful to investors because
it is a performance measure that management uses to allocate resources to our segments and assess each segment’s performance.
We believe the GAAP measure most directly comparable to Segment EBDA before certain items is Segment EBDA.
In the tables for each of our business segments under “— Segment Earnings Results” below, Segment EBDA before
certain Items is calculated by adjusting the Segment EBDA for the applicable certain item amounts, which are totaled in the tables
and described in the footnotes to those tables (if any).
Segment EBDA excludes discontinued operations for all periods presented, see —Discontinued Operations below.
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Segment Earnings Results
Pipelines Segment
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except operating statistics)
Revenues
Operating expenses, except D&A
Other expense, net
Segment EBDA

15.2
(5.1)
(1.1)
9.0

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

14.7
(6.6)
(5.7)
2.4

44.8
(17.9)
(1.4)
25.5

45.5
(24.9)
(11.2)
9.4

Increase/(Decrease)

Change from prior period
Revenues

0.5

3%

Segment EBDA

6.6

275%

Operating statistics
Cochin transport volumes (MBbl/d)

(0.7)
16.1

(2)%
171 %

2018

2017

2018

2017

82

84

85

86

Below are the changes in both Segment EBDA and revenues before certain items, in the comparable three and nine
month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:
Three months ended September 30, 2018 versus Three months ended September 30, 2017
Segment EBDA
increase/(decrease)

Revenues
increase/(decrease)

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Cochin
Jet Fuel and other (including eliminations)
Total Pipelines

6.5
0.1
6.6

437%
8%
275%

0.5
—
0.5

3%
—%
3%

Nine months ended September 30, 2018 versus Nine months ended September 30, 2017
Segment EBDA
increase/(decrease)

Revenues
increase/(decrease)

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Cochin
Jet Fuel and other (including eliminations)
Total Pipelines

15.8
0.3
16.1

241%
11%
171%

(0.8)
0.1
(0.7)

(2)%
3%
(2)%

The changes in Segment EBDA for our Pipelines business segment are further explained by the following discussion of
the significant factors driving Segment EBDA in the comparable three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2018 and
2017:
• increase of $6.5 million (437%) and $15.8 million (241%), respectively, from Cochin primarily due to a third quarter
2017 foreign exchange loss on intercompany receivables, a reduction in pipeline integrity expenses and outside
services costs in 2018, and higher revenue due to rate increases in the third quarter of 2018. In addition to the above,
the nine months ended increase in earnings was partially offset by a decrease in revenue due to lower delivered
volumes for that period compared to the same period in 2017.
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Terminals Segment
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except operating statistics)
Revenues
Operating expenses, except D&A
Other (expense) income, net
Segment EBDA
Certain items(a)
Segment EBDA before certain items

79.1
(34.1)
(0.4)
44.6
(0.5)

71.2
(32.4)
0.7
39.5
—

233.8
(98.9)
5.9
140.8
(9.5)

218.4
(99.9)
(1.9)
116.6
—

44.1

39.5

131.3

116.6

Change from prior period
Revenues
Segment EBDA before certain items

7.9
4.6

Operating statistics
Bulk transload tonnage (MMtonnes)
Liquids tankage capacity available for service (MMBbl)
Liquids utilization %(b)

2018
1.1
9.4
93%

________
(a) Represents the gain on the sale of certain assets.
(b) The ratio of our tankage capacity in service to tankage capacity available for service.
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
2017

Increase/(Decrease)
11%
15.4
12%
14.7
2017
1.2
7.3
100%

2018
2.9
9.4
93%

7%
13%
2017
3.2
7.3
100%

Below are the changes in both Segment EBDA before certain items and revenues in the comparable three and six month
periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017:
Three months ended September 30, 2018 versus Three months ended September 30, 2017
Segment EBDA before
certain items
increase/(decrease)
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Base Line joint venture
Edmonton South
North 40 Terminal
Vancouver Wharves Terminal
Edmonton Rail Terminal joint venture
All others (including eliminations)
Total Terminals

6.7
1.0
0.1
(0.8)
(2.4)
—
4.6

n/a
14 %
1%
(10)%
(16)%
—%
12 %

Nine months ended September 30, 2018 versus Nine months ended September 30, 2017
Segment EBDA before
certain items
increase/(decrease)
(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Base Line joint venture
14.8
n/a
Edmonton South
5.7
28 %
North 40 Terminal
3.2
13 %
(3.2)
Vancouver Wharves Terminal
(13)%
(5.0)
Edmonton Rail Terminal joint venture
(11)%
(0.8)
All others (including eliminations)
(40)%
Total Terminals
14.7
12 %

Revenues
increase/(decrease)
7.3
0.8
1.3
(0.1)
(1.5)
0.1
7.9

n/a
4%
14 %
—%
(9)%
2%
11 %

Revenues
increase/(decrease)
16.6
1.8
3.8
(5.4)
(1.5)
0.1
15.4

n/a
3%
14 %
(8)%
(3)%
2%
7%

________
n/a - not applicable

The changes in Segment EBDA for our Terminals business segment are further explained by the following discussion of
the significant factors driving Segment EBDA in the comparable three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2018 and
2017:
• increase of $6.7 million and $14.8 million, respectively, from Base Line joint venture as a result of the new tanks
being placed into service;
•

increase of $1.0 million (14%) and $5.7 million (28%), respectively, from Edmonton South primarily due to higher
rates on re-contracted tank leases and contracted rate escalations, partially offset by tank lease costs following the
Transaction;

•

increase of $0.1 million (1%) and $3.2 million (13%), respectively, from North 40 Terminal primarily due to higher
rates on re-contracted tank leases;

•

decrease of $0.8 million (10%) and $3.2 million (13%), respectively, from Vancouver Wharves Terminal primarily
due to higher labor costs and lower bulk handling volumes; and

•

decrease of $2.4 million (16%) and $5.0 million (11%), respectively, from Edmonton Rail Terminal primarily due
to expiration of a third party rail terminaling contract.
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General and Administrative
Three Months Ended September 30,

2018

2017

Increase/(decrease)

General and administrative

7.1

7.6

(0.5)

Certain items(a)

1.6

(0.1)

1.7

(1,700)%

General and administrative before certain items

8.7

7.5

1.2

16 %

2018

2017

General and administrative

26.6

22.2

4.4

20 %

Certain items(a)

(1.4)

(2.6)

1.2

(46)%

General and administrative before certain items

25.2

19.6

5.6

29 %

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

(7)%

Increase/(decrease)

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)

______
(a) 2018 amounts represent labor expenses related to the Transaction.

The $1.2 million increase in general and administrative before certain items for the third quarter of 2018 when compared
with the third quarter of 2017 was primarily driven by increased labor and benefit costs.
The $5.6 million increase in general and administrative before certain items for the nine months ended September 30,
2018 when compared with the respective prior year period was primarily driven by increased audit and legal fees and increased
labor and benefit costs.
Interest (income) expense, Net
Three Months Ended September 30,

2018

2017

Increase/(decrease)

Interest (income) expense, net

(6.1)

(2.0)

(4.1)

205%

Certain items(a)

(1.0)

—

(1.0)

n/a

Interest (income) expense, net before certain items

(7.1)

(2.0)

(5.1)

255%

2018

2017

Interest (income) expense, net

(6.1)

4.6

(10.7)

(233)%

Certain items(a)

(1.0)

—

(1.0)

n/a

Interest (income) expense, net before certain items

(7.1)

4.6

(11.7)

(254)%

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Increase/(decrease)

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)

______
(a) 2018 amounts represent costs associated with debt refinancing, see Note 3 “Debt” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The $5.1 million and $11.7 million decrease in Interest (income) expense, net before certain items for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018 when compared with the respective prior year periods was primarily driven by higher interest
income due to deposits made from the Transaction proceeds into interest bearing cash equivalent accounts.
Income Tax Expense from Continuing Operations
Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 vs Three Months Ended September 30, 2017
Income tax expense from continuing operations for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was $9.3 million, as
compared with $7.7 million for the same period of 2017. The $1.6 million increase in tax expense is primarily due to higher income
from continuing operations before income taxes in 2018 as compared to the same period in 2017, partially offset by the impact
of a change in the provincial tax rate change on our deferred tax liabilities in 2017.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 vs Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
Income tax expense from continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $25.0 million, as
compared with $17.7 million for the same period of 2017. The $7.3 million increase in tax expense is primarily higher income
from continuing operations before income taxes in 2018 as compared to the same period in 2017, partially offset by the impact of
a change in the provincial tax rate change on our deferred tax liabilities in 2017.
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
Three Months Ended September 30,

2018

2017

1,327.2

32.6

Increase/(decrease)

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax(a)

(1,304.6)

Certain items(b)
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax, before certain items

Nine Months Ended September 30,

1,294.6

3,971 %

(0.1) (1,304.5)

n/a

(9.9)

(30)%

22.6

32.5

2018

2017

1,347.8

86.3

1,261.5

(1,260.2)

1.9

(1,262.1)

n/a

88.2

(0.6)

(1)%

Increase/(decrease)

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except percentages)
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax(a)
Certain items(b)
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax, before certain items

87.6

1,462 %

_______
(a) See Note 2 “Trans Mountain Transaction” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the income statement line item
components of discontinued operations.
(b) The three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 includes $1,308.0 million for the gain on sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group,
(net of tax gain of $69.5 million) and Transaction related expenses of approximately $3.4 million, net of tax. In the second quarter of 2018,
approximately $44.4 million of deferred costs, net of tax, associated with our 2017 Credit Facility that were being amortized as interest
expense over its term were written off and have been included as a certain item from discontinued operations in the nine months ended
September 30, 2018.

The $9.9 million decrease in Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax, before certain items is primarily driven
by one less month of operations for the Trans Mountain Asset Group in 2018 as compared to the comparable three month period
ended 2017, partially offset by $1.9 million increase in capitalized equity financing costs associated with TMEP construction.
The $0.6 million decrease in Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax, before certain items is primarily due to
increased operating costs in 2018 and one less month of operations for the Trans Mountain Asset Group in 2018 as compared to
the comparable nine month period in 2017, partially offset by $15.2 million increase in capitalized equity financing costs associated
with TMEP construction.
Net Income Attributable to Kinder Morgan Interest
Net income attributable to Kinder Morgan interest represents the allocation of our consolidated net income attributable
to the outstanding ownership interests in our consolidated subsidiaries that are owned by Kinder Morgan’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries. The increase in net income attributable to Kinder Morgan interest for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2018 when compared with the respective prior year periods was $912.0 million and $875.4 million, which was primarily
attributable to the gain on the Transaction. See Note 2 “Trans Mountain Transaction” to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
2018 Credit Facility
Upon the closing of the Transaction on August 31, 2018, we established a 4-year, $500 million unsecured revolving
credit facility (the “2018 Credit Facility”) for working capital purposes, replacing a temporary credit facility that was put in place
following the announcement of the Transaction on May 30, 2018 (the “Temporary Credit Facility”). The $132.6 million of
outstanding borrowings under the Temporary Credit Facility were paid off, prior to its termination, with a portion of the Transaction
proceeds. As of September 30, 2018, we had no outstanding borrowings under our 2018 Credit Facility.
Short-term Liquidity and Funding Capital Expenditures
As of September 30, 2018, we had $4,350.1 million of “Cash and cash equivalents” and $446.0 million of available
borrowing capacity under our 2018 Credit Facility, after reducing the $500 million capacity for the $54.0 million in letters of
credit. Of the total $54.0 million of letters of credit issued, approximately $50.5 million are issued on behalf of Trans Mountain
for which it has issued a backstop letter of credit to us.
As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, our principal source of short-term liquidity was our cash from operating
activities of our continuing operations. We had a working capital (defined as current assets less current liabilities) excess of $3,994.8
million and of $42.3 million as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. The September 30, 2018 excess
working capital balance includes the net Transaction proceeds of $3,916.9 million after paying down outstanding borrowings
described above and certain Transaction expenses. Generally, our working capital balance varies due to factors such as timing
differences in the collection and payment of receivables and payables. Also, see ‘‘—Trans Mountain Transaction” for board
approval to distribute the net proceeds from the Transaction in early 2019.
Our operations generated cash flows from operating activities of $305.1 million and $158.8 million, which included
$182.3 million and $71.7 million of cash flows from operating activities from our discontinued operations, in the nine months
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Also, see ‘‘—Cash Flows — Operating Activities’’ below, and Note 2 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
We believe our cash position, remaining borrowing capacity on our 2018 Credit Facility, and our cash flows from operating
activities from our continuing operations are adequate to allow us to manage our day-to-day cash requirements and anticipated
obligations including the proposed special dividend as discussed further below.
Capital Expenditures
We account for our capital expenditures in accordance with GAAP. We also distinguish between capital expenditures that
are maintenance/sustaining capital expenditures and those that are expansion capital expenditures. Expansion capital expenditures
are those expenditures which increase throughput or capacity from that which existed immediately prior to the addition or
improvement, and are not deducted in calculating DCF. Sustaining capital expenditures are those which maintain throughput or
capacity. The distinction between maintenance and expansion capital expenditures is a physical determination rather than an
economic one, irrespective of the amount by which the throughput or capacity is increased.
Budgeting of sustaining capital expenditures is done annually on a bottom-up basis. For each of our assets, we budget
for and make those sustaining capital expenditures that are necessary to maintain safe and efficient operations, meet customer
needs and comply with our operating policies and applicable law. We may budget for and make additional sustaining capital
expenditures that we expect will produce economic benefits such as increasing efficiency and/or lowering future expenses.
Budgeting and approval of expansion capital expenditures are generally made periodically throughout the year on a project-byproject basis in response to specific investment opportunities identified by our business segments from which we generally expect
to receive sufficient returns to justify the expenditures. Generally, the determination of whether a capital expenditure is classified
as sustaining or as expansion capital expenditures is made on a project level. The classification of capital expenditures as expansion
capital expenditures or as sustaining capital expenditures is made consistent with our accounting policies and is generally a
straightforward process, but in certain circumstances can be a matter of management judgment and discretion. The classification
of capital expenditures has an impact on DCF because capital expenditures that are classified as expansion capital expenditures
are not deducted from DCF, while those classified as sustaining capital expenditures are.
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Our capital expenditures for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 for our continuing operations, and the amount
that is expected to be spent to sustain and grow our continuing operations for the remainder of 2018 are as follows.
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2018 (a)

2018 Remaining for
Continuing
Operations

Total 2018

(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Sustaining capital expenditures (b)
Expansion capital expenditures (c)

10.1
58.7

9.7
43.3

19.8
102.0

________
(a) Nine months ended September 30, 2018 amount includes $24.6 million of net changes from accrued capital expenditures, contractor
retainage, capitalized equity financing costs and other.
(b) Nine months ended September 30, 2018 excludes $18.6 million of TMPL sustaining capital expenditures prior to the August 31, 2018
Transaction close date.
(c) Nine months ended September 2018 excludes $444.7 million of TMEP expansion capital expenditures prior to the August 31, 2018
Transaction date.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of September 30, 2018, we had no off balance sheet arrangements other than those included below under “—
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments.”
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Total
(In millions of Canadian dollars)
Contractual obligations:
Leases and rights-of-way obligations(a)
Postretirement welfare plans(b)
Total
Other commercial commitments:
Standby letters of credit(c)
Capital expenditures(d)

Payments due by period
Less than
2-3
4-5
1 year
year
years

More than
5 years

308.0
1.5
309.5

20.5
—
20.5

128.1
0.1
128.2

112.2
0.1
112.3

47.2
1.3
48.5

54.0
26.6

50.5
26.6

3.5
—

—
—

—
—

________
(a) Represents commitments pursuant to the terms of operating lease agreements and liabilities for rights-of-way.
(b) Represents the amount by which the benefit obligations exceeded the fair value of plan assets for other postretirement benefit plans. The
payments by period include estimated benefit payments for unfunded plans in all years.
(c) Includes $50.5 million of Trans Mountain outstanding letters of credit for which it has issued us a backstop letter of credit and $3.5
million of letters of credit for our continuing operations.
(d) Represents commitments for the purchase of plant, property and equipment as of September 30, 2018 including $21.2 million of our
proportional share of commitments through joint ownership of a joint venture.
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Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our net cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for each period
presented for our combined continuing and discontinued operations:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
(In millions of Canadian dollars)

2018

2017

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Change in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Deposits held by the Trans Mountain
Asset Group

305.1
3,420.7
384.8

158.8
(419.6)

128.3

(18.9)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted deposits
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted deposits

0.5
4,239.4

(1.3)

433.8

152.8

Operating Activities
The net increase of $146.3 million (92%) in cash provided by operating activities in the nine months ended September 30,
2018 compared to the same period in 2017 was primarily attributable to:
•

•

a $428.6 million net increase in cash associated with net changes in operating assets and liabilities, primarily
attributable to the following: (i) an increases in cash due to an increase in the current income tax liabilities associated
with the gain on the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group; (ii) favorable changes in the collections and refunds
of Westridge Marine Terminal dock premiums; and (iii) an increase in cash due to interest payments made on the
KMI Loans that were paid off in the second quarter of 2017; partially offset by,
a $282.3 million decrease in operating cash flow resulting from the combined effects of adjusting the $1,293.2 million
increase in net income for the period-to-period changes in non-cash items primarily consisting of the following: (i)
a $1,235.1 million gain on the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group in 2018; (ii) deferred income taxes, including
the deferred tax benefit related to the gain on the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group in 2018; (iii) capitalized
equity financing costs; (iv) the change in the foreign exchange rate; (v) D&A expense; (vi) 2018 write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs; and (vii) other non-cash items.

Investing Activities
The $3,840.30 million net increase in cash provided by the investing activities in the nine months ended September 30,
2018 compared to the same period in 2017 was primarily attributable to:
•
•
•
•

a $3,921.2 million increase in cash reflecting proceeds received from the sale of the Trans Mountain Asset Group,
net of cash disposed in the 2018 period;
a $16.2 million increase in cash due to higher proceeds received from the sales of assets in the 2018 period compared
to the 2017 period; and
a $1.3 million decrease in cash used due to lower contributions made to our reclamation trusts and change in Other,
net in the 2018 period compared to the 2017 period; partially offset by,
a $98.4 million increase in capital expenditures primarily for the TMEP partially offset by a decrease in capital
expenditures for the Base Line expansion project.

Financing Activities
The net decrease of $49.0 million in cash provided by financing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2018
compared to the same period in 2017 was primarily attributable to:
•
•

a $1,671.0 million decrease in cash reflecting proceeds received from our IPO, net of fees paid in the 2017 period;
a $293.5 million decrease in cash reflecting proceeds received from the preferred shares issuance, net of fees paid
in the 2017 period;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•

a $91.9 million increase in distributions paid to the Kinder Morgan interest in the 2018 period compared to the 2017
period;
a $32.5 million increase in dividends paid to Restricted Voting Stockholders in the 2018 period compared to the 2017
period;
$20.5 million of cash dividends paid to preferred shareholders in the 2018 period; and
$6.0 million of tax payments made related to vested employee restricted share unit awards in the 2018 period; partially
offset by,
a $1,606.3 million decrease in cash used reflecting repayments of the KMI Loans in the 2017 period using proceeds
from the IPO;
a $394.9 million increase in net borrowings under our and TMEP’s credit facilities in the 2018 period compared with
borrowings made in the 2017 period. See Note 3 “Debt” for further information regarding our and TMEP’s credit
facilities activity; and
a $65.2 million decrease in cash used associated with a reduction in debt and preferred shares issuance costs in the
2018 period compared to the 2017 period.

Equity, Dividends and Distributions
As of both September 30, 2018 and October 24, 2018, we had (i) 104.6 million and 244.1 million of Restricted Voting
Shares and Special Voting Shares outstanding, respectively, with no par value for an aggregate of 348.7 million voting shares
outstanding, (ii) 12.0 million and 10.0 million of Series 1 Preferred Shares and Series 3 Preferred Shares outstanding, respectively,
and (iii) 0.2 million of restricted stock awards outstanding.
Proposed Return of Capital, Stated Capital Reduction and Share Consolidation
As discussed in Note 2 “Trans Mountain Transaction” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, subject to
the Stated Capital Reduction and Share Consolidation being approved by a two-thirds majority of voting shareholders, and the
board's subsequent confirmation thereof, the anticipated payment date for the Return of Capital is expected to be January 3, 2019,
with the Share Consolidation to occur a few days thereafter. KMI has stated that it intends to vote in favor of these proposals with
its approximate 70% voting interest in us. Accounting for the shareholder approved Share Consolidation will be on a retroactive
basis.
Dividends and Distributions on Restricted Voting Shares and Special Voting Shares
The Limited Partnership currently makes quarterly cash distributions to the Company (as an indirect holder of Class A
Units and Preferred LP Units, through the General Partner) and to Kinder Morgan (as an indirect holder of Class B Units) in
accordance with the terms of the Limited Partnership Agreement. Distributions are not guaranteed and are subject to the approval
of the General Partner. To the extent distributions are approved, all distributions on the Class A Units and Preferred LP Units are
immediately distributed by the General Partner to the Company, which then uses such distributions to pay dividends to the holders
of (i) then outstanding Preferred Shares of the Company (currently being Series 1 Preferred Shares and Series 3 Preferred Shares)
pursuant to the terms of such Preferred Shares, and (ii) Restricted Voting Shares pursuant to the Company's dividend policy.
On October 17, 2018, our board of directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.1625 per Restricted Voting Share for
the three month period ended September 30, 2018 to be paid on November 15, 2018 to shareholders of record on October 31,
2018.
Prior to the announced Transaction, our dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) and the Limited Partnership distribution
reinvestment plan, incentivized by a 3% market discount, was an important source of capital for funding the TMEP. Given that
TMEP is no longer relevant, the board of directors elected to eliminate the market discount for future periods. All other terms
and conditions related to participation in our DRIP remain unchanged. Similarly, due to our reduced need for capital, Kinder
Morgan elected to suspend its participation in the Limited Partnership's distribution reinvestment plan.
Dividends on Series 1 Preferred Shares and Series 3 Preferred Shares
We also pay dividends on our 12,000,000 Series 1 Preferred Shares and 10,000,000 Series 3 Preferred Shares, which are
fixed, cumulative, preferential, and payable quarterly in the annual amount of $1.3125 per share and $1.3000 per share, respectively,
on the 15th day of February, May, August and November, as and when declared by our board of directors, for the initial fixed rate
period to but excluding November 15, 2022 and February 15, 2023, respectively.
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Also, see Item 1, Note 4 “Equity” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information concerning
outstanding Restricted Voting Shares (and associated restricted stock awards), Special Voting Shares and Preferred Shares, and
2018 paid and declared dividends and distributions.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
There have been no material changes in market risk exposures that would affect the quantitative and qualitative disclosures
presented as of December 31, 2017 in Item 7A in our 2017 Form 10-K. For more information on our risk management activities,
see Item 1, Note 6 “Risk Management and Financial Instruments” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
As of September 30, 2018, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and
procedures, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures.
Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control
objectives. Based upon and as of the date of the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded
that the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported as and when required, and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2018
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We note that,
due to the Transaction, we have eliminated certain controls related to the Trans Mountain Asset Group.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
See Part I, Item 1, Note 12 “Litigation and Contingencies” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements which is
incorporated in this item by reference.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
See Item 2. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis-Recent Business Developments-Trans Mountain Transaction”
included elsewhere in this report; the risk factors set forth in our Preliminary Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the
SEC on June 21, 2018, which are incorporated by reference herein pursuant to Rule 12b-23 under the Exchange Act; and
“Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” “Important Information Regarding the Return of Capital, Reduction in
Stated Capital and Share Consolidation” and “Important Additional Information Regarding the Reduction in Stated Capital and
Share Consolidation Will Be Filed with the SEC and on SEDAR” included elsewhere in this report. There have been no other
material changes to the risk factors disclosed in Part I, Item 1A in our 2017 Form 10-K.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

Description

10.1

Credit Agreement, dated August 31, 2018, by and among Kinder Morgan Cochin ULC, Royal Bank of Canada and
the lenders party thereto (“Credit Agreement”)

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 *

Risk Factors under the heading “RISK FACTORS” on pages on pages 37-41 of the Preliminary Proxy Statement
on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on June 21, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

101

Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) our Consolidated Statements of Income for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017; (ii) our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017; (iii) our Consolidated Balance Sheets
as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017; (iv) our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017; (v) our Consolidated Statements of Equity for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017; and (vi) the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

_______
*Asterisk indicates exhibits incorporated by reference as indicated; all other exhibits are filed herewith, except as noted otherwise.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
Registrant
By: /s/ Dax A. Sanders
Dax A. Sanders
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)
Date: October 24, 2018
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CREDIT AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is made as of August 31, 2018,
AMONG:
KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC, as Borrower
– and –
THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS SIGNATORY HERETO,
in their capacities as Lenders
– and –
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA, a Canadian chartered bank, as
Agent

WHEREAS the Borrower has requested that the Lenders provide the Credit Facility to the
Borrower in order to, among other things, repay in full and cancel the Existing Credit Agreement.
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that in consideration of the
covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which is hereby conclusively acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, the
parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
INTERPRETATION
1.1

Definitions
In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith:

“Acquisition” means any purchase or other acquisition made by any Obligor of Equity Securities
of another Person (but excluding Equity Securities of an Obligor) or assets of another Person (but
excluding assets of an Obligor) which constitutes a purchase or other acquisition of all or
substantially all of the assets or business of such Person, or of assets constituting a business unit, a
line of business or division of such Person, or of all or substantially all of the Equity Securities in
a Person.
“Administrative Questionnaire” means an administrative questionnaire in a form supplied by the
Agent.
“Advance” means the extension (or deemed extension) of credit under the Credit Facility by the
Lenders to the Borrower by way of the advance of a loan in the manner contemplated herein
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(including by way of overdraft under the Operating Tranche), the acceptance of Bankers’
Acceptances or the issuance of a Letter of Credit, but shall exclude each Rollover or Conversion
thereof.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with
the Person specified.
“Agent” means RBC in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders hereunder or any
successor agent appointed pursuant to Section 14.7.
“Agent Parties” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 15.15(b).
“Agent’s Accounts” means the accounts maintained by the Agent at the Agent’s Branch, to which
payments and transfers under this Agreement are to be effected, as the Agent may from time to time
advise the Borrower and the Lenders in writing.
“Agent’s Branch” means the branch of the Agent at Toronto, Ontario, or such other branch in
Canada as the Agent may from time to time designate by notice to the Borrower and the Lenders.
“Agreement” means this “Credit Agreement”, as the same may be amended, modified,
supplemented or restated from time to time in accordance with the provisions hereof.
“AML Legislation” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 15.14.
“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all laws and regulations of any Sanctions Authority that apply to
KMI, the Borrower Group Members and their respective Subsidiaries from time to time concerning
or relating to bribery of government officials or public corruption, in each case, to the extent such
laws and regulations would not violate Applicable Law in Canada.
“Applicable Laws” or “Applicable Law” means:
(a)

any domestic or foreign statute, law (including common and civil law), treaty, code,
ordinance, rule, regulation, restriction or by-law (zoning or otherwise);

(b)

any judgment, order, writ, injunction, decision, ruling, decree or award;

(c)

any regulatory policy, practice, guideline or directive; or

(d)

any Governmental Authorization,

binding on or affecting the Person referred to in the context in which the term is used or binding
on or affecting the Property of such Person, in each case having the force of law.
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“Applicable Margin” means, as regards any Loan or the standby fees payable under Section 4.6,
when and for so long as the Debt Rating is one of the following or no Debt Rating has been assigned
(as the case may be), the percentage rate per annum set forth opposite such rating or indication in
the column applicable to the type of Loan in question or such standby fee:
Debt Rating (S&P/
DBRS)
BBB+/BBB (high)
BBB/BBB
BBB-/BBB (low)
< BBB-/BBB (low)
(or unrated)

Bankers’ Acceptance/
LIBO Rate Loan/LC
Fee (in bps)
100
120
145
170
225

Prime Loan/USBR
Loans (in bps)

Standby Fee (in bps)

0
20
45
70
125

20
24
29
34
45

provided that:
(a)

issuance fees for Letters of Credit which are not “direct credit substitutes” (as
determined by the applicable LC Issuer, acting reasonably) within the meaning of
the Capital Adequacy Requirements shall be 66 % of the rate specified above;

(b)

the above ratings refer to the Debt Rating classifications of S&P and DBRS (the
“Designated Rating Agencies”) on the date hereof and shall be deemed to refer to
the then equivalent Debt Rating classifications of such rating agencies in the event
of any subsequent changes to such classifications;

(c)

(i) if at any time the Debt Rating assigned by one of the Designated Rating Agencies
listed in the table above is in the immediately lower level than the Debt Rating
assigned by the other Designated Rating Agency, then the Applicable Margin shall
be the fee rate opposite the higher of the Debt Ratings so assigned by such Designated
Rating Agencies, and (ii) if at any time the Debt Rating assigned by one of the
Designated Rating Agencies listed in the table above differ by two or more levels,
then the Applicable Margin shall be the simple average of the rates corresponding
to those levels;

(d)

if at any time a Debt Rating has been assigned by one of the Designated Rating
Agencies, but not the other, then the Applicable Margin shall be determined by
reference to the Debt Rating assigned by the Designated Rating Agency which has
assigned a Debt Rating; and

Exhibit 10.1
4

(e)

changes in Applicable Margin shall be effective in accordance with Section 4.11.

“Applicable Percentage” means, with respect to each Lender from time to time, as the context so
requires:
(a)

the percentage of the Total Commitment represented by such Lender’s Commitment;
provided that if the Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable
Percentage for each Lender shall be (i) for the purposes of Section 14.14(a), the
percentage of the Total Commitment represented by such Lender’s Commitment
immediately prior to such termination or expiration (subject to any subsequent
assignment by such Lender pursuant to Section 15.2) and (ii) for all other purposes,
the percentage of the Equivalent Amount in Canadian Dollars of the Outstanding
Principal represented by such Lender’s outstanding Loans under the Credit Facility;

(b)

the percentage of the aggregate of all Commitments under the Syndicated Tranche
represented by such Lender’s Commitment under the Syndicated Tranche; provided
that if the Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable Percentage for
each Lender shall be (i) for the purposes of Section 14.14(a), of the aggregate of all
Commitments under the Syndicated Tranche represented by such Lender’s
Commitment under the Syndicated Tranche immediately prior to such termination
or expiration (subject to any subsequent assignment by such Lender pursuant to
Section 15.2) and (ii) for all other purposes, the percentage of the Equivalent Amount
in Canadian Dollars of the Outstanding Principal represented by such Lender’s
outstanding Loans under the Syndicated Tranche; or

(c)

with respect to the Operating Lender under the Operating Tranche, 100%.

“Approved Fund” means any Fund that is administered or managed by:
(a)

a Lender,

(b)

an Affiliate of a Lender, or

(c)

an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.

“Assigned Interests” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.6(f).
“Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender
and an Eligible Assignee and accepted by the Agent, in substantially the form of Schedule B or any
other form approved by the Agent.
“Authorized Officer” means, with respect to any Person, any individual holding the position of
chairman of the board (if an officer), the Chief Executive Officer, President, the Chief Financial
Officer, the Treasurer, the Controller, the Vice President Finance, any other Vice President, the
Secretary, the Assistant Secretary or any other senior officer or agent with express authority to act
on behalf of such Person designated as such by the board of directors or other managing authority
of such Person.
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“Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 6.2(c).
“BA Discount Rate” means:
(a)

in relation to a Bankers’ Acceptance accepted by a Schedule I Lender, the
CDOR Rate;

(b)

in relation to a Bankers’ Acceptance accepted by a Schedule II Lender or Schedule III
Lender, the lesser of:
(i)

the average of the Discount Rates then applicable to bankers’ acceptances
having identical issue and comparable maturity dates as such Bankers’
Acceptance, accepted by the BA Reference Lenders; and

(ii)

the CDOR Rate plus 0.10% per annum,

provided that if both such rates are equal, then the “BA Discount Rate” applicable
thereto shall be the rate specified in (i) above; and
(c)

in relation to a BA Equivalent Advance:
(i)

made by a Schedule I Lender, ATB Financial or Export Development Canada,
the CDOR Rate;

(ii)

made by a Schedule II Lender or Schedule III Lender, the rate determined
in accordance with subparagraph (b) of this definition; and

(iii)

made by any other Lender, the CDOR Rate plus 0.10% per annum.

“BA Discount Proceeds” means, in respect of any Bankers’ Acceptance, the amount obtained by
multiplying the face amount of such Bankers’ Acceptance by the amount (rounded up or down to
the fifth decimal place with .000005 being rounded up) determined by dividing one by the sum of
one plus the product of:
(a)

the BA Discount Rate (expressed as a decimal on the Drawdown Date, Conversion
Date or Rollover Date, as the case may be), and

(b)

a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Interest Period of
such Bankers’ Acceptance and the denominator of which is 365.

“BA Equivalent Advance” means, in relation to a Drawdown of, Conversion into or Rollover of
Bankers’ Acceptances, an Advance in Cdn. Dollars made by a Non-Acceptance Lender under the
Credit Facility as part of such Loan.
“BA Reference Lenders” means up to a maximum of two Schedule II Lender(s) and/or Schedule
III Lender(s) as may from time to time be designated by the Agent and approved by the Borrower
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(such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) for the purpose of establishing the BA Discount
Rates for Schedule II and Schedule III Lenders.
“BA Suspension Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.5(b).
“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable
EEA Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an EEA Financial Institution.
“Bail-In Legislation” means, with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55
of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union,
the implementing law for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the
EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.
“Bankers’ Acceptance” means a non-interest bearing draft drawn by the Borrower in Cdn. Dollars,
accepted by a Lender under the Credit Facility and issued for value pursuant to this Agreement and
includes a depository bill under the DBNA and a bill of exchange under the Bills of Exchange Act
(Canada).
“Banking Day” means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday, on which banks
are open for business in Calgary (Alberta), Toronto (Ontario) and, for transactions involving
US Dollars, New York (New York); provided that in respect of the determination of the LIBO Rate,
such day must also be a day on which the principal office of the Agent in London, England is open
for business.
“Basel III” means the agreements on capital requirements, leverage ratios and liquidity standards
contained in “Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking
systems”, “Basel III: International framework for liquidity risk measurement, standards and
monitoring” and “Guidance for national authorities operating the countercyclical capital buffer”
published by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in December 2010, each as amended,
modified, supplemented, reissued or replaced from time to time.
“bps” or “basis points” means one one-hundredth of one percent (0.01%).
“Borrower” means Kinder Morgan Cochin ULC and its successors.
“Borrower Group Members” means, collectively, the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries
and “Borrower Group Member” means any one of them.
“Borrower’s Accounts” means the accounts of the Borrower maintained at the Agent’s Branch or
such other branch or office in Canada as the Borrower may from time to time designate with the
concurrence of the Agent.
“Borrower’s Counsel” means Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP and any other firm of barristers and
solicitors or other lawyers in an appropriate jurisdiction retained by the Obligors and acceptable to
the Agent, acting reasonably.
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“Canadian Dollars”, “Cdn. Dollars” “Cdn.$” and “$” mean lawful money of Canada for the
payment of public and private debts.
“Capital Adequacy Requirements” means the Guideline dated January 2017, entitled “Capital
Adequacy Requirements (CAR)” issued by OSFI and all other guidelines or requirements relating
to capital adequacy issued by OSFI or any other Governmental Authority regulating or having
jurisdiction with respect to any Lender, as amended, modified, supplemented, reissued or replaced
from time to time.
“Capital Lease” means, as applied to any Person, any lease of, or other arrangement providing for
the right of the lessee thereunder to use, any Property by that Person that, in conformity with GAAP
as in effect on December 31, 2016, was, or would have been required to be, accounted for as a
capital lease on the balance sheet of that Person, if or as if such lease or other arrangement was in
existence at such time; for certainty, any leases or other arrangements (whether entered into before
or after December 31, 2016) that would have been characterized as operating leases under GAAP
as in effect on December 31, 2016 shall be deemed to be operating leases and shall be excluded
from this definition and any other financial commitments and commercial arrangements that would
not have been characterized as capital or financing leases under GAAP as in effect on December 31,
2016 shall also be excluded from this definition and, for certainty, from the definition of Funded
Debt.
“Capital Lease Obligation” means, at the time any determination thereof is to be made, the amount
of the liability in respect of a Capital Lease that would at such time be required to be capitalized
and reflected as a liability on a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) prepared in accordance
with GAAP as in effect on December 31, 2016.
“Cash Collateral Account” means a blocked deposit account at the Agent (or another commercial
bank reasonably acceptable to the Agent) in the name of the Agent and under the sole dominion
and control of the Agent, and otherwise established in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the Agent
and governed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
“Cash Collateralize” means to pledge and deposit with or deliver to the Agent for deposit into a
Cash Collateral Account, for the benefit of the Agent, the applicable LC Issuer or the Lenders, as
applicable, as collateral for LC Obligations or Outstandings in respect of Bankers’ Acceptances, as
applicable, cash or deposit account balances or, if the Person(s) benefitting from such collateral
shall agree in its or their sole discretion, other credit support, in each case subject to Section 7.4(b)
or 7.4(c) if applicable and pursuant to documentation in form and substance satisfactory to such
Person(s) and “Cash Collateralized” has a similar meaning. “Cash Collateral” shall have a
meaning correlative to the foregoing and shall include the proceeds of such cash collateral and other
credit support.
“Cash Equivalents” means:
(a)

any readily-marketable securities or other investment property (i) issued by or
directly, unconditionally and fully guaranteed or insured by the Canadian or United
States federal governments or (ii) issued by any agency or instrumentality of the
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Canadian or United States federal governments the obligations of which are fully
backed by the full faith and credit of the Canadian or United States federal
governments, as the case may be;
(b)

any readily-marketable direct obligations issued by any agency or instrumentality
of the Canadian or United States federal government, any state of the United States
or any political subdivision of any such state or any public instrumentality thereof,
or any province or territory of Canada or any public instrumentality thereof, in each
case having a rating of at least “A-1” from S&P, at least “P-1” from Moody’s or
“R-1” from DBRS;

(c)

any commercial paper rated at least “A-1” by S&P, “P-1” by Moody’s or R-1 by
DBRS and issued by any Person organized under the laws of any state of the United
States or Canada;

(d)

any US Dollar or Cdn. Dollar denominated time deposit, demand deposits, insured
certificate of deposit, overnight bank deposit, guaranteed investment certificate,
bearer deposit note or bankers’ acceptance issued or accepted by (i) any Lender or
(ii) any financial institution that is (A) organized under the laws of the United States,
any state thereof, the District of Columbia, Canada or any province of Canada, (B)
“adequately capitalized” (as defined in the regulations of its primary federal banking
regulators) and (C) has Tier 1 capital (as defined in such regulations) in excess of
US$500,000,000 or the Equivalent Amount in Cdn. Dollars;

(e)

repurchase obligations with a term of not more than seven days for underlying
securities of the types described in subparagraphs (a), (b) and (d) above entered into
with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in subparagraph (c)
above; and

(f)

shares of any United States or Canadian money market fund that (i) has substantially
all of its assets invested continuously in the types of investments referred to in
subparagraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) above with maturities as set forth in the proviso
below, (ii) has net assets in excess of US$500,000,000 or the Equivalent Amount in
Cdn. Dollars and (iii) has obtained from either S&P, Moody’s or DBRS the highest
rating obtainable for money market funds in Canada or the United States, as the case
may be,

provided, however, that the maturities of all obligations specified in any of subparagraphs (a), (b),
(c), (d) and (e) above shall not exceed 365 days.
“Cash Management Documents” means, collectively, all agreements, instruments and other
documents which evidence, establish, govern or relate to any or all of the Cash Management
Obligations.
“Cash Management Obligations” means, at any time and from time to time, all of the obligations,
indebtedness and liabilities (present or future, absolute or contingent, matured or not) of any of the
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Obligors to the Cash Manager under, pursuant or relating to the Cash Management Services and
whether the same are from time to time reduced and thereafter increased or entirely extinguished
and thereafter incurred again and including all principal, interest, fees, legal and other costs, charges
and expenses, and other amounts payable by any of the Obligors under the Cash Management
Documents.
“Cash Management Services” means (a) treasury, depository, overdraft, purchase, credit or debit
card services, including non-card e-payables services, (b) wire transfer, electronic funds transfer,
controlled disbursement and automated clearing house fund transfer services, (c) the operation of
centralized operating accounts, (d) account pooling arrangements (whether notional or physical),
(e) credit in connection with spot foreign currency exchange settlement and (f) any other cash
management services entered into by any of the Obligors in the ordinary course of business.
“Cash Manager” means each Lender and their Affiliates, which is from time to time providing any
Cash Management Services to any of the Obligors and which includes RBC on the date hereof.
“CDOR Rate” means, on any day when Bankers’ Acceptances are to be issued pursuant hereto,
the per annum rate of interest which is the rate determined as being the arithmetic average of the
annual yield rates applicable to Canadian Dollar bankers’ acceptances having identical issue and
comparable maturity dates as the Bankers’ Acceptances proposed to be issued by the Borrower
displayed and identified as such on the display referred to as the “CDOR Page” (or any display
substituted therefor) of Reuters Limited (or any successor thereto or Affiliate thereof) as at
approximately 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such day, or if such day is not a Banking Day, then on
the immediately preceding Banking Day (as adjusted by the Agent in good faith after 10:00 a.m.
(Toronto time) to reflect any error in a posted rate or in the posted average annual rate); provided
that: (a) if such a rate does not appear on such CDOR Page, then the CDOR Rate, on any day, shall
be the Discount Rate quoted by the Agent (determined as of 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such day)
which would be applicable in respect of an issue of bankers’ acceptances in a comparable amount
and with comparable maturity dates to the Bankers’ Acceptances proposed to be issued by the
Borrower on such day, or if such day is not a Banking Day, then on the immediately preceding
Banking Day; and (b) if the rate determined as aforesaid shall ever be less than zero, such rate shall
be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.
“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following:
(a)

the adoption or taking effect of any Applicable Law;

(b)

any change in any Applicable Law or in the administration, interpretation or
application thereof by any Governmental Authority; or

(c)

the making or issuance of any Applicable Law by any Governmental Authority,

provided that (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (United States)
including all regulations, requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder and (ii) all requests,
guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee
on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States, Canadian or
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other regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III ((i) and (ii) being, collectively, the
“New Rules”) shall be deemed to constitute a Change in Law regardless of the actual date or dates
that such Act or regulations are or were enacted or promulgated, in each case (A) to the extent that
such New Rules are applicable to the Lender claiming that a Change in Law has occurred, (B) to
the extent that such New Rules are materially different from Applicable Laws which are in full force
and effect on the date hereof and (C) to the extent that such New Rules are not limited to specific
financial institutions only but instead have general application to substantially all banks or their
Affiliates which are subject to the New Rules in question.
“Change of Control” means and shall be deemed to have occurred if any Person, or group of
Persons acting jointly or in concert (within the measure of the Securities Act (Alberta)), other than
KMI, directly or indirectly, owns greater than 50% of the Equity Securities of each of the Borrower
and the Parent, unless such Person, or group of Persons, has an Investment Grade Rating both
immediately prior to, and after giving effect to, such Change of Control (provided that, for certainty,
a change in the ownership or control of KMI shall not constitute a Change of Control).
“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
“Commitment” means, in respect of a Lender and in relation to:
(a)

the Operating Tranche, such Lender’s Operating Tranche Commitment;

(b)

the Syndicated Tranche, such Lender’s Syndicated Tranche Commitment; and

(c)

the Credit Facility, the aggregate of such Lender’s Operating Tranche Commitment
and Syndicated Tranche Commitment.

“Commodity Exchange Act” means the United States Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 1 et
seq.).
“Commodity Hedging Agreement” means any agreement for the making or taking of delivery of
any commodity, any commodity swap agreement, floor, cap or collar agreement or commodity
future or option or other similar agreement or arrangement, or any combination thereof, entered
into by the applicable Person, primarily for the purpose of mitigating or eliminating exposure to
fluctuations in commodity prices.
“Communications” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 15.15(b).
“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate of the Borrower signed by any Authorized Officer
of the Borrower, substantially in the form of Schedule C, to be given to the Agent and the Lenders
by the Borrower pursuant hereto.
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“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any fiscal period and as determined in accordance with GAAP,
on a consolidated basis in respect of KMCL, all Consolidated Net Income for such period as shown
in the Financial Statements, plus, in each case to the extent deducted in the calculation of such
Consolidated Net Income:
(a)

Consolidated Interest Expense; plus

(b)

all income taxes of KMCL and its Subsidiaries paid or accrued for such period; plus

(c)

all depreciation, depletion and amortization (including amortization of goodwill) of
KMCL and its Subsidiaries; plus

(d)

other non-cash charges or losses (including asset impairments, write-downs or writeoffs); plus

(e)

amortization, write-off or write-down of debt discount, capitalized interest and debt
issuance costs and commissions, discounts and other fees, charges and expenses
associated with any letters of credit or indebtedness, including in connection with
the repurchase or repayment thereof, including any premium and acceleration of
fees or discounts and other expenses;

less (on a consolidated basis, without duplication and to the extent added in the calculation of
such Consolidated Net Income):
(f)

all non-cash items of income or gain of KMCL and its Subsidiaries which were
included in determining such Consolidated Net Income for such period; and

(g)

any cash payments made during such period in respect of items described in
subparagraph (d) above subsequent to the Fiscal Quarter in which the relevant noncash charges or losses were reflected as a charge in determining Consolidated Net
Income;

provided that for the purposes of this definition, (i) if any Material Acquisition is made by any of
the Borrower Group Members (whether by amalgamation, asset or share acquisition or otherwise)
at any time during the relevant period of calculation, such Material Acquisition shall be deemed to
have been made on and as of the first day of such calculation period; and (ii) if any Material
Disposition is made by any Borrower Group Members at any time during the relevant period of
calculation, or the assets cease to be owned by the Borrower Group Members, such Material
Disposition shall be deemed to have been made on and as of the first day of such calculation period.
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“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, for any fiscal period, without duplication, interest
expense of KMCL determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, as the same would
be set forth or reflected in a consolidated statement of operations of the Parent, and in any event
shall include:
(a)

all interest accrued or payable in respect of such period, including capitalized interest
and imputed interest with respect to lease obligations included as Consolidated Total
Funded Debt;

(b)

all fees (including standby and commitment fees, acceptance fees in respect of
bankers’ acceptances and fees payable in respect of letters of credit, letters of
guarantee and similar instruments but excluding one-time commitment and agency
fees in respect of the Credit Facility and other permitted credit facilities from time
to time) accrued or payable in respect of such period, prorated (as required) over
such period;

(c)

any difference between the face amount and the discount proceeds of any bankers’
acceptances, commercial paper and other obligations issued at a discount, prorated
(as required) over such period;

(d)

the aggregate of all purchase discounts relating to the sale of accounts receivable in
connection with any asset securitization program; and

(e)

all net amounts charged (a positive number) or credited (a negative number) to
interest expense under any Interest Hedging Agreements in respect of such period,

but shall exclude interest accrued or payable in respect of Permitted Subordinated Loans.
“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any fiscal period, the net income of the KMCL determined
on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, as set forth in the consolidated Financial
Statements of the KMCL for such period, provided that there shall be excluded, without duplication,
from such net income (to the extent otherwise included therein):
(a)

net extraordinary gains and losses (other than, in the case of losses, losses resulting
from charges against net income to establish or increase reserves for potential
environmental liabilities and reserves for exposure of KMCL and its Subsidiaries
under rate cases);

(b)

net gains or losses in respect of dispositions of assets other than in the ordinary course
of business;

(c)

any gains or losses attributable to write-ups or write-downs of assets; and

(d)

proceeds of any key man insurance, or any insurance on property, plant or equipment.

“Consolidated Tangible Assets” means, as at any date of determination, the total consolidated
assets of the Borrower, but, excluding therefrom intangible assets (including goodwill, trade names,
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trademarks and patents) and minority interests, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet of the
Financial Statements most recently provided to the Agent pursuant to Section 9.4(a).
“Consolidated Total Funded Debt” means, collectively and on a consolidated basis, the principal
amount of all indebtedness under the Credit Facility and the principal amount of any other
consolidated Funded Debt of KMCL.
“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction
of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of Voting Securities,
by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have corresponding meanings.
“Conversion” means a conversion or deemed conversion of a Loan (except a Letter of Credit) into
another type of Loan (except a Letter of Credit) pursuant to the provisions hereof, and “Convert”
has a corresponding meaning; provided that, subject to Section 2.4 and to Article 5 with respect to
Bankers’ Acceptances, the conversion of a Loan denominated in one currency to a Loan denominated
in another currency shall be effected by repayment of the Loan or portion thereof being converted
in the currency in which it was denominated and readvance to the Borrower of the Loan into which
such conversion was made.
“Conversion Date” means the date specified by the Borrower as being the date on which the
Borrower has elected to effect a Conversion, or this Agreement requires the Conversion of, one
type of Loan into another type of Loan and which shall be a Banking Day.
“Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice” means a notice substantially in the form of Schedule D
to be given to the Agent by the Borrower pursuant hereto.
“Credit Facility” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.1(a).
“Currency Hedging Agreement” means any currency swap agreement, cross-currency agreement,
forward agreement, floor, cap or collar agreement, futures or options, insurance or other similar
agreement or arrangement, or any combination thereof, entered into by the applicable Person where
the subject matter of the same is currency exchange rates or the price, value or amount payable
thereunder is dependent or based upon currency exchange rates or fluctuations in currency exchange
rates as in effect from time to time.
“DBNA” means the Depository Bills and Notes Act (Canada).
“DBRS” means DBRS Limited and its successors.
“Debt Rating” means, in respect of any Person, the debt rating that has been most recently announced
by a Debt Rating Agency for the senior, unsecured and unsubordinated long term debt of such Person
or, if the same is not available, the corporate credit rating or issuer rating of such Person by a Debt
Rating Agency; provided that, unless otherwise expressly provided or the context otherwise requires,
references herein to “Debt Rating” shall be and shall be deemed to be references to the Debt Rating
of the Borrower.
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“Debt Rating Agency” means S&P, DBRS, Moody’s or any other nationally recognized rating
agency that is agreed to by the Required Lenders, acting reasonably, and “Debt Rating Agencies”
means all of them, collectively.
“Default” means any event or condition that would constitute an Event of Default except for
satisfaction of any condition subsequent required to make the event or condition an Event of Default,
including giving of any notice, passage of time, or both.
“Default Rate” means, in respect of any Outstanding Principal, the interest rate, issuance fees or
acceptance fees applicable thereto (after giving effect to the Applicable Margin applicable thereto),
plus 2.00% per annum.
“Defaulting Lender” means any Lender:
(a)

that has failed to fund any payment or its portion of any Advance required to be
made by it hereunder or to purchase any participation required to be purchased by
it hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, in either case, within one Banking
Day of the date such required Advance or purchase;

(b)

that has notified the Borrower, the Agent or any Lender (verbally or in writing) that
it does not intend to or is unable to comply with any of its funding obligations under
this Agreement or has made a public statement to that effect or to the effect that it
does not intend to or is unable to fund advances generally under credit arrangements
to which it is a party;

(c)

that has failed, within 3 Banking Days after written request by the Agent or the
Borrower, to confirm in writing to the Agent and the Borrower that it will comply
with the terms of this Agreement relating to its obligations to fund prospective
Advances (for certainty, unless and until such Lender has provided such written
confirmation);

(d)

that has otherwise failed to pay over to the Agent, a Fronting Lender or any other
Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within 3 Banking Days
of the date when due, unless the subject of a good faith dispute;

(e)

in respect of which a Lender Insolvency Event or a Lender Distress Event has
occurred in respect of such Lender or its Lender Parent;

(f)

that has, or that has a Lender Parent that has, become the subject of a Bail-In Action;
or

(g)

that is generally in default of its obligations under other existing credit or loan
documentation under which it has commitments to extend credit.

“Discount Note” means a non-interest bearing promissory note of the Borrower, denominated in
Cdn. Dollars, issued by the Borrower to a Non-Acceptance Lender as part of a BA Equivalent
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Advance substantially in the form attached as Schedule E or such other form as may be agreed to
by the Agent, the Borrower and such Non-Acceptance Lender.
“Discount Rate” means, with respect to the issuance of a bankers’ acceptance, the rate of interest
per annum, calculated on the basis of a year of 365 days, (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the
nearest whole multiple of 1/100th of one percent) which is equal to the discount exacted by a
purchaser taking initial delivery of such bankers’ acceptance, calculated as a rate per annum and as
if the issuer thereof received the discount proceeds in respect of such bankers’ acceptance on its
date of issuance and had repaid the respective face amount of such bankers’ acceptance on the
maturity date thereof.
“Disposition” means any sale, lease, Sale Leaseback, assignment, conveyance, transfer or other
disposition of any Property of a Borrower Group Member, including as a result of expropriation,
and “Dispose” has a corresponding meaning.
“Disqualified Lender” means any Person which is either: (a) a competitor of any Borrower Group
Member or any of their respective Affiliates in relation to the business actively carried on by such
Persons; or (b) not a financial institution (which, for certainty and for the purpose of this definition,
any private equity or debt fund shall not be considered a financial institution except during the
continuance of an Event of Default).
“Distribution” means, in respect of any Borrower Group Member:
(a)

dividends or other distributions or payments on its Equity Securities (except
dividends or other distributions (i) consisting of Equity Securities or (ii) payable
solely to a Borrower Group Member); and

(b)

the redemption or acquisition of its Equity Securities or Equity Securities Equivalents
(except when (i) solely in exchange for such Equity Securities or Equity Securities
Equivalents or (ii) payable solely to a Borrower Group Member).

“Drawdown” means any Advance which results in an increase in the Outstanding Principal.
“Drawdown Date” means the date on which a Drawdown is made by the Borrower pursuant to the
provisions hereof and which shall be a Banking Day.
“Drawdown Notice” means a notice substantially in the applicable form annexed hereto as
Schedule F to be given to the Agent by the Borrower.
“EEA Financial Institution” means:
(a)

any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country
which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority;

(b)

any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution
described in subparagraph (a) of this definition; or
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(c)

any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a
subsidiary of an institution described in subparagraph (a) or (b) of this definition
and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland,
Liechtenstein, and Norway.
“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any Person entrusted
with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having
responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.
“Effective Date” means the date on which all of the conditions in Section 3.1 have been satisfied
or waived in accordance with Section 3.3 (whether before, on or after such date), which must be
on or before December 31, 2018.
“Eligible Assignee” means any Person (other than a natural person, any Defaulting Lender, any
Borrower Group Member or any Affiliate of a Borrower Group Member), in respect of which any
consent that is required by Section 15.2(b) has been obtained.
“Environmental Claims” means any and all administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits,
demands, claims, liens, notices of non-compliance or violation, investigations, inspections, inquiries
or proceedings relating in any way to any Environmental Laws or any Environmental Permits
including:
(a)

any claim by a Governmental Authority for enforcement, clean-up, removal,
response, remedial or other actions or damages pursuant to any Environmental Laws;
and

(b)

any claim by a person seeking damages, contribution, indemnification, cost recovery,
compensation or injunctive or other relief resulting from or relating to Hazardous
Materials, including any Release thereof, or arising from alleged injury or threat of
injury to human health or safety (arising from environmental matters) or the
environment.

“Environmental Laws” means all Applicable Laws with respect to the environment or
environmental or public health and safety matters, including the transportation storage and handling
of Hazardous Materials.
“Environmental Orders” means all applicable Governmental Authorizations and applicable
orders, directives, judgments, decisions or the like rendered by any court of competent jurisdiction
pursuant to Environmental Laws or Environmental Permits.
“Environmental Permits” includes all permits, certificates, approvals, registrations, licenses or
other instruments issued by any Governmental Authority and relating to or required for the Obligors
or their respective Subsidiaries to carry on their businesses, activities and operations in compliance
with all Environmental Laws and Environmental Orders.
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“Equity Securities” means, with respect to any Person, any shares, partnership units or other
ownership interests in such Person, whether voting or non-voting; provided that, for certainty, an
undivided ownership interest in the Property of a Person shall not constitute an “Equity Security”.
“Equity Securities Equivalents” means all Securities convertible into or exchangeable for Equity
Securities or any other Equity Securities Equivalent and all warrants, options, or other rights to
purchase, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire any Equity Securities or any other Equity Securities
Equivalent, whether or not presently convertible, exchangeable or exercisable.
“Equivalent Amount” in one currency (the “First Currency”) of an amount in another currency
(the “Other Currency”) means, as of the date of determination, the amount of the First Currency
which would be required to purchase such amount of the Other Currency at the Spot Rate for such
currencies on such date of determination or, if such date of determination is not a Banking Day, on
the Banking Day immediately preceding such date of determination.
“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the
Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.
“Event of Default” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 11.1.
“Excluded Deposits/Amounts” means cash or Cash Equivalents:
(a)

held in escrow pursuant to an offering of subscription receipts (or similar equity
offering) by a Borrower Group Member which have not yet been released from
escrow in accordance with the terms of such offering;

(b)

held by arm’s length third parties representing deposits made by a Borrower Group
Member and which are referred to in subparagraph (e) of the definition of Permitted
Liens;

(c)

held by arm’s length third parties representing deposits, trust funds or other amounts
payable by one or more arm’s length third parties to any Borrower Group Member,
in each case, which are not then releasable to such Borrower Group Member and
which cannot be paid or transferred on the direction of a Borrower Group Member;

(d)

deposited in accordance with the defeasance or cash collateralization and repayment
provisions of the indentures, credit agreements, agreements or other instruments
evidencing or relating to Funded Debt in connection with the defeasance of such
Funded Debt and a repayment, redemption, purchase or cancellation thereof which
would then be permitted hereunder; and

(e)

which the Agent (acting reasonably) has previously agreed in writing shall constitute
Excluded Deposits/Amounts for all purposes hereof.

“Excluded Securities Accounts” means securities accounts maintained by any Borrower Group
Member which do not hold any property other than Equity Securities or Equity Securities
Equivalents (and cash and other property on deposit in such securities accounts from the proceeds
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of disposition from, or the payment of dividends or other distributions on or in respect of, such
Equity Securities or Equity Securities Equivalents held in such accounts); provided the holding of
such Equity Securities or Equity Securities Equivalents is otherwise permitted under this Agreement.
“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Agent, any Lender, or any other recipient of any
payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of a Borrower Group Member hereunder:
(a)

Taxes imposed on or measured by its overall net income, gains, capital, receipts, net
profits, or branch profits (however denominated), and franchise (and similar) Taxes
imposed on it (in lieu of net income Taxes), in each case by a jurisdiction (including
any political subdivision thereof) as a result of such recipient being organized in,
having its principal office in, or in the case of any Lender, having its applicable
lending office in, such jurisdiction, or as a result of any other present or former
connection with such jurisdiction (other than any such connection arising solely from
such recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its
obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest
under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document,
or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Loan Document);

(b)

any United States federal or Canadian federal withholding Tax imposed on any
payment by or on account of any obligation of any Borrower Group Member
hereunder or under any Loan Document that is required to be imposed on amounts
payable to or for the account of a Lender at the time such Lender acquires an interest
in any Loan Document (or designates a new lending office), other than (i) a Lender
that is an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower under Section 12.3(b) (or
that designates a new lending office pursuant to a request by the Borrower), (ii) a
Lender that is an assignee pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption made when
an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or (iii) any other Lender that is
an assignee to the extent that the Borrower has expressly agreed that any withholding
tax shall be an Indemnified Tax, except in all cases to the extent that such Lender
(or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new lending office
(or assignment), to receive additional amounts from an Obligor with respect to such
withholding tax pursuant to Section 12.2(a);

(c)

any withholding Taxes attributable to a Lender’s failure to comply with
Section 12.2(e);

(d)

any withholding Tax imposed under or in relation to FATCA; and

(e)

except to the extent that the Borrower has expressly agreed pursuant to clause (iii)
of subparagraph (b) of this definition that any withholding Taxes shall be an
Indemnified Tax in respect of an assignee Lender, any withholding Taxes imposed
on a payment or deemed payment by reason of the recipient being a “specified
shareholder” of the Borrower (within the meaning of subsection 18(5) of the Tax
Act) at the time of payment or deemed payment, or by reason of such recipient not
dealing at arm’s length for the purposes of the Tax Act with the Borrower or a
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“specified shareholder” of the Borrower at the time of payment or deemed payment
(other than where the non-arm’s length relationship arises, or where the recipient is
a “specified shareholder” or does not deal at arm’s length with a “specified
shareholder”, in connection with or as a result of the recipient having become a party
to, received or perfected a security interest under or received or enforced any rights
under, a Loan Document).
“Existing Affiliate Agreements” means any agreement, instrument or other document between
one or more of the Borrower Group Members, on the one hand, and one or more of KMI and its
Affiliates, on the other hand, in each case, as have been previously entered into, and which are in
force on the date hereof.
“Existing Credit Agreement” means the credit agreement made as of May 1, 2018, (as amended
to the date hereof), between the Borrower, RBC as administrative agent, and the lenders party
thereto.
“Extending Lender” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.6(c).
“Existing Letters of Credit” means, collectively, the letters of credit issued and outstanding under
the Existing Credit Agreement and described in Schedule G.
“Extension Request” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.6.
“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to any asset or group of assets on any date of
determination, the value of the consideration obtainable in a sale of such asset or group of assets at
such date of determination assuming a sale by a willing seller to a willing purchaser dealing at arm’s
length.
“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any
amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to
comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreements
entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code as of the date of this Agreement (or any
amended or successor version described above), and any intergovernmental agreements (or related
legislation or official administrative rules or practices) entered into in connection with such sections
of the Code and any law, regulation or rule implementing any such intergovernmental agreement.
“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate calculated by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, based on such day’s federal funds transactions by depositary institutions, as determined in
such manner as the Federal Reserve Bank of New York shall set forth on its public website from
time to time and as published on the next succeeding Banking Day by the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York as the federal funds effective rate, or, if such day is not a Banking Day, such rate for
the immediately preceding Banking Day, for which the same is published or, if such rate is not so
published for any day that is a Banking Day, the average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the
next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day on such transactions received by the Agent from
three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by the Agent, acting reasonably;
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provided that if the Federal Funds Rate as determined above is less than zero, then the Federal Funds
Rate shall be deemed to be zero.
“Federal Reserve Board” or “Federal” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System of the United States of America or any successor thereof.
“Financial Covenant” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 9.3.
“Financial Statements” means the financial statements (including the notes thereto) of KMCL,
which shall be on a consolidated basis unless expressly provided otherwise and shall include a
balance sheet, a statement of income and a statement of cash flows, together with comparative
figures in each case (where a comparative period on an earlier statement exists), all prepared,
maintained and stated in accordance with GAAP applied consistently.
“Fiscal Quarter” means the 3 month period commencing on the first day of each Fiscal Year, and
each successive 3 month period thereafter during such Fiscal Year.
“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of KMCL which presently commences on January 1 of each
calendar year and ends on December 31 of each calendar year.
“Fronting Exposure” means, at any time there is a Defaulting Lender under the Syndicated Tranche,
such Defaulting Lender’s Applicable Percentage of the outstanding LC Obligations owing to the
Fronting Lenders other than LC Obligations as to which such Defaulting Lender’s participation
obligation has been reallocated to other Lenders or Cash Collateralized.
“Fronting Fee” means the fee charged by a Fronting Lender for issuing a Fronted Letter of Credit
at a rate per annum as is agreed in writing between the Borrower and the Fronting Lender from time
to time.
“Fronting Lenders” means, RBC and The Toronto-Dominion Bank, each in such capacity, or such
other Lender as may be selected by the Agent and the Borrower and which agrees with the Borrower
in writing to issue Fronted Letters of Credit hereunder, and provided further that, with respect to
particular usage herein and if the context requires, “Fronting Lender” shall mean the Lender which
has issued the Letter of Credit in question.
“Fronted Letter of Credit” means a Letter of Credit issued by a Fronting Lender under the
Syndicated Tranche.
“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making,
purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans and similar extensions of credit in
the ordinary course of its business.
“Funded Debt” means, with respect to any Person and at any time, all indebtedness for borrowed
money of such Person at such time and, in any event, includes (without duplication):
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(a)

obligations of such Person (including a reimbursement obligation) with respect to
bankers’ acceptances and indebtedness of such Person arising pursuant to note
purchase facilities and commercial paper programs;

(b)

indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money evidenced by and owed under a
bond, note, debenture or similar instrument;

(c)

Purchase Money Obligations;

(d)

Capital Lease Obligations;

(e)

indebtedness of such Person arising pursuant to letters of credit or letters of guarantee
securing or supporting any indebtedness or obligations referred to in the other
subparagraphs of this definition; and

(f)

(i) obligations of such Person under Guarantees, and indemnities or other contingent
obligations in respect of or securing or supporting any indebtedness or other
obligations of any other Person referred to in the foregoing subparagraphs of this
definition, and (ii) all other obligations of such Person incurred for the purpose of
or having the effect of providing financial assistance to another Person to secure or
support any indebtedness or other obligations of any other Person referred to in the
foregoing subparagraphs of this definition (whether or not such indebtedness or other
obligations are assumed by such Person), including endorsements with recourse of
bills of exchange constituting or evidencing any such indebtedness or obligations
(other than for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business),

provided that, in respect of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, Funded Debt shall not include
Permitted Subordinated Loans.
“GAAP” means, subject to Section 1.4, generally accepted accounting principles which are in effect
from time to time in the United States.
“Governmental Authority” means any federal, provincial, state, regional, municipal or local
government or any department, agency, board, tribunal or authority thereof or other political
subdivision thereof and any entity or person exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory
or administrative functions of, or pertaining to, government or the operation thereof.
“Governmental Authorization” means an authorization, order, permit, approval, grant, license,
consent, right, franchise, privilege, certificate, judgment, writ, injunction, award, determination,
direction, decree or demand or the like issued or granted by law or by rule or regulation of any
Governmental Authority.
“Guarantee” means, in respect of any Person, any guarantee, undertaking to assume, endorse,
contingently agree to purchase or pay, or to provide funds for the purchase or payment of, or otherwise
become liable in respect of, any obligation of any other Person; provided that the amount of each
Guarantee shall be deemed to be the amount of the obligation guaranteed thereby, unless the
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Guarantee is limited to a determinable amount in which case the amount of such Guarantee shall
be deemed to be the lesser of such determinable amount or the amount of such obligation.
“Hazardous Materials” means any substance or mixture of substances defined as or determined
to be a pollutant, contaminant, waste, hazardous waste, hazardous chemical, hazardous substance,
toxic substance or dangerous good under any Environmental Law.
“Hedge Agreement” means any Interest Hedging Agreement, Currency Hedging Agreement,
Commodity Hedging Agreement or any other derivative agreement or similar agreement or
arrangements.
“Hedge Agreement Demand for Payment” means a demand made by a Lender pursuant to a
Hedge Agreement between such Lender (or its Affiliate) and a Borrower Group Member demanding
payment of the obligations which are then due and payable relating thereto and shall include any
notice provided by such Lender or its Affiliate under any agreement evidencing a Hedge Agreement
with a Borrower Group Member which, when delivered, would require an early termination thereof
and a payment by one of the parties thereto in settlement of obligations thereunder as a result of
such early termination.
“Honor Date” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 6.3(a).
“Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes other than Excluded Taxes.
“Indemnitee” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 13.1(b).
“Information” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 15.6(b).
“Interest Hedging Agreement” means any interest swap agreement, forward rate agreement, floor,
cap or collar agreement, futures or options, insurance or other similar agreement or arrangement,
or any combination thereof, entered into by the applicable Person where the subject matter of the
same is interest rates or the price, value or amount payable thereunder is dependent or based upon
the interest rates or fluctuations in interest rates in effect from time to time (but, for certainty, shall
exclude conventional floating rate debt).
“Interest Payment Date” means:
(a)

with respect to each Prime Loan and USBR Loan, the first Banking Day of each
calendar month for the immediately preceding month or, after notice to the Borrower,
on such other Banking Day of each calendar month as is customary for the Agent
having regard to its then existing practice; and

(b)

with respect to each LIBO Rate Loan, the last day of each applicable Interest Period
and, if any Interest Period is longer than 3 months, the last Banking Day of each 3
month period during such Interest Period;
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provided that, in any case, the date on which the Credit Facility is fully cancelled or permanently
reduced in full shall be an Interest Payment Date with respect to all Loans then outstanding under
the Credit Facility.
“Interest Period” means:
(a)

with respect to each Bankers’ Acceptance, the period selected by the Borrower and
being of 1, 2, 3 or 6 months’ duration, subject to market availability, (or, subject to
the agreement of all of the Lenders, such longer or shorter period) commencing on
the Drawdown Date, Rollover Date or Conversion Date of such Loan;

(b)

with respect to each LIBO Rate Loan, the period selected by the Borrower and being
of 1, 2, 3 or 6 months’ duration (or, subject to the agreement of all of the Lenders,
such longer or shorter period) commencing on the applicable Drawdown Date,
Rollover Date or Conversion Date, as the case may be; and

(c)

with respect to each Letter of Credit, the period commencing on the date of issuance
of such Letter of Credit and terminating on the last day such Letter of Credit is
outstanding,

provided that in any case: (i) the last day of each Interest Period shall be also the first day of the
next Interest Period whether with respect to the same or another Loan; (ii) the last day of each
Interest Period shall be a Banking Day and if the last day of an Interest Period selected by the
Borrower is not a Banking Day the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period
the last day of which is the Banking Day next following the last day of the Interest Period selected
unless such next following Banking Day falls in the next calendar month in which event the Borrower
shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period the last day of which is the Banking Day next
preceding the last day of the Interest Period selected by the Borrower; and (iii) the last day of all
Interest Periods for Loans outstanding shall expire on or prior to the Maturity Date applicable
thereto, subject, however, in the case of Letters of Credit to the provisions of Section 6.1.
“Investment Grade Rating” means in respect of the Debt Rating, a rating of: (a) BBB- or better
from S&P; (b) BBB (low) or better from DBRS; (c) Baa3 or better from Moody’s; or (d) an analogous
rating (or better) to any of the foregoing ratings from any other Debt Rating Agency.
“ISP” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the “International Standby Practices 1998”
published by the Institute of International Banking Law & Practice, Inc. (or such later version thereof
as may be in effect at the time of issuance).
“KMCL” means Kinder Morgan Canada Limited, and its successors.
“KMI” means Kinder Morgan, Inc., and its successors.
“Knowledge” means, in respect of the Borrower or any other Borrower Group Member, as the
context requires, the actual knowledge of any director or senior officer of such Borrower Group
Member who has current knowledge of the relevant facts or circumstances.
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“LC Application” means an application and agreement for the issuance or amendment of a Letter
of Credit in the form from time to time in use by a LC Issuer, together with a request for a LC Issuance,
in the form provided to the Borrower by the applicable LC Issuer.
“LC Borrowing” means an extension of credit resulting from a drawing under any Letter of Credit
which has not been reimbursed by the Borrower on the date when made or refinanced into another
type of Loan on the date when made.
“LC Documents” means with respect to any Letter of Credit, the LC Application, and any other
document, agreement and instrument entered into by the applicable LC Issuer and the Borrower
(or any applicable Borrower Group Member) or in favour of the applicable LC Issuer and relating
to such Letter of Credit and “LC Document” means any one of them.
“LC Fee” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 4.5(a).
“LC Issuance” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the issuance thereof or extension of the
expiry date thereof, or the renewal or increase of the amount thereof.
“LC Issuer” means (a) the Operating Lender in respect of Letters of Credit issued under the
Operating Tranche, or (b) a Fronting Lender in respect of Fronted Letters of Credit, as applicable,
and, with respect to a given Letter of Credit and unless the context otherwise requires, the Lender
which issued such Letter of Credit.
“LC Obligations” means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate amount available to be
drawn under all outstanding Letters of Credit plus the aggregate of all Unreimbursed Amounts,
including all LC Borrowings. For purposes of computing the amount available to be drawn under
any Letter of Credit, the amount of such Letter of Credit shall be determined in accordance with
Section 1.8. For all purposes of this Agreement, if on any date of determination a Letter of Credit
has expired by its terms but any amount may still be drawn thereunder by reason of the operation
of Rule 3.14 of the ISP, such Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be “outstanding” in the amount so
remaining available to be drawn.
“Lenders” means, any party hereto that has an outstanding Commitment or Loan owing to it at the
applicable time, and “Lender” means any one of them.
“Lender Distress Event” means, in respect of a given Lender, such Lender or its Lender Parent
(a) is subject to a forced liquidation, merger, sale or other change of control supported in whole or
in part by guarantees or other support (including the nationalization or assumption of ownership or
operating control by the Government of the United States, Canada or any other Governmental
Authority) or (b) is otherwise adjudicated as, or determined to be, insolvent or bankrupt, in each
case, by any Governmental Authority having regulatory authority over such Lender or Lender Parent
or their respective assets; provided that, for certainty, a Lender Distress Event shall not have occurred
solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any equity interest in such Lender or its Lender
Parent by any Governmental Authority so long as such ownership interest does not result in or
provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within Canada or from the
enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such
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Governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements
made with such Lender.
“Lender Insolvency Event” means, in respect of a given Lender, such Lender or its Lender Parent:
(a)

is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger);

(b)

becomes insolvent, is deemed insolvent by applicable law or is unable to pay its
debts or fails or admits in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they
become due;

(c)

makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of
its creditors;

(d)

(i) institutes, or has instituted against it by a regulator, supervisor or any similar
Governmental Authority with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory
jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization or the
jurisdiction of its head or home office, (A) a proceeding pursuant to which such
Governmental Authority takes control of such Lender’s or Lender Parent’s assets,
(B) a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief
under any bankruptcy, insolvency or winding-up law or other similar law affecting
creditors’ rights, or (C) a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it
or such regulator, supervisor or similar Governmental Authority; or (ii) has instituted
against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other
relief under any bankruptcy, insolvency or winding-up law or other similar law
affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation,
and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not
described in clause (i) above and either (A) results in a judgment of insolvency or
bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its windingup or liquidation or (B) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained in each
case within 15 days of the institution or presentation thereof;

(e)

has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official management or liquidation (other
than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger);

(f)

seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional
liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or
for all or a substantial portion of all of its assets;

(g)

has a secured party take possession of all or a substantial portion of all of its assets
or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied,
enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such secured party
maintains possession, or any such process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or
restrained, in each case, within 15 days thereafter;
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(h)

causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable law
of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in
subparagraphs (a) to (g) above, inclusive; or

(i)

takes any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or
acquiescence in, any of the foregoing.

“Lender Parent” means any Person that directly or indirectly controls a Lender and, for the purposes
of this definition, “control” shall have the same meaning as set forth in the definition of “Affiliate”
contained herein.
“Lenders’ Counsel” means Torys LLP and such other firm(s) of legal counsel as the Agent may
from time to time designate.
“Letter of Credit” or “LC” means a standby or documentary letter of credit or letter of guarantee
in Cdn. Dollars or US Dollars issued by a Fronting Lender at the request of the Borrower pursuant
to this Agreement.
“Levy” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 9.1(f).
“LIBO Rate” means, for any Interest Period with respect to a LIBO Rate Loan, the rate of interest
per annum, expressed on the basis of a year of 360 days, determined by the Agent at approximately
11:00 a.m. (London, England time), on the date that is 2 Banking Days prior to the commencement
of such Interest Period by reference to the rate set by ICE Benchmark Administration (or any display
substituted therefor or any successor thereto) for deposits in US Dollars (as set forth by any service
selected by the Agent that has been nominated by ICE Benchmark Administration (or any display
substituted therefor or any successor thereto) as an authorized information vendor for the purpose
of displaying such rates) for a period equal to such Interest Period; provided, however, that, to the
extent that an interest rate is not ascertainable pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this definition,
the “LIBO Rate” shall be the interest rate per annum determined by the Agent to be the average of
the rates per annum at which deposits in US Dollars are offered for such relevant Interest Period to
major banks in the London interbank market in London, England by the Agent (or an Affiliate
thereof, if the Agent does not offer such deposits) at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England
time) on the date that is 2 Banking Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period; provided,
however that in no event shall the LIBO Rate be less than zero (0).
“LIBO Rate Loan” means an Advance in, or Conversion into, United States Dollars made by the
Lenders to the Borrower under the Credit Facility, with respect to which the Borrower has specified
that interest is to be calculated by reference to the LIBO Rate, and each Rollover in respect thereof.
“LIBO Suspension Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 12.6(c).
“Liens” means mortgages, charges, pledges, hypothecs, assignments by way of security, conditional
sales or other title retentions, security created under the Bank Act (Canada), liens, encumbrances,
security interests or other interests in Property, howsoever created or arising, whether fixed or
floating, perfected or not, which secure payment or performance of an obligation and, including,
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in any event, (a) rights of set-off created for the purpose of securing (directly or indirectly) any
Funded Debt, and (b) the rights of lessors under Capital Leases and any other lease financing
included as Funded Debt.
“Loan” means a Prime Loan, a USBR Loan, a LIBO Rate Loan, a BA Equivalent Advance, or an
Advance by way of the issuance of Bankers’ Acceptances or a Letter of Credit.
“Loan Documents” means this Agreement, the LC Documents, the Obligor Guarantees, any letter
agreements reflecting agency fee arrangements agreed to between the Agent and the Borrower, any
letter agreements reflecting the Fronting Fee arrangements agreed to between a Fronting Lender
and the Borrower and all other agreements, certificates, notices, instruments and other documents
delivered or to be delivered to the Agent, the Lenders or any of them, in relation to the Credit Facility
pursuant hereto or thereto and, when used in relation to any Person, the term “Loan Documents”
shall mean and refer to the Loan Documents executed and delivered by such Person.
“Material Acquisition” means an Acquisition by a Borrower Group Member (but excluding an
Acquisition from a Borrower Group Member), the cost of which, together with the cost of all such
Acquisitions previously completed in such Fiscal Year which were not included in any previous
Material Acquisition, exceed the Threshold Amount.
“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on:
(a)

the business, financial condition, operations or properties of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis and taken as a whole; or

(b)

the ability of the Borrower Group Members to observe or perform their respective
material obligations under the Loan Documents to which any of them is a party or
the validity or enforceability of the Loan Documents or any material provision
thereof.

“Material Disposition” means a Disposition by any Borrower Group Member of Equity Securities
or other assets (but excluding a Disposition to a Borrower Group Member), the net proceeds of
which, together with all such Dispositions previously completed in such Fiscal Year which were
not included in any previous Material Disposition, exceed the Threshold Amount.
“Maturity Date” means the fourth anniversary of the Effective Date or, if such day is not a Banking
Day, the immediately preceding Banking Day.
“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and its successors.
“New Rules” has the meaning attributed thereto in the definition of “Change in Law”.
“Non-Acceptance Lender” means (a) a Lender which does not accept bankers’ acceptances in the
ordinary course of its business or (b) in respect of Lenders which are not chartered banks or
Schedule III Lenders, a Lender who, by notice in writing to the Agent and the Borrower, elects
thereafter to make BA Equivalent Advances in lieu of accepting Bankers’ Acceptances.
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“Non-Extending Lender” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.6(c).
“Notice of Non-Extension” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.6(c).
“Obligations” means, collectively, all amounts, obligations and liabilities owing by any Obligor
to any or all of the Agent and the Lenders, whether direct or indirect (regardless of whether acquired
by assignment), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, whether liquidated or not, now
existing or hereafter arising and however acquired, and whether or not evidenced by any instrument
or for the payment of money, and arising under, in connection with, or otherwise related to this
Agreement or any other Loan Document and including, without duplication, (a) all Outstandings
owed or guaranteed by any Obligor, and (b) all other fees, expenses (including fees, charges, and
disbursement of counsel), interest, commissions, charges, costs, disbursements, indemnities, and
reimbursement of amounts paid and other sums chargeable to any Obligor under any Loan
Document.
“Obligor Guarantee” means a Guarantee executed and delivered by a Restricted Subsidiary in
favour of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, as the same may be amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, and including any guarantee supplement
delivered in connection therewith.
“Obligors” means, collectively, the Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries that have entered into
an Obligor Guarantee, and “Obligor” means any of them.
“Operating Lender” means RBC.
“Operating Tranche” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.1(a).
“Operating Tranche Commitment” means, in respect of the Operating Lender, its obligation
hereunder to make Loans to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1(a) under the Operating Tranche
in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the amount set forth and
opposite the Operating Lender’s name on Schedule A, or in any Assignment and Assumption, as
such amount may hereafter be increased, decreased, cancelled or terminated from time to time
pursuant to this Agreement.
“OSFI” means the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (or any successor
thereto).
“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or
property taxes, charges or similar levies arising from any payment made hereunder or under any
other Loan Document or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect
to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document.
“Outstanding Principal” means the aggregate, at any time, of:
(a)

the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Prime Loans, USBR Loans,
BA Equivalent Advances, and LIBO Rate Loans;
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(b)

the aggregate face amount of all outstanding Bankers’ Acceptances which have not
been Cash Collateralized; and

(c)

the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit (as determined
in accordance with Section 1.8) which have not been Cash Collateralized.

“Outstandings” means, at any time and from time to time, all of the obligations, indebtedness and
liabilities (present or future, absolute or contingent, matured or not) of any Obligors to the Lenders
or the Agent under, pursuant or relating to the Loan Documents or the Credit Facility and whether
the same are from time to time reduced and thereafter increased or entirely extinguished and
thereafter incurred again and including all principal, interest, fees, legal and other costs, charges
and expenses and other amounts payable by any Obligors under the Loan Documents.
“Overdraft Loans” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).
“Parent” means Kinder Morgan Canada Limited Partnership, and its successors.
“Participant” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.2(d).
“Permitted Contest” means action taken by a Borrower Group Member in good faith by appropriate
proceedings diligently pursued to contest any Taxes, Other Taxes, claims or Liens, provided that:
(a)

such Borrower Group Member has established reasonable reserves therefor if
required in accordance with GAAP; and

(b)

proceeding with such contest will not create a material risk of sale, forfeiture or loss,
or interference with the use of any material Property of such Borrower Group
Member and would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

“Permitted Liens” means, as at any particular time, any of the following on the Property or any
part of the Property of a Borrower Group Member:
(a)

Liens for Taxes, Other Taxes, assessments, customs duties or governmental charges
which are not due and delinquent or, if due or delinquent, the validity of which is
being contested at the time by a Permitted Contest;

(b)

Liens under or pursuant to any judgment rendered, or claim filed, against such
Borrower Group Member, which such Borrower Group Member shall be contesting
at the time by a Permitted Contest or which is adequately covered by insurance;

(c)

Liens imposed or permitted by law, such as undetermined, inchoate or statutory liens
and deemed trusts, carriers’ liens, garagekeepers’ liens, builders’ liens,
warehousemen’s liens, mechanics’ liens, materialmen’s liens, repairmen’s liens and
other liens, privileges or other charges of a similar nature which relate to obligations
which are not due and delinquent or, if due and delinquent, the validity of which is
being contested at the time by a Permitted Contest;
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(d)

Liens in favour of a public utility or any municipality or governmental or other public
authority when required by such utility, municipality or authority in connection with
the operations of such Borrower Group Member, all in the ordinary course of its
business which individually or in the aggregate do not materially detract from the
value of the asset concerned or materially impair its use in the operation of the
business of the Borrower Group Members, taken as a whole;

(e)

Liens securing the performance of bids, tenders, leases, contracts (other than for the
repayment of Funded Debt), statutory obligations, appeal bonds and performance
bonds and other obligations of like nature, incurred as incidental to and in the ordinary
course of business of such Borrower Group Member; provided, however, that all
such Liens only secure sums not at the time overdue or, if overdue, the validity of
which is being contested at the time by a Permitted Contest;

(f)

the Lien or any right of distress reserved in or exercisable under any real property
lease for rent or otherwise to effect compliance with the terms of such lease, in respect
of which the rent or other obligations are not at the time overdue, or if overdue, the
validity of which is being contested at the time by a Permitted Contest;

(g)

easements, rights-of-way, permits, restrictive covenants, encroachments,
protrusions, servitudes, leases, licenses, subleases, sublicenses, zoning, caveats
registered in respect of any of the foregoing or other similar rights or interests in
land held by such Borrower Group Member (including, without in any way limiting
the generality of the foregoing, rights-of-way and servitudes for railways, roadways,
sewers, drains, pipe lines, gas and water mains, electric light and power and
telecommunication, telephone or telegraph or cable television conduits, poles, wires,
cables, meter stations and sub stations) granted to or reserved or taken by other
Persons which individually or in the aggregate do not materially detract from the
value of such land or materially impair its use in the operation of the business of the
Borrower Group Members, taken as a whole;

(h)

Liens consented to in writing by the Required Lenders;

(i)

Liens in favour of a Borrower Group Member;

(j)

Liens resulting from the deposit of cash or obligations as security when a Borrower
Group Member is required to do so by a Governmental Authority or by normal
business practice in connection with contracts, licenses or tenders or similar matters
in the ordinary course of business and for the purpose of carrying on the same, or to
secure workers’ compensation, surety or appeal bonds or to secure costs of litigation
when required by Applicable Law;

(k)

bankers’ liens, rights of set-off and other similar liens existing solely with respect
to cash, term deposits, guaranteed investment certificates, certificates of deposit,
bankers’ acceptances and other debt instruments, in each case, in one or more
accounts maintained by a Borrower Group Member, in each case, granted in the
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ordinary course of business in favour of any Lender with which such accounts are
maintained, securing amounts owing to such Lender with respect to cash
management and operating account arrangements, including those involving pooled
accounts and netting arrangements;
(l)

any lease or sublease granted by a Borrower Group Member in the ordinary course
of business, provided that, any such lease or sublease does not materially adversely
affect the enjoyment by a Borrower Group Member of the assets of such Borrower
Group Member in the conduct of the business of the Borrower Group Members,
taken as a whole;

(m)

title defects or irregularities which are of a minor nature which, in the aggregate, do
not materially affect or impair the use of any material Property of such Borrower
Group Member for the purposes for which it is held by or on behalf of such Borrower
Group Member;

(n)

any Lien whether arising under statute or under contracts for the transportation,
transmission, storage, processing, distribution, gathering, terminalling, trimming,
handling, injection, repressuring or recycling of petroleum substances, hydrogen or
other gases or other products, by products, waste products, consumables, inventory
or water in favour of pipeline owners, other transporters and carriers and other
providers of goods and services, provided that in the case of Liens arising under
contracts, such Lien is limited to the assets that are the subject of the relevant contract
and that the indebtedness and obligations of the applicable Borrower Group Member
thereunder do not constitute Funded Debt;

(o)

Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business (not securing any Funded Debt) in
respect of the rights of any shipper or supplier of inventory or petroleum substances
(including the rights of such shipper or supplier to any inventory or petroleum
substances owned by such shipper or supplier or owned by a Borrower Group
Member but not yet paid for or overdue but that are located on or within any property
or assets of such Borrower Group Member);

(p)

to the extent required by Applicable Law, any Lien (including, for certainty, any
reclamation trust or similar arrangement in connection with any present or future
reclamation, clean-up, abandonment or operational obligations to the extent any such
trust or similar arrangement may constitute a Lien) relating to the present or future
reclamation, clean-up, abandonment or operation of any properties, facilities and
interests and surrounding lands whether or not owned by a Borrower Group Member
and the decommissioning or removal of structures or facilities located on such
properties or facilities;

(q)

any operating lease (as characterized under GAAP as in effect on December 31,
2016) entered into in the ordinary course of business (which, for certainty, shall not
include any leases entered into in connection with any Sale Leaseback);
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(r)

(i) zoning, building, entitlement and other land use regulations by Governmental
Authorities with which the normal operation of the business of such Borrower Group
Member complies, and (ii) any zoning, ordinance or similar law or right reserved to
or vested in any Governmental Authority to control or regulate the use of any real
property that does not materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business
of such Borrower Group Member;

(s)

any right reserved to, or vested in, any applicable Governmental Authority by the
terms of:
(i)

any Applicable Law;

(ii)

any applicable Governmental Authorization; or

(iii)

any property interest, easement, right-of-way, or servitude issued or granted
by Applicable Law or by any applicable Governmental Authorization,

to terminate any such Governmental Authorization, easement, right-of-way or
servitude or to purchase, expropriate, appropriate or recapture, or designate a
purchaser of any property;
(t)

any obligation or duty affecting property to any Governmental Authority with respect
to any Governmental Authorization and any defect in title to structures or other
facilities arising solely from the fact that such structures or other facilities are
constructed or installed on real property held under such Governmental
Authorization, which obligations and duties and defects in the aggregate do not
materially impair the use or enjoyment of such property, structures and facilities for
the purposes for which they are held;

(u)

any Liens granted in respect of:
(i)

cash or Cash Equivalents in respect of Excluded Deposits/Amounts; or

(ii)

any Equity Securities or Equity Securities Equivalents (and cash and other
property on deposit in any Excluded Securities Accounts), in either case, held
in or on deposit in any Excluded Securities Accounts;

(v)

any extension, renewal or replacement (or successive extensions, renewals or
replacements), as a whole or in part, of any Lien referred to in the preceding
subparagraphs (a) to (u) inclusive of this definition, so long as any such extension,
renewal or replacement of such Lien is limited to all or any part of the same Property
that secured the Lien extended, renewed or replaced (plus improvements on such
Property) and the Funded Debt or obligation secured thereby is not increased; and

(w)

Purchase Money Security Interests, Capital Leases and other Liens that are not
permitted under any of the foregoing subparagraphs of this definition and which
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secure obligations that are not otherwise prohibited under this Agreement subject to
compliance with Section 9.3(b);
provided that nothing in this definition shall in and of itself cause the Obligations to be subordinated
in priority of payment of the obligations secured by any such Permitted Lien.
“Permitted Subordinated Loans” means unsecured indebtedness for borrowed money of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries owing to KMI or other Related Parties of KMI (other than the Borrower
and its Subsidiaries) provided:
(a)

such indebtedness is on terms and conditions satisfactory to the Required Lenders,
acting reasonably (including that there shall be no financial test or any restriction
on debt incurrence nor any cross-default or cross-acceleration to any other
indebtedness for borrowed money) (but, for certainty, terms and conditions for such
indebtedness which have been previously approved by the Required Lenders shall
be deemed to be approved for subsequent issuances of indebtedness on substantially
the same terms and conditions (except as to maturity date, interest rate and term));
and

(b)

such indebtedness is fully subordinated to the Obligations pursuant to, and which is
then subject to, a subordination agreement in form and substance to the Required
Lenders, acting reasonably (but, for certainty, the form and substance of a
subordination agreement which has been previously approved by the Required
Lenders shall be deemed to be approved for subsequent subordination agreements).

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, unlimited liability
company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other
entity.
“Platform” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 15.15(a).
“Prime Loan” means an Advance in, or Conversion into, Canadian Dollars made by the Lenders
to the Borrower under the Credit Facility with respect to which the Borrower has specified or a
provision hereof requires that interest is to be calculated by reference to the Prime Rate.
“Prime Rate” means, for any day, the greater of:
(a)

the rate of interest per annum established from time to time by the Agent as the
reference rate of interest in effect at its principal office in Toronto for the
determination of interest rates that the Agent will charge for commercial loans in
Canadian Dollars made in Canada; and

(b)

the rate of interest per annum equal to the average annual yield rate for one month
Canadian Dollar bankers’ acceptances (expressed for such purpose as a yearly rate
per annum in accordance with Section 5.3) which rate is shown on the display
referred to as the “CDOR Page” (or any display substituted therefor) of Reuters
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Monitor Money Rates Service at 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such day or, if such
day is not a Banking Day, on the immediately preceding Banking Day, plus 1.00%
per annum.
“Priority Debt Limit” means 15% of Consolidated Tangible Assets (as determined in Canadian
Dollars).
“Property” means any right or interest in or to property of any kind whatsoever, whether real,
personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible.
“Purchase Money Obligation” means any monetary obligation created or assumed as part of the
purchase price of Property, whether or not secured, provided that any Purchase Money Security
Interest incurred in respect of such obligation shall not extend to any Property other than the Property
acquired in connection with which such obligation was created or assumed and fixed improvements,
if any, erected or constructed thereon and the proceeds thereof.
“Purchase Money Security Interest” means:
(a)

a Lien taken or reserved in Property to secure payment of all or part of its purchase
price or the cost of construction of any improvement thereon; or

(b)

a Lien taken in Property by a Person who gives value for the purpose of enabling
the relevant Obligor to acquire rights in such Property, to the extent that the value
is applied to acquire those rights;

but does not include a Capital Lease or an operating lease.
“RBC” means Royal Bank of Canada.
“Register” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 15.2(c).
“Related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the directors,
officers, employees, agents and trustees of such Person and of such Person’s Affiliates.
“Release” means any release, spill, emission, leak, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge,
dispersal, leaching or migration into the environment including the movement of Hazardous
Materials through ambient air, soil, surface water, ground water, wetlands, land or sub-surface strata.
“Repayment Notice” means a notice substantially in the applicable form annexed hereto as
Schedule D to be given to the Agent by the Borrower.
“Requested Lenders” means those Lenders which are not then Non-Extending Lenders.
“Required Lenders” means (a) if there are one or two Lenders, all Lenders, or (b) if there are more
than two Lenders, (i) if no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, Lenders holding more
than 662/3% of the Total Commitment and (ii) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing,
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Lenders holding more than 662/3% of the Equivalent Amount in Canadian Dollars of the Outstanding
Principal under the Credit Facility.
“Required Permits” means all Governmental Authorizations which are necessary at any given
time:
(a)

in connection with the operation, business or ownership of the Borrower Group
Members’ business; or

(b)

for the Borrower and each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to own and operate its
property, assets, rights and interests or to carry on its business and affairs.

“Restricted Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower which is designated as a Restricted
Subsidiary as at the date hereof or hereafter in accordance with Section 10.1.
“Restricted Subsidiary Debt” means the aggregate Funded Debt of each Restricted Subsidiary
excluding (a) Funded Debt of any Restricted Subsidiary which has provided an Obligor Guarantee
in accordance with Section 10.1(d), (b) Funded Debt under this Agreement, and (c) Funded Debt
owed by a Restricted Subsidiary to the Borrower or another Restricted Subsidiary.
“Rollover” means:
(a)

with respect to any LIBO Rate Loan, the continuation of all or a portion of such
Loan (subject to the provisions hereof) for an additional Interest Period subsequent
to the initial or any subsequent Interest Period applicable thereto;

(b)

with respect to Bankers’ Acceptances, the issuance of new Bankers’ Acceptances or
the making of new BA Equivalent Advances (subject to the provisions hereof) in
respect of all or any portion of Bankers’ Acceptances (or BA Equivalent Advances
made in lieu thereof) maturing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto,
all in accordance with Article 5; and

(c)

with respect to a Letter of Credit, the extension or replacement of such Letter of
Credit, provided that (i) the beneficiary remains the same, (ii) the undrawn face
amount is not increased and (iii) the other principal terms thereof (other than the
expiry date) remain the same.

“Rollover Date” means:
(a)

with respect to any LIBO Rate Loan or Bankers’ Acceptances, the date of
commencement of a new Interest Period applicable to such Loan and which shall
be a Banking Day; and

(b)

with respect to any Letter of Credit, the date of any extension or replacement thereof
which constitutes a Rollover.
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“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc., its Affiliates and their respective
successors.
“Sale Leaseback” means any arrangement with any Person providing for the leasing by any
Borrower Group Member of any Property, which Property has been or is to be sold or transferred
by such Borrower Group Member to such Person in contemplation of such leasing.
“Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country, region or territory which is the subject or
target of any Sanctions.
“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of
designated Persons maintained by any Sanctions Authority, in all cases, to the extent such list and
the maintenance thereof would not violate Applicable Law in Canada (or in the case of Borrower
Group Members who are incorporated or formed, or otherwise carry on business, in the United
States, Applicable Law in the United States).
“Sanctions” means, solely in respect of the business activities of each of the Borrower Group
Members or its respective Subsidiaries, economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed,
administered or enforced from time to time by a Sanctions Authority that are applicable to each
Borrower Group Member or its respective Subsidiaries; provided however that, with respect to
economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced from time
to time by any Sanctions Authority outside of Canada (or in the case of Borrower Group Members
who are resident, or otherwise carry on business, in the United States, the United States), only to
the extent such sanctions or trade embargoes would not violate Applicable Law in Canada (or in
the case of Borrower Group Members who are incorporated or formed, or otherwise carry on
business, in the United States, Applicable Law in the United States).
“Sanctions Authority” means any of: (i) the Canadian government; (ii) the United States
government; (iii) the United Nations Security Council (to the extent it would not violate Applicable
Law in Canada); (iv) the European Union; (v) the United Kingdom; or (vi) the respective
governmental institutions, departments and agencies of any of the foregoing, and “Sanctions
Authorities” means all of the foregoing, collectively.
“Schedule I Lender” means a Lender which is a Canadian chartered bank listed on Schedule I to
the Bank Act (Canada).
“Schedule II Lender” means a Lender which is a Canadian chartered bank listed on Schedule II
to the Bank Act (Canada).
“Schedule III Lender” means a Lender which is an authorized foreign bank listed on Schedule III
to the Bank Act (Canada).
“Securities” means collectively, all Equity Securities, Equity Securities Equivalents, voting trust
certificates, bonds, debentures, instruments and other evidence of Funded Debt, whether or not
secured, convertible or subordinated, all certificates of interest, share or participation in, all
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certificates for the acquisition of, and all warrants, options, and other rights to acquire, any such
securities.
“Spot Rate” means, in relation to the conversion of one currency into another currency, the spot
rate of exchange for such conversion as quoted by the Bank of Canada at the close of business on
the Banking Day that such conversion is to be made (or, if such conversion is to be made before
close of business on such Banking Day, then at the close of business on the immediately preceding
Banking Day), and, in either case, if no such rate is quoted, the spot rate of exchange quoted for
wholesale transactions by the Agent on the Banking Day such conversion is to be made in accordance
with its normal practice.
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to a Person:
(a)

any corporation of which at least a majority of the outstanding Voting Securities
having by the terms thereof ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board
of directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether at the time shares of any
other class or classes of such corporation might have voting power by reason of the
happening of any contingency, unless the contingency has occurred and then only
for as long as it continues) is at the time directly, indirectly or beneficially owned
or controlled by such Person, or one or more of its Subsidiaries, or such Person and
one or more of its Subsidiaries;

(b)

any partnership of which, at the time, such Person, or one or more of its Subsidiaries,
or such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries: (i) directly, indirectly or
beneficially own or control more than 50% of the income, capital, beneficial or
ownership interests (however designated) thereof; and (ii) is a general partner, in the
case of limited partnerships, or is a partner or has authority to bind the partnership,
in all other cases; or

(c)

any other Person of which at least a majority of the income, capital, beneficial or
ownership interests (however designated) are at the time directly, indirectly or
beneficially owned or controlled by such Person, or one or more of its Subsidiaries,
or such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries.

Unless otherwise specified herein, “Subsidiary” refers to a Subsidiary of the Borrower.
“Successor” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 9.2(d).
“Successor Transaction” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 9.2(d).
“Syndicated Lender” means, at any time, any Lender that has a Syndicated Tranche Commitment
or Loan under the Syndicated Tranche at such time.
“Syndicated Tranche” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 2.1(a).
“Syndicated Tranche Commitment” means, in respect of a Lender, its obligation hereunder to
make Loans to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1(a) under the Syndicated Tranche in an aggregate
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principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the amount set forth and opposite such
Lender’s name on Schedule A, or in any Assignment and Assumption, as such amount may hereafter
be increased, decreased, cancelled or terminated from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.
“Takeover” means an offer to acquire (which shall include an offer to purchase securities,
solicitation of an offer to sell securities, an acceptance of an offer to sell securities, whether or not
the offer to sell was solicited, or any combination of the foregoing) outstanding Equity Securities
of any Person (the “Target”) other than (a) a corporation or limited partnership whose Equity
Securities are directly or indirectly held by one Person, or (b) a Person that is a private issuer or not
a reporting issuer under applicable securities legislation and the “take-over bid” is exempt from the
requirements of such legislation) and which constitutes a “take-over bid” pursuant to applicable
securities legislation, including the Canada Business Corporations Act if the Target is governed
thereby.
“Target” has the meaning attributed thereto in the definition of Takeover.
“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada).
“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings
(including backup withholdings), assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental
Authority, and any interest, fines, penalties or additions to taxes with respect to any of the foregoing.
“Threshold Amount” means the greater of (a) Cdn.$50,000,000 (or the Equivalent Amount thereof
in any other currency), and (b) an amount equal to 5.0% of Consolidated Tangible Assets (excluding
therefrom for (and solely for) the purpose of determining the Threshold Amount, cash and Cash
Equivalents then held by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, in the aggregate, in excess of Cdn.
$100,000,000).
“Total Commitment” means the aggregate of the Commitments of each of the Lenders, as increased,
decreased, cancelled or terminated from time to time pursuant to this Agreement, which as of the
date hereof is Cdn.$500,000,000.
“Tranches” means, collectively, the Operating Tranche and the Syndicated Tranche, and “Tranche”
means either of them.
“United States” and “U.S.” mean the United States of America.
“United States Dollars”, “US Dollars” and “US$” means the lawful money of the United States.
“Unreimbursed Amount” has the meaning attributed thereto in Section 6.3(a).
“Unrestricted Subsidiary” means any other Subsidiary of the Borrower that is not a Restricted
Subsidiary.
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“US Base Rate” means, on any day, the greatest of:
(a)

the rate of interest per annum established from time to time by the Agent as the
reference rate of interest in effect at its principal office in Toronto for the
determination of interest rates that the Agent will charge for commercial loans in
United States Dollars made in Canada;

(b)

the rate of interest per annum for such day or, if such day is not a Banking Day, on
the immediately preceding Banking Day, equal to the sum of the Federal Funds Rate
(expressed for such purpose as a yearly rate per annum in accordance with
Section 4.9), plus 0.50% per annum; and

(c)

the LIBO Rate on such day for one month LIBO Rate Loans plus 1.00%.

“USBR Loan” means an Advance in, or Conversion into, United States Dollars made by the Lenders
under the Credit Facility to the Borrower with respect to which the Borrower has specified or a
provision hereof requires that interest is to be calculated by reference to the US Base Rate.
“Voting Securities” means:
(a)

shares of any class of any corporation or other Equity Securities of any other Person
which carries voting rights to elect the board of directors (or other persons performing
similar functions) under any circumstances; and

(b)

an interest in a general partnership, limited partnership, trust, limited liability
company, joint venture or similar Person which entitles the holder of such interest
to receive a share of the profits, or on dissolution or partition, of the assets, of such
Person.

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means, with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority,
the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under
the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion
powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.
1.2

Headings; Articles and Sections

The division of this Agreement into Articles and Sections, the table of contents contained
herein and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the
construction or interpretation of this Agreement. The terms “this Agreement”, “hereof”, “hereunder”
and similar expressions refer to this Agreement and not to any particular Article, Section or other
portion hereof and include any agreement supplemental hereto. Unless something in the subject
matter or context is inconsistent therewith, references herein to Articles and Sections are to Articles
and Sections of this Agreement.
1.3

Number; persons; including; successors; in writing
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Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa, words
importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa, words
importing persons shall include individuals, partnerships, associations, trusts, unincorporated
organizations and corporations and vice versa and words and terms denoting inclusiveness (such
as “include” or “includes” or “including”), whether or not so stated, are not limited by their context
or by the words or phrases which precede or succeed them. References herein to any Person shall,
unless the context otherwise requires, include such Person’s successors and assigns permitted under
the Loan Documents. References herein to “in writing” or “written” includes printing, typewriting
or any electronic means of communication capable of being visibly reproduced at the point of
reception, including facsimile.
1.4

Accounting Principles

Wherever in this Agreement reference is made to “generally accepted accounting principles”
or “GAAP”, such reference shall be deemed to be to the recommendations at the relevant time of
the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or any successor organization, applicable on a
consolidated basis (unless otherwise specifically provided or contemplated herein to be applicable
on an unconsolidated basis) as at the date on which such calculation is made or required to be made
in accordance with such principles. Where the character or amount of any asset or liability or item
of revenue or expense or amount of equity or unitholder equity is required to be determined, or any
consolidation or other accounting computation is required to be made for the purpose of this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, such determination or calculation shall, to the extent
applicable and except as otherwise specified herein or as otherwise agreed in writing by the parties,
be made in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis.
1.5

Changes in Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(a)

If the Borrower, the Agent or the Required Lenders determine at any time that any
financial calculation or other amount calculated based on references to amounts in
financial statements required to be determined hereunder would be materially
different if such amount were determined in accordance with:
(i)

GAAP intended to be applied by the Borrower, KMCL or the Parent in respect
of its Financial Statements on the date hereof (“Old GAAP”), instead of

(ii)

GAAP subsequently in effect and applied by the Borrower, KMCL or the
Parent in respect of its Financial Statements and utilized for purposes of
determining such amount,

then written notice of such determination shall be delivered by the Borrower to the
Agent, in the case of a determination by the Borrower, KMCL or the Parent, or by
the Agent to the Borrower, in the case of a determination by the Agent or the Required
Lenders.
(b)

If the Borrower, KMCL or the Parent adopts a change in an accounting policy in the
preparation of its Financial Statements in order to conform to accounting
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recommendations, guidelines, or similar pronouncements, or legislative
requirements, and such change would require disclosure thereof under Old GAAP,
or would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect (i) the rights of,
or the protections afforded to, the Agent or the Required Lenders hereunder or (ii) the
position either of the Borrower or of the Agent or the Required Lenders hereunder,
the Borrower shall so notify the Agent, describing the nature of the change and its
effect on the current and immediately prior year’s Financial Statements in accordance
with Old GAAP and in detail sufficient for the Agent and the Required Lenders to
make the determination required of them in the following sentence. If any of the
Borrower, the Agent or the Required Lenders determine at any time that such change
in accounting policy results in a material adverse change either (i) in the rights of,
or protections afforded to, the Agent or the Required Lenders intended to be derived,
or provided for, hereunder or (ii) in the position either of the Borrower or of the
Agent and the Required Lenders hereunder, written notice of such determination
shall be delivered by the Borrower to the Agent, in the case of a determination by
the Borrower, or by the Agent to the Borrower, in the case of a determination by the
Agent or the Required Lenders.
(c)

Upon the delivery of a written notice pursuant to Section 1.5(a) or Section 1.5(b)
the Borrower and the Agent on behalf of the Required Lenders shall meet to consider
the impact of such change in Old GAAP or such change in accounting policy (in
each case, an “Accounting Change”), as the case may be, on the rights of, or
protections afforded to, the Agent and the Required Lenders or on the position of
the Borrower or of the Agent and the Required Lenders and shall in good faith
negotiate to execute and deliver an amendment or amendments to this Agreement
in order to preserve and protect the intended rights of, or protections afforded to, the
Borrower or the Agent and the Required Lenders (as the case may be) on the date
hereof or the position of the Borrower or the Agent and the Required Lenders (as
the case may be); provided that, until this Agreement has been amended in accordance
with the foregoing, then for all purposes hereof, the applicable changes from
Old GAAP or in accounting policy (as the case may be) shall be disregarded
hereunder and any amount required to be determined hereunder shall, nevertheless,
continue to be determined under Old GAAP and the Borrower’s, KMCL’s or the
Parent’s as the case may be, prior accounting policy. If the Borrower and the Agent
on behalf of the Required Lenders do not (for any reason whatsoever) mutually agree
(in their respective sole discretions, without any obligation to so agree) on such
amendment or amendments to this Agreement within 60 days following the date of
delivery of such written notice, the Borrower, KMCL or the Parent as the case may
be, shall either continue to provide financial statements in accordance with
Old GAAP or provide all such financial information as is reasonably required (or
requested by the Agent acting reasonably) in order for any amount required to be
determined hereunder to be determined in accordance with Old GAAP and/or such
prior accounting policy and, for all purposes hereof, the applicable changes from
Old GAAP or in accounting policy (as the case may be) shall be disregarded
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hereunder and any amount required to be determined hereunder shall, nevertheless,
continue to be determined under Old GAAP and/or such prior accounting policy.
(d)

1.6

If a Compliance Certificate is delivered in respect of a Fiscal Quarter or Fiscal Year
in which an Accounting Change is implemented without giving effect to any revised
method of calculating any financial calculation hereunder, and subsequently, as
provided above, the method of calculating such financial calculation is revised in
response to such Accounting Change, or the amount to be determined pursuant to
such financial calculation is to be determined without giving effect to such
Accounting Change, the Borrower shall deliver a revised Compliance Certificate.
Any Event of Default which arises as a result of the Accounting Change and which
is cured by this Section 1.5 shall be deemed never to have occurred.

References to Documents and Applicable Law

Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, (a) references to organizational documents,
agreements (including the Loan Documents) and instruments, licences or other documents shall be
deemed to include all subsequent amendments, restatements, amendment, and restatements,
extensions, supplements, modifications, replacements, refinancings, renewals, or increases thereof,
but only to the extent that such amendments, restatements, amendment, and restatements, extensions,
supplements, modifications, replacements, refinancings, renewals, or increases are not prohibited
by the Loan Documents and (b) references to any Applicable Law shall include all statutory and
regulatory provisions consolidating, amending, replacing, supplementing, or interpreting such
Applicable Laws.
1.7

1.8

Per Annum and Currency Calculations
(a)

Unless otherwise stated, wherever in this Agreement reference is made to a rate “per
annum” or a similar expression is used, such rate shall be calculated on the basis of
a calendar year of 365 or 366 days, as applicable.

(b)

Unless otherwise specified herein, all references to currency shall be deemed to refer
to Cdn. Dollars and, for the purposes of all monetary thresholds in Article 7,
Article 8, Article 9, Article 10 and Article 11 (including the definitions used therein),
all references to an amount in Cdn. Dollars shall be deemed to include the Equivalent
Amount in US Dollars or any other applicable currency.

Letter of Credit Amounts

Unless otherwise specified herein, the amount of a Letter of Credit at any time shall be
deemed to be the stated undrawn amount of such Letter of Credit in effect at such time; provided,
however, that with respect to any Letter of Credit that, by its terms or the terms of any ancillary
document related thereto, provides for one or more automatic increases in the stated amount thereof,
the amount of such Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be the maximum stated amount of such
Letter of Credit after giving effect to all such increases, whether or not such maximum stated amount
is in effect at such time.
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1.9

Schedules

The following are the Schedules annexed hereto and incorporated by reference and deemed
to be part hereof:
Schedule A
Schedule B
Schedule C
Schedule D
Schedule E
Schedule F
Schedule G

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Lenders And Commitments
Form of Assignment and Assumption
Form of Compliance Certificate
Form of Conversion / Rollover / Repayment Notice
Form of Discount Note
Form of Drawdown Notice
Existing Letters of Credit

Each reference to a Schedule herein shall be deemed to refer to such schedule as it is updated
from time to time as required hereunder.
ARTICLE 2
CREDIT FACILITY
2.1

Credit Facility
(a)

(b)

Establishment of Credit Facility. Subject to this Agreement, the Lenders hereby
agree to establish in favour of the Borrower a revolving credit facility (such facility,
the “Credit Facility”) to be made available in accordance with this Agreement until
the Maturity Date. The Credit Facility shall be available in two tranches as follows:
(i) the Commitment of the Operating Lender of up to Cdn.$25,000,000, (the
“Operating Tranche”); and (ii) aggregate Commitments of the Syndicated Lenders
of up to Cdn.$475,000,000, (the “Syndicated Tranche”), provided that:
(i)

the obligation of each Lender to make Advances under a Tranche shall be
several and shall be limited to each such Lender’s Commitment in respect
of such Tranche, and

(ii)

subject to Section 7.3, at no time shall: (A) the Equivalent Amount in
Cdn. Dollars of the Outstanding Principal under the Operating Tranche
exceed the Operating Tranche Commitment; or (B) the Equivalent Amount
in Cdn. Dollars of the Outstanding Principal under the Syndicated Tranche
exceed the aggregate of all Syndicated Tranche Commitments.

Availability and Purpose. The Credit Facility shall, subject to this Agreement, be
available by way of multiple Drawdowns on and after the Effective Date on a
revolving basis prior to the Maturity Date, and the Borrower may borrow, repay and
reborrow Cdn. Dollars or US Dollars, may issue, repay and re-issue Bankers’
Acceptances or BA Equivalent Advances and may obtain, cancel and re-obtain
Letters of Credit thereunder, provided that each Drawdown shall be used for general
corporate purposes of the Borrower Group Members.
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(c)

Increase in Commitments. The Borrower may at any time and from time to time
add additional financial institutions hereunder as Syndicated Lenders or, with the
consent of a Syndicated Lender, increase its Syndicated Tranche Commitment, and
in each case, thereby increase the Total Commitment provided that at the time of
any such addition:
(i)

no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would
reasonably be expected to result therefrom;

(ii)

all increases to the Syndicated Tranche as a result of the application of this
Section 2.1(c) or otherwise, shall not at any time exceed Cdn.$250,000,000;

(iii)

the Agent and each Fronting Lender has consented to such financial
institution becoming a Syndicated Lender or, in the case of an existing
Syndicated Lender, increasing its Syndicated Tranche Commitment, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld;

(iv)

the Syndicated Tranche Commitment of a new financial institution being
added as a Lender pursuant to this Section 2.1(c) shall be no less than Cdn.
$10,000,000;

(v)

if, in connection with any such increase a commitment or similar fee is paid
to any new Lender based on its new Syndicated Tranche Commitment (the
“new money fee”), then the Borrower will also pay a corresponding fee equal
to the same number of bps to the then existing Lenders based on their
respective then existing Syndicated Tranche Commitments to the extent such
a fee was not already paid on or after the Effective Date;

(vi)

concurrently with the addition of a financial institution as an additional
Syndicated Lender or the increase of a Lender’s Syndicated Tranche
Commitment, such financial institution or Syndicated Lender, as the case
may be, shall purchase from each other Syndicated Lender, such portion of
the Outstandings under the Credit Facility owed to each Syndicated Lender
as is necessary to ensure that the Outstandings under the Syndicated Tranche
owed to all Syndicated Lenders and including therein such additional
financial institution and the increased Syndicated Tranche Commitment of
any Syndicated Lender, are in accordance with the Applicable Percentage of
all such Syndicated Lenders (including any new financial institution and the
increased Syndicated Tranche Commitment of any Syndicated Lender) and
such financial institution shall execute such documentation as is required by
the Agent, acting reasonably, to novate such financial institution as a
Syndicated Lender hereunder; provided that with respect to any portion of
such Outstandings which are outstanding by way of Bankers’ Acceptance or
LIBO Rate Loans, the new financial institution or such Syndicated Lender
shall provide an indemnity to the other Syndicated Lenders (provided that
no such indemnity may exceed two months in duration unless agreed to by
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all of the affected Syndicated Lenders) in order to ensure such Bankers’
Acceptances and LIBO Rate Loans are outstanding in accordance with the
new Applicable Percentages of all Syndicated Lenders; and
(vii)

2.2

the Borrower has provided to the Agent a certified copy of a directors’
resolution of the Borrower and each other Obligor authorizing any such
increase in the Syndicated Tranche Commitments (which may be the original
directors’ resolutions authorizing the Credit Facility hereunder) together with
a legal opinion from Borrower’s Counsel with respect thereto in substantially
the same form, mutatis mutandis, as the opinion delivered pursuant to Section
3.1(e).

Availments; Overdraft Loans
(a)

Advances under the Credit Facility (except as indicated otherwise below) shall be
made by way of:
(i)

Prime Loans;

(ii)

USBR Loans;

(iii)

Bankers’ Acceptances (and BA Equivalent Advances in accordance with
Section 5.9);

(iv)

LIBO Rate Loans; and

(v)

Letters of Credit,

provided that, subject to Section 7.3, at no time shall the Equivalent Amount in Cdn. Dollars
of the Outstanding Principal under (i) the Credit Facility exceed the Total Commitment, or
(ii) a Tranche exceed the aggregate Commitments of the Lenders under such Tranche.
(b)

2.3

In addition to the foregoing, overdrafts arising from clearance of cheques or drafts
drawn on the Canadian Dollar accounts and United States Dollar accounts of the
Borrower maintained with the Operating Lender, and designated by the Operating
Lender for such purpose, shall be deemed to be outstanding as Prime Loans and
USBR Loans, respectively, under the Operating Tranche (each, an “Overdraft
Loan”) and all references to Prime Loans and USBR Loans (as applicable) shall
include Overdraft Loans. For certainty, notwithstanding Section 2.3 or 2.5, no
Drawdown Notice or Repayment Notice need be delivered by the Borrower in respect
of Overdraft Loans and no Conversions of Overdraft Loans shall be permitted
hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other term of this Agreement,
Overdraft Loans shall not be available under the Operating Tranche until the
Borrower has opened the requisite bank accounts with the Operating Lender
necessary to give effect to Overdraft Loans hereunder.

Drawdowns – Notices and Limitations
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The Borrower may request Drawdowns upon the following terms and conditions:
(a)

(b)

(c)
2.4

the Borrower may request a Drawdown as follows:
(i)

in the case of a Prime Loan or a USBR Loan under the Syndicated Tranche,
by delivering a Drawdown Notice to the Agent before 12:00 noon (Toronto
time) at least 1 Banking Day prior to the requested Drawdown Date;

(ii)

in the case of a Prime Loan or a USBR Loan under the Operating Tranche,
by delivering a Drawdown Notice to the Agent on or before 12:00 noon
(Toronto time) on the requested Drawdown Date;

(iii)

in the case of a Bankers’Acceptance or BA Equivalent Advance, by delivering
a Drawdown Notice to the Agent before 12:00 noon (Toronto time) at least
2 Banking Days prior to the requested Drawdown Date;

(iv)

in the case of a LIBO Rate Loan, by delivering a Drawdown Notice to the
Agent before 12:00 noon (Toronto time) at least 3 Banking Days prior to the
requested Drawdown Date; and

(v)

in the case of a Letter of Credit, by complying with Section 6.2;

each Drawdown by the Borrower under the Credit Facility shall be requested and
made available in minimum amounts of not less than:
(i)

in the case of a Prime Loan or USBR Loan under the Syndicated Tranche,
Cdn.$ or US$1,000,000 and, for certainty, no minimum amounts shall apply
to Prime Loans or USBR Loans under the Operating Tranche or to Overdraft
Loans;

(ii)

in the case of a LIBO Rate Loan, US$1,000,000;

(iii)

in the case of Bankers’ Acceptances or BA Equivalent Advances, Cdn.
$1,000,000 and in multiples of Cdn.$100,000 thereafter; and

(iv)

in the case of a Letter of Credit, no minimum amount applies;

Drawdowns will only be made available if all applicable conditions precedent in
Article 3 are or will be satisfied on or before the requested Drawdown Date.

Rollovers and Conversions - Notices and Limitations
(a)

General Provisions. The Borrower may request Rollovers and Conversions upon
the following terms and conditions:
(i)

the Borrower may request a Rollover or Conversion by delivering a
Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice with the same prior notice period
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that would apply if it were obtaining a Drawdown of the relevant type of
Loan resulting from such Rollover or Conversion;
(ii)

the Borrower may request a Rollover or Conversion of part only of a Loan,
provided that:
(A)

each Loan resulting from such Rollover or Conversion is not less than
the relevant Drawdown minimum specified in Section 2.3(b);

(B)

any portion of an existing LIBO Rate Loan or Bankers’ Acceptances
which is not rolled over or converted shall be repaid in accordance
with the provisions hereof; and

(C)

the Borrower may not convert a portion only of an outstanding Loan
unless both the unconverted portion and converted portion of such
Loan are equal to or exceed, in the relevant currency of each such
portion, the minimum amounts required for Drawdowns of Loans of
the same type as that portion as set forth in Section 2.3(b);

(iii)

in respect of Conversions of a Loan denominated in one currency to a Loan
denominated in another currency, the Borrower shall at the time of the
Conversion repay the Loan or portion thereof being converted in the currency
in which it was denominated and each applicable Lender may make a further
Advance to the Borrower in the other currency;

(iv)

a Rollover or Conversion shall not result in an increase in Outstanding
Principal as increases in Outstanding Principal may only be effected by
Drawdowns;

(v)

a Rollover or Conversion of a LIBO Rate Loan may occur only on the last
day of the relevant Interest Period for such LIBO Rate Loan (unless the
Borrower pays the breakage costs to the applicable Lenders in accordance
with Section 7.4(a));

(vi)

no Rollover of or Conversion into a LIBO Rate Loan, Bankers’ Acceptance
or Letter of Credit may occur if a Default or Event of Default is then in
existence;

(vii)

a Rollover or Conversion of a Bankers Acceptance may occur only on the
maturity date for such Bankers’ Acceptance; and

(viii) the Loan resulting as a consequence of Rollover or Conversion shall be under
the same Tranche as the applicable initial Loan which is the subject of such
Rollover or Conversion.
(b)

LIBO Rate Loans. In anticipation of the expiry of each Interest Period for each
LIBO Rate Loan the Borrower shall do one or a combination of the following:
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(i)

request a Rollover of all or part of such LIBO Rate Loan in accordance with
Section 2.4(a);

(ii)

request a Conversion of all or part of such LIBO Rate Loan in accordance
with Section 2.4(a); or

(iii)

repay all or part of such LIBO Rate Loan before 12:00 noon (Toronto time)
on the last day of such Interest Period with notice in accordance with Section
7.2.

If and to the extent that the Borrower fails to so notify the Agent, or to so pay the
relevant LIBO Rate Loan in accordance with the foregoing, the Borrower, in the
case of a LIBO Rate Loan, shall be deemed to have requested a Conversion into a
USBR Loan, in each case in an amount equal to that portion of the LIBO Rate Loan
which is not rolled over, converted or repaid.
(c)

Bankers’ Acceptances. In anticipation of the maturity of any Bankers’ Acceptances,
the Borrower shall, subject to and in accordance with the requirements hereof, do
one or a combination of the following with respect to the aggregate face amount at
maturity of all such Bankers’ Acceptances:
(i)

(A) request a Rollover of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances in accordance
with Section 2.4(a), and (B) on the maturity date of the maturing Bankers’
Acceptances, pay to the Agent for the account of the applicable Lenders any
amount that the Borrower is required to pay under Section 5.6;

(ii)

(A) request a Conversion of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances to another
type of Loan in accordance with Section 2.4(a), and (B) on the maturity date
of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances pay to the Agent for the account of
the applicable Lenders an amount equal to the aggregate face amount of such
Bankers’ Acceptances; or

(iii)

on the maturity date of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances, pay to the Agent
for the account of the applicable Lenders an amount equal to the aggregate
face amount of such Bankers’ Acceptances with notice in accordance with
Section 7.2

If and to the extent that the Borrower fails to notify the Agent or pay the relevant
Bankers’ Acceptances in accordance with the foregoing, the Borrower shall be
deemed to have requested a Conversion into a Prime Loan in an amount equal to
that portion of the Bankers’ Acceptances which is not rolled over, converted or repaid.
2.5

Optional Reduction of Commitments
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At any time, and from time to time, the Borrower may, at its option, permanently reduce the
Commitments under the Credit Facility by cancelling all or any part of the undrawn portion of the
Credit Facility, provided that:

2.6

(i)

the Borrower shall provide the Agent with at least 3 Banking Days’ prior
written notice of any such cancellation (or such shorter period as the Agent
may agree);

(ii)

each such cancellation shall be a minimum of Cdn.$5,000,000 and in whole
multiples of Cdn.$1,000,000 thereafter;

(iii)

any such cancellation shall be allocated among the applicable Lenders based
on their respective Applicable Percentages under the applicable Tranche at
the time of cancellation; and

(iv)

any cancellation notice shall be irrevocable.

Extension
(a)

In this Section:
(i)

“Extension Request” means a written request by the Borrower to the
Requested Lenders to extend the Maturity Date, which request shall include
an officer’s certificate of the Borrower certifying that no Default or Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing; and

(ii)

“Requested Lenders” means those Lenders which are not then NonExtending Lenders.

(b)

The Borrower may, once in each calendar year, request the Requested Lenders to
extend the Maturity Date applicable to such Lenders by delivering to the Agent an
executed Extension Request, provided that the term of the Credit Facility may at no
time exceed 4 years from the proposed effective date of such extension as such
proposed effective date is set forth in the relevant Extension Request.

(c)

Upon receipt of an executed Extension Request, the Agent shall promptly deliver to
each Requested Lender a copy of such request, and each Requested Lender shall,
within 30 days after receipt of the Extension Request by the Agent, provide to the
Agent either (a) written notice that such Requested Lender (each, an “Extending
Lender”) agrees, subject to Section 2.6(d) below, to the extension of the current
Maturity Date pursuant to Section 2.6(b) or (b) written notice (each, a “Notice of
Non-Extension”) that such Requested Lender (each, a “Non-Extending Lender”)
does not agree to such requested extension; provided that, if any Requested Lender
shall fail to so notify the Agent, then such Requested Lender shall be deemed to have
delivered a Notice of Non-Extension and shall be deemed to be a Non-Extending
Lender. The determination of each Lender whether or not to extend the Maturity
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Date applicable to it shall be made by each individual Lender in its sole discretion.
The Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower if any such Lender advises (or is
deemed to advise) that it will not agree to extend the applicable Maturity Date.
(d)

If all of the Lenders are Extending Lenders, the Maturity Date shall be extended in
accordance with the Extension Request for each of the Extending Lenders. If the
Extending Lenders do not have at least 50% of the Total Commitments, the Maturity
Date shall not be extended for any of the Requested Lenders. If the Extending Lenders
have at least 50% of the Total Commitment but less than 100% thereof, then within
5 Banking Days of receiving notice from the Agent pursuant to the last sentence of
Section 2.6(c), the Borrower may advise the Agent in writing that it has elected: (i)
not to proceed with such Extension Request, in which case the Maturity Date shall
not be extended for any of the Requested Lenders; or (ii) to proceed with such
Extension Request in respect of the Extending Lenders only. For certainty, the
Maturity Date for a Non-Extending Lender shall not be extended, regardless of
whether or not the Maturity Date is extended for the Extending Lenders as aforesaid.

(e)

This Section 2.6 shall apply from time to time to facilitate successive extensions and
requests for extension of the Maturity Date. If a Default or Event of Default exists,
the Maturity Date shall not be extended, notwithstanding any other provision hereof
to the contrary, for an Extending Lender unless (a) such Extending Lender has waived
such Default or Event of Default in writing and (b) the Required Lenders have waived
such Default or Event of Default in writing.

(f)

With respect to each Non-Extending Lender:
(i)

the Borrower may require each Non-Extending Lender to assign all of its
rights, benefits and interests under the Loan Documents, its Commitment
and its Applicable Percentage of all Loans and other Obligations outstanding
under the Credit Facility (collectively, the “Assigned Interests”) to (A) any
Extending Lenders which have agreed to increase their Commitments and
purchase Assigned Interests, and (B) to the extent the Assigned Interests are
not transferred to Extending Lenders, financial institutions selected by the
Borrower and consented to by the Agent and each LC Issuer, such consents
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Such assignments
shall be effective upon execution of assignment documentation satisfactory
to the applicable Non-Extending Lender, the assignee, the Borrower and the
Agent (each acting reasonably), upon payment to the applicable NonExtending Lender (in immediately available funds) by the applicable
assignee of an amount equal to its Applicable Percentage of all Obligations
being assigned and all accrued but unpaid interest and fees hereunder in
respect of those portions of the Loans and Commitments being assigned,
upon payment by the applicable assignee to the Agent (for the Agent’s own
account) of the transfer fee contemplated in Section 15.2, and upon provision
satisfactory to the applicable Non-Extending Lender (acting reasonably)
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being made for (i) payment at maturity of outstanding Bankers’ Acceptances
accepted by it and (ii) any costs, losses, premiums or expenses incurred by
such Non-Extending Lender by reason of the liquidation or re-deployment
of deposits or other funds in respect of LIBO Rate Loans outstanding
hereunder. Upon such assignment and transfer, the Non-Extending Lender
in question shall have no further right, interest, benefit or obligation in respect
of the Credit Facility and the assignee thereof shall succeed to the position
of such Lender as if the same was an original party hereto in the place and
stead of such Non-Extending Lender and shall be deemed to be an Extending
Lender; for such purpose, to the extent that the assignee is not already a party
hereto, the assignee shall execute and deliver an Assignment and Assumption
and such other documentation as may be reasonably required by the Agent
and the Borrower to confirm their agreement to be bound by the provisions
hereof and to give effect to the foregoing; and
(ii)

2.7

to the extent that any Non-Extending Lender has not assigned its rights and
interests to an Extending Lender or other financial institution as provided in
subparagraph (i) above, the Borrower may, provided that no Default or Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing but otherwise notwithstanding any
other provision hereof, repay the Non-Extending Lender’s Applicable
Percentage of all Loans outstanding under the Credit Facility, together with
all accrued but unpaid interest and fees thereon with respect to its
Commitment, without making corresponding repayment to the Extending
Lenders, upon which the Borrower shall cancel such Non-Extending
Lender’s Commitment; upon completion of the foregoing, such NonExtending Lender shall have no further right, interest, benefit or obligation
in respect of the Credit Facility and the Credit Facility shall be reduced by
the amount of such Lender’s cancelled Commitment.

Several Obligations of Lenders

No Lender shall be responsible for the Commitments of any other Lenders. The failure of
a Lender to make available its share of any Advance in accordance with this Agreement shall not
release any other Lender from its obligations hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in this Agreement, no Lender shall be obligated to make Advances under the Credit Facility (based
on the Equivalent Amount thereof in Cdn. Dollars) in excess of its Commitment thereunder. The
obligation of each Lender to make its Commitment available to the Borrower under the Credit
Facility is a separate obligation between that Lender and the Borrower and such obligation is not
the joint or the joint and several obligation of any other Lender.
2.8

Loans - General
(a)

Making of Loans. Loans shall be made in such currency and at the time and in the
manner requested by the Borrower, subject to this Agreement and upon fulfilment
of all conditions precedent to the making of such Loans.
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2.9

(b)

Banking Day. No Loans shall be made except on a Banking Day.

(c)

Time of Advances. All Advances by the Lenders hereunder shall be made to the
Agent at the Agent’s Branch in immediately available freely transferable funds in
the applicable currency by no later than 3:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the relevant
Drawdown Date. All payments by the Borrower hereunder shall be made to the Agent
at the Agent’s Branch in immediately freely transferable funds by no later than
12:00 noon (Toronto time) on the relevant Drawdown Date. The Borrower shall open
and maintain the Borrower’s Accounts for the purpose of receiving Advances and
making payments, repayments and prepayments under this Agreement.

(d)

Books of Account. The Agent shall open and maintain books of account evidencing
all Advances and all other amounts owing by the Borrower to the Lenders hereunder.
The Agent shall enter in the foregoing books of account details of all applicable
amounts from time to time owing, paid or repaid by the Borrower hereunder. The
information entered in the foregoing books of account shall constitute prima facie
evidence of the Outstandings owing from time to time by the Borrower to the Agent
and the Lenders hereunder, absent manifest error.

Loans: Inter-Lender Arrangements
(a)

Agent Notification. Upon receipt by the Agent of a Drawdown Notice or
Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice from the Borrower, the Agent shall
promptly advise each applicable Lender of the date, amount and other particulars
with respect to such Drawdown, Conversion or Rollover and the amount of each
Lender’s Applicable Percentage thereof.

(b)

Payment of Funds. Subject to prior satisfaction of the applicable conditions
precedent set forth in Article 3, each applicable Lender shall remit its Applicable
Percentage of each requested Advance to the Agent’s Accounts on the relevant
Drawdown Date, Rollover Date or Conversion Date for same day value. Subject to
Section 14.11, the Agent shall make such funds available to the Borrower by crediting
the Borrower’s Accounts for same day value on the relevant Drawdown Date,
Rollover Date or Conversion Date.
ARTICLE 3
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

3.1

Conditions to Effectiveness

As conditions precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement and to the initial Drawdown
hereunder (and notwithstanding the date of execution of this Agreement), the following conditions
shall be satisfied:
(a)

Loan Documents. The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received (as applicable):
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(i)

this Agreement, duly executed and delivered by an Authorized Officer of
each of the Borrower; and

(ii)

if so elected by the Borrower, an Obligor Guarantee from each applicable
Restricted Subsidiary.

(b)

Financial Information. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements
of KMCL for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018 appended as Appendix C to
the Kinder Morgan Canada Limited management information circular dated July 27,
2018 shall continue to present fairly the pro forma information set out therein on the
date hereof, and an Authorized Officer of the Borrower shall have certified the same
to the Agent.

(c)

Closing Certificates. The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received, in form and
substance satisfactory to the Agent, acting reasonably, a certificate of each Obligor,
certified by an Authorized Officer of such Obligor, (or in the case of a Obligor that
is a partnership, certified on behalf of such Obligor by an Authorized Officer of a
general partner of such partnership), dated on or after the date hereof (but in any
event prior to the Effective Date), including:

(d)

(i)

the certificate and articles of formation, organization, incorporation, or
amalgamation (or similar) as applicable, of such Obligor (together with all
amendments thereto);

(ii)

the by-laws (or similar) for each Obligor as in effect on the date on which
the resolutions referred to below were adopted;

(iii)

in the case of a Obligor that is a partnership, the partnership agreement
providing for the organization of such partnership;

(iv)

each unanimous shareholders’ agreement or declaration of sole shareholder
binding upon such Obligor, if any;

(v)

resolutions of the governing body of each Obligor (or in the case of a
partnership, of its general partner), approving the execution, delivery and
performance of each Loan Document to which it is a party, and of all
documents evidencing other necessary corporate action; and

(vi)

a certification that the names and signatures of the officers of each Obligor
(or in the case of a partnership, of its general partner), authorized to sign each
Loan Document to which it is or is to be a party and other documents to be
delivered hereunder and thereunder are true and correct.

Good Standing Certificates. The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received a
certificate of status or good standing certificate (or equivalent) for each Obligor,
from its jurisdiction of organization.
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(e)

Legal Opinions. The Agent shall have received legal opinions from Borrower’s
Counsel and Lenders’ Counsel, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent,
acting reasonably.

(f)

Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties in Article 8
and in any other Loan Documents shall be true, complete and correct in all material
respects as of the date hereof (provided that any such representations and warranties
which are already qualified by materiality, material adverse effect or similar language
shall be true and correct in all respects), and the Agent shall have received an officer’s
certificate from an Authorized Officer of the Borrower certifying same.

(g)

No Material Adverse Effect. Since December 31, 2017, no Material Adverse Effect
shall have occurred and be continuing in respect of the business of the Borrower
Group Members, (for certainty and for the purpose of this Section 3.1(g), excluding
the sale of the Trans Mountain pipeline system and all matters ancillary thereto) and
the Agent shall have received an officer’s certificate from an Authorized Officer of
the Borrower certifying same.

(h)

No Default or Event of Default. No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred
and be continuing, and the Agent shall have received an officer’s certificate from an
Authorized Officer of the Borrower certifying same.

(i)

Sale of Trans Mountain Pipeline. On or prior to the Effective Date, the sale of the
units of Trans Mountain Pipeline LP and the shares of Trans Mountain Pipeline ULC
to the Government of Canada or an agent thereof shall have been completed.

(j)

Corporate Structure. The organizational structure of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries on the date hereof and after giving effect to the sale described in Section
3.1(i) above shall be as previously disclosed by the Borrower to the Agent.

(k)

Debt Rating. The Debt Rating from each of S&P and DBRS shall be an Investment
Grade Rating.

(l)

Repayment of Existing Credit Agreement. Concurrently with the initial
Drawdown hereunder: (i) subject to Section 6.1(f), all indebtedness and obligations
under the Existing Credit Agreement (other than in respect of the Existing Letters
of Credit) shall be irrevocably and unconditionally repaid in full and the Existing
Credit Agreement and any guarantees and security documents related thereto, shall
have been released and terminated and all Liens related thereof shall have been
discharged or arrangement for the discharge of such Liens shall have been made to
the satisfaction of the Agent, acting reasonably.

(m)

Lien Searches. The Agent (or its counsel) shall have received results of a recent lien
search in each of the jurisdictions where the Borrower Group Members are organized
and assets of the Borrower Group Members are located, and such search shall reveal
no Liens on any of the assets of the Borrower Group Members except for Permitted
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Liens or, active Liens released and discharged on or prior to the Effective Date
pursuant to documentation satisfactory to the Agent, acting reasonably.
(n)

3.2

Fees and Expenses. All fees required to be paid on the Effective Date and reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses required to be paid on the Effective Date, to the extent such
expenses are invoiced at least 2 Banking Days prior to the Effective Date (or such
shorter period as is otherwise reasonably agreed by the Borrower) shall have been
paid (which amounts may, at the option of the Borrower, be offset against the proceeds
of the Credit Facility).

Conditions for All Drawdowns
On each Drawdown Date hereunder, the following conditions shall be satisfied:

3.3

(a)

the Agent shall have received a proper and timely Drawdown Notice from the
Borrower requesting the applicable Drawdown;

(b)

the representations and warranties set forth in Article 8 (excluding those
representations and warranties which are expressly made as of a specific date only)
shall be true and accurate in all material respects (provided that any such
representations and warranties which are already qualified by materiality, material
adverse effect or similar language shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as
of the date of the requested Drawdown; and

(c)

no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing nor shall the
Drawdown result in the occurrence of any such event.

Waiver

The conditions set forth in Sections 3.1 and 3.2, are inserted for the sole benefit of the
Lenders and the Agent and may be waived by all of the Lenders, in whole or in part (with or without
terms or conditions) without prejudicing the right of the Lenders or Agent at any time to assert such
waived conditions in respect of any subsequent Drawdown. For certainty, upon the initial Drawdown
hereunder, the conditions set forth in Section 3.1 shall be deemed to have satisfied as of the date of
such Drawdown, unless expressly conditioned by the Agent in writing.
ARTICLE 4
PAYMENTS OF INTEREST AND FEES
4.1

Interest on Prime Loans

The Borrower shall pay interest to the Agent on behalf of each Lender on each Prime Loan
outstanding from time to time at a rate per annum equal to the Prime Rate in effect from time to
time plus the Applicable Margin. Such interest shall accrue daily and shall be payable monthly in
arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan for the period from and including the Drawdown
Date or the preceding Conversion Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, for such Loan
to and including the day preceding such Interest Payment Date and shall be calculated on the principal
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amount of the Prime Loan outstanding during such period and on the basis of the actual number of
days elapsed in a year of 365 days. Changes in the Prime Rate shall cause an immediate adjustment
of the interest rate applicable to such Loans without the necessity of any notice to the Borrower.
4.2

Interest on USBR Loans

The Borrower shall pay interest in US Dollars on each USBR Loan to the Agent on behalf
of each Lender outstanding from time to time at a rate per annum equal to the US Base Rate in
effect from time to time plus the Applicable Margin. Such interest shall accrue daily and shall be
payable monthly in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan for the period from and
including the Drawdown Date or the preceding Conversion Date or Interest Payment Date, as the
case may be, for such Loan to and including the day preceding such Interest Payment Date and shall
be calculated on the principal amount of the USBR Loan outstanding during such period and on
the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a year of 365 days. Changes in the US Base Rate
shall cause an immediate adjustment of the interest rate applicable to such Loans without the
necessity of any notice to the Borrower.
4.3

Interest on LIBO Rate Loans

The Borrower shall pay interest to the Agent on behalf of each Lender on each LIBO Rate
Loan outstanding during each Interest Period applicable thereto at a rate per annum, calculated on
the basis of a 360 day year, equal to the LIBO Rate with respect to such Interest Period plus the
Applicable Margin. Such interest shall accrue daily and shall be payable in arrears on each Interest
Payment Date for such Loan for the period from and including the Drawdown Date or the preceding
Rollover Date, Conversion Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, for such Loan to and
including the day preceding such Interest Payment Date and shall be calculated on the principal
amount of the LIBO Rate Loan outstanding during such period and on the basis of the actual number
of days elapsed divided by 360.
4.4

Acceptance Fees

Upon the acceptance by a Lender of a Bankers’ Acceptance, the Borrower shall pay to the
Agent for the account of such Lender an acceptance fee in Cdn. Dollars equal to the Applicable
Margin calculated on the principal amount at maturity of such Bankers’ Acceptance and for the
period of time from and including the date of acceptance to but excluding the maturity date of such
Bankers’ Acceptance and calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a year of
365 days.
4.5

LC and Related Fees
(a)

LC Fee. The Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the account of the applicable
Lenders, pro rata in accordance with the amount of each Lender’s Commitment
under the applicable Tranche, a Letter of Credit issuance fee (the “LC Fee”) for each
Letter of Credit issued at the request of the Borrower calculated at a rate per 365 or
366 day period, as applicable, equal to the Applicable Margin multiplied by the daily
maximum amount then available to be drawn under such Letter of Credit (whether
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or not such maximum amount is then in effect under such Letter of Credit if such
maximum amount increases periodically pursuant to the terms of such Letter of
Credit); provided, however, that any LC Fees otherwise payable for the account of
a Defaulting Lender with respect to any Letter of Credit as to which such Defaulting
Lender has not provided Cash Collateral satisfactory to the applicable Fronting
Lender pursuant to Section 15.11(d) shall be payable, to the maximum extent
permitted by Applicable Law, to the other Lenders in accordance with the upward
adjustments in their respective Applicable Percentages allocable to such Letter of
Credit pursuant to Section 15.11(d), with the balance of such fee, if any, payable to
the applicable Fronting Lender for its own account. The LC Fee shall be payable
quarterly in arrears on the fifth Banking Day of each Fiscal Quarter following the
issuance of the relevant Letter of Credit and upon termination or cancellation of the
Total Commitment and following receipt of a written notice from the Agent setting
out the amount of such fee.

4.6

(b)

Fronting Fee. In addition to the above fees, in respect of any Fronted Letter of
Credit, the Borrower shall pay directly to the applicable Fronting Lender for its own
account a Fronting Fee calculated at a rate per 365 or 366 day period, as applicable,
equal to the rate to be agreed upon in writing by the Borrower and the applicable
Fronting Lender, which shall be computed on the daily amount available to be drawn
under such Fronted Letter of Credit and paid on a quarterly basis in arrears. Such
Fronting Fee shall be due and payable on the third Banking Day of each April, July,
October and January in respect of the immediately preceding Fiscal Quarter (or
portion thereof, in the case of the first payment) and following receipt of a written
notice from the Agent setting out the amount of such fee, commencing with the first
such date to occur after the issuance of such Fronted Letter of Credit. For purposes
of computing the daily amount available to be drawn under any Fronted Letter of
Credit, the amount of such Fronted Letter of Credit shall be determined in accordance
with Section 1.8.

(c)

Other Fees. In addition to the above fees, the Borrower shall pay directly to the
applicable LC Issuer for its own account the customary issuance, presentation,
amendment and other processing fees, and other standard costs and charges, of the
applicable LC Issuer relating to letters of credit as from time to time in effect. Such
customary fees and standard costs and charges are due and payable within 3 Banking
Days of demand and are non-refundable, except as otherwise agreed by the applicable
LC Issuer.

Standby Fees

From and after the Effective Date, the Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the account of
each Lender a standby fee in Cdn. Dollars calculated at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable
Margin (based on a year of 365 or 366 days, as applicable) on the amount, if any, for each day by
which the amount of the Outstanding Principal owing to such Lender under the Credit Facility is
less than the Commitment of such Lender. Fees determined in accordance with this Section 4.6
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shall accrue daily from the first day of each Fiscal Quarter until the last day of each Fiscal Quarter
and be payable quarterly in arrears on the third Banking Day of each Fiscal Quarter and following
receipt of a written notice from the Agent setting out the amount of such fee, until the earlier of
(i) cancellation in full of the undrawn portion of the Credit Facility and (ii) the Maturity Date. In
order to calculate the daily Outstanding Principal under this Section 4.6 for any day in a Fiscal
Quarter, the Agent shall convert any outstanding Loans denominated in US Dollars into the
Equivalent Amount thereof in Canadian Dollars.
4.7

Default Interest

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, if at any time an Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, the Borrower shall pay interest on the principal amount of all Outstandings
hereunder (including but not limited to Letters of Credit) at a fluctuating interest rate per annum at
all times equal to the Default Rate to the fullest extent not prohibited by Applicable Law. Accrued
and unpaid interest on past due amounts (including interest on past due interest) shall be due and
payable upon demand.
4.8

Agent’s Fees

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent, for its own account, all agency fees payable from time
to time pursuant to the separate written agreement between such parties as may be mutually agreed
by the Borrower and the Agent at such time. Any unpaid agency fees shall be deemed to form part
of the Outstandings.
4.9

General Interest Provisions
(a)

Rates. Each determination by the Agent of the Prime Rate, US Base Rate,
CDOR Rate or LIBO Rate in effect at any time shall be prima facie evidence thereof
for all purposes of this Agreement, absent manifest error.

(b)

Accuracy of Rates. Each determination by the Agent of the amount of interest, fees
or other amounts due from the Borrower hereunder shall be prima facie evidence of
the accuracy of such determination, absent manifest error.

(c)

Accrual. All interest, fees and other amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder
shall accrue daily, be computed as described herein, and be payable both before and
after demand, maturity, default and judgment.

(d)

Waivers. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the covenant of the Borrower
to pay interest at the rates provided herein shall not merge in any judgment relating
to any obligation of the Borrower to the Lenders or the Agent and any provision of
the Interest Act (Canada) or Judgment Interest Act (Alberta) which restricts any rate
of interest set forth herein shall be inapplicable to this Agreement and is hereby
waived by the Borrower.
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(e)

Maximum Rate. No interest or fee to be paid hereunder shall be paid at a rate
exceeding the maximum rate permitted by Applicable Law. In the event that such
interest or fee exceeds such maximum rate, such interest or fees shall be reduced or
refunded, as the case may be, so as to be payable at the highest rate recoverable
under Applicable Law.

(f)

Interest Act (Canada).

(g)

4.10

(i)

Whenever a rate of interest or other rate per annum hereunder is calculated
on the basis of a year (the “deemed year”) which contains fewer days than
the actual number of days in the calendar year of calculation, such rate of
interest shall be expressed as a yearly rate for purposes of the Interest Act
(Canada) by multiplying such rate of interest by the actual number of days
in the calendar year of calculation and dividing it by the number of days in
the deemed year.

(ii)

Whenever a rate of interest or other rate per annum hereunder is expressed
or calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days, such rate of interest or other
rate shall be expressed as a rate per annum, calculated on the basis of a 365
day year, by multiplying such rate of interest or other rate by 365 and dividing
it by 360.

(iii)

The Borrower confirms that it fully understands and is able to calculate the
rates of interest applicable to the Credit Facility based on the methodology
for calculating per annum rates provided for in this Agreement. The Borrower
hereby irrevocably agrees not to plead or assert, whether by way of defence
or otherwise, in any proceeding relating to the Loan Documents, that the
interest payable under the Loan Documents and the calculation thereof has
not been adequately disclosed to the Borrower and the other Obligors,
whether pursuant to section 4 of the Interest Act (Canada) or any other
Applicable Law or legal principle.

No Deemed Reinvestment. The principle of deemed reinvestment of interest shall
not apply to any interest calculation under this Agreement; all interest payments to
be made hereunder shall be paid without allowance or deduction for deemed
reinvestment or otherwise, before and after maturity, default and judgment. The rates
of interest specified in this Agreement are intended to be nominal rates and not
effective rates. Interest calculated hereunder shall be calculated using the nominal
rate method and not the effective rate method of calculation.

Defaulting Lender Fees

Each Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive any fees payable under this Article 4 for
any period during which such Lender is a Defaulting Lender only to the extent allocable to the
Loans funded by it. With respect to any fees not required to be paid to any Defaulting Lender
pursuant to the preceding sentence, the Borrower shall pay to each Lender that is not a Defaulting
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Lender that portion of any such fee otherwise payable to such Defaulting Lender with respect to
such Defaulting Lender’s participation in the Loans that has been reallocated to the other Lenders
as provided for in Section 15.11(b) or Section 15.11(d).
4.11

Margin Changes; Adjustments for Margin Charges; Notice of Debt Rating Changes
(a)

(b)

Changes in Applicable Margin shall be effective:
(i)

on the Banking Day immediately following any change in the relevant Debt
Rating (or when there ceases to be a Debt Rating, if applicable) which results
in a change in the Applicable Margin in accordance with the definition
thereof; and

(ii)

without the necessity of notice to the Borrower.

For any Loans outstanding as of the effective date of a change in an Applicable
Margin:
(i)

in the case of increases in such rates per annum, the Borrower shall pay to
the Agent for the account of the Lenders such additional interest or fees, as
the case may be, as may be required to give effect to the relevant increases
in the interest or fees payable on or in respect of such Loans from and as of
the effective date of the relevant increase in rates; and

(ii)

in the case of decreases in such rates per annum, the Borrower shall receive
a credit against subsequent interest payable on Loans, Bankers’ Acceptance
fees or LC Fees, as the case may be, to the extent necessary to give effect to
the relevant decreases in the interest or fees payable on or in respect of such
Loans from and as of the effective date of the relevant decrease in rates.

(c)

The additional payments required by Section 4.11(b)(i) shall be made on the last
Banking Day of the calendar month immediately following the calendar month in
which the changes in Applicable Margin are effective. The adjustments required by
Section 4.11(b)(ii) shall be accounted for in successive interest and fee payments by
the Borrower until the amount of the credit therein contemplated has been fully
applied; provided that, upon satisfaction in full of all Obligations and cancellation
of the Credit Facility in accordance herewith, the Lenders shall pay to the Borrower
an amount equal to any such credit which remains outstanding.

(d)

The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees to give notice to the Agent of any change
in the Debt Rating or if there ceases to be a Debt Rating, promptly upon becoming
aware of such change. For certainty, the change in Applicable Margin shall, subject
to Section 4.11(a)(i), be effective from the date of the change in the Debt Rating
regardless of the date notice thereof is given by the Borrower to the Agent.
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ARTICLE 5
BANKERS’ ACCEPTANCES
5.1

Form and Execution of Bankers’ Acceptances
The following provisions shall apply to each Bankers’ Acceptance under the Credit Facility:
(a)

the face amount at maturity of each draft drawn by the Borrower to be accepted as
a Bankers’ Acceptance shall be at least in the amounts set out in Section 2.3(b)(iii);

(b)

the term to maturity of each draft drawn by the Borrower to be accepted as a Bankers’
Acceptance shall, subject to market availability as determined by the Lenders, be 1,
2, 3 or 6 months (or such other longer or shorter term as agreed by all of the applicable
Lenders), as selected by the Borrower in the relevant Drawdown Notice or
Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice, and each Bankers’ Acceptance shall be
payable and mature on the last day of the Interest Period selected by the Borrower
for such Bankers’ Acceptance;

(c)

each draft drawn by the Borrower and presented for acceptance by a Lender shall
be drawn on the standard form of such Lender in effect at the time; provided, however,
that the Agent may require the Lenders to use a generic form of Bankers’ Acceptance,
in a form satisfactory to each Lender, acting reasonably, provided by the Agent for
such purpose in place of such Lenders’ own forms;

(d)

subject to Section 5.1(e), Bankers’ Acceptances shall be signed by Authorized
Officers of the Borrower or, in the alternative, the signatures of such officers may
be mechanically reproduced in facsimile thereon and Bankers’ Acceptances bearing
such facsimile signatures shall be binding on the Borrower as if they had been
manually executed and delivered by such officers on behalf of the Borrower;
notwithstanding that any person whose manual or facsimile signature appears on
any Bankers’ Acceptance may no longer be an authorized signatory for the Borrower
on the date of issuance of a Bankers’ Acceptance, such signature shall nevertheless
be valid and sufficient for all purposes as if such authority had remained in force at
the time of such issuance and any such Bankers’ Acceptance shall be binding on the
Borrower; and

(e)

in lieu of the Borrower signing Bankers’ Acceptances in accordance with
Section 5.1(d) and, for so long as the power of attorney in Section 5.2(a) is in force
with respect to a given Lender, such Lender shall execute and deliver Bankers’
Acceptances on behalf of the Borrower in accordance with the provisions thereof
and, for certainty, all references herein to drafts drawn by the Borrower, Bankers’
Acceptances executed by the Borrower or similar expressions shall be deemed to
include Bankers’ Acceptances executed in accordance with such power of attorney,
unless the context otherwise requires.
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If and for so long as the power of attorney referred to in Section 5.2(a) is in force with respect
to each of the Lenders, it is intended that pursuant to the DBNA, all Bankers’ Acceptances accepted
by the Lenders under this Agreement will be issued in the form of a “depository bill” (as defined
in the DBNA), deposited with a “clearing house” (as defined in the DBNA including The Canadian
Depository for Securities Ltd. or its nominee CDS & Co.). In order to give effect to the foregoing,
the Agent will, subject to the approval of the Borrower and the Lenders, establish and notify the
Borrower and the Lenders of any additional procedures, consistent with the terms of this Agreement
and the DBNA, as are reasonably necessary to accomplish such intention, including:

5.2

(a)

any instrument held by the Agent for the purposes of Bankers’ Acceptances will have
marked prominently and legibly on its face and within its text, at or before the time
of issue, the words “This is a depository bill subject to the Depository Bills and Notes
Act (Canada)”;

(b)

any reference to the authentication of the Bankers’ Acceptance will be removed; and

(c)

any reference to the “bearer” will be removed and such Bankers’ Acceptances will
not be marked with any words prohibiting negotiation, transfer or assignment of it
or of an interest in it.

Power of Attorney; Provision of Bankers’ Acceptances to Lenders
(a)

Power of Attorney. As a condition precedent to each Lender’s obligation to accept
Bankers’ Acceptances hereunder, the Borrower hereby appoints each Lender, acting
by any authorized signatory of the Lender in question, the attorney of the Borrower:
(i)

to sign for and on behalf and in the name of the Borrower as drawer, drafts
in such Lender’s standard form which are depository bills as defined in the
DBNA, payable to a “clearing house” (as defined in the DBNA) including
The Canadian Depository For Securities Limited or its nominee, CDS & Co.
(the “clearing house”);

(ii)

for drafts which are not depository bills, to sign for and on behalf and in the
name of the Borrower as drawer and to endorse on its behalf, Bankers’
Acceptances drawn on the Lender payable to the order of the undersigned
or payable to the order of such Lender;

(iii)

for Discount Notes, to sign for and on behalf and in the name of the Borrower
as drawer and to endorse on its behalf Discount Notes payable to the order
of such Lender;

(iv)

to fill in the amount, date and maturity date of such Bankers’ Acceptances
(or Discount Notes as applicable); and
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(v)

to deposit and/or deliver such Bankers’ Acceptances which have been
accepted by such Lender or such Discount Notes which are payable to the
order of such Lender,

provided that such acts in each case are to be undertaken by the Lender in question
strictly in accordance with instructions given to such Lender by the Borrower as
provided in this Section. For certainty, signatures of any authorized signatory of a
Lender may be mechanically reproduced in facsimile on Bankers’ Acceptances (or
Discount Notes as applicable) in accordance herewith and such facsimile signatures
shall be binding and effective as if they had been manually executed by such
authorized signatory of such Lender.
Instructions from the Borrower to a Lender relating to the execution, completion,
endorsement, discount, deposit and/or delivery by that Lender on behalf of the
Borrower of Bankers’ Acceptances (or Discount Notes as applicable) which the
Borrower wishes to submit to such Lender for acceptance by such Lender shall be
communicated by the Borrower in writing to the Agent by delivery to the Agent of
Drawdown Notices and Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notices, as the case may
be, in accordance with this Agreement which, in turn, shall be communicated by the
Agent, on behalf of the Borrower, to the Lender.
The communication in writing by the Borrower, or on behalf of the Borrower by the
Agent, to a Lender of the instructions set out in the Drawdown Notices and
Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notices referred to above shall constitute (a) the
authorization and instruction of the Borrower to such Lender to sign for and on behalf
and in the name of the Borrower as drawer the requested Bankers’ Acceptances (or
Discount Notes as applicable) and to complete and/or endorse Bankers’ Acceptances
(or Discount Notes as applicable) in accordance with such information as set out
above and (b) the request of the Borrower to such Lender to accept such Bankers’
Acceptances and deposit the same with the clearing house or deliver the same, as
the case may be, in each case in accordance with this Agreement and such
instructions. The Borrower acknowledges that a Lender shall not be obligated to
accept any such Bankers’ Acceptances except in accordance with the provisions of
this Agreement.
A Lender shall be and it is hereby authorized to act on behalf of the Borrower upon
and in compliance with instructions communicated to that Lender as provided herein
if such Lender reasonably believes such instructions to be genuine. If a Lender
accepts Bankers’ Acceptances pursuant to any such instructions, that Lender shall
confirm particulars of such instructions and advise the Agent that it has complied
therewith by notice in writing addressed to the Agent and served personally or sent
by facsimile in accordance with the provisions hereof. A Lender’s actions in
compliance with such instructions, and (if applicable) confirmed and advised to the
Agent by such notice, shall be conclusively deemed to have been in accordance with
the instructions of the Borrower.

Exhibit 10.1
64

This power of attorney may be revoked by the Borrower with respect to any particular
Lender at any time upon not less than 3 Banking Days’ prior written notice served
upon the Lender in question and the Agent, provided that no such revocation shall
reduce, limit or otherwise affect the obligations of the Borrower in respect of any
Bankers’ Acceptance (or Discount Note as applicable) executed, completed,
endorsed, deposited and/or delivered in accordance herewith prior to the time at
which such revocation becomes effective.

5.3

(b)

Blank Drafts. If the power of attorney in Section 5.2(a) is revoked with respect to
any Lender, the Borrower shall, from time to time as required by the Lenders, provide
to the Agent for delivery to each such Lender drafts drawn in blank by the Borrower
(pre-endorsed and otherwise in fully negotiable form, if applicable) in quantities
sufficient for each such Lender to fulfil its obligations hereunder. Any such presigned drafts which are delivered by the Borrower to the Agent or a Lender shall be
held in safekeeping by the Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, with the same
degree of care as if they were the Agent’s or such Lender’s property, and shall only
be dealt with by the Lenders and the Agent in accordance herewith. No Lender shall
be responsible or liable for its failure to make its share of any Drawdown, Rollover
or Conversion of Bankers’Acceptances required hereunder if the cause of such failure
is, in whole or in part, due to the failure of the Borrower to provide such pre-signed
drafts to the Agent (for delivery to such Lender) on a timely basis.

(c)

Execution of Drafts. By 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on the applicable Drawdown
Date, Conversion Date or Rollover Date, the Borrower shall (i) either deliver to each
applicable Lender, or, if previously delivered, be deemed to have authorized each
applicable Lender to complete and accept, or (ii) where the power of attorney in
Section 5.2(a) is in force with respect to a Lender, be deemed to have authorized
each such Lender to sign on behalf of the Borrower, complete and accept, drafts
drawn by the Borrower on such Lender in a principal amount at maturity equal to
such Lender’s share of the Bankers’ Acceptances specified by the Borrower in the
relevant Drawdown Notice or Conversion/Rollover/Repayment, as the case may be,
as notified to the applicable Lenders by the Agent.

Mechanics of Issuance
(a)

Terms of Bankers’ Acceptance. Upon receipt by the Agent of a Drawdown Notice
or Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice from the Borrower requesting the
issuance of Bankers’ Acceptances under the applicable Tranche, the Agent shall
promptly notify the applicable Lenders thereof and advise each applicable Lender
of the aggregate face amount of Bankers’ Acceptances to be accepted by such Lender,
the date of issue, the Interest Period for such Loan and, whether such Bankers’
Acceptances are to be self-marketed by the Borrower or purchased by such Lender
for its own account; the apportionment among such Lenders of the face amounts of
Bankers’ Acceptances to be accepted by each Lender shall be determined by the
Agent by reference and in proportion to the respective applicable Commitments
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under the applicable Tranche of each Lender; provided that, when such
apportionment cannot be evenly made, the Agent shall round allocations amongst
such Lenders consistent with the Agent’s normal money market practices.
(b)

(c)

Marketing by Borrower. Unless the Borrower has elected pursuant to
Section 5.3(c) to have each applicable Lender purchase for its own account the
Bankers’ Acceptances to be accepted by it in respect of any Drawdown, Rollover or
Conversion under the Credit Facility, on each Drawdown Date, Rollover Date or
Conversion Date involving the issuance of Bankers’ Acceptances:
(i)

the Borrower shall obtain quotations from prospective purchasers regarding
the sale of the Bankers’ Acceptances and shall accept such offers in its sole
discretion;

(ii)

by no later than 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such date, the Borrower shall
provide the Agent with details regarding the sale of the Bankers’ Acceptances
described in (i) above whereupon the Agent shall promptly notify the
applicable Lenders of the identity of the purchasers of such Bankers’
Acceptances, the amounts being purchased by such purchasers, the
BA Discount Proceeds and the acceptance fees applicable to such issue of
Bankers’ Acceptances pursuant to Section 4.4 (including each applicable
Lender’s share thereof);

(iii)

each applicable Lender shall complete and accept in accordance with the
Drawdown Notice or Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice delivered by
the Borrower and, if applicable, advised by the Agent in connection with
such issue, its share of the Bankers’ Acceptances to be issued on such date;
and

(iv)

in the case of a Drawdown, each applicable Lender shall, on receipt of the
BA Discount Proceeds, remit the BA Discount Proceeds (net of the
acceptance fee payable to such Lender pursuant to Section 4.4) to the Agent
for the account of the Borrower; the Agent shall make such funds available
to the Borrower for same day value on such date.

Purchase by Schedule I Lenders. The Borrower may, with respect to the issuance
of Bankers’ Acceptances under the applicable Tranche, elect in the Drawdown Notice
or Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice, as the case may be, delivered in respect
of such issuance to have the applicable Lenders purchase such Bankers’ Acceptances
for their own account. On each such Drawdown Date, Rollover Date or Conversion
Date involving the issuance of Bankers’ Acceptances being so purchased by the
applicable Lenders:
(i)

on or about 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such date, the Agent shall determine
the CDOR Rate and shall obtain quotations from each BA Reference Lender
of the Discount Rate then applicable to bankers’ acceptances accepted by
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such BA Reference Lender in respect of an issue of bankers’ acceptances in
a comparable amount and with comparable maturity to the Bankers’
Acceptances proposed to be issued on such date;

(d)

5.4

(ii)

on or about 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such date, the Agent shall determine
the BA Discount Rate applicable to each applicable Lender and shall advise
each Lender of the BA Discount Rate applicable to it;

(iii)

each relevant Lender shall complete and accept, in accordance with the
Drawdown Notice or Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice delivered by
the Borrower and (if applicable) advised by the Agent in connection with
such issue, its share of the Bankers’ Acceptances to be issued on such date
and shall purchase such Bankers’ Acceptances for its own account at a
purchase price which reflects the BA Discount Rate applicable to such issue;
and

(iv)

in the case of a Drawdown, each applicable Lender shall, for same day value
on the Drawdown Date, remit the BA Discount Proceeds or advance the
BA Equivalent Advance, as the case may be, payable by such Lender (net of
the acceptance fee payable to such Lender pursuant to Section 4.4) to the
Agent for the account of the Borrower; the Agent shall make such funds
available to the Borrower for same day value on such date.

Lenders’ Rights. Each Lender may at any time and from time to time hold, sell,
rediscount or otherwise dispose of any or all Bankers’ Acceptances accepted and
purchased by it for its own account.

Rollover, Conversion or Payment on Maturity

In anticipation of the maturity of Bankers’ Acceptances, the Borrower shall, subject to and
in accordance with the requirements hereof, do one or a combination of the following with respect
to the aggregate face amount at maturity of all such Bankers’ Acceptances:
(a)

(i) deliver to the Agent a Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice that the Borrower
intends to draw and present for acceptance on the maturity date new Bankers’
Acceptances in an aggregate face amount up to the aggregate amount of the maturing
Bankers’ Acceptances and (ii) make the payments required under Section 5.6;

(b)

(i) deliver to the Agent a Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice requesting a
Conversion of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances to another type of Loan and (ii)
make the payments required under Section 5.7; or

(c)

on the maturity date of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances, pay to the Agent for the
account of the applicable Lenders an amount equal to the aggregate face amount of
such Bankers’ Acceptances.
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If the Borrower fails to so notify the Agent or make such payments on maturity, the Agent
shall effect a Conversion into a Prime Loan of the entire amount of such maturing Bankers’
Acceptances as if a Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice had been given by the Borrower to the
Agent to that effect.
5.5

Restriction on Rollovers and Conversions

Subject to the other provisions hereof, Conversions and Rollovers of Bankers’ Acceptances
may only occur on the maturity date thereof.
5.6

Rollovers

In order to satisfy the continuing liability of the Borrower to a Lender for the face amount
of maturing Bankers’ Acceptances accepted by such Lender, such Lender shall receive and retain
for its own account the BA Discount Proceeds of new Bankers’ Acceptances issued on a Rollover,
and the Borrower shall on the maturity date of the Bankers’ Acceptances being rolled over pay to
the Agent for the account of the applicable Lenders an amount equal to the difference between the
face amount of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances and the BA Discount Proceeds from the new
Bankers’ Acceptances, together with the acceptance fees to which the applicable Lenders are entitled
pursuant to Section 4.4.
5.7

Conversion into Bankers’ Acceptances

In respect of Conversions into Bankers’ Acceptances, in order to satisfy the continuing
liability of the Borrower to the applicable Lenders for the amount of the converted Loan, each
applicable Lender shall receive and retain for its own account the BA Discount Proceeds of the
Bankers’ Acceptances issued upon such Conversion, and the Borrower shall on the Conversion Date
pay to the Agent for the account of the applicable Lenders an amount equal to the difference between
the principal amount of the converted Loan and the aggregate BA Discount Proceeds from the
Bankers’ Acceptances issued on such Conversion, together with the acceptance fees to which the
relevant Lenders are entitled pursuant to Section 4.4.
5.8

Conversion from Bankers’ Acceptances

In order to satisfy the continuing liability of the Borrower to the applicable Lenders for an
amount equal to the aggregate face amount of the maturing Bankers’ Acceptances converted to
another type of Loan, the Agent shall record the obligation of the Borrower to the applicable Lenders
as a Loan of the type into which such continuing liability has been converted.
5.9

BA Equivalent Advances

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 5, a Non-Acceptance Lender shall,
in lieu of accepting Bankers’ Acceptances, make a BA Equivalent Advance. The amount of each
BA Equivalent Advance shall be equal to the BA Discount Proceeds which would be realized from
a hypothetical sale of those Bankers’ Acceptances which, but for this Section 5.9, such Lender would
otherwise be required to accept as part of such a Drawdown, Conversion or Rollover of Bankers’
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Acceptances. To determine the amount of such BA Discount Proceeds, the hypothetical sale shall
be deemed to take place at the BA Discount Rate for such Loan. Any BA Equivalent Advance shall
be made on the relevant Drawdown Date, Rollover Date or Conversion Date as the case may be
and shall remain outstanding for the term of the relevant Bankers’ Acceptances. Concurrent with
the making of a BA Equivalent Advance, a Non-Acceptance Lender shall be entitled to deduct
therefrom an amount equal to the acceptance fee which, but for this Section 5.9, such Lender would
otherwise be entitled to receive as part of such Loan. Subject to Section 5.4, upon the maturity date
for such Bankers’ Acceptances, the Borrower shall pay to each Non-Acceptance Lender an amount
equal to the face amount at maturity of the Bankers’ Acceptances which, but for this Section, such
Lender would otherwise be required to accept as part of such a Drawdown, Conversion or Rollover
of Bankers’ Acceptances as repayment of the amount of its BA Equivalent Advance; for all purposes
of this Agreement, the principal amount of each Loan made by way of BA Equivalent Advance
shall be deemed to be such face amount. All BA Equivalent Advances made by a Non-Acceptance
Lender shall, if requested by such Lender, be evidenced by a Discount Note.
All references herein to “Loans” and “Bankers’ Acceptances” shall, unless otherwise
expressly provided herein or unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include
BA Equivalent Advances made by a Non-Acceptance Lender as part of a Drawdown, Conversion
or Rollover of Bankers’ Acceptances.
5.10

Termination of Bankers’ Acceptances

If at any time a Lender ceases to accept bankers’ acceptances in the ordinary course of its
business, such Lender shall be deemed to be a Non-Acceptance Lender and shall make
BA Equivalent Advances in lieu of accepting Bankers’ Acceptances under this Agreement.
5.11

Borrower Acknowledgements

In the event that the Borrower is marketing its own Bankers’ Acceptances in accordance
with Section 5.3(b), the Borrower hereby agrees that it shall make its own arrangements for the
marketing and sale of such Bankers’ Acceptances to be issued hereunder and that neither the Agent
nor the Lenders shall have any obligation nor be responsible in that regard. The Borrower further
acknowledges and agrees that the availability of purchasers for such Bankers’ Acceptances requested
to be issued hereunder, as well as all risks relating to the purchasers thereof, are its own risk.
ARTICLE 6
LETTERS OF CREDIT
6.1

Letter of Credit Commitment
(a)

Letters of Credit. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each LC
Issuer agrees, in reliance upon the agreements of the other Lenders set forth in this
Section 6.1, to issue Letters of Credit denominated in US Dollars or in Canadian
Dollars under the for the account of the Borrower; provided that, in the case of any
Fronted Letter of Credit, the Syndicated Lenders severally agree to participate in
such Fronted Letters of Credit issued for the account of such Obligor; and further
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provided that, the amount of Letters of Credit outstanding at any one time, as
calculated in accordance with Section 1.8, shall not exceed: (i) Cdn.$25,000,000
under the Operating Tranche and (ii) Cdn.$75,000,000 under the Syndicated Tranche.
On the Closing Date, the Existing Letters of Credit shall be continued hereunder as
Fronted Letters of Credit issued under the Syndicated Tranche and shall thereafter
be deemed to be issued and outstanding hereunder.
(b)

Restrictions on Issuance. No LC Issuer shall be under any obligation to issue any
Letter of Credit if:
(i)

any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator
shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain the applicable LC Issuer from
issuing such Letter of Credit, or any Applicable Law applicable to the
applicable LC Issuer or any request or directive (whether or not having the
force of law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the
applicable LC Issuer shall prohibit, or request that the applicable LC Issuer
refrain from, the issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit
in particular or shall impose upon the applicable LC Issuer with respect to
such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which
the applicable LC Issuer is not otherwise compensated hereunder) not in
effect on the date hereof, or shall impose upon the applicable LC Issuer any
unreimbursed loss, cost or expense which was not applicable on the date
hereof and which, in each case, the applicable LC Issuer in good faith deems
material to it;

(ii)

subject to Section 6.2(c), the expiry date of such requested Letter of Credit
would occur more than 12 months (or 364 days in the case of trade Letters
of Credit) after the date of issuance or last renewal, unless the applicable LC
Issuer has approved such expiry date;

(iii)

the expiry date of such requested Letter of Credit would occur after the
Maturity Date, unless such Letter of Credit is Cash Collateralized pursuant
to arrangements reasonably acceptable to the applicable LC Issuer;

(iv)

the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies of
the applicable LC Issuer in place at the time of such request; or

(v)

in the case of any Fronted Letter of Credit, any Lender is at that time a
Defaulting Lender, unless the applicable Fronting Lender has entered into
arrangements, including reallocation of the Defaulting Lender’s Applicable
Percentage share of the outstanding LC Obligations applicable pursuant to
Section 15.11(d) or the delivery of Cash Collateral, satisfactory to the
applicable Fronting Lender (in its sole discretion), with the Borrower or such
Defaulting Lender to eliminate the applicable Fronting Lender’s actual or
potential Fronting Exposure (after giving effect to Section 15.11(d)) with
respect to such Defaulting Lender arising from either the Letter of Credit
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then proposed to be issued or that Letter of Credit and all other LC Obligations
as to which the applicable Fronting Lender has actual or potential Fronting
Exposure, as it may elect in its sole discretion.

6.2

(c)

Amendments. No LC Issuer shall be under any obligation to amend any Letter of
Credit if (i) the applicable LC Issuer would have no obligation at such time to issue
such Letter of Credit in its amended form under the terms hereof or (ii) the beneficiary
of such Letter of Credit does not accept the proposed amendment to such Letter of
Credit.

(d)

Indemnities. The applicable LC Issuer shall act on behalf of the applicable Lenders
with respect to any Letters of Credit issued by it and the documents associated
therewith, and the applicable LC Issuer shall have all of the benefits and immunities
(i) provided to the Agent in Article 14 with respect to any acts taken or omissions
suffered by the applicable LC Issuer in connection with Letters of Credit issued by
it or proposed to be issued by it and LC Documents pertaining to such Letters of
Credit as fully as if the term “Agent” as used in Article 14 included the applicable
LC Issuer with respect to such acts or omissions, and (ii) as additionally provided
herein with respect to the applicable LC Issuer.

(e)

Commercial Letter of Credit. It is agreed that, in the case of a commercial Letter
of Credit, such commercial Letter of Credit shall in no event provide for time drafts
or bankers’ acceptances.

(f)

Existing Letters of Credit under the Existing Credit Agreement. Each of the
letters of credit that were issued by RBC or The Toronto-Dominion Bank under the
Existing Credit Agreement are deemed to be Fronted Letters of Credit issued under
the Syndicated Tranche for all purposes hereof from and after the Effective Date.

Procedures for Issuance, Conversion and Amendment of Letters of Credit; AutoRenewal Letters of Credit
(a)

LC Application. Each Letter of Credit shall be issued or amended, as the case may
be, upon the request of the Borrower delivered to the applicable LC Issuer (with a
copy to the Agent) in the form of a LC Application, appropriately completed and
signed by the Borrower. Such LC Application must be received by the applicable
LC Issuer and the Agent not later than 12:00 noon (Toronto time) at least 3 Banking
Days (or such shorter period as the applicable LC Issuer and the Agent may agree
in a particular instance in their sole discretion) prior to the proposed issuance date
or date of amendment, as the case may be. In the case of a request for an initial
issuance of a Letter of Credit, such LC Application shall specify in form and detail
reasonably satisfactory to the applicable LC Issuer: (i) the proposed issuance date
of the requested Letter of Credit (which shall be a Banking Day); (ii) the amount
thereof (including the specification of currency); (iii) the expiry date thereof; (iv) the
name and address of the beneficiary thereof; (v) the documents to be presented by
such beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; (vi) the full text of any certificate
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to be presented by such beneficiary in case of any drawing thereunder; and (vii) such
other matters as the applicable LC Issuer may reasonably request. In the case of a
request for an amendment of any outstanding Letter of Credit, such LC Application
shall specify in form and detail reasonably satisfactory to the applicable LC Issuer:
(1) the Letter of Credit to be amended; (2) the proposed date of amendment thereof
(which shall be a Banking Day); (3) the nature of the proposed amendment; and
(4) such other matters as the applicable LC Issuer may reasonably request.
(b)

Issuance. Promptly after receipt of any LC Application, the applicable LC Issuer
will confirm with the Agent that the Agent has received a copy of such LC Application
from the Borrower and, if not, the applicable LC Issuer will provide the Agent with
a copy thereof. Upon receipt by the applicable LC Issuer of confirmation from the
Agent that the requested issuance or amendment is permitted in accordance with the
terms hereof, then, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the applicable LC
Issuer shall, on the requested date, issue a Letter of Credit for the account of the
Borrower or enter into the applicable amendment, as the case may be. Immediately
upon the issuance of each Letter of Credit, each applicable Lender shall be deemed
to, and hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees to, purchase from the
applicable LC Issuer a risk participation in such Letter of Credit in an amount equal
to the product of such Lender’s Applicable Percentage times the amount of such
Letter of Credit.

(c)

Auto-Renewal. If the Borrower so requests in any LC Application, the applicable
LC Issuer may, in its sole and absolute discretion, agree to issue a Letter of Credit
that has automatic renewal provisions (each, an “Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit”);
provided that any such Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit must permit the applicable
LC Issuer to prevent any such renewal at least once in each twelve-month period
(or, in the case of trade Letters of Credit, at least once in each 364-day period)
(commencing with the date of issuance of such Letter of Credit) by giving prior
notice to the beneficiary thereof not later than a day in each such twelve-month
period (or 364-day period, as applicable) to be agreed upon at the time such Letter
of Credit is issued. Unless otherwise directed by the applicable LC Issuer, the
Borrower shall not be required to make a specific request to the applicable LC Issuer
for any such renewal. Once an Auto-Renewal Letter of Credit has been issued, the
applicable Lenders shall be deemed to have authorized (but may not require) the
applicable LC Issuer to permit the renewal of such Letter of Credit; provided that,
for avoidance of doubt, the Borrower shall ensure that any Letter of Credit with an
expiry date after the Maturity Date complies with Section 6.1(b)(iii).

(d)

Copies of Letter of Credit. Promptly after its delivery of any Letter of Credit or
any amendment to a Letter of Credit to an advising bank with respect thereto or to
the beneficiary thereof, the applicable LC Issuer will also deliver to the Borrower
and the Agent a true and complete copy of such Letter of Credit or amendment, and
(in the case of a Letter of Credit) the Agent shall notify each applicable Lender of
such issuance or amendment and the amount of such Lender’s Applicable Percentage
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share thereof and, upon a specific request by any applicable Lender, furnish to such
Lender a copy of such Letter of Credit or amendment.
6.3

Drawings and Reimbursements; Funding of Participations
(a)

Drawing under Letter of Credit. Upon receipt from the beneficiary of any Letter
of Credit of any demand for payment under such Letter of Credit, the applicable LC
Issuer shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent thereof. If the applicable
LC Issuer notifies the Borrower of such payment prior to 12:00 noon (Toronto time)
on the date of any payment by the applicable LC Issuer under a Letter of Credit (each
such date, an “Honor Date”), the Borrower shall reimburse the applicable LC Issuer
through the Agent in an amount equal to the amount of such drawing by no later
than the next succeeding Banking Day and such extension of time shall be reflected
in computing fees in respect of any such Letter of Credit. If the Borrower fails to so
reimburse the applicable LC Issuer by such time, the Borrower shall be deemed to
have effected a Conversion of such Letter of Credit to Prime Loans (in the case of
a Letter of Credit denominated in Canadian Dollars) or USBR Loans (in the case of
a Letter of Credit denominated in US Dollars) under the same Tranche under which
the applicable Letter of Credit was issued, to be disbursed on the Honor Date in an
amount equal to unreimbursed drawing (the “Unreimbursed Amount”), without
regard to the minimum and multiples specified in Section 2.3 or whether there is
compliance with any of the conditions set forth in Section 3.2. Such deemed
Conversion shall be to a Loan. The Agent shall promptly notify each applicable
Lender of the Honor Date, the Unreimbursed Amount, and the amount of such
Lender’s pro rata share thereof. Any notice given by a LC Issuer or the Agent
pursuant to this Section 6.3(a) may be given by telephone if immediately confirmed
in writing; provided that the lack of such an immediate confirmation shall not affect
the conclusiveness or binding effect of such notice.

(b)

Reimbursement by Syndicated Lenders. Each Syndicated Lender (including the
Lender acting as a Fronting Lender) shall upon any notice pursuant to Section 6.3(a)
by a Fronting Lender, make funds available (and the Agent may apply Cash Collateral
provided for this purpose) for the account of the applicable Fronting Lender at the
Agent’s Branch in an amount equal to its pro rata share of the Unreimbursed Amount
in respect of a Fronted Letter of Credit not later than 3:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on
the Banking Day specified in such notice by the Agent, whereupon each Lender that
so makes funds available shall be deemed to have made a USBR Loan (in the case
of a Fronted Letter of Credit denominated in US Dollars) or a Prime Loan (in the
case of a Fronted Letter of Credit denominated in Canadian Dollars), to the Borrower
in such amount. The Agent shall remit the funds so received to the applicable Fronting
Lender.

(c)

Interest. Until each applicable Syndicated Lender funds its Applicable Percentage
share of any Loan pursuant to this Section 6.3(b) to reimburse the applicable Fronting
Lender for any amount drawn under any Fronted Letter of Credit, interest in respect
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of such Syndicated Lender’s Applicable Percentage of such amount shall be solely
for the account of the applicable Fronting Lender.

6.4

(d)

Additional Reimbursement Provisions. Each Syndicated Lender’s obligation to
make Loans to reimburse a Fronting Lender for amounts drawn under Fronted Letters
of Credit, as contemplated by Section 6.3(b), shall be absolute and unconditional
and shall not be affected by any circumstance, including (i) any setoff, counterclaim,
recoupment, defense or other right which such Lender may have against the
applicable Fronting Lender, the Borrower or any other Person for any reason
whatsoever; (ii) the occurrence or continuance of a Default or Event of Default,
(iii) non-compliance with any of the conditions set forth in Article 3 or (iv) any other
occurrence, event or condition, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing. No
such making of a Loan shall relieve or otherwise impair the obligation of the
Borrower to reimburse the applicable Fronting Lender for the amount of any payment
made by the applicable Fronting Lender under any Fronted Letter of Credit, together
with interest as provided herein.

(e)

Failure of Syndicated Lender to Reimburse. If any Syndicated Lender fails to
make available to the Agent for the account of the applicable Fronting Lender any
amount required to be paid by such Syndicated Lender pursuant to the foregoing
provisions of this Section 6.3 by the time specified in Section 6.3(b), then, without
limiting the other provisions of this Agreement, the applicable Fronting Lender shall
be entitled to recover from such Syndicated Lender (acting through the Agent), on
demand, such amount with interest thereon for the period from the date such payment
is required to the date on which such payment is immediately available to the
applicable Fronting Lender at a rate per annum reasonably determined by the
applicable Fronting Lender in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank
compensation, plus any reasonable administrative, processing or similar fees
customarily charged by the applicable Fronting Lender in connection with the
foregoing. If such Syndicated Lender pays such amount (with interest and fees as
aforesaid), the amount so paid shall constitute such Syndicated Lender’s Loan
included in the relevant Conversion in respect of the relevant LC Borrowing, as the
case may be. A certificate of the Fronting Lender submitted to any Syndicated Lender
(through the Agent) with respect to any amounts owing under this Section 6.3(e)
shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

Repayment of Participations
(a)

Reimbursement by Borrower. If, at any time after a Fronting Lender has made a
payment under any Letter of Credit issued by it and has received from any Syndicated
Lender such Syndicated Lender’s Applicable Percentage share of any Loan in respect
of such payment in accordance with Section 6.3, if the Agent receives for the account
of the applicable Fronting Lender any payment in respect of the related Unreimbursed
Amount or interest thereon (whether directly from the Borrower or otherwise,
including proceeds of Cash Collateral applied thereto by the Agent), the Agent will
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distribute to such Syndicated Lender its Applicable Percentage share of such payment
(appropriately adjusted, in the case of interest payments, to reflect the period of time
during which such Syndicated Lender’s Loan was outstanding) in the same funds
as those received by the Agent.
(b)

6.5

Claw-Back of Reimbursement Amounts. If any payment received by the Agent
for the account of a Fronting Lender pursuant to Section 6.3(a) is required to be
returned by Applicable Law (including pursuant to any settlement entered into by
the applicable Fronting Lender in its discretion), each Lender shall pay to the Agent
for the account of the applicable Fronting Lender its Applicable Percentage share
thereof on demand of the Agent, plus interest thereon from the date of such demand
to the date such amount is returned by such Lender, at a rate per annum equal to the
Federal Funds Rate from time to time in effect. The obligations of the Syndicated
Lenders under this subparagraph shall survive the repayment of the Outstandings
under the Credit Facility in full and the cancellation of the Credit Facility.

Obligations Absolute

The obligation of the Borrower to reimburse the applicable LC Issuer for each drawing
under each Letter of Credit and to repay each LC Borrowing shall be absolute, unconditional and
irrevocable, and shall be paid strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under all
circumstances, including the following:
(a)

any lack of validity or enforceability of such Letter of Credit, this Agreement, or any
other agreement or instrument relating thereto;

(b)

the existence of any claim, counterclaim, setoff, defense or other right that the
Borrower may have at any time against any beneficiary or any transferee of such
Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom any such beneficiary or any such transferee
may be acting), the applicable LC Issuer or any other Person, whether in connection
with this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby or by such Letter of Credit
or any agreement or instrument relating thereto, or any unrelated transaction;

(c)

any draft, demand, certificate or other document presented under such Letter of
Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any
statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect; or any loss or delay in
the transmission or otherwise of any document required in order to make a drawing
under such Letter of Credit;

(d)

any payment by the applicable LC Issuer under such Letter of Credit against
presentation of a draft or certificate that does not strictly comply with the terms of
such Letter of Credit; or any payment made by the applicable LC Issuer under such
Letter of Credit to any Person purporting to be a trustee in bankruptcy, debtor-inpossession, assignee for the benefit of creditors, liquidator, receiver or other
representative of or successor to any beneficiary or any transferee of such Letter of
Credit, in each case in the absence of its bad faith, gross negligence or willful
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misconduct on the part of the applicable LC Issuer as determined by a final nonappealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction;

6.6

(e)

any exchange, release or non-perfection of any collateral, or any release or
amendment or waiver of or consent to departure from any Obligor Guarantee for all
or any of the Outstandings of the Borrower in respect of such Letter of Credit; or

(f)

any other circumstance or happening whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of
the foregoing, including any other circumstance that might otherwise constitute a
defense available to, or a discharge of, the Borrower, in each case in the absence of
its bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the applicable LC
Issuer as determined by a final non-appealable judgment of a court of competent
jurisdiction.

Role of LC Issuers

Each of the Borrower and the Lenders agrees that, in paying any drawing under a Letter of
Credit, a LC Issuer shall not have any responsibility to obtain any document (other than any sight
draft, certificates and documents expressly required by the Letter of Credit) or to ascertain or inquire
as to the validity or accuracy of any such document or the authority of the Person executing or
delivering any such document. None of the LC Issuers, any Related Party of any LC Issuer nor any
of the respective correspondents, participants or assignees of any LC Issuer shall be liable to any
Lender for (i) any action taken or omitted in connection herewith at the request or with the approval
of the applicable Lenders or the Required Lenders, as applicable; (ii) any action taken or omitted
by it in the absence of its bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final
non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction; or (iii) the due execution,
effectiveness, validity or enforceability of any document or instrument related to any Letter of Credit
or LC Application. The Borrower hereby assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of any beneficiary
or transferee with respect to its use of any Letter of Credit; provided, however, that this assumption
is not intended to, and shall not, preclude the Borrower from pursuing such rights and remedies as
it may have against the beneficiary or transferee at law or under any other agreement. None of the
LC Issuer, any Related Party of any LC Issuer, nor any of the respective correspondents, participants
or assignees of any LC Issuer, shall be liable or responsible for any of the matters described in
subparagraphs (a) through (e) of Section 6.5; provided, however, that anything in such
subparagraphs to the contrary notwithstanding, the Borrower may have a claim against a LC Issuer,
and a LC Issuer may be liable to the Borrower, to the extent, but only to the extent, of any direct,
as opposed to indirect, special, punitive, consequential or exemplary, damages suffered by the
Borrower which a court of competent jurisdiction determines in a final non-appealable judgment
were caused by a LC Issuer’s bad faith, willful misconduct or gross negligence or a LC Issuer’s
bad faith, willful or grossly negligent failure to pay under any Letter of Credit after the presentation
to it by the beneficiary of a sight draft and certificate(s) strictly complying with the terms and
conditions of a Letter of Credit. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each LC Issuer
may accept documents that appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further
investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary, and no LC Issuer shall be
responsible for the validity or sufficiency of any instrument transferring or assigning or purporting
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to transfer or assign a Letter of Credit or the rights or benefits thereunder or proceeds thereof, in
whole or in part, which may prove to be invalid or ineffective for any reason.
6.7

Applicability of ISP98 and UCP

Unless otherwise expressly agreed by a LC Issuer and the Borrower when a Letter of Credit
is issued, (a) the rules of the “International Standby Practices 1998” published by the Institute of
International Banking Law & Practice (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the time
of issuance) shall apply to each standby Letter of Credit, and (b) the rules of the Uniform Customs
and Practice for Documentary Credits, as most recently published by the International Chamber of
Commerce at the time of issuance shall apply to each commercial Letter of Credit.
6.8

Applicant Under Letter of Credit

If the Borrower so requests in any applicable LC Application, any other Obligor may be
named as the applicant in the applicable Letter of Credit; provided that the Borrower shall remain
fully liable for all fees and reimbursement obligations in respect of such Letter of Credit.
6.9

Conflict with LC Application

In the event of any conflict between the terms hereof and the terms of any LC Application,
the terms hereof shall control.
ARTICLE 7
PAYMENTS
7.1

Repayment
The Borrower shall repay all Outstandings on the Maturity Date.

7.2

Optional Repayment

The Borrower may, without premium or penalty and at any time and from time to time,
repay to the Agent for the account of the applicable Lenders the whole or any part of any Loan
under any Tranche (as directed by the Borrower) together with accrued interest thereon to the date
of such repayment; provided that:
(a)

in anticipation of any repayment of any Loan, the Borrower shall give a Conversion/
Rollover/Repayment Notice to the Agent at least (i) 3 Banking Days prior to any
such repayment in the case of LIBO Rate Loan, and (ii) 1 Banking Day prior to any
such repayment, in the case of any other Loan;

(b)

each repayment of any Loan under the Syndicated Tranche shall be in a minimum
amount equal to the lesser of:
(i)

the applicable amounts set forth in Section 2.3(b); and
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(ii)

7.3

the Outstanding Principal of all Loans outstanding immediately prior to such
repayment;

(c)

repayments pursuant to this Section 7.2 may only be made on a Banking Day;

(d)

unless the Borrower pays breakage costs pursuant to Section 7.4(a), each such
repayment may only be made on the last day of the applicable Interest Period with
regard to a LIBO Rate Loan that is being repaid;

(e)

a Bankers’ Acceptance (including a BA Equivalent Advance) may only be repaid on
its maturity, but may be Cash Collateralized; and

(f)

a Letter of Credit may only be repaid if it is returned for cancellation, but may be
Cash Collateralized.

Currency Excess
(a)

Requirement to Repay. If the Agent determines that the Equivalent Amount in Cdn.
Dollars of the Outstanding Principal under a Tranche exceeds the aggregate amount
of all Lender Commitments under such Tranche (the amount of such excess is herein
called the “Currency Excess”), then, upon written request by the Agent (which
request shall detail the applicable Currency Excess), the Borrower shall either repay
sufficient Outstanding Principal under the applicable Tranche to remove the
Currency Excess or collateralize the Currency Excess in accordance with
Section 7.3(b) within (i) if the Currency Excess exceeds 5% of the aggregate amount
of all Lender Commitments under the applicable Tranche, 5 Banking Days, or (ii)
if the Currency Excess is less than 5% of the aggregate amount of all Lender
Commitments under the applicable Tranche, the earlier of (A) 30 days and (B) the
next Rollover Date or Conversion Date in respect of a Loan under the applicable
Tranche.

(b)

Failure to Repay. If and to the extent that the Borrower fails to make sufficient
repayments to eliminate such Currency Excess (the remainder thereof being herein
called the “Currency Excess Deficiency”), the Borrower shall place an amount
equal to the Currency Excess Deficiency on deposit with the Agent in an interestbearing account with interest at rates prevailing at the time of deposit for the account
of the Borrower, to be held and applied to maturing Bankers’ Acceptances or LIBO
Rate Loans, as the case may be (converted if necessary at the exchange rate for
determining the Equivalent Amount on the date of such application). The Agent is
hereby irrevocably directed by the Borrower to apply any such sums on deposit to
maturing Loans under the applicable Tranche as provided in the preceding sentence.
Upon the Currency Excess being eliminated as aforesaid or by virtue of subsequent
changes in the exchange rate for determining the Equivalent Amount, then, provided
no Default or Event of Default is then continuing, such funds on deposit, together
with interest thereon, shall be returned to the Borrower.
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7.4

Additional Repayment Terms
(a)

Breakage Costs. If any LIBO Rate Loan is repaid or converted on other than the
last day of the applicable Interest Period, the Borrower shall, within 3 Banking Days
after notice is given by the Agent, pay to the Agent for the account of the applicable
Lenders all costs, losses, premiums and expenses incurred by such Lenders by reason
of the liquidation or re-deployment of deposits or other funds or for any other reason
whatsoever resulting from the repayment of such Loan or any part thereof on other
than the last day of the applicable Interest Period. Any Lender, upon becoming
entitled to be paid such costs, losses, premiums and expenses, shall deliver to the
Borrower and the Agent, a certificate of such Lender, prepared in good faith,
certifying as to such amounts and, in the absence of manifest error, such certificate
shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes.

(b)

Cash Collateral – Bankers’ Acceptances. With respect to the prepayment or Cash
Collateralization of unmatured Bankers’ Acceptances required as a result of
Section 7.2(e) or 11.4, the Borrower shall provide for the funding in full of such
unmatured Bankers’ Acceptances by paying to and depositing with the Agent Cash
Collateral for each such unmatured Bankers’ Acceptances equal to the face amount
payable at maturity thereof; such Cash Collateral deposited by the Borrower shall
be held by the Agent in an interest-bearing Cash Collateral Account with interest to
be credited to the Borrower at rates prevailing at the time of deposit for similar
accounts with the Agent. Such Cash Collateral Account shall be assigned to the Agent
as security for the obligations of the Borrower in relation to such Bankers’
Acceptances and the security of the Agent thereby created shall rank in priority to
all other Liens and adverse claims against such Cash Collateral. Such Cash Collateral
shall be applied to satisfy the obligations of the Borrower for such Bankers’
Acceptances as they mature and the Agent is hereby irrevocably directed by the
Borrower to apply any such Cash Collateral to such maturing Bankers’ Acceptances.
Amounts held in such Cash Collateral Accounts may not be withdrawn by the
Borrower without the consent of the Lenders; however, interest on such deposited
amounts shall be for the account of the Borrower and may be withdrawn by the
Borrower so long as no Default or Event of Default is then continuing. If after
maturity of the Bankers’ Acceptances for which such funds are held and application
by the Agent of the amounts in such Cash Collateral Accounts to satisfy the
obligations of the Borrower hereunder with respect to the Bankers’ Acceptances
being repaid, any excess remains, such excess shall be promptly paid by the Agent
to the Borrower so long as no Default or Event of Default is then continuing.

(c)

Cash Collateral – Letters of Credit. With respect to the prepayment or Cash
Collateralization of undrawn Letters of Credit required as a result of Section 7.2(f)
or 11.4, the Borrower shall provide for the funding in full of such undrawn Letters
of Credit by paying to and depositing with the Agent Cash Collateral for each such
undrawn Letter of Credit equal to the maximum then undrawn amount payable at
the maturity thereof; such Cash Collateral deposited by the Borrower shall be held
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by the Agent in an interest-bearing Cash Collateral Account with interest to be
credited to the Borrower at rates prevailing at the time of deposit for similar accounts
with the Agent. Such Cash Collateral Account shall be assigned to the Agent as
security for the LC Obligations in relation to such Letters of Credit and the security
of the Agent thereby created shall rank in priority to all other Liens and adverse
claims against such Cash Collateral. Such Cash Collateral shall be applied to satisfy
the LC Obligations for such Letters of Credit if they are drawn and the Agent is
hereby irrevocably directed by the Borrower to apply any such Cash Collateral to
pay the applicable LC Obligations. Amounts held in such Cash Collateral Accounts
may not be withdrawn by the Borrower without the consent of the Lenders; however,
interest on such deposited amounts shall be for the account of the Borrower and may
be withdrawn by the Borrower so long as no Default or Event of Default is then
continuing. If after the expiration or cancellation of the Letters of Credit for which
such funds are held and application by the Agent of the amounts in such Cash
Collateral Accounts to satisfy the applicable LC Obligations with respect to such
Letters of Credit, any excess remains, such excess shall be promptly paid by the
Agent to the Borrower so long as no Default or Event of Default is then continuing.
7.5

Payments – General
(a)

Unconditional Payments. All payments of principal, interest, fees and other
amounts to be made by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement shall be made
unconditionally and without set-off, defence, counterclaim or other reduction of any
type, in the currency in which the Loan is outstanding for value on the day such
amount is due, and if such day is not a Banking Day on the Banking Day next
following, by deposit or transfer thereof to the Agent’s Accounts or at such other
place as the Borrower and the Agent may from time to time agree. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary expressed or implied in this Agreement, the receipt by the
Agent in accordance with this Agreement of any payment made by the Borrower for
the account of any of the Lenders shall, insofar as the Borrower’s obligations to the
relevant Lenders are concerned, be deemed also to be receipt by such Lenders and
the Borrower shall have no liability in respect of any failure or delay on the part of
the Agent in disbursing and/or accounting to the relevant Lenders in regard thereto.

(b)

Value. All payments of principal, interest, fees or other amounts to be made by the
Agent to the Lenders pursuant to this Agreement shall be made for value on the day
required hereunder, provided that the Agent receives funds from the Borrower for
value on such day, and if such funds are not so received from the Borrower or if such
day is not a Banking Day, on the Banking Day next following, by deposit or transfer
thereof at the time specified herein to the account of each Lender designated by such
Lender to the Agent for such purpose or to such other place or account as the Lenders
may from time to time notify the Agent.

(c)

Non-Banking Days. Unless otherwise specifically provided for herein, if any
payment required hereunder shall become due and payable on a day which is not a
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Banking Day, such payment shall be made on the next following Banking Day and
any extension of time shall in such case be included in computing interest payable
hereunder relating to such payment.
7.6

Application of Payments after Default
(a)

Rateable Payments. All monies and property received by the Lenders for application
in respect of the Obligations after delivery of a notice pursuant to Section 11.2(a) or
the occurrence of an Event of Default set out in Section 11.1(f) or Section 11.1(g)
and all monies received as a result of a realization against the Obligors shall be
applied and distributed to the Lenders and the Agent in the following order:
(i)

Rateably to the Lenders and the Agent in accordance with amounts owing
to each Lender and the Agent on account of the costs and expenses of
enforcement; and

(ii)

Rateably to the Lenders on account of the Obligations,

with the balance (if any) to be paid to the Borrower or otherwise as may be required
by Applicable Law. Amounts and other distributions due to the Agent and the Lenders
in respect of the Outstandings pursuant to paragraph (ii) above shall be applied in
accordance with Section 7.6(b). For the foregoing purposes, “Rateably” means, at
any date of determination, the proportion that the Equivalent Amount in Canadian
Dollars of the amount of Obligations due to any Lender bears to the aggregate of
the Equivalent Amount in Canadian Dollars of the Obligations of all Lenders.
(b)

Obligations. All payments and other distributions required to be made to the Agent
and the Lenders pursuant to Section 7.6(a)(ii) in respect of the Outstandings shall
be applied in the following order:
(i)

to the payment of all reasonable and documented costs and expenses incurred
by the Agent, including all court costs and the reasonable fees and expenses
of its agents and legal counsel (on a full indemnity basis);

(ii)

to amounts due hereunder as fees other than acceptance fees for Bankers’
Acceptances, LC Fees, standby fees and Fronting Fees;

(iii)

to amounts due hereunder as costs and expenses (not otherwise contemplated
in (a) above);

(iv)

to amounts due hereunder as default interest;

(v)

to amounts due hereunder as interest, LC fees, acceptance fees for Bankers’
Acceptances, Fronting Fees, and standby fees;

(vi)

to amounts due as Outstanding Principal on a pro rata basis; and
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(vii)

to all other Outstandings.
ARTICLE 8
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

8.1

Representations and Warranties

The Borrower represents and warrants as follows to the Agent and to each of the Lenders
and acknowledges and confirms that the Agent and each of the Lenders are relying upon such
representations and warranties:
(a)

Status. Each Borrower Group Member has been duly incorporated, amalgamated
or formed, as applicable, and is validly existing under the law of its jurisdiction of
incorporation, amalgamation or formation, as applicable. Each of the Borrower
Group Members is duly licensed, registered or qualified in all jurisdictions where
the character of its Property owned or leased or the nature of the activities conducted
by it makes such licensing, registration or qualification necessary or desirable, except
to the extent failure to be so licensed, registered or qualified would not reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b)

Power and Capacity. Each of the Borrower Group Members has full corporate,
partnership or other (as applicable) capacity, power and authority:
(i)

to own, lease and operate its respective properties and assets and carry on its
respective business as presently carried on; and

(ii)

in the case of each Obligor, to enter into each of the Loan Documents to
which it is a party and to do all acts and execute and deliver all other
documents as are required hereunder or thereunder to be done, observed or
performed by it or them in accordance with their respective terms and, in the
case of the Borrower, to obtain extensions of credit hereunder.

(c)

Authorization; Execution and Delivery. Each of the Obligors has taken all
necessary corporate, partnership and other action (as applicable) to authorize the
creation, execution and delivery of, and performance of its respective obligations
under, each of the Loan Documents to which it is then a party in accordance with
the respective terms thereof, and each such Loan Document has been, or when signed
and delivered will have been, duly executed and delivered in accordance with such
corporate, partnership or other action (as applicable).

(d)

Validity and Enforceability. This Agreement constitutes and each other Loan
Document constitutes or, when executed and delivered, will constitute, valid and
legally binding obligations of each of the Obligors that is a party thereto, enforceable
against each of them in accordance with its terms, subject only to applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency and other laws of general application limiting the
enforceability of creditors’ rights, and to general principles of equity.
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(e)

No Violation, Breach, Conflict etc. Neither the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, any other Loan Document nor compliance with the terms and conditions
of any of them:
(i)

has resulted, or will result, in a violation of the articles, by-laws, partnership
agreement, unanimous shareholders’ agreement or other constating or
governing documents of any Obligor party thereto or any resolutions passed
by the directors, shareholders or partners (as applicable) of such Obligor;

(ii)

has resulted, or will result, in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any
loan agreement, indenture, trust deed or any other agreement or instrument
to which any Obligor is a party or by which it or any of its Property is bound,
or requires any consent thereunder other than such as has already been
received, except to the extent that such breach, default or failure would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; or

(iii)

has resulted or will result, in the creation of, or the obligation to create, any
Lien on, against or in respect of any of the Property of any Obligor except
for Permitted Liens or except as expressly permitted or contemplated hereby
or thereby or by any other Loan Document.

(f)

Authorizations. All material Governmental Authorizations (including all Required
Permits and material Environmental Permits) required for the execution and delivery
by each Obligor of each of the Loan Documents to which it is a party have been
obtained and are in full force and effect, except where the failure to so obtain would
not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(g)

Ownership of Assets. Each Borrower Group Member:
(i)

has good and marketable title to all of the material Property that it owns,
subject only to Permitted Liens and defects in title which in the aggregate
do not materially detract from the value of such Property or any significant
part thereof or materially impair the use of any thereof in the operation of
the businesses of the Borrower Group Members, taken as a whole and, to the
Knowledge of the Borrower, no Person has any agreement or right to acquire
any of any Borrower Group Member’s respective interest in any material
Property necessary for the conduct of the business of the Borrower Group
Members; and

(ii)

owns, leases or has the lawful right to use all of the material Property and
undertaking necessary for the conduct of the businesses of such Borrower
Group Member.

Such material Property is not subject to any Liens, except for Permitted Liens.
(h)

No Default. No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
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(i)

Certain Information and Projections. All written factual information, heretofore
or contemporaneously furnished by or on behalf of any Borrower Group Member
to the Agent or the Lenders in connection with the Borrower Group Members or the
Credit Facility was:
(i)

in the case of projections, prepared in good faith based upon reasonable
assumptions at the date of preparation, and, in all other cases, true, complete
and correct in all material respects as of the respective dates thereof; and

(ii)

to the extent prepared by persons other than the Borrower Group Member
or any of their Subsidiaries and provided to the Agent by or on behalf of a
Borrower Group Member or any of their respective Subsidiaries, or as
required by the terms of the Credit Agreement, to the Knowledge of the
Borrower:
(A)

in the case of projections, prepared in good faith based upon
reasonable assumptions at the date of preparation; and

(B)

in all other cases, true, complete and correct in all material respects
as of the respective dates thereof.

(j)

Financial Condition. The most recent audited and unaudited consolidated
Financial Statements of KMCL delivered to the Agent hereunder present fairly, in
all material respects, the consolidated financial condition of KMCL as at the date or
dates thereof and the results of the consolidated operations thereof for the Fiscal
Quarter or Fiscal Year then ending, as applicable, all in accordance with GAAP
consistently applied and, since the date of the most recent Financial Statements
delivered to the Agent hereunder, no event or circumstance has occurred and is
continuing which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect
except as has been disclosed by written notice from the Borrower to the Agent.

(k)

Books and Records. All books and records of the Obligors have been fully, properly
and accurately kept in accordance with GAAP and completed in all material respects
and there are no material inaccuracies or discrepancies of any kind contained or
reflected therein.

(l)

Litigation. There are no actions, suits, proceedings or Environmental Claims
pending or, to the Knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting any
Borrower Group Member (including any claims against their Property, at law, in
equity or before any arbitrator or before or by any Governmental Authority) in respect
of which there is a reasonable likelihood of a determination adverse to any Borrower
Group Member and which, if determined adversely to such Borrower Group Member,
would have a Material Adverse Effect.

(m)

Compliance with Laws, etc. Each Borrower Group Member and its businesses and
operations are in compliance with: all Applicable Laws (including all applicable
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Environmental Laws); all applicable directives, judgments, decrees, injunctions and
orders rendered by any Governmental Authority or any court of competent
jurisdiction; its and their constating or governing documents (including partnership
agreements and unanimous shareholders’ agreements) and by-laws; all material
agreements or instruments to which it is a party or by which any of its Property are
bound; except to the extent that non-compliance with any of the foregoing would
not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(n)

Taxes. Each Borrower Group Member has duly filed on a timely basis all material
tax returns required to be filed and have paid all material Taxes which are then due
and payable, and have paid all material assessments and reassessments and all
material Other Taxes, governmental charges, governmental royalties, other required
payments to Governmental Authorities, penalties, interest and fines claimed against
them, other than those which, in each case, are subject to a Permitted Contest or the
failure to file or pay the same would not otherwise reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect. Each Borrower Group Member has made adequate
provision for, and all required instalment payments have been made in respect of,
Taxes and Other Taxes in all material amounts payable for the current period for
which returns are not yet required to be filed. There are no actions or proceedings
being taken by any Governmental Authority to enforce the payment of any material
Taxes or Other Taxes by them, other than those which are subject to a Permitted
Contest. All of the material remittances and source deductions required to be made
by a Borrower Group Member to any Governmental Authority (including in respect
of Taxes and Other Taxes) have been made and are currently up to date, and there
are no outstanding material arrears other than those which are subject to a Permitted
Contest.

(o)

Insurance. All insurance policies required to be maintained by (or on behalf of)
each Borrower Group Member pursuant to Section 9.1(e) have been obtained and
are in full force and effect, and such insurance policies comply in all material respects
with the requirements of Section 9.1(e).

(p)

Environmental Matters.
(i)

Each Borrower Group Member and its Property comply in all respects, and
the businesses, activities and operations of each Borrower Group Member
and the use of its Property comply in all respects, with all Environmental
Laws, Environmental Permits and Environmental Orders except to the extent
failure to comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect; further, the Borrower does not have Knowledge of any facts
which result in, or constitute, or are likely to give rise to, non-compliance
with any Environmental Laws, Environmental Permits or Environmental
Orders, which facts or non-compliance would reasonably be expected to
result in a Material Adverse Effect.
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(ii)

Each Borrower Group Member has obtained all Environmental Permits
which are then required in relation to its Property or in respect of their
respective businesses, activities, and operations except to the extent failure
to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
all such Environmental Permits are valid and in full force and effect, and no
violations thereof have occurred which are continuing and which would
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; no proceedings
are pending and, to the Knowledge of the Borrower, no proceedings are being
taken by any Governmental Authority to remove or invalidate any of the
Environmental Permits, the removal or invalidation of which would
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and there is no
reasonable reason to believe that any Environmental Permits required to be
obtained after the date hereof will not be issued pursuant to applications made
for such Environmental Permits if the failure to have such Environmental
Permit would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(iii)

The businesses, activities and operations of each Borrower Group Member
which have generated, manufactured, refined, treated, transported, stored,
handled, disposed, transferred, produced or processed Hazardous Materials
have done so in compliance in all respects with all Environmental Laws,
Environmental Permits and Environmental Orders, except to the extent such
failure to so comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(iv)

All contaminants and other Hazardous Materials owned or controlled by a
Borrower Group Member and disposed of, treated or stored on or in relation
to their Property have been or are in the process of being disposed of, treated
and stored in compliance in all respects with all Environmental Laws,
Environmental Permits and Environmental Orders, except to the extent such
failure to so comply would not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(v)

No Borrower Group Member has received written notice of any material
non-compliance under any Environmental Laws, Environmental Permits or
Environmental Orders, nor has Knowledge of any facts which could give
rise to any notice of non-compliance with any Environmental Laws,
Environmental Permits and Environmental Orders, which facts or noncompliance would have a Material Adverse Effect, or except as previously
disclosed to the Agent in writing, any notice that a Borrower Group Member
is a potentially responsible party for a federal, provincial, regional, municipal
or local clean-up or corrective action in connection with their Property which,
if not complied with, would reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.
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(q)

8.2

(vi)

To the Knowledge of the Borrower, each Borrower Group Member has
maintained all environmental and operating documents and records in the
manner and for the time periods required to comply in all respects with all
Environmental Laws, Environmental Permits and Environmental Orders,
except where failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(vii)

Each Borrower Group Member has in effect a management structure and
policies and procedures that will permit such Borrower Group Member to
effectively manage environmental risk and respond in a timely manner in
compliance with the Environmental Laws, Environmental Orders and
Environmental Permits in the event of Release of Hazardous Materials in,
on or under Property of such Borrower Group Member.

Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions.
(i)

The Borrower Group Members maintain in effect, procedures, policies or
codes of conduct intended to ensure compliance in all material respects by
its directors, officers and employees with, in each case, Anti-Corruption Laws
and Sanctions applicable to such Persons.

(ii)

None of the Borrower Group Member or their Subsidiaries or, to the
Knowledge of the Borrower, any of their respective directors, officers and
employees is a Sanctioned Person.

(iii)

No part of the proceeds of the Loans will be used intentionally by the
Borrower (A) in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or
authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value,
to any Person in violation in any material respect of any Anti-Corruption
Laws, (B) for the purpose of funding (including payments made to) or
financing any activities, investments, business or transaction of or with any
Person actually known to the Borrower Group Member s to be a Sanctioned
Person, or in any country actually known to the Borrower Group Members
to be a Sanctioned Country where such Sanctions relate to the business
activities of the Borrower Group Members, or (C) in any manner that would
result in the violation in any material respect of any Sanctions applicable to
the Borrower Group Members.

Deemed Repetition

On the Effective Date and on the date that any Drawdown is made under the Credit Facility
by the Borrower pursuant hereto (a) each of the representations and warranties contained in
Section 8.1 shall be true and correct in all material respects as if made on such date (excluding those
representations and warranties which are expressly made as of a specific date only); and (b) the
Borrower shall be deemed to have represented to the Agent and the Lenders that, except as has
otherwise been notified to the Agent in writing and has been waived by the Lenders in accordance
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herewith, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing nor will any such event
occur as a result of the aforementioned Drawdown.
8.3

Other Loan Documents

All representations and warranties of any Borrower Group Member contained elsewhere in
this Agreement or in any other Loan Document delivered pursuant hereto or thereto shall be deemed
to constitute representations and warranties made by the Borrower to the Agent and the Lenders
under Section 8.1 as of the date made under such Loan Document.
8.4

Effective Time of Repetition

All representations and warranties herein are made as of the date hereof, and, when repeated
or deemed to be repeated hereunder, shall be construed with reference to the facts and circumstances
existing at the time of repetition, unless they are stated herein to be made as of a specific date or as
at another date.
8.5

Nature of Representations and Warranties

The representations and warranties set out in this Agreement or deemed to be made pursuant
hereto shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the making of each Drawdown,
notwithstanding any investigations or examinations which may be made by the Agent, the Lenders
or Lenders’ Counsel, until the repayment of the Outstandings and the cancellation of the Credit
Facility.
ARTICLE 9
GENERAL COVENANTS
9.1

Positive Covenants

So long as any Outstandings exist or the Credit Facility is available hereunder, the Borrower
covenants and agrees with each of the Lenders and the Agent that without the prior written consent
of the Lenders:
(a)

Payment and Performance. The Borrower shall duly and punctually pay the
principal of all Loans, all interest thereon and all fees and other amounts required
to be paid by it hereunder at the times and in the manner specified hereunder and
the Borrower shall, and shall cause each of the other Borrower Group Members to,
perform and observe all of their respective obligations under this Agreement and
under any other Loan Document to which it or any other Borrower Group Member
is a party.

(b)

Existence and Conduct of Business. The Borrower shall, and shall cause each of
the other Borrower Group Members to:
(i)

except as permitted by Section 9.2(e), maintain their respective corporate or
partnership existences in good standing;
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(c)

(ii)

register and qualify and remain duly registered and qualified as a corporation
or partnership authorized to carry on business under the laws of each
jurisdiction in which the nature of any business transacted by it or the
character of any Property owned or leased by it requires such registration
and qualification except where failure to obtain and maintain such
registration or qualification would not reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect;

(iii)

preserve and keep in full force and effect all Governmental Authorization,
Required Permits and other franchises, licenses, rights, privileges and permits
necessary to enable each of the Obligors to operate and conduct their
respective businesses in accordance with good industry practice, except to
the extent such failure to comply or to preserve or keep in full force and effect
would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(iv)

keep and maintain all of its Property material to the conduct of its business
in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and
preserve, maintain and keep in good repair, working order and efficiency
(ordinary wear and tear excepted) all of its material Property, including all
equipment, machinery and facilities, except to the extent the failure to do so
would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and

(v)

maintain, protect and defend title to all Property held by any Borrower Group
Member and take all such acts and steps as are necessary or advisable at any
time and from time to time to maintain such Property in good standing, except
to the extent the failure to so maintain, protect and defend or to take any such
acts or steps would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect.

Compliance with Applicable Laws. The Borrower shall, and shall cause each of
the other Borrower Group Members to:
(i)

carry on and conduct its business, and keep, maintain and operate its Property,
in accordance with all Applicable Laws and prudent industry practice in the
pipeline industry and the other businesses conducted by the Borrower Group
Members;

(ii)

comply in all respects with Applicable Law; and

(iii)

observe and conform to all requirements of any Governmental Authorization
and Required Permit relative to any of its Property and all covenants, terms
and conditions of all agreements upon or under which any of such Property
is held,

in any case, except to the extent the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(d)

Books and Records/Inspection. The Borrower will, and will cause each other
Borrower Group Member to, maintain books and records in accordance with GAAP
and all Applicable Law in respect of all its material dealings and transactions. At
any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice, and during
usual business hours, the Borrower shall permit the Agent or any representative
thereof (which may include a Lender) (at the expense of the Borrower) to examine
and make copies of and abstracts from the records and books of account of any
Borrower Group Member (subject to the Borrower Group Members’ reasonable
safety requirements and standards) and to visit and inspect the premises and
properties of any Borrower Group Member and to discuss the affairs, finances and
accounts of any Borrower Group Member with any of the officers or auditors and
other professional advisors of any Borrower Group Member, subject to any
contractual restrictions regarding confidentiality provided that, excluding any such
visits and inspections during the continuation of an Event of Default, the Lenders
shall not exercise such rights more than once in any calendar year, which such
permitted visits will be at the Borrower’s reasonable expense.

(e)

Insurance. The Borrower shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, all risks
property insurance during construction and operations in connection with the
Property and businesses of the Borrower Group Members and other types of
insurance, including liability insurance with respect to claims for personal injury,
death or property damage, with respect to the construction and operation of such
businesses, all in accordance with prudent industry standards and to the extent
available on commercially reasonable terms and with creditworthy and reputable
insurance companies in such amounts and with such deductibles as are in accordance
with prudent industry standards, except to the extent failure to do so would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(f)

Payment of Taxes and Other Amounts. The Borrower shall, and shall cause each
of the other Borrower Group Members to, from time to time, file all material tax
returns which are required to be filed and pay or cause to be paid all material Taxes,
Other Taxes, levies, assessments (ordinary or extraordinary), governmental fees and
dues, other required payments to Governmental Authorities, wages, workers’
compensation arrangements, government royalties, pension fund obligations and
any other amounts, in each case, which may result in a Lien on their Property arising
under statute or regulation (any of which being a “Levy”) and to make and remit
other payments and all withholdings lawfully levied, assessed or imposed upon an
Borrower Group Member or any of the assets of a Borrower Group Member, as and
when the same become due and payable, except when and for so long as the validity
of such Levy, payment or withholding is subject to a Permitted Contest or would not
otherwise reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(g)

Environmental Matters. Without limiting the generality of Section 9.1(c), the
Borrower shall, and shall cause each of the other Borrower Group Members to
conduct their business and operations so as to so comply at all times with all
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Environmental Laws, Environmental Permits and Environmental Orders, except to
the extent the failure to so conduct or comply would not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.

9.2

(h)

Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. The Borrower shall maintain in effect and
enforce procedures, policies or codes of conduct intended to ensure compliance in
all material respects by the Borrower Group Members and their respective directors,
officers and employees with Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions applicable to such
Persons.

(i)

Ownership of Assets. The Borrower shall ensure that as at the end of each Fiscal
Quarter, the collective Borrower Group Members directly own at least 85% of
Consolidated Tangible Assets.

(j)

Pari Passu Ranking. The Borrower will ensure that the Obligations rank at least
pari passu in right of payment with all of their other senior unsecured Funded Debt
of the Borrower.

(k)

Further Assurances. The Borrower, at its expense, shall, and shall cause each other
Borrower Group Member to promptly cure any default by it in the execution and
delivery of this Agreement or of any of the other Loan Documents to which it is a
party and, after reasonable notice thereof from the Agent, the Borrower shall
promptly execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, all such other
and further deeds, agreements, opinions, certificates, instruments, affidavits,
registration materials and other documents (and cause each other Borrower Group
Member to take such action) necessary for the Borrower’s compliance with or
performance of the covenants and agreements of the Borrower or any other Borrower
Group Member in any of the Loan Documents, including this Agreement, or to
correct any omissions in any of the Loan Documents, or more fully to state the
obligations set out herein or in any of the Loan Documents.

Negative Covenants

So long as any Outstandings exist or the Credit Facility is available hereunder, the Borrower
covenants and agrees with each of the Lenders and the Agent that without the prior written consent
of the Lenders:
(a)

Negative Pledge. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Borrower
Group Member to, create, issue, incur, assume, have outstanding or permit to exist
any Liens on any of its or their present or future Property, except for Permitted Liens.

(b)

Limitation on Dispositions. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other
Borrower Group Member to, consummate a Disposition if such Disposition,
individually or in the aggregate, would or would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect or result in an Event of Default.
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(c)

Transactions with Affiliates. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other
Borrower Group Member to, make any payment to, or Dispose of any of its Property
to, or purchase any Property from, or, except for Existing Affiliate Agreements, enter
into or make or amend any transaction, contract, agreement, understanding, loan,
advance or Guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of the Borrower which
is not a Borrower Group Member or a Subsidiary of the Borrower involving aggregate
consideration in excess of Cdn.$5,000,000, unless each such Affiliate transaction is
on terms that are not less favourable (taken as a whole) in any material respect to
such Borrower Group Member as it would obtain in a comparable arm’s-length
transaction with a Person that is not an Affiliate.

(d)

Change of Business. The Borrower and the other Borrower Group Members, taken
as a whole, shall not fundamentally and substantively alter the character of their
businesses, taken as a whole, from the businesses conducted by, contemplated to be
conducted by or proposed to be conducted by, the Borrower and the other Borrower
Group Members, taken as a whole, on the date hereof, and other business activities
which are extensions thereof or otherwise incidental, synergistic, reasonably related,
or ancillary to any of the foregoing.

(e)

Reorganization etc. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other
Borrower Group Member to, enter into any transaction or series of transactions
whereby all or substantially all of its Property would become the property of any
other Person (herein called a “Successor”) whether by way of reconstruction,
reorganization, recapitalization, consolidation, amalgamation, merger, transfer, sale
or otherwise (each a “Successor Transaction”) unless:
(i)

if the Successor Transaction involves the Borrower, the Successor is a Person
organized and existing under the federal laws of Canada, the laws in force
in a province in Canada or under the laws of any state in the United States
of America and the Successor Transaction would not result in a Default or
an Event of Default under Section 11.1(m);

(ii)

if the Successor Transaction involves a Borrower Group Member but not the
Borrower, a Borrower Group Member is the continuing entity and the
Successor is a Person organized and existing under the federal laws of
Canada, the laws in force in a province in Canada or under the laws of any
state in the United States of America;

(iii)

if the Successor Transaction involves Persons other than a Borrower Group
Member, the Lenders, acting reasonably, shall be satisfied that the
creditworthiness of the Successor (or the Borrower if the Successor
Transaction involves one or more Borrower Group Members but not the
Borrower) immediately after and giving effect to the Successor Transaction
is not less than the creditworthiness of the Borrower immediately prior to
the Successor Transaction; provided that the Lenders shall be deemed to be
satisfied with the creditworthiness of the Successor (or the Borrower if the
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Successor Transaction involves one or more Borrower Group Members but
not the Borrower) if the senior, unsecured and unsubordinated long term debt
of the Successor or the Borrower, as applicable, after giving effect to the
Successor Transaction is rated by any one Debt Rating Agency as having at
least an Investment Grade Rating;
(iv)

prior to or contemporaneously with the consummation of such Successor
Transaction:
(A)

the Successor will be bound by or have assumed all the covenants
and obligations of the applicable Borrower Group Member(s) under
all Loan Documents to which it is a party; and

(B)

the Loan Documents to which the applicable Borrower Group
Member(s) was a party immediately prior to entering into the
Successor Transaction, will be valid and binding obligations of the
Successor, enforceable against the Successor and entitling the
Lenders, as against the Successor, to exercise all their rights under
such Loan Documents;

provided that the Successor shall also execute and/or deliver to the Lenders
such documents (including legal opinions of counsel to the Successor), if
any, as may, in the opinion of the Agent, acting reasonably, be necessary to
effect or establish (A) and (B) above;
(v)

such Successor Transaction shall be on such terms and shall be carried out
in such a matter so as to preserve and not to impair in any material respect
any of the rights and powers of the Lenders hereunder or under any other
Loan Documents; and

(vi)

no Event of Default or Default shall have occurred and be continuing
immediately prior to such Successor Transaction or will occur (including as
determined on a pro forma basis) upon or as a result of such Successor
Transaction.

(f)

Hedge Agreements. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other
Borrower Group Member to, enter into any Hedge Agreements (i) for speculative
purposes or (ii) in a manner inconsistent with the hedging policies governed by the
board of directors of KMCL or the Borrower.

(g)

Distribution. The Borrower shall not make any Distributions if a Default or Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing at such time or would reasonably be
expected to result therefrom.

(h)

Burdensome Agreements. Enter into or permit to exist any contractual obligation
(other than this Agreement or any other Loan Document) that limits the ability of
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any Borrower Group Member to make Distributions to its shareholders or to
otherwise transfer property to or invest in any other Borrower Group Members.
9.3

Financial Covenant

So long as any Outstandings exist or the Credit Facility is available hereunder, the Borrower
covenants and agrees with each of the Lenders and Agent that, without the prior written consent of
the Lenders, as at the end of each Fiscal Quarter:
(a)

the ratio of Consolidated Total Funded Debt to Consolidated EBITDA shall not be
greater than 5.00:1.00;

(b)

the aggregate amount of Restricted Subsidiary Debt plus (for certainty, without
duplication) the aggregate amount of consolidated Funded Debt of the Borrower
Group Members secured by Permitted Liens set forth in subparagraph (w) of the
defined term “Permitted Liens” to exceed the Priority Debt Limit; and

(c)

if the Debt Rating ceases to be an Investment Grade Rating or if no Debt Rating
Agency is issuing a Debt Rating, then the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to
Consolidated Interest Expense shall not be less than 2.50:1.00.

The covenants in this Section 9.3 are referred to herein as the “Financial Covenants”.
9.4

Reporting Requirements

So long as any Outstandings exist or the Credit Facility is available hereunder, the Borrower
covenants and agrees with each of the Lenders and Agent that without the prior written consent of
the Lenders:
(a)

Financial Reporting. The Borrower shall deliver to the Agent:
(i)

within 90 days after the end of each of KMCL’s Fiscal Years, the audited
annual Financial Statements of KMCL on a consolidated basis, for each such
Fiscal Year, together with the notes thereto, all prepared in accordance with
GAAP consistently applied, and, in each case, certified by independent
certified public accountants of recognized national standing whose opinion
shall not be qualified as to the scope of audit or contain a note as to the status
of KMCL or any other Borrower Group Member as a going concern;

(ii)

within 45 days after the end of its first, second and third Fiscal Quarters in
each Fiscal Year, the unaudited quarterly Financial Statements of KMCL on
a consolidated basis, for each such Fiscal Quarter, all in reasonable detail
and stating in comparative form the figures for the corresponding date and
period in the previous Fiscal Year (other than in the case of such Financial
Statements for the first Fiscal Year), all prepared in accordance with GAAP
consistently applied and certified by an Authorized Officer of KMCL to
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present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition
of KMCL in accordance with GAAP;
(iii)

concurrently with delivering the Financial Statements pursuant to
Sections 9.4(a)(i) and 9.4(a)(ii), a Compliance Certificate; and

(iv)

at the request of the Agent, such other information, reports, certificates or
other matters affecting the business, affairs, financial condition or Property
of the Obligors as the Agent or any Lender may reasonably request.

The financial statements, budgets, descriptions, reports and other documents to be
delivered pursuant to Sections 9.4(a)(i) to 9.4(a)(iii) inclusive may be delivered by
transmitting an electronic version of the same to the Agent and confirming (x) receipt
thereof by the Agent and (y) the ability of the Agent to access the same.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else set forth herein, if the amount of
Consolidated Tangible Assets attributable to Persons other than the Borrower and
its Subsidiaries exceeds 10% of the Consolidated Tangible Assets of KMCL as at
the end of any Fiscal Quarter, the audited and unaudited financial statements, budgets,
descriptions, reports and other documents to be delivered pursuant to Sections 9.4(a)
(i) to 9.4(a)(iii), inclusive, shall be provided by and in respect of the Borrower on a
consolidated basis, rather than by and in respect of KMCL, and the definitions of
“Consolidated EBITDA”, “Consolidated Interest Expense”, “Consolidated Net
Income”, “Consolidated Tangible Assets”, “Consolidated Total Funded Debt”,
“Financial Statements” and “Fiscal Year” and Section 8.1(j) and this Section 9.4(a)
shall thereafter be read and interpreted accordingly.
(b)

Material Litigation. The Borrower shall promptly, and in any event within
5 Banking Days of obtaining Knowledge of the same, give written notice to the
Agent of any litigation, proceeding or dispute affecting any Borrower Group Member
which either claims damages in excess of the Threshold Amount or, if adversely
determined, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
and shall from time to time furnish to the Agent all reasonable information requested
by the Agent concerning the status of any such litigation, proceeding or dispute.

(c)

Environmental Notices. If a Borrower Group Member shall:
(A)

receive or give any notice that a violation of any Environmental Law,
Environmental Permit or Environmental Order has or may have been
committed or is about to be committed by such Borrower Group
Member, or in respect of any of its Property, if such violation would
reasonably be expected to result in such Obligor incurring liabilities
or costs in excess of the Threshold Amount in any Fiscal Year;
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(B)

receive any notice that a complaint, proceeding or order has been
filed or is about to be filed against such Borrower Group Member,
or in respect of any of their Property, alleging a violation of any
Environmental Law, Environmental Permit or Environmental Order,
if such violation would reasonably be expected to result in such
Borrower Group Member incurring liabilities or costs in excess of
the Threshold Amount in any Fiscal Year; or

(C)

receive any notice requiring such Borrower Group Member to take
any action in connection with the Release of Hazardous Materials
into the environment or alleging that such Borrower Group Member
may be liable or responsible for costs associated with a response to,
or to clean-up, a Release of Hazardous Materials into the
environment, or any damages caused thereby, if such action or
liability would result in such Borrower Group Member incurring
liabilities or costs in excess of the Threshold Amount in any Fiscal
Year;

the Borrower shall promptly provide the Agent with a copy of such notice and shall
furnish to the Agent details of any action taken or proposed to be taken in respect of
such notice and, from time to time, all reasonable information requested by the Agent
relating to the same.
(d)

9.5

Other Notices.
(i)

The Borrower shall deliver to the Agent, promptly upon becoming aware of
the occurrence of a Default or the occurrence of an Event of Default, an
officer’s certificate from an Authorized Officer describing the foregoing in
reasonable detail and specifying the steps, if any, being taken to cure or
remedy the same.

(ii)

The Borrower shall promptly notify the Agent of any event, circumstance or
condition that has had a Material Adverse Effect.

Agent May Perform Covenants

If the Borrower or any Borrower Group Member fails to perform any covenants on its part
herein contained, subject to any consents or notices or cure periods required by Section 11.1 and
provided that a period of 10 Banking Days after written notice from the Agent to remedy the same
has been given, the Agent may give written notice to the Borrower of such failure and if such
covenant remains unperformed, the Agent may, in its discretion but need not, perform any such
covenant capable of being performed by the Agent, and if the covenant requires the payment or
expenditure of money, the Agent may, upon having received approval of all Lenders, make such
payments or expenditure and all sums so expended shall constitute credit advanced by the Lenders
for the benefit of the Borrower and shall be forthwith payable by the Borrower to the Agent on
behalf of the Lenders and shall bear interest at the applicable interest rate provided in Section 4.7
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for amounts due in Cdn. Dollars or US Dollars, as the case may be. No such performance, payment
or expenditure by the Agent shall be deemed to relieve any Borrower Group Member of any default
hereunder or under the other Loan Documents.
ARTICLE 10
DESIGNATION OF RESTRICTED SUBSIDIARIES
10.1

Designation of Restricted Subsidiaries and Obligor Guarantees
(a)

The Borrower shall, from time to time as is necessary to ensure compliance with
Section 9.1(i), designate such Subsidiaries as it shall determine as Restricted
Subsidiaries and shall notify the Agent that such Person has become a Restricted
Subsidiary and furnish the Agent with the name, date and jurisdiction of incorporation
of amalgamation, as applicable; provided that the Borrower shall not designate that
a Subsidiary becomes a Restricted Subsidiary if a Default or an Event of Default
would result from or exist immediately after such designation.

(b)

The Borrower shall be entitled to designate a Restricted Subsidiary which is, or has
been designated, a Restricted Subsidiary to no longer be a Restricted Subsidiary if:
(i) the absence of such Restricted Subsidiary would not cause non-compliance with
Section 9.1(i), (ii) no Default or Event of Default would result from or exist
immediately after such designation, and (iii) prior to or concurrently with such
designation, the Borrower has provided the Agent with an officer’s certificate
confirming the foregoing.

(c)

In addition to any designations made pursuant to Section 10.1(a) above, each
Subsidiary which is created or acquired, directly or indirectly, by the Borrower will,
unless notice designating such Subsidiary to not be a Restricted Subsidiary is
provided to the Agent in writing within 90 days of the acquisition or creation thereof,
as applicable, be deemed to be a Restricted Subsidiary effective as of the date of
such creation or acquisition.

(d)

If any Restricted Subsidiary executes and delivers an Obligor Guarantee to the Agent,
such Restricted Subsidiary shall thereafter become an Obligor and the Borrower
shall cause each such Restricted Subsidiary to, concurrently with the delivery of
such Obligor Guarantee, deliver to the Agent certified copies of its constating
documents, by-laws and the resolutions or equivalent documents (as applicable)
authorizing such Obligor Guarantee, a certificate as to the incumbency of the officers
of such Restricted Subsidiary signing such Obligor Guarantee and an opinion of
legal counsel to such Restricted Subsidiary respecting usual and customary matters,
with such opinions to contain such qualifications and limitations as may be customary
and appropriate in accordance with the practice of local counsel and otherwise to be
in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, acting reasonably.

(e)

As at the date hereof, all of the Subsidiaries of the Borrower are Restricted
Subsidiaries.
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10.2

Release and Discharge of Subsidiary Guarantees
(a)

All subsisting Guarantees given by Borrower Group Members under the Existing
Credit Agreement are hereby automatically, irrevocably and unconditionally
released and discharged on the Effective Date.

(b)

No Obligor shall be discharged from its Obligor Guarantee or any part thereof except
in the following circumstances, each of which shall be effective automatically and
without any further action: (i) as a result of a Disposition permitted by Section 9.2(b)
which results in such Obligor ceasing to be a Subsidiary of the Borrower, (ii) by the
re-designation of such Obligor as an Unrestricted Subsidiary in compliance with
Section 10.1, (iii) by a written release and discharge signed by the Agent, with the
prior written consent of all of the Lenders or (iv) if all of the Outstandings have been
repaid, paid, satisfied and discharged, as the case may be, in full and the Credit
Facility has been fully cancelled.

(c)

The Agent, at the cost and expense of the Borrower, shall from time to time do,
execute and deliver, or cause to be done, executed and delivered, all such agreements,
instruments, certificates, financing statements, notices and other documents and all
acts, matters and things as may be reasonably requested by the Borrower to give
effect to, establish, evidence or record the foregoing release and discharge.
ARTICLE 11
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

11.1

Events of Default
Each of the following events or conditions shall constitute an “Event of Default”:
(a)

Principal Default. if the Borrower fails to pay any Outstanding Principal of any
Loan when due and payable hereunder;

(b)

Other Payment Default. if the Borrower fails to pay (1) any interest (including, if
applicable, default interest) on any Loan; (1) any acceptance fee with respect to
Bankers’ Acceptances; (1) any standby fees payable hereunder; or (1) any other
amount not specifically referred to herein payable by the Borrower hereunder or
under any other Loan Document in each case when due and payable, and, in the case
of amounts described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, such default remains unremedied
for a period of 5 Banking Days and, in the case of amounts described in clause (iv)
above, such failure remains unremedied for a period of 30 days after written notice
of such default is delivered by the Agent to the Borrower;

(c)

Breach of Certain Covenants.
(i)

if any Borrower Group Member defaults in the performance of or compliance
with its obligations under Section 9.2(b), Section 9.2(e) or Section 9.3; or
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(ii)

if the Borrower defaults in the performance of or compliance with its
obligations under Section 9.4(d)(i) and such failure remains unremedied for
a period of 5 Banking Days;

(d)

Breach of Other Covenants. if any Borrower Group Member fails to observe or
perform any covenant or obligation herein or in any other Loan Document on its
part to be observed or performed (other than a covenant or obligation whose breach
or default in performance is specifically dealt with elsewhere in this Section 11.1)
and such failure remains unremedied for a period of 30 days, in either case, after
written notice of such default is delivered by the Agent to the Borrower;

(e)

Incorrect Representations. if any representation, warranty or certification (each
a “Representation”) made or deemed to be made by or on behalf of any Borrower
Group Member herein or in any other Loan Document, certificate, report or financial
statement at any time furnished by or on behalf of any Borrower Group Member
under or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall prove
to have been false or misleading on and as of the date made or deemed made and
the Representation remains incorrect or misleading for a period of 30 days after
written notice of such default is delivered by the Agent to the Borrower;

(f)

Involuntary Insolvency. if any case, proceeding or other action shall be instituted
in any court of competent jurisdiction against any Borrower Group Member, seeking
in respect of such Borrower Group Member an adjudication in bankruptcy,
reorganization of its indebtedness, dissolution, winding up, liquidation, a
composition, proposal or arrangement with creditors, a readjustment of debts, the
appointment of a trustee, receiver, receiver and manager, interim receiver, custodian,
liquidator sequestrator or other Person with similar powers with respect to such
Borrower Group Member or of all or any substantial part of its Property, or any other
like relief in respect of such Person under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada), the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), the Winding-Up
and Restructuring Act (Canada), the United States Bankruptcy Code, or any other
bankruptcy, insolvency or analogous law and:

(g)

(i)

such case, proceeding or other action results in an entry of an order for relief
or any such adjudication or appointment; or

(ii)

the same shall continue undismissed, or unstayed and in effect, for any period
of 30 days;

Voluntary Insolvency. if any Borrower Group Member:
(i)

makes any assignment in bankruptcy or makes any other assignment for the
benefit of creditors;

(ii)

makes any proposal under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) or
any comparable law, seeks relief under the Companies’ Creditors
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Arrangement Act (Canada), the Winding-Up and Restructuring Act (Canada),
the United States Bankruptcy Code, or any other bankruptcy, insolvency or
analogous law, or files a petition or proposal to take advantage of any act of
insolvency;
(iii)

consents to or acquiesces in the appointment of a trustee in bankruptcy,
receiver, receiver and manager, interim receiver, custodian, sequestrator or
other person with similar powers of itself or of all or any portion of its Property
which is, in the opinion of the Required Lenders, material;

(iv)

files a petition or otherwise commences any proceeding seeking any
arrangement with creditors, composition, administration or readjustment
under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or
other similar law affecting creditors’ rights; or

(v)

consents to, or acquiesces in, the filing of such assignment, proposal, relief,
petition, proposal, appointment or proceeding or takes any action to authorize
or effect any of the foregoing;

(h)

Dissolution. other than as permitted by Section 9.2(d), if proceedings are
commenced for the dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of a Borrower Group
Member unless such proceedings are being actively and diligently contested in good
faith to the satisfaction of the Required Lenders, or if a decree or order is enacted
for the dissolution, liquidation or winding-up of a Borrower Group Member, except
in each case as permitted hereunder;

(i)

Security Realization. if any secured creditors of a Borrower Group Member realize
upon or enforce their security against Property of such Person having an aggregate
Fair Market Value in excess of the Threshold Amount and such realization or
enforcement shall continue in effect and not be released, discharged or stayed within
30 days;

(j)

Seizure. if Property of any Borrower Group Member having an aggregate Fair
Market Value in excess of the Threshold Amount is seized or otherwise attached by
anyone pursuant to any legal process or other means, including distress, execution
or any other step or proceeding with similar effect, and, in any case, any such
attachment, step or other proceeding shall continue in effect and not be released,
discharged or stayed within 30 days;

(k)

Judgments. if final judgments or orders for the payment of money aggregating in
excess of the Threshold Amount are rendered against any Borrower Group Member
and the same remain undischarged and not effectively stayed or appealed for a period
of 30 days after entry thereof or shall remain undischarged for a period of 30 days
after expiration of any such stay;
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(l)

Writs of Execution. if writs of execution or attachment or similar process in respect
of any judgments or claims which in the aggregate are in excess of the Threshold
Amount are entered, commenced or levied against all or a substantial portion of the
Property of a Borrower Group Member and such writs, execution, attachment or
similar processes are not released, bonded, satisfied, discharged, vacated or stayed
within 30 days after their entry, commencement or levy;

(m)

Cross Acceleration. if a default, event of default or other similar condition or event
(however described) in respect of any Borrower Group Member occurs or exists
under any indentures, credit agreements, agreements or other instruments evidencing
or relating to any other Funded Debt of any Borrower Group Member (individually
or collectively) where the aggregate outstanding principal amounts thereof are in
excess of the Threshold Amount and, in any such case, any such default, event or
condition has resulted in such Funded Debt becoming due and payable thereunder
before it would otherwise have been due and payable;

(n)

Change of Control. if a Change of Control occurs;

(o)

Lender Hedge Agreement. if a Hedge Agreement Demand for Payment has been
delivered to any Obligor and such Obligor fails to make payment thereunder within
3 Banking Days after the time when such payment is due;

(p)

Qualified Auditor Report. if the audited financial statements that are required to
be delivered to the Agent pursuant to Section 9.4 contain a going concern note or a
material qualification that is not acceptable to the Required Lenders, acting
reasonably, and, if unacceptable, such qualification is not rectified or otherwise dealt
with to the satisfaction of the Required Lenders within a period of 30 days after the
delivery of such financial statements;

(q)

Invalidity. if any Loan Document or any material provision thereof shall at any
time for any reason cease to be in full force and effect (other than through a release
by the Agent or the Lenders pursuant to the Loan Documents), be declared to be
void or voidable and the same is not forthwith effectively rectified or replaced by
the applicable Borrower Group Member forthwith upon demand by the Agent within
5 Banking Days of notice of such Loan Document not being in full force and effect,
or declaration that such Loan Document is void or voidable, by the Agent to the
applicable Borrower Group Member specifying the particulars of such failure or
declaration and requiring rectification or replacement (as applicable) or shall be
repudiated, or the validity or enforceability thereof shall at any time be contested by
any Borrower Group Member, or any Borrower Group Member shall deny that it
has any or any further liability or obligation thereunder or at any time it shall be
unlawful or impossible for it to perform any of its obligations under any Loan
Document; or

Exhibit 10.1
101

(r)

11.2

Cessation of Business. except as permitted hereunder, if any Obligor shall cease
to carry on all or any material part of its business as now conducted or threatens to
do the same.

Enforcement
(a)

Acceleration. If any Event of Default shall occur and for so long as it is continuing,
the Total Commitment shall, upon the direction of the Required Lenders to the Agent
and written notice of the same from the Agent to the Borrower, terminate, and:
(i)

the entire principal amount of all Loans then outstanding hereunder and all
accrued and unpaid interest thereon,

(ii)

an amount equal to the face amount at maturity of all Bankers’ Acceptances
issued by the Borrower hereunder which are unmatured, and

(iii)

all other Outstandings outstanding hereunder,

shall, at the option of the Agent in accordance with the last sentence of Section 14.9
or upon the request of the Required Lenders, become immediately due and payable
upon written notice to that effect from the Agent to the Borrower, all without
presentment, protest, demand, notice of dishonour or any other demand whatsoever
(all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower); provided that upon the
occurrence of the events described in Sections 11.1(f) and (g), such termination and
acceleration shall be automatic and no such notice shall be required.
(b)

11.3

Remedies. If the Borrower does not pay all Outstandings owing by them forthwith
after receipt of a notice under Section 11.2, the Agent on behalf of the Lenders and
in accordance with Section 14.9 may, in its discretion, exercise any right or recourse
and/or proceed by any action, suit, remedy or proceeding against the Borrower
authorized or permitted by Applicable Law for the recovery of all the Outstandings
of the Borrower owing to the Lenders hereunder and proceed to exercise any and
all rights hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and no such remedy for
the enforcement of the rights of the Lenders shall be exclusive of or dependent on
any other remedy but any one or more of such remedies may from time to time be
exercised independently or in combination.

Suspension of Lenders’ Outstandings

The occurrence of a Default or Event of Default that is continuing shall relieve the Lenders
of all obligations to provide any further Drawdowns to the Borrower hereunder; provided that the
foregoing shall not prevent the Lenders or the Agent from disbursing money or effecting any
Conversion which, by the terms hereof, they are entitled to effect, or any Conversion or Rollover
requested by the Borrower and acceptable to the Lenders and the Agent, acting reasonably.
11.4

Cash Collateral Accounts
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11.5

(a)

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Agent on behalf of the Lenders may
require the Borrower to forthwith pay funds in an amount sufficient to pay the
maximum aggregate amount for which such Lenders are or may become liable in
respect of all outstanding Bankers’ Acceptances into a Cash Collateral Account in
accordance with Section 7.4(b).

(b)

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Agent on behalf of the Lenders may
require the Borrower to forthwith pay funds in an amount sufficient to pay the
maximum aggregate amount for which such Lenders are or may become liable in
respect of all outstanding Letters of Credit into a Cash Collateral Account in
accordance with Section 7.4(c).

Right of Set Off

If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, each of the Lenders is hereby authorized
at any time and from time to time to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time
or demand, provisional or final, in whatever currency) at any time held and other obligations (in
whatever currency) at any time owing by such Lender to or for the credit or the account of any
Obligor against any and all of the obligations of the Obligors now or hereafter existing under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document to such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender
has made any demand under this Agreement or any other Loan Document and although such
obligations of the Obligor may be contingent or unmatured or are owed to a branch or office of
such Lender different from the branch or office holding such deposit or obligated on such
indebtedness. The rights of each of the Lenders under this Section 11.5 are in addition to other rights
and remedies (including other rights of setoff, consolidation of accounts and bankers’ lien) that the
Lenders may have. Each Lender agrees to promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent after any
such setoff and application, but the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such
setoff and application.
11.6

Sharing of Payments by Lenders

If any Lender, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtains any
payment or other reduction that might result in such Lender receiving payment or other reduction
of a proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon or other obligations
hereunder greater than its pro rata share thereof as provided herein, then the Lender receiving such
payment or other reduction shall:
(a)

notify the Agent of such fact; and

(b)

purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans and such other
obligations of the other Lenders, or make such other adjustments as shall be equitable,
so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders rateably in
accordance with the aggregate amount of principal of and accrued interest on their
respective Loans and other amounts owing to them, provided that:
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(i)

if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment
giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and
the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest;

(ii)

the provisions of this Section 11.6 shall not be construed to apply to (x) any
payment made by any Obligor pursuant to and in accordance with the express
terms of this Agreement or (y) any payment obtained by a Lender as
consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of its
Loans to any assignee or participant, other than to any Obligor or any Affiliate
of an Obligor (as to which the provisions of this Section shall apply); and

(iii)

the provisions of this Section 11.6 shall not be construed to apply to (A) Cash
Collateral provided, payment received, or the exercise of rights of
counterclaim, set-off or banker’s lien or similar rights, in respect of any Cash
Management Services provided by, or Cash Management Obligations owing
to, any Cash Manager, (B) any payment made while no Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing in respect of obligations of the Borrower to such
Lender that do not arise under or in connection with the Loan Documents,
(C) any payment made in respect of an obligation that is secured by a
Permitted Lien or that is otherwise entitled to priority over the Borrower’s
obligations under or in connection with the Loan Documents, or (D) any
reduction arising from an amount owing to an Obligor upon the termination
of any Lender Hedge Agreement, or (E) any payment to which such Lender
is entitled as a result of any form of credit protection obtained by such Lender.

The Obligors consent to the foregoing and agree, to the extent they may effectively do so
under Applicable Law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing
arrangements may exercise against each Obligor rights of setoff and counterclaim and similar rights
of Lenders with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of
each Obligor in the amount of such participation.
11.7

Remedies Cumulative and Waivers

For greater certainty, it is expressly understood and agreed that the rights and remedies of
the Lenders and the Agent hereunder or under any other Loan Document are cumulative and are in
addition to and not in substitution for any rights or remedies provided by law or by equity; and any
single or partial exercise by the Lenders or by the Agent of any right or remedy for a default or
breach of any term, covenant, condition or agreement contained in this Agreement or other Loan
Document shall not be deemed to be a waiver of or to alter, affect or prejudice any other right or
remedy or other rights or remedies to which any one or more of the Lenders and the Agent may be
lawfully entitled for such default or breach. Any waiver by, as applicable, the Required Lenders,
the Lenders or the Agent of the strict observance, performance or compliance with any term,
covenant, condition or other matter contained herein and any indulgence granted, either expressly
or by course of conduct, by, as applicable, the Required Lenders, the Lenders or the Agent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given and shall be deemed
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not to be a waiver of any rights and remedies of the Lenders or the Agent under this Agreement or
any other Loan Document as a result of any other default or breach hereunder or thereunder.
11.8

Adjustment

After all Obligations are declared by the Agent to be due and payable pursuant to Section 11.2, (i)
each Lender agrees that it will at any time or from time to time thereafter at the request of the Agent
as required by any Lender, purchase at par on a non-recourse basis a participation in Outstanding
Principal owing to each of the other Lenders and make any other adjustments as are necessary or
appropriate in order that the Outstanding Principal owing to each of the Lenders, as adjusted pursuant
to this Section 11.8, will be in the same proportion as each Lender’s Commitment was to the Total
Commitment immediately prior to the Event of Default resulting in such declaration, and (ii) the
amount of any repayment made by or on behalf of the Obligors under the Loan Documents or any
proceeds received by the Agent or the Lenders pursuant to Section 11.6 will be applied by the Agent
in a manner such that to the extent possible the Outstanding Principal owing to each Lender after
giving effect to such application will be in the same proportion as each Lender’s Commitment was
to the Total Commitment immediately prior to the Event of Default resulting in such declaration.
ARTICLE 12
YIELD PROTECTION / TAXES / REPLACEMENT OF LENDERS
12.1

Increased Costs
(a)

Increased Costs Generally. If, after the Effective Date, any Change in Law shall:
(i)

impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, liquidity,
compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of,
deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended or participated in by,
any Lender;

(ii)

subject any Lender to any Tax of any kind whatsoever with respect to this
Agreement or any Loan made by it, or change the basis of taxation of
payments to such Lender in respect thereof, except for Indemnified Taxes or
Other Taxes covered by Section 12.2 and except for the imposition, or any
change in the rate, of any Excluded Tax payable by such Lender; or

(iii)

impose on any Lender or any applicable interbank market any other
condition, cost or expense affecting this Agreement or Loans made by such
Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of
making or maintaining any Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such
Loan), or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender
hereunder (whether of principal, interest or any other amount), then upon request of
the Required Lenders, the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount

Exhibit 10.1
105

or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such additional costs incurred or
reduction suffered.

12.2

(b)

Capital Requirements. If any Lender determines that any Change in Law affecting
such Lender or any lending office of such Lender or such Lender’s holding company,
if any, regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or would have the effect of
reducing the rate of return on such Lender’s capital or on the capital of such Lender’s
holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement, the Commitments of
such Lender or the Loans made by such Lender, to a level below that which such
Lender or its holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law
(taking into consideration such Lender’s policies and the policies of its holding
company with respect to capital adequacy), then the Borrower, will pay to such
Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or its
holding company for any such reduction suffered.

(c)

Certificates for Reimbursement. Upon a Lender having determined that it is
entitled to additional compensation in accordance with the provisions of
Section 12.1(a) or 12.1(b), such Lender shall, within 90 days, so notify the Borrower
and the Agent, provided that, if the Borrower is not provided with such notice within
such period, then such Lender shall not be entitled to claim additional compensation
for any period prior to the date of delivery of such notice. The Lender shall provide
to the Borrower and the Agent a photocopy of the relevant law or official directive
(or, if it is impracticable to provide a photocopy, a written summary of the same). A
certificate of a Lender setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate
such Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, as specified in
Section 12.1(a) or 12.1(b), including reasonable detail of the basis of calculation of
the amount or amounts, and delivered to the Borrower shall be conclusive absent
manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on
any such certificate within 10 Banking Days after receipt thereof.

(d)

Delay in Requests. Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand
compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender’s
right to demand such compensation, except that the Borrower shall not be required
to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section 12.1 for any increased costs incurred
or reductions suffered more than 90 days prior to the date that such Lender notifies
the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions
and of such Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor, unless the Change
in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, in which case
the 90-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of
retroactive effect thereof.

(e)

Consistent Treatment. A Lender shall only be entitled to claim compensation
pursuant to this Section 12.1 if and to the extent that is claiming similar compensation
from other comparable borrowers under comparable credit facilities.

Taxes
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(a)

Payments Subject to Taxes. If any Obligor, the Agent, or any Lender is required
by Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith discretion of the applicable
withholding agent) to deduct or pay any Indemnified Taxes (including any Other
Taxes) in respect of any payment by or on account of any obligation of an Obligor
hereunder or under any other Loan Document, then:
(i)

the sum payable shall be increased by that Obligor when payable as necessary
so that after making or allowing for all required deductions and payments
(including deductions and payments applicable to additional sums payable
under this Section 12.2) the Agent or Lender, as the case may be, receives
an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions
or payments been required;

(ii)

the Borrower shall make any such deductions required to be made by it under
Applicable Law; and

(iii)

the Borrower shall timely pay the full amount required to be deducted to the
relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law.

(b)

Payment of Other Taxes by the Borrower. Without limiting the provisions of
paragraph (a) above, the Borrower shall timely pay any Other Taxes to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law.

(c)

Indemnification.
(i)

The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent and each Lender, within 10 Banking
Days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes or
Other Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or
asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) payable
or paid by the Agent or such Lender or required to be withheld or deducted
from a payment to the Agent or such Lender and any penalties, interest and
reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or
not such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed
or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority (subject to the following
sentence and Section 12.2(f)) with a certificate as to the amount of such
payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to
the Agent), or by the Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall
be conclusive absent manifest error. In the event the Borrower has made a
payment to the Agent or a Lender pursuant to this paragraph (c) and the Agent
or Lender is thereafter granted or receives a credit, refund or remission in
respect of the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes, then the Agent or Lender,
as the case may be, shall, subject to the Borrower having paid the relevant
amount payable under this paragraph (c) and to the extent it is satisfied that
it can do so without prejudice to the retention of the amount of such credit,
refund or remission, refund to the Borrower such amount (if any) as the Agent
or Lender determines in good faith will leave the Agent or Lender in no worse
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position than would have been the case if there had been no obligation to
pay the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes in the first place. The Agent or
Lender shall not be obligated to provide to the Borrower copies of all or any
part of its tax returns, financial statements or other corporate financial data
by reason of any such matter.
(ii)

Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Agent, within 10 Banking Days
after demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes
attributable to such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not
already indemnified the Agent for such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes
(including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or
attributable to amounts payable under this Section) and without limiting the
obligation of the Borrower to do so), (ii) any Taxes attributable to the Agent’s
failure to comply with the provisions of Section 15.2(c) relating to the
maintenance of a Register and (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such
Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the Agent in connection
with any Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or
with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally
imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as
to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the
Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby
authorizes the Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time
owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by
the Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the
Agent under this paragraph.

(d)

Evidence of Payments. As soon as practicable after any payment of Indemnified
Taxes or Other Taxes by an Obligor to a Governmental Authority, the Borrower shall
deliver to the Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such
Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting
such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Agent.

(e)

Status of Lenders. Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction
of withholding tax with respect to payments hereunder or under any other Loan
Document shall, at the request of the Borrower or the Agent, deliver to the Borrower
and the Agent, no later than 30 days after the later of the date of the request and the
date such Lender becomes a party hereto (or designates a new lending office) under
this Agreement, at the time or times prescribed by Applicable Law or reasonably
requested by the Borrower or the Agent, such properly completed and executed
documentation prescribed by Applicable Law as will permit such payments to be
made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition:
(i)

any Lender, if requested by the Borrower or the Agent, shall deliver such
other documentation prescribed by Applicable Law or reasonably requested
by the Borrower or the Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Agent to
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determine whether or not such Lender is subject to withholding or
information reporting requirements; and
(ii)

12.3

any Lender that becomes subject to Canadian withholding tax with respect
to any Outstandings other than by reason of a Change in Law, shall within
5 days thereof notify the Borrower and the Agent in writing.

(f)

Treatment of Certain Refunds and Tax Reductions. Without duplication of
amounts payable pursuant to Section 12.2(c), if the Agent or a Lender determines,
in its sole discretion, that it has received a credit, refund or remission of any
Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by the
Borrower or with respect to which another Obligor has paid additional amounts
pursuant to this Section, it shall pay to the Borrower or other Obligor, as applicable,
an amount equal to such credit, refund or remission (but only to the extent of
indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower or other
Obligor under this Section with respect to the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes
giving rise to such refund, credit or remission), net of all reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses of the Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, and without interest. The
Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Obligor, as applicable, to, upon the request
of the Agent or such Lender, repay the amount paid over to the Borrower or other
Obligor (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant
Governmental Authority) to the Agent or such Lender if the Agent or such Lender
is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. This paragraph
shall not be construed to require the Agent or any Lender to make available its tax
returns (or any other information relating to its taxes that it deems confidential) to
the Borrower or any other Person, to arrange its affairs in any particular manner or
to claim any available refund or reduction.

(g)

Survival. The provisions of Section 12.2(c) shall survive the repayment of the
Outstandings and the cancellation of the Credit Facility.

Mitigation Obligations: Replacement of Lenders
(a)

Designation of a Different Lending Office. If any Lender requests compensation
under Section 12.1, or requires the Borrower to pay any additional amount to any
Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to
Section 12.2, then, with the consent of the Borrower, such Lender shall use
reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its
Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its
offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation
or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to
Section 12.1 or 12.2, as the case may be, in the future and (ii) would not subject such
Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be
disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable
costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation
or assignment.
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(b)

Replacement of Lenders. If: (I) any Lender requests compensation under
Section 12.1; (II) the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any
Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to
Section 12.2; (III) any Lender’s obligations are suspended pursuant to Section 12.4;
(IV) any Lender exercises its rights under Section 12.5 or 12.6 or 12.7 but not all
Lenders are so affected; any Lender does not provide its consent to a request by the
Borrower for a waiver of a condition precedent as provided in Section 3.3; (V) any
Lender does not provide its consent, waiver or agreement to a request by the Borrower
for a consent, waiver or amendment that requires the consent of all of the Lenders,
all Required Lenders or all affected Lenders as provided for in Section 15.10(a) or
15.10(b), as applicable; or (VI) any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender; then, in
addition to and not in limitation of or derogation from the other provisions hereof,
the Borrower shall have the right, at its option:
(i)

at their sole expense and effort, upon 10 days’ written notice to such Lender
and the Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse
(in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in, and consents
required by, Section 15.2), all of its interests, rights and obligations under
this Agreement and the related Loan Documents to an assignee that shall
assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender
accepts such assignment), provided that:
(A)

the assigning Lender receives payment of an amount equal to the
Outstanding Principal of its Loans and accrued interest thereon,
accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder and under
the other Loan Documents (including any breakage costs and
amounts required to be paid under this Agreement as a result of
prepayment to a Lender) from the assignee (to the extent of such
outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower
(in the case of all other amounts) (or such lower amount as the
assigning Lender may agree in its sole discretion);

(B)

in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for
compensation under Section 12.1 or payments required to be made
pursuant to Section 12.2, such assignment will result in a reduction
in such compensation or payments thereafter;

(C)

in the case of any assignment in the circumstances set out in
subparagraph (V) of this Section 12.3(b), such waiver or amendment
is approved by (A) all other Lenders, in the case of a consent or
agreement requiring all Lenders, (B) at least the Required Lenders,
in the case of a consent or agreement requiring the Required Lenders,
or (C) all other affected Lenders, in the case of a consent or agreement
requiring all affected Lenders, and in each case the assignee consents
to such waiver or amendment; and
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(D)
(ii)

such assignment does not conflict with Applicable Law; or

elect to terminate such Lender’s Commitments, in which case the Total
Commitment shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount of any
Lender’s Commitment so cancelled (provided that prior to or concurrently
with such cancellation such Lender shall have received payment in full of
all principal, interest, fees and other amounts through such date of
cancellation and a release from any further obligations to make Advances
under the Loan Documents after such termination).

A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment or delegation if, prior
thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances
entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.
Solely for purposes of effecting any assignment involving a Defaulting Lender under
this Section 12.3 and to the extent permitted under Applicable Law, each Lender
hereby designates and appoints the Agent as true and lawful agent and attorney-infact, with full power and authority, for and on behalf of and in the name of such
Lender to execute, acknowledge and deliver the assignment required hereunder if
such Lender is a Defaulting Lender and such Lender shall be bound thereby as fully
and effectively as if such Lender had personally executed, acknowledged and
delivered the same.
The Borrower may exercise any combination of their rights to replace or repay
Lenders under this Section 12.3; provided that in each case each Lender being
replaced or repaid is treated rateably with each of the other Lenders being replaced
or repaid.
12.4

Illegality

If any Lender determines in good faith that the adoption of any Applicable Law has made
it unlawful, or that any Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for any Lender or
its applicable lending office to make or maintain any Loan (or to maintain its obligation to make
any Loan), or to determine or charge interest rates based upon any particular rate, then, on notice
thereof by such Lender to the Borrower through the Agent, any obligation of such Lender with
respect to the activity that is unlawful shall be suspended until such Lender notifies the Agent and
the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist. Upon receipt
of such notice (with a copy to the Agent), the Borrower shall, within the time required by such
Applicable Law (or on demand if no such time period is prescribed by Applicable Law or at the
end of such longer period as such Lender at its discretion may agree), prepay without penalty or
premium or, if conversion would avoid the activity that is unlawful, convert any Loans in order to
avoid the activity that is unlawful. Upon any such prepayment or conversion, the Borrower shall
also pay accrued interest on the amount so prepaid or converted. Each Lender agrees to designate
a different lending office if such designation will avoid the need for such notice and will not, in the
good faith judgment of such Lender, otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender. If any such
change shall only affect a portion of such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement which is, in
the opinion of such Lender and the Agent, severable from the remainder of this Agreement so that
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the remainder of this Agreement may be continued in full force and effect without otherwise affecting
any of the obligations of the Agent, the other Lenders or the Borrower hereunder, such Lender shall
only declare its obligations under that portion so terminated.
12.4

Illegality

If any Lender determines in good faith that the adoption of any Applicable Law has made
it unlawful, or that any Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for any Lender or
its applicable lending office to make or maintain any Loan (or to maintain its obligation to make
any Loan), or to determine or charge interest rates based upon any particular rate, then, on notice
thereof by such Lender to the Borrower through the Agent, any obligation of such Lender with
respect to the activity that is unlawful shall be suspended until such Lender notifies the Agent and
the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist. Upon receipt
of such notice (with a copy to the Agent), the Borrower shall, within the time required by such
Applicable Law (or on demand if no such time period is prescribed by Applicable Law or at the
end of such longer period as such Lender at its discretion may agree), prepay without penalty or
premium or, if conversion would avoid the activity that is unlawful, convert any Loans in order to
avoid the activity that is unlawful. Upon any such prepayment or conversion, the Borrower shall
also pay accrued interest on the amount so prepaid or converted. Each Lender agrees to designate
a different lending office if such designation will avoid the need for such notice and will not, in the
good faith judgment of such Lender, otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender. If any such
change shall only affect a portion of such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement which is, in
the opinion of such Lender and the Agent, severable from the remainder of this Agreement so that
the remainder of this Agreement may be continued in full force and effect without otherwise affecting
any of the obligations of the Agent, the other Lenders or the Borrower hereunder, such Lender shall
only declare its obligations under that portion so terminated.
12.5

Market Disruption Respecting Bankers’ Acceptances
If:
(a)

the Agent (acting reasonably) makes a determination, which determination shall be
conclusive and binding upon the Borrower, and notifies the Borrower, that there no
longer exists an active market for bankers’ acceptances accepted by the Lenders; or

(b)

the Borrower is not marketing Bankers’ Acceptances on its own and the Agent is
advised by Lenders holding at least 35% of the Total Commitment by written notice
(each, a “BA Suspension Notice”) that such Lenders have determined (acting
reasonably) that the BA Discount Rate will not or does not accurately reflect the cost
of funds of such Lenders or the discount rate which would be applicable to a sale of
Bankers’ Acceptances accepted by such Lenders in the market for the applicable
term;

then:
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(c)

the right of the Borrower to request Bankers’ Acceptances or BA Equivalent
Advances from any Lender shall be suspended until the Agent determines that the
circumstances causing such suspension no longer exist, and so notifies the Borrower
and the Lenders;

(d)

any outstanding Drawdown Notice requesting a Loan by way of Bankers’
Acceptances or BA Equivalent Advances shall be deemed to be a Drawdown Notice
requesting a Prime Loan in the amount specified in the original Drawdown Notice;

(e)

any outstanding Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice requesting a Conversion
of a Loan by way of Prime Loan, USBR Loan or LIBO Rate Loan into a Loan by
way of Bankers’ Acceptances or BA Equivalent Advances shall be deemed to be a
Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice requesting a Conversion of such Loan into
a Prime Loan; and

(f)

any outstanding Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice requesting a Rollover of
a Loan by way of Bankers’ Acceptances or BA Equivalent Advances, shall be deemed
to be a Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice requesting a Conversion of such
Loan into a Prime Loan.

The Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of any suspension of the
Borrower’s right to request Bankers’ Acceptances or BA Equivalent Advances and of any
termination of any such suspension. A BA Suspension Notice shall be effective upon receipt of the
same by the Agent if received prior to 12:00 noon (Toronto time) on a Banking Day and if not, then
on the next following Banking Day, except in connection with a Drawdown Notice or Conversion/
Rollover/Repayment Notice previously received by the Agent, in which case the applicable BA
Suspension Notice shall only be effective with respect to such previously received Drawdown Notice
or Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice if received by the Agent prior to 12:00 noon (Toronto
time) 2 Banking Days prior to the proposed Drawdown Date, Conversion Date or Rollover Date
(as applicable) applicable to such previously received Drawdown Notice or Conversion/Rollover/
Repayment Notice, as applicable.
12.6

Market Disruption Respecting LIBO Rate Loans

If, at any time subsequent to the giving of a Drawdown Notice or a Conversion/Rollover/
Repayment Notice to the Agent by the Borrower with regard to any requested LIBO Rate Loan:
(a)

the Agent (acting reasonably) determines that by reason of circumstances affecting
the London interbank market, adequate and fair means do not exist for ascertaining
the rate of interest with respect to, or deposits are not available in sufficient amounts
in the ordinary course of business at the rate determined hereunder to fund, a
requested LIBO Rate Loan during the ensuing Interest Period selected;

(b)

the Agent (acting reasonably) determines that the making or continuing of the
requested LIBO Rate Loan by the Lenders has been made impracticable by the
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occurrence of an event which materially adversely affects the London interbank
market generally; or
(c)

the Agent is advised by Lenders holding at least 35% of the Total Commitment by
written notice (each, a “LIBO Suspension Notice”), such notice to be received by
the Agent no later than 12:00 noon (Toronto time) on the third Banking Day prior
to the date of the requested Drawdown, Rollover or Conversion, as the case may be,
that such Lenders have determined (acting reasonably) that the LIBO Rate will not
or does not adequately reflect the effective cost of funds to such Lenders of United
States Dollar deposits in such market for the relevant Interest Period,

then the Agent shall give notice thereof to the Lenders and the Borrower as soon as possible after
such determination or receipt of such LIBO Suspension Notice, as the case may be, and the Borrower
shall, within one Banking Day after receipt of such notice and in replacement of the Drawdown
Notice or Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice, as the case may be, previously given by the
Borrower, give the Agent a Drawdown Notice or a Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice, as the
case may be, which specifies the Drawdown of any other Loan or the Conversion of the relevant
LIBO Rate Loan on the last day of the applicable Interest Period into any other Loan which would
not be affected by the notice from the Agent pursuant to this Section 12.6.
In the event the Borrower fails to give, if applicable, a valid replacement Conversion/
Rollover/Repayment Notice with respect to the maturing LIBO Rate Loans which were the subject
of a Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice, such maturing LIBO Rate Loans shall be converted
on the last day of the applicable Interest Period into USBR Loans as if a valid replacement
Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice had been given to the Agent by the Borrower pursuant to
the provisions hereof. In the event the Borrower fails to give, if applicable, a valid replacement
Drawdown Notice with respect to a Drawdown originally requested by way of a LIBO Rate Loan,
then the Borrower shall be deemed to have requested a Drawdown by way of a USBR Loan in the
amount specified in the original Drawdown Notice and, on the originally requested Drawdown
Date, the Lenders (subject to the other provisions hereof) shall make available the requested amount
by way of a USBR Loan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Agent (i) determines that the circumstances described
in clause (b) of this section have arisen and such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary, (ii)
determines that the circumstances described in clause (b) of this section have not arisen but the
supervisor for the administrator of the LIBO Rate or a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction
over the Agent has made a public statement identifying a specific date after which the LIBO Rate
shall no longer be used for determining interest rates for loans, (iii) is advised by the Required
Lenders of their determination in accordance with clause (c) of this Section 12.6, or (iv) new
syndicated loans have started to adopt a new benchmark interest rate, then the Agent and the
Borrower shall endeavor to establish an alternate rate of interest to the LIBO Rate that gives due
consideration to the then prevailing market convention for determining a rate of interest for
syndicated loans in Canada and the United States at such time, and shall enter into an amendment
to this Agreement to reflect such alternate rate of interest and such other related changes to this
Agreement as may be applicable, provided that to the extent that the Agent determines that adoption
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of any portion of such market convention is not administratively feasible or that no market
convention for the administration of such alternate rate of interest exists, the Agent shall administer
such alternate rate of interest in a manner determined by the Agent in consultation with the Borrower.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, such amendment shall become effective without any
further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement so long as the Agent shall not have
received, within five (5) Banking Days of the date notice of such alternate rate of interest is provided
to the Lenders, a written notice from the Required Lenders stating that such Required Lenders object
to such amendment. If a notice of an alternate rate of interest has been given and no such alternate
rate of interest has been determined, and (x) the circumstances under clause (i) or (iii) above exist
or (y) the specific date referred to in clause (ii) has occurred (as applicable), the US Base Rate shall
apply without regard to clause (c) of the definition thereof and any requested Drawdown by way
of, Conversion into, or Rollover of, LIBO Rate Loans shall be deemed to be a request for a USBR
Loan in the same principal amount. If such alternate rate of interest (determined as aforesaid) shall
be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.
12.7

Takeovers
(a)

Takeover Procedure. If the Borrower wishes to utilize, whether directly or
indirectly, Drawdowns under the Credit Facility to facilitate, assist or participate in
a Takeover by any Obligor or any Affiliate thereof:
(i)

at least 10 Banking Days prior to the delivery to the Agent of a Drawdown
Notice made in connection with a Takeover, an Authorized Officer of the
Borrower will notify the Agent in writing (who will then notify the Lenders)
of the particulars of the Takeover in sufficient detail to enable each Lender
to determine, in each Lender’s sole discretion, whether it will permit a
Drawdown to be utilized for such Takeover;

(ii)

if a Lender decides not to fund an Advance to be utilized for such Takeover,
then upon such Lender so notifying the Agent in writing (who will then notify
the Borrower), such Lender will have no obligation to fund such Advance
notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary; and

(iii)

each Lender will use reasonable commercial efforts to notify the Agent in
writing as soon as practicable (and in any event within 5 Banking Days of
receipt of the particulars thereof from the Agent) of its decision whether or
not to fund a proposed Takeover and if no such notice is delivered to the
Agent in such period, such Lender will be deemed to have elected not to
fund,

and in the event that any Lender has such a conflict of interest and has elected not
to participate in the requested Advance, then upon the Agent so notifying the
Borrower, such Lender will have no obligation to provide Advances for such
Takeover notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary;
provided, however, that each Lender, which has, or is deemed to have, no such
conflict of interest will have an obligation, up to the amount of its Commitment, to
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provide Advances for such Takeover, and any such Advance for such Takeover will
be provided by each Takeover Lender in accordance with the ratio that its
Commitment bears to the aggregate of the Commitments of all Lenders participating
in such Advance.
(b)

Takeover Loans. If an Advance under the Credit Facility is utilized for the purposes
of a Takeover and there are Lenders that have not funded such Advance in accordance
with Section 12.7(a), then following the making of any such Advance and
notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all subsequent
Advances under the Credit Facility shall be made entirely by the Lenders not funding
such Advance until such time as each Lender’s Applicable Percentage of the
Outstanding Principal under the Credit Facility is equal to its Applicable Percentage
of the Total Commitment; provided that, for certainty, no Lender shall be required
to make an Advance under a Tranche if it does not have a Commitment thereunder.
ARTICLE 13
EXPENSES, INDEMNIFICATION AND JUDGMENT CURRENCY

13.1

Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver
(a)

(b)

Costs and Expenses. The Borrower shall pay, within 30 days after notice from the
Agent:
(i)

all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, including the
reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of primary counsel for the Agent
(including a single firm of local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction) or
otherwise retained with the Borrower’s written consent (such written consent
not to be unreasonable withheld or delayed), in connection with the
syndication of the Credit Facility, the preparation, negotiation, execution,
delivery and administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents
or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions hereof or
thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall
be consummated); and

(ii)

all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent or any Lender,
including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of primary counsel
for the Agent and the Lenders (including a single firm of local counsel in
each appropriate jurisdiction), in connection with the enforcement or
protection of its rights in connection with this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents, including its rights under this Section, or in connection with the
Loans made hereunder, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred
during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans.

Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent (and
any sub-agent thereof) and each Lender, and each Related Party of any of the
foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an “Indemnitee”) against, and

Exhibit 10.1
116

hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities
and related expenses, even if joint or several, including the reasonable fees, charges
and disbursements of any counsel (on a full indemnity basis) for any Indemnitee,
incurred by any Indemnitee or asserted against any Indemnitee by any third party
arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of:
(i)

the execution or delivery of this Agreement, any other Loan Document or
any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the
performance or non-performance by the parties hereto of their respective
obligations hereunder or thereunder or the consummation or nonconsummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby;

(ii)

any Loan or the use or proposed use of the proceeds therefrom;

(iii)

any actual or alleged presence or Release of Hazardous Materials on or from
any Property owned or operated by any Obligor, or any of their respective
Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Claims related in any way to any Obligor,
or any of their respective Subsidiaries; or

(iv)

any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding
relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other
theory, and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto,

provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the
extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and non-appealable
judgment to have resulted from the bad faith, gross negligence or wilful misconduct
of such Indemnitee or an unexcused material breach of such Indemnitee’s obligations
under a Loan Document by such Indemnitee as determined by a final non-appealable
judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, but shall continue to apply to other
Indemnitees, nor shall it be available in respect of matters specifically addressed in
Sections 12.1, 12.2 and 13.1(a). An Indemnitee shall not settle any claim asserted
against any Indemnitee by a third party without the written consent of the Borrower,
which consent shall not be unreasonably delayed or withheld.
(c)

Reimbursement by Lenders. To the extent that the Borrower for any reason fail
to indefeasibly pay any amount required under Section 13.1(a) or 13.1(b) to be paid
by it to the Agent (or any sub-agent thereof) or any Related Party of any of the
foregoing, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Agent (or any such sub-agent)
or such Related Party, as the case may be, such Lender’s Applicable Percentage
(determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity
payment is sought) of such unpaid amount, provided that the unreimbursed expense
or indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be,
was incurred by or asserted against the Agent (or any such sub-agent) in its capacity
as such, or against any Related Party of any of the foregoing acting for the Agent
(or any such sub-agent) in connection with such capacity. The obligations of the
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Lenders under this paragraph (c) are subject to the other provisions of this Agreement
concerning several liability of the Lenders.

13.2

(d)

Waiver of Consequential Damages, Etc. To the fullest extent permitted by
Applicable Law, the Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Obligor to,
assert, and each hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory of
liability, for indirect, special, consequential, punitive, aggravated or exemplary
damages (as opposed to direct damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a
result of, this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any agreement or instrument
contemplated hereby (or any breach thereof), the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby, any Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof; provided that, nothing in
this paragraph (d) shall relieve the Borrower of any obligation it may have to
indemnify an Indemnitee against special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages
asserted against such Indemnitee by a third party. No Indemnitee shall be liable for
any damages arising from the use by unintended recipients of any information or
other materials distributed by it through telecommunications, electronic or other
information transmission systems in connection with this Agreement or the other
Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, provided that
the Indemnitee has used its usual and customary practices to avoid such use.

(e)

Payments. Except as expressly set forth in this Section 13.1, all amounts due under
this Section 13.1 shall be payable promptly after demand therefor. A certificate of
the Agent or a Lender which sets forth the amount or amounts owing to the Agent,
Lender or a sub-agent or Related Party, as the case may be, as specified in this
Section 13.1, including reasonable detail of the basis of calculation of the amount
or amounts, and delivered to the Borrower shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(f)

Survival. The provisions of this Section 13.1 shall survive the repayment of the
Outstandings and the cancellation of the Credit Facility.

Judgment Currency
(a)

If for the purpose of obtaining or enforcing judgment against the Borrower in any
court in any jurisdiction, it becomes necessary to convert into any other currency
(such other currency being hereinafter in this Section 13.2 referred to as the
“Judgment Currency”) an amount due in Cdn. Dollars or United States Dollars
under this Agreement, the conversion shall be made at the rate of exchange prevailing
on the Banking Day immediately preceding:
(i)

the date of actual payment of the amount due, in the case of any proceeding
in the courts of any jurisdiction that will give effect to such conversion being
made on such date; or

(ii)

the date on which the judgment is given, in the case of any proceeding in the
courts of any other jurisdiction (the date as of which such conversion is made
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pursuant to this Section 13.2 being hereinafter in this Section 13.2 referred
to as the “Judgment Conversion Date”).
(b)

If, in the case of any proceeding in the court of any jurisdiction referred to in
Section 13.2(a)(ii), there is a change in the rate of exchange prevailing between the
Judgment Conversion Date and the date of actual payment of the amount due, the
Borrower shall pay such additional amount (if any) as may be necessary to ensure
that the amount paid in the Judgment Currency, when converted at the rate of
exchange prevailing on the date of payment, will produce the amount of Cdn. Dollars
or United States Dollars, as the case may be, which could have been purchased with
the amount of Judgment Currency stipulated in the judgment or judicial order at the
rate of exchange prevailing on the Judgment Conversion Date.

(c)

Any amount due from the Borrower under the provisions of Section 13.2(b) shall
be due as a separate debt and shall not be affected by judgment being obtained for
any other amounts due under or in respect of this Agreement.

(d)

The term “rate of exchange” in this Section 13.2 means the Spot Rate.
ARTICLE 14
AGENCY

14.1

Appointment and Authority

Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints RBC as Agent and to act on its behalf as
the Agent hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and authorizes the Agent to take such
actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof
or thereof, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The provisions
of this Article are solely for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders, and no Obligor shall have
rights as a third party beneficiary of any of such provisions.
14.2

Rights as a Lender

Each Person serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its
capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent
and the term “Lender” or “Lenders” shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the context
otherwise requires, include the Person serving as the Agent hereunder in its individual capacity.
Each Person and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, act as the financial advisor
or in any other advisory capacity for and generally engage in any kind of business with any Obligor
or any Affiliate thereof as if such Person were not the Agent and without any duty to account to the
Lenders.
14.3

Exculpatory Provisions
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(a)

(b)

The Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth
herein and in the other Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the Agent:
(i)

shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of
whether a Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;

(ii)

shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any
discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly
contemplated hereby or by the other Loan Documents that the Agent is
required to exercise as directed in writing by the Required Lenders (or such
other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be expressly provided for
in the Loan Documents), but the Agent shall not be required to take any action
that, in its opinion or the opinion of its counsel, may expose the Agent to
liability or that is contrary to any Loan Document or Applicable Law; and

(iii)

shall not, except as expressly set forth herein and in the other Loan
Documents, have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure
to disclose, any information relating to the Borrower or any of its Affiliates
that is communicated to or obtained by the person serving as the Agent or
any of its Affiliates in any capacity.

The Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it:
(i)

with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other
number or percentage of the Lenders as is necessary, or as the Agent believes
in good faith is necessary, under the provisions of the Loan Documents); or

(ii)

in the absence of its own bad faith, gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default unless and until
notice describing the Default or Event of Default is given to the Agent by the
Borrower or a Lender.
(c)

Except as otherwise expressly specified in this Agreement, the Agent shall not be
responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into:
(i)

any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with this
Agreement or any other Loan Document;

(ii)

the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered hereunder
or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith;

(iii)

the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other
terms or conditions set forth herein or therein or the occurrence of any Default
or Event of Default;
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14.4

(iv)

the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of this Agreement,
any other Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document;
or

(v)

the satisfaction of any condition specified in this Agreement, other than to
confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

Reliance by Agent

The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon,
any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including
any electronic message, Internet or intranet posting or other distribution) believed by it to be genuine
and to have been signed, sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person. In determining
compliance with any condition hereunder to the making of a Loan that by its terms must be fulfilled
to the satisfaction of a Lender, the Agent may presume that such condition is satisfactory to such
Lender unless the Agent shall have received notice to the contrary from such Lender prior to the
making of such Loan. The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be Borrower’s Counsel),
independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken
or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts. The
Agent shall promptly provide information to one another in order to carry out the purpose and intent
of this Agreement.
14.5

Indemnification of Agent

Each Lender agrees to indemnify the Agent and each Related Party and hold it harmless (to
the extent not reimbursed by the Borrower), rateably according to its Applicable Percentage (and
not jointly or jointly and severally) from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities
and related expenses, including the fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel, which may be
incurred by or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of the Loan Documents
or the transactions therein contemplated. However, no Lender shall be liable for any portion of such
losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses resulting from the Agent’s bad faith, gross
negligence or wilful misconduct.
14.6

Delegation of Duties

The Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder
or under any other Loan Document by or through any one or more sub-Agent appointed by the
Agent from among the Lenders and their respective Affiliates. The Agent and any such sub-agent
may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through their respective
Related Parties. The provisions of this Article 14 and other provisions of this Agreement for the
benefit of the Agent shall apply to any such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of the Agent and
any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication
of the Credit Facility provided for herein as well as activities as the Agent.
14.7

Replacement of Agent
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14.8

(a)

The Agent may at any time give notice of its resignation to the Lenders and the
Borrower. Upon receipt of any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall
have the right, with the consent of the Borrower, such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld, to appoint a successor, which shall be a Lender having a Commitment and
having an office in Toronto, Ontario or Calgary, Alberta, or an Affiliate of any such
Lender with an office in Toronto, Ontario or Calgary, Alberta. The Agent may also
be removed at any time by the Required Lenders upon 45 days’ notice to the Agent
and the Borrower as long as the Required Lenders, with the consent of the Borrower,
such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, appoint and obtain the acceptance of
a successor within such 45 days, which, in the case of the Agent, shall be a Lender
having an office in Toronto, Ontario or Calgary, Alberta, or an Affiliate of any such
Lender with an office in Toronto, Ontario or Calgary, Alberta.

(b)

If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall
have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice
of its resignation, then the retiring Agent may on behalf of the Lenders, and with the
consent of the Borrower, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, appoint a
successor Agent meeting the qualifications specified in Section 14.7(a), provided
that if the Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders that no qualifying Person
has accepted such appointment, then such resignation shall nonetheless become
effective in accordance with such notice and (i) the retiring Agent shall be discharged
from its duties and obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents
(except that in the case of any collateral security held by the Agent on behalf of the
Lenders under any of the Loan Documents, the retiring Agent shall continue to hold
such collateral security until such time as a successor Agent is appointed) and (ii) all
payments, communications and determinations provided to be made by, to or through
the Agent shall instead be made by or to each Lender directly, until such time as the
Required Lenders appoint a successor Agent as provided for above in the preceding
paragraph.

(c)

Upon a successor’s appointment as the Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed
to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the
former Agent, and the former Agent shall be discharged from all of its duties and
obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents (if not already discharged
therefrom as provided in the preceding paragraph). The fees payable by the Borrower
to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless
otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor. After the termination
of the service of the former Agent, the provisions of this Section 14.7 and of
Section 13.1 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such former Agent, its subAgent and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted
to be taken by any of them while such former Agent was acting as the Agent.

Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Lenders
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Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent
or any other Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information
as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement.
Each Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or
any other Lender or any of their Related Parties and based on such documents and information as
it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not
taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any related
agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.
14.9

Collective Action of the Lenders

Each of the Lenders hereby acknowledges that to the extent permitted by Applicable Law,
the remedies and any collateral security provided under the Loan Documents to the Lenders are for
the benefit of the Lenders collectively and acting together and not severally and further
acknowledges that its rights hereunder and under any collateral security are to be exercised not
severally, but by the Agent upon the decision of the Required Lenders. Accordingly, notwithstanding
any of the provisions contained herein or in any collateral security, each of the Lenders hereby
covenants and agrees that it shall not be entitled to take any action hereunder or thereunder with
respect to the Credit Facility including any declaration of Default or Event of Default hereunder or
thereunder but that any such action shall be taken only by the Agent with the prior written agreement
of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be expressly
provided for in the Loan Documents). Each of the Lenders hereby further covenants and agrees that
upon any such written agreement being given, it shall co-operate fully with the Agent to the extent
requested by the Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the absence of instructions from the
Lenders and where in the sole opinion of the Agent, acting reasonably and in good faith, the
exigencies of the situation warrant such action, the Agent may without notice to or consent of the
Lenders take such action on behalf of the Lenders as it deems appropriate or desirable in the interest
of the Lenders.
14.10 Lender Decisions
The Lenders agree that all decisions as to actions to be or not to be taken, as to consents or
waivers to be given or not to be given, as to determinations to be made and otherwise in connection
with this Agreement and the Loan Documents, shall be made upon the decision of the Required
Lenders except in respect of a decision or determination where it is specifically provided in this
Agreement that “all of the Lenders”, “all Lenders”, “each of the Lenders” or words to similar effect,
or the Agent alone, is to be responsible for same. Each of the Lenders shall be bound by and agrees
to abide by and adopt all decisions made as aforesaid and covenants in all communications with
the Borrower to act in concert and to join in the action, consent, waiver, determination or other
matter decided as aforesaid.
14.11 Procedure for Funding Loans
The Agent shall make Loans available to the Borrower as required hereunder by debiting
the Agent’s Account to which the Lender’s Applicable Percentage of such Loans have been credited
in accordance with Section 2.9(b) (or causing such account to be debited) and, in the absence of
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other arrangements agreed to by the Agent and the Borrower in writing, by crediting the account
of the Borrower or, at the expense of the Borrower, transferring (or causing to be transferred) like
funds in accordance with the instructions of the Borrower as set forth in the Drawdown Notice or
Conversion/Rollover/Repayment Notice, as the case may be, in respect of each Loan; provided that
the obligation of the Agent hereunder to effect such a transfer shall be limited to taking such steps
as are commercially reasonable to implement such instructions, which steps once taken shall
constitute conclusive and binding evidence that such funds were advanced hereunder in accordance
with the provisions relating thereto and the Agent shall not be liable for any damages, claims or
costs which may be suffered by the Borrower and occasioned by the failure of such Loan to reach
the designated destination.
14.12 Remittance of Payments
Except for amounts payable to the Agent for its own account, forthwith after receipt of any
repayment pursuant hereto or payment of interest or fees pursuant to Article 4 or payment pursuant
to Article 7, the Agent shall remit to each Lender its Applicable Percentage of such payment.
14.13 Agent’s Clawback
(a)

Funding by Lenders; Presumption by Agent. Unless the Agent shall have
received notice from a Lender prior to the proposed date of any Advance of funds
that such Lender will not make available to the Agent such Lender’s share of such
Advance, the Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share available on
such date in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement concerning funding
by Lenders and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the
Borrower a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made
its share of the applicable advance available to the Agent, then such Lender shall
pay to the Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount with interest
thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is made available to
the Borrower to but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at a rate determined
by the Agent in accordance with prevailing banking industry practice on interbank
compensation. If such Lender pays such amount to the Agent, then such amount
shall constitute such Lender’s Loan included in such Advance. If such Lender does
not do so forthwith, the Borrower shall pay to the Agent forthwith on demand such
corresponding amount with interest thereon at the interest rate applicable to the
Advance in question. Any payment by the Borrower shall be without prejudice to
any claim the Borrower may have against a Lender that has failed to make such
payment to the Agent.

(b)

Payments by Borrower; Presumptions by Agent. Unless the Agent shall have
received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to
the Agent for the account of any Lender hereunder that the Borrower will not make
such payment, the Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on
such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption,
distribute the amount due to the Lenders. In such event, if the Borrower has not in
fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the
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Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender with interest
thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to
but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at a rate determined by the Agent
in accordance with prevailing banking industry practice on interbank compensation.
14.14 Adjustments Among Lenders
(a)

Adjustments to Outstandings. Each Lender agrees that, after delivery of a notice
of acceleration pursuant to Section 11.2 or the occurrence of an Event of Default
specified in Section 11.1(f) or 11.1(g), it will at any time and from time to time upon
the request of the Agent as required by any Lender purchase portions of the
Outstanding Principal owed to the other Lenders and make any other adjustments
which may be necessary or appropriate, so that the amount of Outstanding Principal
owed to each Lender, as adjusted pursuant to this Section 14.14(a), will be equal to
its Applicable Percentage of all Outstanding Principal. For the purposes of this
Section 14.14(a), any undrawn Commitments shall be deemed to have been cancelled
upon delivery of such notice of acceleration or the occurrence of such specified
Event of Default.

(b)

Application of Payments. The Agent and the Lenders agree that, after delivery of
a notice of acceleration pursuant to Section 11.2 or the occurrence of an Event of
Default specified in Section 11.1(f) or 11.1(g), the amount of any repayment made
by the Borrower under this Agreement, and the amount of any proceeds from the
exercise of any rights or remedies of the Lenders under the Loan Documents, which
are to be applied against amounts owing hereunder, shall be so applied in a manner
so that, to the extent possible, the amount of the Outstanding Principal owed to each
Lender after giving effect to such application and any adjustments made pursuant
to Section 14.14(a) shall be equal to its Applicable Percentage of all Outstanding
Principal owed to all Lenders.

(c)

Further Assurances. The Borrower agrees to be bound by and, at the request of
the Agent, to do all things necessary or appropriate to give effect to any and all
purchases and other adjustments made by and between the Lenders pursuant to this
Section 14.14, but shall incur no increased liabilities, in aggregate, by reason thereof.

14.15 Agent and Defaulting Lenders
(a)

To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, each Defaulting Lender shall be required
to provide to the Agent cash in an amount, as shall be determined from time to time
by the Agent or any Fronting Lender, as the case may be, in its discretion, equal to
all obligations of such Defaulting Lender to the Agent or such Fronting Lender, as
the case may be, that are owing or may become owing pursuant to this Agreement,
including such Defaulting Lender’s obligation to pay, on a pro rata basis, any
indemnification or expense reimbursement amounts not paid by the Borrower. Such
cash shall be held by the Agent in one or more Cash Collateral Accounts, which
accounts shall be in the name of the Agent and shall not be required to be interest
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bearing. The Agent shall be entitled to apply the foregoing cash in accordance with
Section 14.5.
(b)

In addition to the indemnity and reimbursement obligations in Section 14.5, each
Lender agrees to indemnify the Agent and hold it harmless (to the extent not
reimbursed by the Borrower) on a pro rata basis (and, in calculating the pro rata
basis, the Commitments of any Defaulting Lenders shall be excluded) any amount
that a Defaulting Lender fails to pay the Agent and which is due and owing to the
Agent pursuant to Section 14.5. Each Defaulting Lender agrees to indemnify each
other Lender for any amounts paid by such Lender and which would otherwise be
payable by the Defaulting Lender.

(c)

The Agent shall be entitled to set-off and/or withhold from any Defaulting Lender’s
pro rata portion of all payments received from the Borrower against such Defaulting
Lender’s obligations to make payments and fund Loans required to be made by it
and to purchase participations required to be purchased by it in each case under this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents. The Agent shall be entitled to withhold
and deposit in one or more non-interest bearing Cash Collateral Accounts in the
name of the Agent amounts (whether principal, interest, fees or otherwise) received
by the Agent and due to a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this Agreement, for so long
as such Lender is a Defaulting Lender, which amounts shall be used by the Agent:
(i)

first, to reimburse the Agent for any amounts owing to it, in its capacity as
Agent, by the Defaulting Lender pursuant to any Loan Document;

(ii)

second, to the payment, on a pro rata basis, of any amounts owing by such
Defaulting Lender to the Fronting Lenders hereunder;

(iii)

third, to the reimbursement, on a pro rata basis, of any indemnity amounts
owing by such Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 14.15(b);

(iv)

fourth, to Cash Collateralize all other contingent obligations of such
Defaulting Lender to the Agent or any Fronting Lenders owing pursuant to
this Agreement in such amount as shall be determined from time to time by
the Agent or any Fronting Lenders in its discretion, including such Defaulting
Lender’s obligation to pay, on a pro rata basis, any indemnification or
expense reimbursement amounts not paid by the Borrower; and

(v)

fifth, to fund from time to time such Defaulting Lender’s pro rata portion of
Loans,

provided that any such funds in excess of such Defaulting Lender’s defaulted
obligations shall be paid to the Defaulting Lender.
(d)

For greater certainty and in addition to the foregoing, neither the Agent nor any of
its Affiliates nor any of their respective shareholders, officers, directors, employees,
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agents or representatives shall be liable to any Lender (including a Defaulting Lender)
for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in connection with amounts payable
by the Borrower to a Defaulting Lender and received and deposited by the Agent in
a cash collateral account and applied in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement, save and except for the bad faith, gross negligence or wilful misconduct
of the Agent.
ARTICLE 15
GENERAL
15.1

Notices: Effectiveness; Electronic Communication
(a)

Notices Generally. All notices and other communications provided for in hereunder
shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed
by certified or registered mail or sent by facsimile to the addresses or facsimile
numbers specified:
(i)

in the case of the Agent, as follows
Royal Bank of Canada, as Agent
20 King Street West, 4th Floor
Toronto, ON M5H 1C4
Attention: Manager, Agency
Facsimile: (416) 842-4023
Email: rbcmagnt@rbccm.com

(ii)

in the case of the Borrower, as follows:
Kinder Morgan Cochin ULC
Suite 2700, 300 – 5th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, AB T2P 5J2
Attention: Assistant General Counsel
Facsimile: (403) 514-6622
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(iii)

in the case of an Obligor other than the Borrower, in care of the Borrower;
and

(iv)

in the case of a Lender, in its Administrative Questionnaire provided to the
Agent.

Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered
mail, shall be deemed to have been given when received; notices sent by facsimile
shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not given on a Banking
Day between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. local time where the recipient is located, shall
be deemed to have been given at 9:00 a.m. on the next Banking Day for the recipient).
Notices delivered through electronic communications to the extent provided in
Section 15.1(b), shall be effective as provided therein.
(b)

Electronic Communications. Notices and other communications to the Lenders
hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including
e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the
Agent, provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender of Loans
to be made if such Lender has notified the Agent that it is incapable of receiving
notices under such Article by electronic communication. The Agent or the Borrower
may, in their discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it
hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it,
provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or
communications.
Unless the Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent
to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt of an
acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt
requested” function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement),
provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal
business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to
have been sent at the opening of business on the next Banking Day for the recipient,
and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be
deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail
address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or
communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

(c)

15.2

Change of Address, Etc. Any party hereto may change its address, facsimile
number or e-mail address for notices and other communications hereunder by notice
to the other parties hereto.

Assigns
(a)

Assigns Generally. Except as permitted hereunder, no Obligor may assign or
otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written
consent of the Agent and each Lender and no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer
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any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to an Eligible Assignee in
accordance with the provisions of Section 15.2(b), (ii) by way of participation in
accordance with the provisions of Section 15.2(d), or (iii) by way of pledge or
assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of Section 15.2(f) (and
any other attempted assignment or transfer by any party hereto shall be null and
void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer
upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns
permitted hereby, Indemnitees, Participants to the extent provided in Section 15.2(d)
and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each of the
Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by
reason of this Agreement.
(b)

Assignments by Lenders. Any Lender may at any time assign to one or more
Eligible Assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement
(including all or a portion of its Commitment and the Loans at the time owing to it);
provided that:
(i)

except if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or in the case
of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender’s
Commitment and the Loans at the time owing to it or in the case of an
assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund with
respect to a Lender, the aggregate amount of the Commitment being assigned
(which for this purpose includes Loans outstanding thereunder) or, if the
applicable Commitment is not then in effect, the Equivalent Amount in
Canadian Dollars of the Outstanding Principal of the Loans of the assigning
Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the
Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to
the Agent or, if “Trade Date” is specified in the Assignment and Assumption,
as of the Trade Date) shall not be less than Cdn.$10,000,000 (and in each
case increments of Cdn.$10,000,000 in excess thereof) (or, if less, all of such
Lender’s remaining Loans and applicable Commitments under the Credit
Facility) and the minimum amount of any Commitment retained, if any, by
the assigning Lender shall be not less than Cdn.$10,000,000 unless each of
the Agent (and in the case of the assignment of any part of the Syndicated
Tranche, the Fronting Lenders) and, so long as no Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, the Borrower otherwise consents to a lower
amount (each such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed);

(ii)

each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate
part of all the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement
with respect to the Outstanding Principal or the Commitment assigned, except
that this clause (ii) shall not prohibit any Lender from assigning all or a
portion of its rights and obligations among separate credits on a non-pro rata
basis;
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

any assignment must be approved by the Agent and, in the case of an
assignment of all or any portion of a Syndicated Tranche Commitment each
Fronting Lender, (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed)
unless:
(A)

the proposed assignee is itself already a Lender (other than a
Defaulting Lender) acting through a branch in Canada, or

(B)

the proposed assignee is an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund
with respect to a Lender, and such Lender has agreed not to be released
from its obligations under this Agreement;

any assignment must be approved by the Borrower (such approval not to be
unreasonably withheld or delayed) unless:
(A)

the proposed assignee is itself already a Lender (other than a
Defaulting Lender) acting through a branch in Canada,

(B)

the proposed assignee is an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund
with respect to a Lender, and such Lender has agreed not to be released
from its obligations under this Agreement and such assignment will
not increase the amounts payable by the Borrower in connection with
any withholding Taxes, or

(C)

an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and

the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Agent an
Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee
in the amount of $3,500.00 (unless waived by the Agent) and the Eligible
Assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Agent an
Administrative Questionnaire.

Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by the Agent pursuant to Section 15.2(c),
from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption, the
Eligible Assignee thereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and, to the extent of
the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and
obligations of a Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
including any collateral security, and, unless the assigning Lender has agreed
otherwise, the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned
by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations under this
Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the
assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall
cease to be a party hereto) but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Article 12
and Section 13.1, and shall continue to be liable for any breach of this Agreement
by such Lender, with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the
effective date of such Assignment and Assumption. Any assignment or transfer by
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a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with
this paragraph shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such
Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with
Section 15.2(d). Any payment by an assignee to an assigning Lender in connection
with an assignment or transfer shall not be or be deemed to be a repayment by the
Borrower or a new Loan to the Borrower.
(c)

Register. The Agent shall maintain at one of its offices in Toronto, Ontario or
Calgary, Alberta a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a
register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the
Commitments of, and principal amounts of the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant
to the terms hereof from time to time (each, a “Register”). The entries in each Register
shall be conclusive, absent manifest error, and the Borrower, the Agent and the
Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded in a Register pursuant to the
terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement,
notwithstanding notice to the contrary. Each Register shall be available for inspection
by the Borrower and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon
reasonable prior notice.

(d)

Participations. Any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to,
the Borrower or the Agent, sell participations to any Person (other than a natural
person, a Defaulting Lender, an Obligor or any Affiliate of an Obligor) (each, a
“Participant”) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligations under
this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and/or the Outstanding
Principal owing to it); provided that:
(i)

such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged;

(ii)

such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for
the performance of such obligations;

(iii)

the Borrower, the Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely
and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and
obligations under this Agreement; and

(iv)

such Person is not a Disqualified Lender.

Any payment by a Participant to a Lender in connection with a sale of a participation
shall not be or be deemed to be a repayment by the Borrower or a new Loan to the
Borrower.
Subject to Section 15.2(e), the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled
to the benefits of Article 12 to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired
its interest by assignment pursuant to Section 15.2(b); provided that no Participant
shall be entitled to receive any amount which the transferor Lender would not have
been entitled to receive in such circumstances nor any greater amount pursuant to
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either such Section than the transferor Lender would have been entitled to receive
in respect of such amount of the participation transferred by such transferor Lender
to such participant had no such transfer occurred.

15.3

(e)

Limitations upon Participant Rights. A Participant shall not be entitled to receive
any greater payment under Sections 12.1 and 12.2 than the Lender would have been
entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless
the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower’s prior
written consent. The agreement or consent of a Participant shall not be required for
any amendment or waiver of the Loan Documents.

(f)

Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest
in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such
Lender to any Governmental Authority, but no such pledge or assignment shall
release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such
pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Etc.
(a)

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance
with, the laws of the Province of Alberta and the federal laws of Canada applicable
in that Province.

(b)

Submission to Jurisdiction. Each of the parties hereto irrevocably and
unconditionally submits, for itself and its Property, to the non-exclusive jurisdiction
of the courts of the Province of Alberta, and any appellate court from any thereof,
in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other
Loan Document, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the
parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of
any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such court. Each of
the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall
be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or
in any other manner provided by Applicable Law. Nothing in this Agreement or in
any other Loan Document shall affect any right that the Agent or any Lender may
otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any
other Loan Document against any Obligor or its properties in the courts of any other
jurisdiction.

(c)

Waiver of Venue. Each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally
waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, any objection that it may
now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any action or proceeding arising out
of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred
to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably
waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, the defense of an
inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such
court.
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15.4

Waiver of Jury Trial

Each party hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent
permitted by Applicable Law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in any legal action, proceeding
or counterclaim directly or indirectly arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan
Document or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (whether based on contract, tort or
any other theory). Each party hereto (a) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of any
other Person has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other Person would not, in the event
of litigation, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and (b) acknowledges that it and the other parties
hereto have been induced to enter into this Agreement and the other Loan Documents by, among
other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section.
15.5

15.6

Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronic Execution
(a)

Counterparts: Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts
(and by different parties hereto in different counterparts), each of which shall
constitute an original, and all of which when taken together shall constitute a single
contract. This Agreement shall become effective when it has been executed by the
Agent and each of the other parties hereto and when the Agent has received
counterparts hereof that, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other
parties hereto. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this
Agreement by telecopy or by sending a scanned copy by electronic mail shall be
effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

(b)

Electronic Execution of Assignments. The words “execution,” “signed,”
“signature,” and words of like import in any Assignment and Assumption shall be
deemed to include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form,
each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually
executed signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case
may be, to the extent and as provided for in any Applicable Law.

Treatment of Certain Information: Confidentiality
(a)

Each of the Agent and the Lenders acknowledges the confidential nature of the
Information (as defined below) and agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the
Information and prevent the disclosure thereof, except that Information may be
disclosed:
(i)

its Affiliates and its and its Affiliates’ respective partners, directors, officers,
employees, agents, professional advisors and representatives to the extent
reasonably required to be disclosed thereto (provided that such Persons to
whom such disclosure is made shall be under a like duty of confidentiality
to that contained in this Section 15.6 and further provided that the Agent or
the Lender, as the case may be, providing the Information shall be responsible
for any breach by such Person of the aforementioned like duty of
confidentiality);
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(ii)

if, in the reasonable opinion of the Agent or such Lender, such disclosure is
required by any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over it (including
any self-regulatory authority);

(iii)

if, in the reasonable opinion of the Agent or such Lender, such disclosure is
required by Applicable Laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar
legal process;

(iv)

to any other Lender or their respective counsel and advisors;

(v)

in connection with the exercise of any remedies, or the enforcement of any
rights, hereunder or under any other Loan Document or in connection with
any suit, action or proceeding initiated by the Agent and the Lenders or
commenced by the Borrower the issues of which touch on the Information,
in each case, relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document but
only to the extent such disclosure is necessary to the initiation or defense of
such suit, action or proceeding;

(vi)

subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those
of this Section 15.6, to:

(vii)

(A)

any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or
Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement;
or

(B)

any actual or prospective insurers, re-insurers or counterparty (or its
advisors) to any swap, derivative, credit-linked note or similar
transaction relating to any Obligor;

with the written consent of the Borrower; or

(viii) to the extent such Information:

(b)

(A)

becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this
Section 15.6 (including, for certainty, by a breach of this Section 15.6
by a Person for which the applicable Lender or the Agent is
responsible); or

(B)

becomes available to the Agent or any Lender on a non-confidential
basis from a source other than an Obligor, provided that the Agent or
such Lender can show that such Information was, prior to the receipt
thereof from an Obligor, lawfully in the Agent’s or such Lender’s
possession from such source and not then subject to any obligation
on its part to the Borrower to maintain confidentiality.

For purposes of this Section, “Information” means all financial, operational and
other information and data received in connection with this Agreement or any other
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Loan Document from any Obligor, KMI or any Affiliate of KMI relating to any KMI,
any Obligor or any Affiliate of the foregoing or in respect of any of their respective
businesses.
15.7

15.8

Nature of Obligation under this Agreement
(a)

The obligations of each Lender and of the Agent under this Agreement are several.
The failure of any Lender to carry out its obligations hereunder shall not relieve the
other Lenders, the Agent or the Borrower of any of their respective obligations
hereunder.

(b)

Subject to and without derogating from the operation of Sections 14.15 and 15.11,
neither the Agent nor any Lender shall be responsible for the obligations of any other
Lender hereunder.

Benefit of the Agreement

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Borrower, the Lenders,
the Fronting Lenders, the Agent and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
15.9

Severability

Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
shall not invalidate the remaining provisions hereof and any such prohibition or unenforceability
in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other
jurisdiction.
15.10 Amendments and Waivers
Any provision of this Agreement may be amended only if the Borrower and the Required
Lenders so agree in writing and, except as otherwise specifically provided herein, may be waived
only if the Required Lenders (or the Agent on their behalf) so agree in writing, provided that:
(a)

an amendment or waiver which changes or relates to:
(i)

increases in the Total Commitment or any Lender’s Commitment;

(ii)

decreases in the amounts or rates of, or deferral of the dates of any scheduled
or mandatory payment of principal, interest, Bankers’ Acceptance fees, LC
Fees or standby fees; or

(iii)

decreases in the amount of, or deferral of the dates of payment of, any fees
payable hereunder (other than fees payable for the account of the Agent or
the LC Issuers),

shall require the agreement or waiver of each Lender directly and adversely affected
thereby and also (in the case of an amendment) of the other parties hereto;
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(b)

an amendment or waiver which changes or relates to:
(i)

the definition of “Required Lenders”;

(ii)

any provision hereof that requires treatment of Lenders on a pro rata basis
or according to each Lender’s Applicable Percentage;

(iii)

any provision hereof contemplating or requiring consent, approval or
agreement of “all Lenders”, “each Lender”, “all of the Lenders” or similar
expressions or permitting waiver of conditions or covenants or agreements
by “all Lenders” or similar expressions;

(iv)

the provisions of Section 11.1(a) or 11.1(b)(i), (ii) or (iii);

(v)

any release or discharge of any Obligor Guarantee (other than as expressly
permitted hereby);

(vi)

the definition of “Maturity Date”;

(vii)

an assignment or transfer by the Borrower of any or all of its rights and
obligations under any Loan Document;

(viii) any alteration of the amount, currency, or mode of calculation of any
principal, interest or other amounts owing hereunder; or
(ix)

this Section 15.10,

shall require the agreement or waiver of all of the Lenders and also (in the case of
an amendment) of the other parties hereto;
(c)

an amendment or waiver which changes or relates to the rights and/or obligations
of the Agent shall also require the agreement of the Agent thereto;

(d)

an amendment or waiver which changes or relates to the rights and/or obligations
of a LC Issuer shall also require the agreement of the applicable LC Issuer thereto;
and

(e)

an amendment or waiver which changes or relates to the rights and/or obligations
of the Operating Lender in its capacity as such shall also require the agreement of
the Operating Lender thereto.

Any such waiver and any consent by the Agent, any Lender, the Required Lenders, all
affected Lenders or all of the Lenders (as applicable) under any provision of this Agreement must
be in writing and may be given subject to any conditions deemed appropriate by the Person giving
that waiver or consent. Any waiver or consent shall be effective only in the instance and for the
purpose for which it is given.
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15.11 Defaulting Lenders
(a)

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if any Lender
becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the following provisions shall apply for so long
as such Lender is a Defaulting Lender:
(i)

the standby fees payable pursuant to Section 4.6 shall cease to accrue on the
unused portion of the Commitment of such Defaulting Lender;

(ii)

a Defaulting Lender shall not be included in determining whether, and the
Commitment and proportion of Outstanding Principal under any or all of the
Credit Facility of such Defaulting Lender shall not be included in determining
whether, all Lenders or the Required Lenders have taken or may take any
action hereunder (including any consent to any amendment or waiver
pursuant to Section 15.10), provided that any waiver or amendment requiring
the consent of all Lenders or each affected Lender that (A) materially and
adversely affects such Defaulting Lender differently than other affected
Lenders, (B) increases the Commitment or extends the Maturity Date of such
Defaulting Lender, or (C) relates to the matters set forth in Sections 15.10(a),
15.10(b)(iii) and 15.10(b)(ix) shall require the consent of such Defaulting
Lender; and

(iii)

for the avoidance of doubt, the Borrower shall retain and reserve its other
rights and remedies respecting each Defaulting Lender.

(b)

If any Lender fails to fund its Applicable Percentage of an Advance under the
Syndicated Tranche, then each other Syndicated Lender shall fund a portion of such
Lender’s unfunded Applicable Percentage of such Advance in an amount equal to
its Applicable Percentage (and, in calculating a Lender’s Applicable Percentage, the
Commitment of any Defaulting Lender shall be excluded) of such unfunded portion
of such Advance; provided that, for certainty, no Lender shall be obligated by this
Section 15.11 to make or provide an Advance which would result in the Outstanding
Principal owing to it being in excess of its Commitment after taking into account
any re-allocations pursuant to Section 15.11(d).

(c)

If the re-allocation described in subparagraph (b) above cannot be effected, or can
only partially be effected, then (to the extent permitted by Applicable Law) such
Defaulting Lender shall, within 1 Banking Day following notice by the Agent,
provide Cash Collateral to the Agent for such Defaulting Lender’s Applicable
Percentage of such Advance (after giving effect to any partial re-allocation pursuant
to subparagraph (b) above) for so long as such Advance is outstanding.

(d)

If any Fronted Letters of Credit are outstanding at the time that a Syndicated Lender
becomes a Defaulting Lender (such Defaulting Lender’s Applicable Percentage of
the Equivalent Amount in Canadian Dollars of the Outstanding Principal of such
Letters of Credit is the “Defaulting Lender Exposure”), then:
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(i)

to the extent the Defaulting Lender has not provided Cash Collateral for its
Defaulting Lender Exposure pursuant to Section 15.11(c) above, such
Defaulting Lender Exposure shall be re-allocated among the non-Defaulting
Lenders under the Syndicated Tranche for the purposes of Section 6.1 in
accordance with their respective Applicable Percentages thereunder (and, in
calculating a Lender’s Applicable Percentage, the Commitment of any
Defaulting Lender shall be excluded); but, for each non-Defaulting Lender,
such re-allocation may only be effected if and to the extent that the sum of
(A) any non-Defaulting Lender’s Applicable Percentage of all outstanding
Advances under the Syndicated Tranche, plus (B) such non-Defaulting
Lender’s rateable share (after giving effect to the reallocation contemplated
herein) of the Defaulting Lender’s Exposure, does not exceed such Defaulting
Lender’s Commitment under the Syndicated Tranche;

(ii)

if the re-allocation described in clause (i) above cannot be effected, or can
only partially be effected, then the Borrower shall within one Banking Day
following notice by a Fronting Lender prepay outstanding Letters of Credit
(by the provision of Cash Collateral to the Agent) to the extent necessary to
allow a full reallocation of the Defaulting Lender Exposure as aforesaid; and

(iii)

if the Applicable Percentages of the non-Defaulting Lenders are re-allocated
pursuant to this Section 15.11(d), then the LC Fees payable to the Lenders
pursuant to Section 4.5 shall be adjusted to give effect to such re-allocations
in accordance with each such non-Defaulting Lender’s Applicable
Percentages and if the Borrower provides Cash Collateral pursuant to
clause (ii) above, then the Borrower shall not be required to pay the LC Fees
or fronting fees attributable to the Cash Collateralized exposure of such
Letters of Credit.

Subject to Section 15.17, no reallocation hereunder shall constitute a waiver or
release of any claim of any party hereunder against a Defaulting Lender arising from
that Lender having become a Defaulting Lender, including any claim of a nonDefaulting Lender as a result of such non-Defaulting Lender’s increased exposure
following such reallocation.
(e)

If any Syndicated Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender, then, upon becoming
aware of the same, the Agent shall notify the other Syndicated Lenders and (in
accordance with the written direction of the Agent) such Syndicated Lender (which
has ceased to be a Defaulting Lender) shall purchase, and the other Syndicated
Lenders shall on a pro rata basis sell and assign to such Lender, portions of such
Loans equal in total to such Lender’s Applicable Percentage share thereof without
regard to subsection (b) of this Section 15.11.

(f)

Each Defaulting Lender hereby indemnifies the Borrower for any losses, claims,
costs, damages or liabilities (including reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and
reasonable legal fees on a solicitor and his own client basis) incurred by the Borrower
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as a result of such Defaulting Lender failing to comply with the terms of this
Agreement, including any failure to fund its portion of any Loans required to be
made by it hereunder.
15.12 Further Assurances
The Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Borrower Group Member to, the Lenders
and the Agent shall promptly cure any default by it or defect in the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, the other Loan Documents or any of the agreements provided for hereunder to which
it is a party. The Borrower at their expense shall, as promptly practicable, execute and deliver to
the Agent, upon request by the Agent (acting reasonably), all such other and further deeds,
agreements, opinions, certificates, instruments, affidavits, registration materials and other
documents reasonably necessary for its compliance with, or accomplishment of its respective
covenants and agreements hereunder or more fully to state its respective obligations as set out herein
or to make any registration or recording, or to file any notice or to obtain any consent, all as may
be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith, in the judgment of the Agent, acting reasonably.
15.13 Time of the Essence
Time shall be of the essence of this Agreement.
15.14 Anti-Money Laundering Legislation
(a)

Each Lender and the Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies
the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the Proceeds of Crime (Money
Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (Canada), the Uniting and Strengthening
America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct
Terrorism Act of 2001, Pub. L. 107-56 (a/k/a the USA Patriot Act) or any other
applicable anti-money laundering, anti-terrorist financing, government sanction and
“know your client” Applicable Laws (collectively, including any guidelines or orders
thereunder, “AML Legislation”), it may be required to obtain, verify and record
information that identifies each Obligor, which information includes the name and
address of each such Person and such other information that will allow such Lender
or the Agent, as applicable, to identify each such Person in accordance with AML
Legislation (including, information regarding such Person’s directors, authorized
signing officers, or other Persons in control of each such Person). The Borrower
shall provide, to the extent commercially reasonable, such information and take such
actions as may be reasonably requested by the Agent or any Lender in order to assist
the Agent and the Lenders in maintaining compliance with AML Legislation. The
Borrower shall promptly provide all such information, to the extent commercially
reasonable, including supporting documentation and other evidence, as may be
reasonably requested by any Lender or the Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any
Lender), or any prospective assignee of a Lender or the Agent, in order to comply
with any applicable AML Legislation, whether now or hereafter in existence.
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(b)

(c)

If, upon the written request of any Lender, the Agent (for itself and not on behalf of
any Lender) has ascertained the identity of an Obligor or any authorized signatories
of such Person for the purposes of applicable AML Legislation on such Lender’s
behalf, then the Agent:
(i)

shall be deemed to have done so as the Agent for such Lender, and this
Agreement shall constitute a “written agreement” in such regard between
such Lender and the Agent within the meaning of applicable
AML Legislation; and

(ii)

shall provide to such Lender copies of all information obtained in such regard
without any representation or warranty as to its accuracy or completeness.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 15.14, each of the Lenders
agrees that the Agent has no obligation to ascertain the identity of an Obligor or any
authorized signatories of such Person, on behalf of any Lender, or to confirm the
completeness or accuracy of any information it obtains from any such Person or any
such authorized signatory in doing so.

15.15 Platform
(a)

The Borrower agrees that the Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, make the
Communications (as defined below) available to the Lenders by posting the
Communications on Debtdomain, IntraLinks, SyndTrak or a substantially similar
electronic transmission system (the “Platform”).

(b)

The Platform is provided “as is” and “as available.” The Agent Parties (as defined
below) do not warrant the adequacy of the Platform and expressly disclaim liability
for errors or omissions in the Communications. No warranty of any kind, express,
implied or statutory, including any warranty of merchantability, fitness for a
particular purpose, non-infringement of third-party rights or freedom from viruses
or other code defects, is made by any Agent Party in connection with the
Communications or the Platform. In no event shall the Agent or any of its Affiliates
(collectively, the “Agent Parties”) have any liability to the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries, any Lender or any other person for damages of any kind, including
direct or indirect, special, incidental or consequential damages, losses or expenses
(whether in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of the Borrower’s, any Subsidiary’s
or the Agent’s transmission of communications through the Platform.
“Communications” means, collectively, any notice, demand, communication,
information, document or other material that the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof
provides to the Agent pursuant to any Loan Document or the transactions
contemplated therein which is distributed to the Agent or any Lender by means of
electronic communications pursuant to this Section 15.15, including through the
Platform.
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15.16 No Fiduciary Duty
(a)

The Agent, each Lender and their respective Affiliates (collectively, solely for
purposes of this Section 15.16, the “Lenders”), may have economic interests that
conflict with those of the Obligors and/or their respective Affiliates. The Borrower
agrees that nothing in the Loan Documents will be deemed to create an advisory,
fiduciary or agency relationship or fiduciary or other implied duty between any
Lender, on the one hand, and the Borrower, their Subsidiaries and their Affiliates,
on the other hand. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that (i) the transactions
contemplated by the Loan Documents (including the exercise of rights and remedies
hereunder and thereunder) are arm’s length commercial transactions between the
Lenders, on the one hand, and the Borrower, on the other hand, and (ii) in connection
therewith and with the process leading thereto, (A) no Lender has assumed an
advisory or fiduciary responsibility in favour of the Borrower, its Subsidiaries or
their Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby (or the exercise
of rights or remedies with respect thereto) or the process leading thereto (irrespective
of whether any Lender has advised, is currently advising or will advise the Borrower
or its Affiliates on other matters) or any other obligation to the Borrower except the
obligations expressly set forth in the Loan Documents and (B) each Lender is acting
solely as principal and not as the agent or fiduciary of the Borrower, its management,
shareholders, creditors or any other Person. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees
that it has consulted its own legal and financial advisors to the extent it deemed
appropriate and that it is responsible for making its own independent judgment with
respect to such transactions and the process leading thereto. The Borrower agrees
that it will not claim that any Lender has rendered advisory services of any nature
or respect, or owes a fiduciary or similar duty to it, in connection with such
transactions or the process leading thereto.

(b)

The Borrower acknowledges that (i) each Lender may be involved in a broad range
of activities (including providing debt financing, equity capital, financial advisory
or other services to other Persons) in respect of which the Borrower Group Members
and/or their respective Affiliates may have conflicting interests regarding the Credit
Facility or otherwise and (ii) no Lender has any obligation to (A) disclose such other
activities to the Borrower or (B) use in connection with the Credit Facility, or furnish
to the Borrower confidential information obtained by such Lender from such other
Persons.

15.17 Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEA Financial Institutions
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement,
arrangement or understanding among any such parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any
liability of any EEA Financial Institution arising under any Loan Document, to the extent such
liability is unsecured, may be subject to the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of an
EEA Resolution Authority and agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound
by:
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(a)

the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by an EEA Resolution
Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by
any party hereto that is an EEA Financial Institution; and

(b)

the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
(i)

a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(ii)

a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other
instruments of ownership in such EEA Financial Institution, its parent
undertaking, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise
conferred on it, and that such shares or other instruments of ownership will
be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under
this Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(iii)

the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of
the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of any EEA Resolution Authority.

15.18 Credit Agreement Governs
For certainty, in the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this
Agreement and the provisions of the other Loan Documents, the provisions of this Agreement which
relate to the respective rights and obligations of the Borrower Group Members, on the one hand,
and the Agent and the Lenders, on the other hand in respect of the Credit Facility, to the extent of
the conflict or inconsistency, shall govern and prevail.
15.19 Whole Agreement
This Agreement and the other Loan Documents constitute the whole and entire agreement
between the parties hereto regarding the subject matter hereof and thereof and cancel and supersede
any prior agreements (including any commitment letters), undertakings, understandings,
declarations, commitments, representations, written or oral, in respect thereof.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
BORROWER:
KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
By:

/s/ Anthony Ashley
Name: Anthony Ashley
Title: Vice President
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AGENT:
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
By:

/s/ Susan Khokher
Name: Susan Khokher
Title: Manager, Agency

By:

/s/ Mike Gaudet
Name: Mike Gaudet
Title: Authorized Signatory
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LENDERS:
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
By:

/s/ Mike Gaudet
Name: Mike Gaudet
Title: Authorized Signatory

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
By:

/s/Anil Nayak
Name: Anil Nayak
Title: Director

By:

/s/ Craig DeBellefeuille
Name: Craig DeBellefeuille
Title: Director
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Schedule A
TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
CREDIT AGREEMENT
MADE AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018
LENDERS AND COMMITMENTS
Lender
Royal Bank of Canada
The Toronto-Dominion
Bank
Total

Syndicated
Tranche
Commitments
$225,000,000
$250,000,000

Operating
Tranche
Commitments
$25,000,000

Cdn.$475,000,000

Cdn.$25,000,000

A-1

Total
Cdn.$250,000,000.00
Cdn.$250,000,000.00
Cdn.$500,000,000.00
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Schedule B
TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
CREDIT AGREEMENT
MADE AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018
FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION
ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION
This Assignment and Assumption (the “Assignment and Assumption”) is dated as of the Effective
Date set forth below and is entered into by and between [Insert name of Assignor] (the “Assignor”)
and [Insert name of Eligible Assignee] (the “Assignee”). Capitalized terms used but not defined
herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement identified below (as it may
be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified or restated from time to time, the “Credit
Agreement”), receipt of a copy of which is hereby acknowledged by the Assignee. The Standard
Terms and Conditions set forth in Annex 1 attached hereto are hereby agreed to and incorporated
herein by reference and made a part of this Assignment and Assumption as if set forth herein in full.
For an agreed consideration, the Assignor hereby irrevocably sells and assigns to the Assignee, and
the Assignee hereby irrevocably purchases and assumes from the Assignor, subject to and in
accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditions and the Credit Agreement, as of the Effective
Date inserted by the Agent as contemplated below (i) all of the Assignor’s rights and obligations in
its capacity as a Lender under the Credit Agreement and any other Loan Documents or instruments
delivered pursuant thereto to the extent related to the amount and percentage interest identified
below of all of such outstanding rights and obligations of the Assignor under the respective facilities
identified below (including without limitation any Obligor Guarantees included in such facilities)
and (ii) to the extent permitted to be assigned under Applicable Law, all claims, suits, causes of
action and any other right of the Assignor (in its capacity as a Lender) against any Person, whether
known or unknown, arising under or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any other Loan
Documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto or the loan transactions governed thereby or
in any way based on or related to any of the foregoing, including, but not limited to, contract claims,
tort claims, malpractice claims, statutory claims and all other claims at law or in equity related to
the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clause (i) above (the rights and obligations
sold and assigned pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above being referred to herein collectively as, the
“Assigned Interest”). Such sale and assignment is without recourse to the Assignor and, except as
expressly provided in this Assignment and Assumption, without representation or warranty by the
Assignor.
1.

Assignor: ________________________

2.

Assignee: ________________________
[and is an Affiliate/Approved Fund of [identify Lender]]
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3.

Borrower: ________________________

4.

Credit Agreement: The Credit Agreement made as of August 31, 2018 among Kinder Morgan
Cochin ULC, as Borrower, the Lenders from time to time party thereto and Royal Bank of
Canada as Administrative Agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified or
restated from time to time.

5.

Assigned Interest:
Credit
Facility /
Tranche
Assigned

6.

Aggregate
Amount of
Commitment/Loans
for all Lenders
$
$
$

Amount of
Percentage Assigned
Commitment/Loans
of Commitment/
Assigned
Loans
$
%
$
%
$
%

[Trade Date: _______________________]

DATED this _____ day of _________________, 20____ (the “Effective Date”). [TO BE
INSERTED BY AGENT AND WHICH SHALL BE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF
RECORDATION OF TRANSFER IN THE REGISTER THEREFOR.]
The terms set forth in this Assignment and Assumption are hereby agreed to:
ASSIGNOR:
[NAME OF ASSIGNOR]
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:
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ASSIGNEE:
[NAME OF ASSIGNEE]
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:

[Consented to and] Accepted:
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA, as
Administrative Agent
By:
Name:
Title:
By:
Name:
Title:

[Consented to:]
[NAME OF PARTY] [NTD: Insert
signature lines for Borrower and each
Fronting Lender if required pursuant to
section 15.2(b)]
By:
Name:
Title:
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ANNEX 1
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION
ARTICLE 1
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.
1.

Assignor. The Assignor: (a) represents and warrants that (i) it is the legal and beneficial
owner of the Assigned Interest, (ii) the Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lien,
encumbrance or other adverse claim and (iii) it has full power and authority, and has taken
all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; and (b) assumes no responsibility with
respect to (i) any statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with
the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) the execution, legality, validity,
enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Loan Documents or any collateral
thereunder, (iii) the financial condition of the Borrower, any other Obligor, any of the
Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Borrower or any other Person obligated in respect of any
Loan Document, or (iv) the performance or observance by the Borrower, any other Obligor,
any of the Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Borrower or any other Person of any of their
respective obligations under any Loan Document.

2.

Assignee. The Assignee: (a) represents and warrants that (i) it has full power and authority,
and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption
and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to become a Lender under the
Credit Agreement, (ii) it meets all requirements of an Eligible Assignee under the Credit
Agreement (subject to receipt of such consents as may be required under the Credit
Agreement), (iii) from and after the Effective Date, it shall be bound by the provisions of
the Credit Agreement as a Lender thereunder and, to the extent of the Assigned Interest,
shall have the obligations of a Lender thereunder, and (iv) it has received a copy of the Credit
Agreement, together with copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant
to Section 9.4 thereof, as applicable, and such other documents and information as it has
deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment
and Assumption and to purchase the Assigned Interest on the basis of which it has made
such analysis and decision independently and without reliance on the Agent or any other
Lender, and (b) agrees that (i) it will, independently and without reliance on the Agent, the
Assignor or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem
appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking
action under the Loan Documents, and (ii) it will perform in accordance with their terms
all of the obligations which by the terms of the Loan Documents are required to be performed
by it as a Lender.

3.

Payments. From and after the Effective Date, the Agent shall make all payments in respect
of the Assigned Interest (including payments of principal, interest, fees and other amounts)
to the Assignee whether such amounts have accrued prior to, on or after the Effective Date.
The Assignor and the Assignee shall make all appropriate adjustments in payments by the
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Agent for periods prior to the Effective Date or with respect to the making of this assignment
directly between themselves.
4.

General Provisions. This Assignment and Assumption shall be binding upon, and inure to
the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. This
Assignment and Assumption may be executed in any number of counterparts, which together
shall constitute one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of
this Assignment and Assumption by telecopy or by sending a scanned copy by electronic
mail shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Assignment
and Assumption. This Assignment and Assumption shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the law governing the Credit Agreement.
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Schedule C
TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
CREDIT AGREEMENT
MADE AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018
FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
TO:

Royal Bank of Canada, as Agent
20 King Street West, 4th Floor

AND TO:
Re:

Toronto, ON M5H 1C4
Attention: Manager Agency
Telecopier: (416) 842-4023
The Lenders
Credit Agreement made as of August 31, 2018 among Kinder Morgan Cochin ULC
as Borrower (the “Borrower”), those persons party thereto from time to time in
their capacities as lenders, and Royal Bank of Canada, as administrative agent (such
credit agreement, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified or
restated from time to time, referred to as the “Credit Agreement”).

1.

This Compliance Certificate is given pursuant to Section 9.4(a)(iii) of the Credit Agreement.
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to
them by the Credit Agreement.

2.

I am the duly appointed [Chief Executive Officer/ President/ Chief Financial Officer/
Treasurer/Controller/Vice President Finance/ OTHER AUTHORIZED OFFICER] of
the Borrower, and hereby certify in such capacity and not in my personal capacity, after
making due inquiry, that:
(a)

no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing [except as described
in Annex hereto];

(b)

the Restricted Subsidiaries are:

(c)

as at the end of the Fiscal Quarter ending , the ratio of Consolidated Total Funded
Debt to EBITDA is , and attached hereto as Exhibit 1 are the detailed particulars
of the manner in which the above were calculated [; and] OR[.]

(d)

[as at the end of the Fiscal Quarter ending , the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA
to Consolidated Interest Expense is , and attached hereto as Exhibit 1 are the
detailed particulars of the manner in which the above were calculated;] [NTD:
If applicable]

(e)

as at the end of the Fiscal Quarter ending [____]:

[and];
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(i)

The aggregate amount of Restricted Subsidiary Debt plus (for certainty,
without duplication) the aggregate amount of consolidated Funded Debt of
the Borrower Group Members secured by Permitted Liens set forth in
subparagraph (w) of the defined term “Permitted Liens” was , which was
equal to % of Consolidated Tangible Assets; and

(ii)

the Borrower Group Members directly own not less than 85% of the
Consolidated Tangible Assets.

and attached hereto as Exhibit 1 are the detailed particulars of the manner in which the above were
calculated.
3.

[Attached herewith is an updated organizational chart of KMCL, the Borrower and
all of their respective Subsidiaries, which organizational chart is accurate as of the
date hereof. / There have been no changes to the organizational chart of KMCL, the
Borrower and all of their respective Subsidiaries since the last organizational chart
provided to the Agent.] [NTD: This subparagraph to be included in the Compliance
Certificate delivered with the annual Financial Statements delivered pursuant to
Section 9.4(a)(i).]

DATED this ______ day of _____________________, 20___.
KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT 1 TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC COMPLIANCE
CERTIFICATE DATED ________________

Calculation of:

(1) Consolidated Total Funded Debt
(2) [Consolidated Interest Expense]
(3) Consolidated EBITDA
(4) Consolidated Tangible Assets
(5) Restricted Subsidiary Debt
(6) Funded Debt Secured by Permitted Liens set forth in subparagraph (w)
of the defined term “Permitted Liens”

C-3

Exhibit 10.1

Schedule D
TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
CREDIT AGREEMENT
MADE AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018
FORM OF CONVERSION / ROLLOVER / REPAYMENT NOTICE
TO:

Royal Bank of Canada, as Agent
20 King Street West, 4th Floor
Toronto, ON M5H 1C4
Attention: Manager, Agency
Telecopier: (416) 842-4023
Credit Agreement made as of August 31, 2018 among Kinder Morgan Cochin ULC, as
the Borrower, those persons party thereto as Lenders, and Royal Bank of Canada, as
Agent (such credit agreement, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified or restated from time to time, referred to as the “Credit Agreement”).

RE:

1.

Pursuant to Section [2.4 / 7.2 / 7.3] of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned hereby
irrevocably notifies the Agent that it will be:
(a)

rolling over part or all of a Loan under the Credit Facility described as follows:
Tranche: _________________________________________________________
Type of Loan: _____________________________________________________
Principal Amount(1): ________________________________________________
Interest Period (if applicable): _________________________________________
into another Loan of the same type described as: __________________________
Interest Period (if applicable): _________________________________________

Note:
(1)

If only part of maturing Loan is rolled over, please indicate.

or;
(b)

converting part or all of the Loan under the Credit Facility described as follows:
Tranche: _________________________________________________________
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Type of Loan: _____________________________________________________
Principal Amount(1): ________________________________________________
Interest Period (if applicable): _________________________________________
into another Loan of the same type described as: __________________________
Type of Loan: _____________________________________________________
Principal Amount(1): ________________________________________________
Interest Period (if applicable): _________________________________________
effective the _______ day of ___________________________, ______________.
Note:
(1)

If only part of maturing Loan is being converted, please indicate.

(c)

repaying part or all of the Loan under the Credit Facility described as follows:
Tranche: _________________________________________________________
Type of Loan: _____________________________________________________
Principal Amount(1): ________________________________________________
Interest Period (if applicable): _________________________________________
on the _______ day of ___________________________, ______________.

Note:
(1)

If only part of Loan is being repaid, please indicate.

2.

[For Drawdowns of Bankers’ Acceptances:] The Bankers’ Acceptance(s) to be issued and
accepted by the Schedule I Lenders in connection with such requested [Conversion] /
[Rollover] shall be [self-marketed by the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.3(b) of the
Credit Agreement / purchased by the Schedule I Lenders for their own account
pursuant to Section 5.3(c) of the Credit Agreement].

3.

The undersigned certifies to the Agent and the Lenders that as of the date of this Notice, no
Default or Event of Default exists nor will a Default or Event of Default result after giving
effect to the proposed Rollover, Conversion or repayment of the type provided herein.

4.

This Notice is irrevocable.
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5.

Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to
them by the Credit Agreement.
[Signature follows on next page]
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DATED this ______ day of __________________, _________ at _______ a.m. Calgary, Alberta
time.
KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
By:
Name:
Title:
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Schedule E
TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
CREDIT AGREEMENT
MADE AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018
FORM OF DISCOUNT NOTE
Cdn$_____________________

Date: ___________________

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned unconditionally promises to pay on
____________________, 20_____, to or to the order of [NAME OF NON-ACCEPTANCE
LENDER] (“Holder”), the sum of Cdn$___________________________ with no interest thereon.
The undersigned hereby waives presentment, protest and notice of every kind and waives any
defences based upon indulgences which may be granted to the undersigned by the Holder and any
days of grace.
This promissory note evidences a BA Equivalent Advance, as defined in the Credit Agreement made
as of August 31, 2018 among Kinder Morgan Cochin ULC, as Borrower, the persons party thereto
from time to time in their capacities as lenders and Royal Bank of Canada as administrative agent
(such credit agreement, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified or restated from
time to time, referred to as the “Credit Agreement”) and constitutes evidence of indebtedness to
the Holder arising from such BA Equivalent Advance. Payment of this note shall be made at the
account designated by the Agent pursuant to the Credit Agreement. This note is subject to the terms
of the Credit Agreement.
KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
By:
Name:
Title:
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Schedule F
TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
CREDIT AGREEMENT
MADE AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018
FORM OF DRAWDOWN NOTICE
TO:

Royal Bank of Canada, as Agent
20 King Street West, 4th Floor
Toronto, ON M5H 1C4
Attention: Manager, Agency

RE:

Telecopier: (416) 842-4023
Credit Agreement made as of August 31, 2018 among Kinder Morgan Cochin ULC as
Borrower (the “Borrower”), those persons party thereto from time to time in their
capacities as lenders, and Royal Bank of Canada, as administrative agent (such credit
agreement, as it may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified or restated from
time to time, referred to as the “Credit Agreement”).

1.

The Drawdown Date is the ______ day of __________________, 20_____.

2.

Pursuant to Section 2.3 of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned hereby irrevocably requests
that the following Drawdown(s) under the [Syndicated Tranche / Operating Tranche] be made
available:

Type of Loan
Prime Loan
USBR Loan
Bankers’ Acceptances and BA
Equivalent Advances
LIBO Rate Loan
Letter of Credit
3.

Principal Amount

Interest Period

The undersigned certifies to the Agent and to the Lenders that:
(a)

on the date hereof, each of the representations and warranties contained in Section 8.1
are true and correct in all material respects as if made on the Drawdown Date (excluding
those representations and warranties which are expressly made as of a specific date only);
and
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(b)

on the date hereof, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing nor
will any such event occur as a result of the aforementioned Drawdown;

4.

This Notice is irrevocable.

5.

Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to them
by the Credit Agreement.

DATED this ______ day of _________________, ______, at __________ a.m., Calgary, Alberta time.
KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
By:
Name:
Title:
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Schedule G
TO THE KINDER MORGAN COCHIN ULC
CREDIT AGREEMENT
MADE AS OF AUGUST 31, 2018
EXISTING LETTERS OF CREDIT
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KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) OR 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Steven J. Kean, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kinder Morgan Canada Limited;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and
c)

5.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
Date: October 24, 2018

/s/ Steven J. Kean
Steven J. Kean
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) OR 15D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Dax A. Sanders, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kinder Morgan Canada Limited;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 24, 2018

/s/ Dax A. Sanders
Dax A. Sanders
Chief Financial Officer
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KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906
OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kinder Morgan Canada Limited (the "Company") for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the
undersigned, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
Date: October 24, 2018

/s/ Steven J. Kean
Steven J. Kean
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
KINDER MORGAN CANADA LIMITED
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906
OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kinder Morgan Canada Limited (the "Company") for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the
undersigned, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
Date: October 24, 2018

/s/ Dax A. Sanders
Dax A. Sanders
Chief Financial Officer

